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As used herein, the "Company" refers to Oshkosh Truck Corporation, including Pierce Manufacturing Inc. ("Pierce"), McNeilus Companies, Inc. ("McNeilus") and its other wholly-owned subsidiaries, and "Oshkosh" refers to Oshkosh Truck Corporation, not including Pierce or McNeilus or their wholly-owned subsidiaries.
The "Oshkosh," "McNeilus" and "Pierce" trademarks and related logos are registered trademarks of the Company. All other product and service names referenced in this document are the trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners.
All information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been adjusted to reflect the three-for-two split of the Company's Common Stock effected on August 19, 1999 in the form of a 50% stock dividend.
For ease of understanding, the Company refers to types of specialty trucks for particular applications as "markets." When the Company refers to "market" positions, these comments are based on information available to the Company concerning units sold by those companies currently manufacturing the same types of specialty trucks and truck bodies and are therefore only estimates. There can be no assurance that we will maintain such market positions in the future.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements that the Company believes are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this report, including, without limitation, statements regarding the Company's future financial position, business strategy, budgets, targets, projected sales, costs, earnings, capital spending, debt levels and plans and objectives of management for future operations are forward-looking statements. In addition, forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "may," "will," "expect," "intend," "estimates," "anticipate," "believe," "should," "plans," or "continue," or the negative thereof or variations thereon or similar terminology. Although the Company believes the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to have been correct. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company's expectations include, without limitation, the following: (1) the accuracy of assumptions on which the Company bases projected sales, costs, earnings, capital spending and debt levels; (2) the cyclical nature of the concrete placement industry; (3) the risks related to reductions or changes in U.S. government expenditures; (4) the potential for actual costs to exceed projected costs under long-term, fixed-price government contracts; (5) the risks related to suspension, termination or audit of U.S. government contracts, including for failure to meet performance thresholds; (6) the challenges of identifying, completing and integrating future acquisitions; (7) competition; (8) disruptions in the supply of parts or components from sole source suppliers and subcontractors; (9) product liability and warranty claims; and (10) labor relations and market conditions. Additional information concerning factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements is contained from time to time in the Company's SEC filings, including, but not limited to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 26, 2000. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company, or persons acting on its behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements.
All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the Company files this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC. The Company has adopted a policy that if the Company makes a determination that it expects earnings for future periods for which projections are contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be lower than those projections, then the Company will publicly announce such revised projections. The Company's policy also provides that the Company does not intend to make such a public announcement if the Company makes a determination that it expects earnings for future periods to be at or above the projections contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as set forth above, the Company assumes no obligation, and disclaims any obligation, to update information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Investors should be aware that the Company may not update such information until the Company's next quarterly conference call, if at all.
PART I
Item 1. BUSINESS
The Company
The Company is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of a broad range of specialty commercial, fire and emergency and military trucks under the "Oshkosh," "Pierce," "McNeilus" and "MTM" trademarks. The Company began business in 1917 and was among the early pioneers of four-wheel drive technology. In 1981, the Company was awarded the first Heavy Expanded Mobility Tactical Truck contract for the U.S. Department of Defense ("DoD"), and quickly developed into the DoD's leading supplier of severe-duty heavy tactical trucks. In 1996, the Company began a strategic initiative to shed under-performing assets and to diversify
3

its business by making selective acquisitions in attractive specialty segments of the commercial truck and truck body markets to complement its defense truck business. The result of this initiative was an increase in sales from $413 million in fiscal 1996 to $1,324 million in fiscal 2000, with earnings from continuing operations increasing from a loss of $.02 per share for fiscal 1996 to earnings of $2.96 per share for fiscal 2000.
As part of the Company's strategy, the Company has completed the following acquisitions:
o Pierce, a leading manufacturer and marketer of fire trucks and other fire apparatus, in September 1996.;
o Nova Quintech, a manufacturer of aerial devices for fire trucks, in December 1997;
o McNeilus, a leading manufacturer and marketer of commercial specialty truck bodies, including rear-discharge concrete mixers and portable concrete batch plants for the concrete ready-mix industry and refuse truck bodies for the waste services industry, in February 1998;
o Kewaunee Engineering Corporation (now known as Kewaunee Fabrications, LLC, or "Kewaunee"), a fabricator of heavy-steel components such as cranes and aerial devices, in November 1999.
o Viking Truck and Equipment, LLC ("Viking"), Oshkosh's only remaining front-discharge concrete mixer dealer, in April 2000; and
o Medtec Ambulance Corporation ("Medtec"), a leading manufacturer of ambulances and rescue vehicles, in October 2000.
The Company believes it has developed a reputation for excellent product quality, performance and reliability in each of the specialty segments in which it participates. The Company has strong brand recognition in its segments and has demonstrated design and engineering capabilities through the introduction of several highly engineered proprietary components that increase the Company's products' operating performance. The Company has developed comprehensive product and service portfolios for many of its markets in an effort to become a single-source supplier for its customers, including customer lease financing for commercial products through the Company's interest in Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services Partnership ("OMFSP"). The Company's commercial truck lines include refuse truck bodies and rear- and front-discharge concrete mixers. The Company's custom and commercial fire apparatus and emergency vehicles include pumpers, aerial and ladder trucks, tankers, light, medium and heavy-duty rescue vehicles, wildland rough terrain response vehicles, aircraft rescue and firefighting ("ARFF") vehicles, ambulances, and snow removal vehicles. As the leading manufacturer of severe-duty heavy tactical trucks for the DoD, the Company manufactures vehicles that perform a variety of demanding tasks such as hauling tanks, missile systems, ammunition, fuel and cargo for combat units. In December 1998, the DoD awarded Oshkosh the Medium Tactical Vehicle Replacement ("MTVR") contract for the U.S. Marine Corps., from which the Company expects to generate total sales of $1.2 billion from fiscal 2000 through fiscal 2005, assuming the DoD exercises all the options under the contract as currently anticipated. The Company expects fiscal 2001 sales under this contract to approximate $140 million, increasing to peak annual sales of approximately $295 million in fiscal 2002. This projected level of sales assumes production levels under this contract will begin to increase from the current "low-rate" levels of initial production to "full-rate" production following the passage of certain vehicle performance milestones, which the Company expects to occur in early 2001. The MTVR contract represents the Company's first production contract for medium tactical trucks for the U.S. military.
Competitive Strengths
The following competitive strengths support the Company's business strategy:
Strong Market Positions. The Company has developed strong market positions and brand recognition in its core businesses, which the Company attributes to its reputation for quality products, advanced engineering, innovation, vehicle performance, reliability and customer service.
Extensive Distribution Capabilities. With the addition of the commercial and municipal distribution capabilities of Pierce and McNeilus, the Company has established an extensive domestic and international distribution system for specialty trucks and truck bodies. In addition to its network of dealers and distributors, the Company employs over 160 in-house sales and service representatives.
Flexible and Efficient Manufacturing. The Company believes it has competitive advantages over larger truck manufacturers in its specialty truck markets due to its manufacturing flexibility and custom fabrication capabilities. Over the past eight years, the
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Company has significantly increased manufacturing efficiencies. In addition, the Company believes it has competitive advantages over smaller truck and truck body manufacturers, which comprise the majority of the competition in its markets, due to the Company's relatively higher volumes that permit the use of moving assembly lines and provide purchasing power opportunities across product lines.
Diversified Product Offering and Customer Base. The Company's broad product offerings and target markets serve to diversify its revenues, mitigate the impact of economic cycles and provide multiple platforms for both internal growth and acquisitions. For each of the Company's target markets, the Company has developed or acquired a broad product line in order to become a single-source provider to the Company's customers.
Strong Management Team. The present management team has successfully executed a strategic repositioning of the Company's business while significantly improving its financial and operating performance. With each of the recent acquisitions, the Company assimilated the management and culture of the acquired company, introduced new strategies to significantly increase sales and used the Company's expertise in purchasing and manufacturing to reduce costs.
Quality Products and Customer Service. Oshkosh, Pierce and McNeilus have each developed strong brand recognition based on their commitments to meet the stringent product quality and reliability requirements of their customers and the specialty truck markets they serve. The Company's commitment to product quality is exemplified by the ISO 9001 certification of Oshkosh and Pierce. The Company also achieves high quality customer service through its extensive service and parts support program, which is available to domestic customers 365 days a year in all product lines throughout the Company's distribution systems.
Proprietary Components. The Company's advanced design and engineering capabilities have contributed to the development of proprietary, severe-duty components that enhance truck performance, reduce manufacturing costs and strengthen customer relationships. These proprietary components include front drive and steer axles, transfer cases, cabs, the ALL-STEER electronic all-wheel steering system, independent suspension, the Sky-Arm articulating aerial ladder, the Hercules compressed air foam system, the Command Zone multiplexing technology, the McNeilus Auto Reach Arm, an automated side-loading refuse body, and the Pro Pulse, hybrid drive technology. The Company believes these proprietary components provide the Company a competitive advantage by increasing its vehicles' durability, operating efficiency and effectiveness. The integration of many of these components across various product lines also reduces the Company's costs to manufacture its products compared to manufacturers who simply assemble purchased components.
Business Strategy
The Company is focused on increasing its net sales, profitability and cash flow by capitalizing on its competitive strengths and pursuing a comprehensive, integrated business strategy. Key elements of the Company's business strategy include:
Focusing on Specialized Truck and Truck Body Markets. The Company plans to continue its focus on those specialized truck and truck body markets where it has strong market positions and where the Company can leverage synergies in purchasing, manufacturing, technology and distribution to increase sales and profitability. The Company believes the higher sales volumes associated with strong market positions will allow the Company to continue to enhance productivity in manufacturing operations, fund innovative product development and invest in further expansion. In addition to the Company's strategies to increase market share and profitability, each of the Company's specialized truck and truck body markets is exhibiting opportunities for further market growth.
Pursuing Strategic Acquisitions. The Company's present management team has successfully negotiated and integrated five acquisitions since September 1996 (and completed a sixth acquisition, Medtec, in October 2000) that have significantly increased the Company's sales and earnings. The Company intends to selectively pursue additional strategic acquisitions, both domestically and internationally, to enhance its product offerings and expand its international presence in specialized truck and truck body markets. The Company will focus its acquisition strategy on providing a full range of products to customers in specialty truck and truck body markets that are growing, and where the Company can enhance its strong market positions and achieve significant acquisition synergies.
Expanding Distribution and International Sales. The Company actively investigates new distribution and service capabilities for municipal customers of the refuse truck body market and in targeted geographic areas in the domestic fire apparatus market. In fiscal 2000, the Company added two refuse service facilities and contracted with two service agents to attract additional municipal refuse sales. The Company is also developing strategies to increase international sales. The Company is actively recruiting new representatives and dealers in targeted international commercial and fire and emergency markets to expand the international sales of
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McNeilus refuse truck bodies and rear-discharge concrete mixers and Pierce fire apparatus. In fiscal 2000, the Company began marketing its new medium tactical military truck to approved foreign armies. Because there have been limited sales of medium tactical trucks to foreign armies over the last ten years under the U.S. Foreign Military Sales Program and because the Company's truck has significant off-road capability at an attractive price, the Company believes that the international market for this truck may be significant.
Introducing New Products. The Company has increased its emphasis on new product development in recent years, as it seeks to expand sales by leading its core markets in the introduction of new or improved products and new technologies, either through internal development or strategic acquisitions. In fiscal 2000, the Company invested $14.1 million in development activities that resulted in 11 major new products or product enhancements.
Developed during fiscal 2000, Oshkosh's new ProPulse Electric Drive Technology can change the way trucks are powered and driven and significantly improve fuel economy and reduce emissions for heavy trucks. It will be integrated first into ARFF vehicles and snow removal vehicles, and then applied to defense trucks and other fire apparatus.
In the fire and emergency segment, Pierce introduced its seventh custom fire chassis, the Enforcer, during fiscal 2000. Pierce now offers more custom fire chassis than any other manufacturer. Pierce also launched two new aerials - a mid-mount platform and a mid-mount ladder. In addition, Pierce designed the Husky industrial foam system to address the needs of large-scale industrial fire suppression at oil refineries, chemical plants and petrochemical complexes.
In the commercial segment, McNeilus substantially improved its AutoReach automated side-loader in fiscal 2000 to improve route productivity for its refuse customers. McNeilus also pioneered a new Refuse Preventative Maintenance ("RPM") program, the first of its kind, to help haulers handle preventative maintenance for an annual fee. For concrete placement customers, McNeilus introduced in fiscal 2000 an upgraded Bridgemaster bridge-formula mixer with improved productivity and simplified maintenance. The new T-21 portable, central-mix batch plant was designed specifically to address the needs of the concrete paving industry. The Company also launched the new Highland chassis for the rigorous environment of the concrete placement and other vocational markets. It combines a spacious, modern cab with a rugged, factory-built, all-wheel-drive chassis.
In the defense segment, the Company developed an electronic parts ordering and tracking system for the U.S. Marine Corps and introduced the Heavy Expanded Mobility Tactical Truck ("HEMTT")-Extended Service Program ("ESP") with Load Handling System ("LHS") in fiscal 2000.
Reducing Costs While Maintaining Quality. The Company actively benchmarks its competitors' costs and best industry practices, and continuously seeks to implement process improvements to increase profitability and cash flow. With each of its acquisitions, the Company has established cost reduction targets. At Pierce, the Company exceeded its two-year cost reduction target of $6.5 million as a result of consolidating facilities, reengineering the manufacturing process and leveraging increased purchasing power. Similarly, the Company utilized its greater purchasing power and manufacturing capabilities in connection with its 1998 acquisition of McNeilus. The Company established a $5 to $7 million two-year cost reduction target and to date has realized approximately $11 million of cost reductions. The Company expects to set similar cost reduction targets for its Medtec acquisition. For historic product lines, the Company also establishes annual labor productivity improvement targets and, for many product lines, the Company establishes materials cost reduction targets. In September 2000, the Company completed an $8.3 million expansion of its Dodge Center, Minnesota manufacturing facility. The primary purpose of the expansion was to construct two moving assembly lines with robotic welders to significantly reduce the manufacturing costs of refuse bodies. The expansion also doubled the paint and refuse body manufacturing capacity of this facility.
Products
The Company is focused on the following core segments of the specialty truck and truck body markets:
Commercial Segment. Through Oshkosh and McNeilus, the Company is a leading domestic manufacturer of refuse truck bodies for the waste services industry and of rear- and front-discharge concrete mixers and portable concrete batch plants for the concrete ready-mix industry. McNeilus manufactures a wide range of automated rear, front, side and top loading refuse truck bodies, which are mounted on commercial chassis. McNeilus sells its refuse vehicles primarily to commercial waste management companies, but it is building a presence with municipal customers such as the cities of Los Angeles, Philadelphia and Phoenix and in international markets such as England. The Company believes its refuse vehicles have a reputation for efficient, cost-effective, dependable, low maintenance operation that supports the Company's continued expansion into municipal and international markets. The Company sells rear- and front-discharge concrete mixers and portable concrete batch plants to concrete ready-mix companies throughout the
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United States and internationally. The Company believes it is the only domestic concrete mixer manufacturer that markets both rear- and front-discharge concrete mixers and portable concrete batch plants. Mixers and batch plants are marketed on the basis of their quality, dependability, efficiency, low maintenance and cost-effectiveness.
The Company offers four- to seven-year tax advantaged lease financing to mixer and portable concrete batch plant customers and to commercial waste hauler customers in the United States through OMFSP, an affiliated partnership. Offerings include competitive lease financing rates and the ease of one-stop shopping for customers' equipment and financing.
Fire and Emergency Segment. Through Pierce, the Company is a leading domestic manufacturer of fire apparatus assembled on a custom chassis, which is designed and manufactured by Pierce to meet the special needs of firefighters. Pierce also manufactures fire apparatus assembled on a commercially available chassis, which is produced for multiple end-customer applications. Pierce primarily serves domestic government customers, but also sells fire apparatus to airports, universities and large industrial companies, and in international markets. Pierce's history of innovation and research and development in consultation with firefighters has resulted in a broad product line that features a wide range of innovative, high-quality custom and commercial firefighting equipment with advanced fire suppression capabilities. Pierce's engineering expertise also allows it to design its vehicles to meet stringent government regulations for safety and effectiveness.
The Company is among the leaders in sales of aircraft rescue and firefighting vehicles to domestic and international airports. These highly specialized vehicles are required to be in-service at most airports worldwide to support commercial airlines in the event of an emergency. Many of the largest airports in the world, including LaGuardia International Airport, O'Hare International Airport and Los Angeles International Airport in the United States and airports in the People's Republic of China, and in Montreal and Toronto, Canada, are served by the Company's aircraft rescue and firefighting vehicles. The Company believes that the reliability of its aircraft rescue and firefighting vehicles contributes to the Company's strong market position.
The Company is a leader in airport snow removal in the United States. The Company's specially designed airport snow removal vehicles can cast up to 5,000 tons of snow per hour and are used by some of the largest airports in the United States, including Denver International Airport, LaGuardia International Airport, Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport and O'Hare International Airport. The Company believes that the reliability of its high performance snow removal vehicles and the speed with which they clear airport runways contributes to its strong market position.
Through an independent third party finance company, the Company offers two- to ten-year municipal lease financing programs to its fire and emergency customers in the United States. Programs include competitive lease financing rates, creative and flexible finance arrangements and the ease of one-stop shopping for Pierce's customers' equipment and financing.
Defense Truck Segment. The Company has sold products to the DoD for over 70 years. The Company's proprietary military all-wheel drive product line of heavy payload tactical trucks includes the HEMTT, the Heavy Equipment Transporter
("HET"), the Palletized Load System ("PLS"), Common Bridge Transporter ("CBT")
and the Logistic Vehicle System ("LVS"). The Company also exports severe-duty heavy tactical trucks to approved foreign customers.
The Company has developed a strong relationship with the DoD over the years that has resulted in the Company operating under "family contracts" with the DoD for the HEMTT, HET, PLS and LVS and for DoD vehicle parts. "Family contracts" is the term given to contracts that group similar models together to simplify the acquisition process. Under the vehicle family contracts, the DoD orders a specified range of volume of either HEMTT, HET, PLS or LVS trucks at fixed prices, which allows the Company to predict and plan its long-term production and delivery schedules for vehicles. Current family contracts expire in fiscal 2001. The Company is in negotiations to extend these family contracts for a five-year period under a program referred to as the Family of Heavy Tactical Vehicles ("FHTV"). The Company expects such negotiations to be completed in the second quarter of fiscal 2001. The FHTV is a five-year requirements contract running from fiscal 2001 to fiscal 2006 and includes the following heavy payload products: HEMTT, HEMTT-ESP, HET, PLS, CBT, LVS and the associated logistics and configuration management support.
With the award of the MTVR contract, the Company has become a major manufacturer of medium payload tactical trucks for the U.S. Marine Corps. The goal of the U.S. Marine Corps is to upgrade the current configuration to carry a much greater payload with substantially increased cross-country mobility. MTVRs are equipped with the Company's patented independent suspension and transfer cases, and central tire inflation to enhance off-road performance. This program is currently expected to include the production of 5,666 trucks with options for up to 2,502 additional trucks. The total value of this contract could reach $1.2 billion, including the options, or $850 million, exclusive of options, over fiscal years 2000 through 2005. Testing of the initial ten trucks began in December 1999. In fiscal 2000, production occurred at the rate of approximately
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one truck per day, and if the Company receives approval to commence full-rate production early in fiscal 2001, then the Company anticipates production will increase to approximately seven trucks per day in August 2001.
The U.S. Army commenced a competition to add a second supplier to build Family of Medium Tactical Vehicles ("FMTV"). The Company received a $1.9 million contract in November 1998 to compete with one other truck manufacturer to qualify as a second source to produce three trucks for testing by the DoD under Phase I of its second source supplier qualification plan. The three Oshkosh FMTVs produced under this contract have successfully completed Phase I testing. The fiscal year 2000 Defense Authorization Act cancelled the above mentioned second source program; however, it directed the Army to go forward with a competition for 100% of the next procurement. Initially, the FMTV competition was scheduled to begin in October 2000 with the issuance of a request for proposal ("RFP") to retrofit three trucks for testing, to be followed by a period of testing, another RFP for firm production pricing and then conclude with a contract award in March or April 2002. In late September 2000, the DoD delayed the competition to permit engine manufacturers more time to develop engines for the FMTV that will be compliant with U.S. Environmental Protection Agency regulations for diesel engines sold in 2004. The DoD's RFP issued in December 2000 requires retrofit of six trucks for testing. The period for follow-on testing and submission of production pricing was extended so that a contract award for production of approximately 14,000 FMTV trucks and trailers is now planned by the DoD for the second quarter of fiscal 2003. While the delay was a disappointment to the Company, the Company intends to continue to compete aggressively for a contract award under the FMTV program.
The Company's objective is to continue to diversify into other areas of the U.S. defense truck market by expanding applications, uses and body styles of its current heavy and medium tactical truck lines. As the Company enters the medium tactical truck area of the defense market segment, management believes that the Company has multiple competitive advantages, including:
o Proprietary components. The Company's patented independent suspension and transfer case enhance its trucks' off-road performance. In addition, because these are two of the higher cost components in a truck, the Company has a competitive cost-advantage from in-house manufacturing of these two truck components.
o Past performance. The Company has been building trucks for the DoD for 70 years. The Company believes that its past success in delivering reliable, high quality trucks on time, within budget and meeting specifications is a competitive advantage in future defense truck procurement programs. The Company understands the special contract procedures in use by the DoD and has developed substantial expertise in contract management and accounting.
o Flexible manufacturing. The Company's ability to produce a variety of truck models on the same moving assembly line permits it to avoid facilitation costs on most new contracts and maintain competitive manufacturing efficiencies.
o Logistics. The Company has gained significant experience in the development of operators' manuals and training and in the delivery of parts and services worldwide in accordance with the DoD's expectations, which differ materially from commercial practices. In fiscal 2000, the Company expanded it logistics capabilities to permit the DoD to order parts, receive invoices and remit payments electronically.
o Truck engineering and testing. DoD truck contract competitions require significant defense truck engineering expertise to ensure that a company's truck excels under demanding testing conditions. The Company has a team of 47 engineers and draftsmen to support current business and truck contract competitions. These personnel have significant expertise designing new trucks, using sophisticated computer aided tools, supporting grueling testing programs at DoD test sites and submitting detailed, comprehensive, successful contract proposals.
Marketing, Sales and Distribution
The Company believes it differentiates itself from many of its larger competitors by tailoring its distribution to the needs of its specialized truck markets and from its smaller competitors with its national and global sales and service capabilities. Distribution personnel use demonstration trucks to show customers how to use the Company's trucks and truck bodies properly. In addition, the Company's flexible distribution is focused on meeting customers on their terms, whether on a jobsite, in an evening public meeting or at a municipality's offices, compared to the showroom sales approach of the typical dealers of large truck manufacturers. The Company backs all products by same-day parts shipment, and its service technicians are available in person or by telephone to domestic customers 365 days a year. The Company believes its dedication to keeping its trucks in-service in demanding conditions worldwide has contributed to customer loyalty.
The Company provides its salespeople, representatives and distributors with product and sales training on the operation and specifications of its products. The Company's engineers, along with its product managers, develop operating manuals and provide field support at truck delivery for some markets.
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Dealers and representatives, where used, enter into agreements with the Company that allows for termination by either party generally upon 90 days' notice. Dealers and representatives are not permitted to market and sell competitive products.
Commercial Segment. The Company operates 18 distribution centers with over 130 in-house sales and service representatives in the U.S. to sell and service the refuse truck bodies, rear- and front-discharge concrete mixers and concrete batch plants. Fourteen of the Company's distribution centers provide sales, service and parts distribution to customers in their geographic regions. Four of the distribution centers also have paint facilities and provide significant additional paint and mounting services during peak demand periods. Two of the centers also manufacture concrete mixer replacement barrels. The Company believes this network represents one of the largest concrete mixer and refuse truck body distribution networks in the United States.
The Company believes its direct distribution to customers is a competitive advantage in commercial markets, particularly in the waste services industry where principal competitors distribute through dealers and to a lesser extent in the ready-mix concrete industry, where several competitors in part use dealers. In addition to the avoidance of dealer commissions, the Company believes direct distribution permits a more focused sales force in refuse body markets whereas dealers frequently offer a very broad and mixed product line, and accordingly, the time dealers tend to devote to refuse body sales activities is limited.
With respect to commercial distribution efforts, the Company has begun to apply Oshkosh's and Pierce's sales and marketing expertise in municipal markets to increase sales of McNeilus refuse truck bodies to municipal customers. Prior to the Company's acquisition of McNeilus, virtually all McNeilus refuse truck body sales were to commercial customers. While the Company believes commercial customers represent a majority of the refuse truck body market, many municipalities purchase their own refuse trucks. The Company believes it is positioned to create an effective municipal distribution system in the refuse truck body market by leveraging its existing commercial distribution capabilities and by opening service centers in major metropolitan markets. The Company opened two additional centers in fiscal 2000. Following its acquisition and new focus in municipal markets, McNeilus has been awarded new business for the cities of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Los Angeles, California; Greensboro, North Carolina; and Waco, Texas and has targeted other major metropolitan areas.
The Company also has begun to offer McNeilus refuse truck bodies, rear-discharge concrete mixers and concrete batch plants to Oshkosh's international representatives and dealers for sales and service worldwide. McNeilus' international sales have historically been limited because it had focused on the domestic market. However, the Company believes that refuse body exports are a significant percentage of some competitors' sales and represent a meaningful opportunity for McNeilus. The Company is training its international Oshkosh and Pierce representatives and dealers to sell and service the McNeilus product line and has commenced sales of McNeilus products through these representatives and dealers. The Company has also been actively recruiting new refuse and rear-discharge concrete mixer representatives and dealers worldwide.
Fire and Emergency Segment. The Company believes the geographical breadth, size and quality of its fire apparatus sales and service organization are competitive advantages in a market characterized by a few large manufacturers and numerous small, regional competitors. Pierce's fire apparatus are sold through 32 sales and service organizations with more than 275 sales representatives nationwide, which combine broad geographical reach with frequency of contact with fire departments and municipal government officials. These sales and service organizations are supported by 72 product and marketing support professionals and contract administrators at Pierce. The Company believes frequency of contact and local presence are important to cultivate major, and typically infrequent, purchases involving the city or town council and fire department, purchasing, finance, and mayoral offices, among others, that may participate in a fire truck bid and selection. After the sale, Pierce's nationwide local parts and service capability is available to help municipalities maintain peak readiness for this vital municipal service.
Prior to its acquisition by Oshkosh, Pierce primarily focused its sales efforts in rural and small suburban domestic markets. Due to the Company's expertise and long-standing relationships in numerous large urban markets, the Company has extended Pierce's sales focus into several key metropolitan areas. As a result of this focus and since its acquisition, Pierce has been awarded new business in the cities of Los Angeles, California; Richmond, Virginia; Tampa and Miami, Florida; Detroit, Michigan; Chicago, Illinois and Honolulu, Hawaii among other major cities, and continues to target other urban markets.
Prior to its acquisition by Oshkosh, Pierce had targeted premium-priced markets where it could use its innovative technology, quality and advanced customization capabilities. In 1999, Pierce also began targeting price sensitive domestic and international markets through the introduction of its Contender series of lower-priced commercial and custom pumpers. These limited-option vehicles are being produced in the Company's Bradenton, Florida facility for lower cost delivery to international customers.
9

Pierce has substantially strengthened its competitive position overseas. Pierce's worldwide distribution network was expanded from one to 26 international representatives and dealers. This network has delivered several new orders from government agencies and private companies in Curacao, Puerto Rico, Mexico, Argentina and Saudi Arabia, among other countries.
The Company has invested in the development of sales tools for its representatives that it believes create a competitive advantage in the sale of fire apparatus. For example, Pierce's Pride 2000 PC-based sales tool can be used by its sales representatives to develop the detail specifications, price the base truck and options and draw the configured truck on the customer's premises. The quote, if accepted, is directly interfaced into Pierce's sales order systems.
The Company's aircraft rescue and firefighting vehicles are marketed through a combination of three direct sales representatives domestically and 47 representatives and distributors in international markets. In addition, the Company has 29 full-time sales and service representative and distributor locations with over 100 sales people focused on the sale of snow removal vehicles, principally to airports, but also to municipalities, counties and other governmental entities.
The acquisition of Medtec has added 12 dealer organizations with approximately 30 sales people focused on the ambulance market.
Defense Segment. Substantially all domestic defense products are sold directly to principal branches of the DoD. The Company maintains a liaison office in Washington, D.C. to represent its interests with the Pentagon, Congress and the offices of the Executive Branch. The Company also sells and services defense products to foreign governments directly through four international sales offices, through dealers, consultants and representatives, and through the United States Foreign Military Sales ("FMS") program. The DoD has begun to rely on industry for support and sustainability of its vehicles which has opened up new opportunities for maintenance, service and contract support to the U.S. Army and U.S. Marine Corps.
The Company maintains a marketing staff of four individuals that regularly meets with all branches of the Armed Services, Reserves and National Guard and with representatives of key military bases to determine their vehicle requirements and identify specialty truck variants and apparatus required to fulfill their missions.
In addition to marketing its current truck offerings and competing for new contracts in the medium-payload segment, the Company actively works with the Armed Services to develop new applications for its vehicles and expand its services.
Manufacturing
The Company manufactures trucks and truck bodies at fifteen manufacturing facilities. Employee involvement is encouraged to improve production processes and product quality. To reduce production costs, the Company maintains a continuing emphasis on the development of proprietary components, self-sufficiency in fabrication, just-in-time inventory management, improvement in production flows, interchangeability and simplification of components among product lines, creation of jigs and fixtures to ensure repeatability of quality processes, utilization of robotics, and performance measurement to assure progress toward cost reduction targets. The Company also employs a team of industrial engineers that travel to all plants to study and streamline workflows.
The Company intends to continue to upgrade its manufacturing capabilities by adopting best practices across its manufacturing facilities, relocating manufacturing activities to the most efficient facility, investing in further fixturing and robotics, re-engineering manufacturing processes and adopting lean manufacturing management practices across all facilities.
The Company is focusing on achieving targeted synergies with each acquisition. Within the first year following the Pierce acquisition, the Company consolidated three Pierce manufacturing facilities down to two while increasing Pierce's capacity by improving product flow. In addition, among other things, the Company reduced the number of operating shifts at the Pierce paint plant from three to one to substantially reduce utility costs, implemented indexing of production lines and relocated chassis frame build-up to Oshkosh to improve production efficiencies, and eliminated storage rooms to relocate inventory to point of use thereby eliminating duplicate material handling. Likewise, at McNeilus, the Company has installed seven additional robots and re-arranged weld and mount activities.
In September 2000, the Company completed construction of a 100,000 square foot, $8.3 million expansion at its Dodge Center, Minnesota facility, which expanded paint capacity and doubled refuse body manufacturing capacity. The primary purpose of the expansion was to construct two moving assembly lines with robotic welders to significantly reduce the manufacturing costs of refuse bodies. With the acquisition of Kewaunee in fiscal 2000, the Company acquired heavy metal fabrication capabilities.
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In the third quarter of fiscal 2000, Oshkosh commenced an $8.0 million plan to expand its existing production facilities in Oshkosh, Wisconsin to support the MTVR contract. The project will expand the Company's machining, fabrication and assembly facilities, with a total addition of approximately 110,000 square feet of space to accommodate higher levels of production under the MTVR contract. The Company expects to complete this expansion in the second quarter of fiscal 2001.
In 1994, Oshkosh commenced a program to educate and train all employees at its Oshkosh facilities in quality principles and to seek ISO 9001 certification to improve the Company's competitiveness in its global markets. ISO 9001 is a set of internationally accepted quality requirements established by the International Organization for Standardization, which indicates that a company has established and follows a rigorous set of requirements aimed at achieving customer satisfaction by preventing nonconformity in design, development, production, installation and servicing of products. Employees at all levels of the Company are encouraged to understand customer and supplier requirements, measure performance, develop systems and procedures to prevent nonconformance with requirements and produce continuous improvement in all work processes. Oshkosh achieved ISO 9001 certification in 1995 and Pierce achieved ISO 9001 certification in 1998. The Company expects to pursue ISO certification for McNeilus beginning in fiscal 2001.
Engineering, Research and Development
The Company's extensive engineering, research and development capabilities have been key drivers of the Company's marketplace success. The Company maintains three facilities for new product development and testing with a staff of 68 engineers and technicians who are responsible for improving existing products and development and testing of new trucks, truck bodies and components. The Company prepares annual new product development and improvement plans for each of its markets and measures progress against those plans each month.
Virtually all of the Company's sales of fire apparatus require some custom engineering to meet the customer's specifications and changing industry standards. Engineering is also a critical factor in defense truck markets due to the severe operating conditions under which the Company's trucks are utilized, new customer requirements and stringent government documentation requirements. In the commercial segment, product innovation is highly important to meet customers' changing requirements. Accordingly, the Company maintains a permanent staff of over 300 engineers and engineering technicians, and it regularly outsources significant engineering activities in connection with major DoD bids and proposals.
For fiscal years 2000, 1999 and 1998, the Company incurred engineering, research and development expenditures of $14.1 million, $10.9 million and $9.7 million, respectively, portions of which were recoverable from customers, principally the U.S. government.
Competition
The Company operates in highly competitive markets. The Company competes in the fire and emergency and defense truck markets principally on the basis of lowest qualified bid. To submit a qualified bid, the bidder must demonstrate that the fire apparatus or defense truck meets stringent specifications and, for most defense truck contracts, passes extensive testing. In addition, decreases in the DoD budget have resulted in a reduction in the number and size of contracts, which has intensified the competition for remaining available contracts. The Company and its competitors continually undertake substantial marketing, technical and legislative actions in order to maintain existing levels of defense business. In the refuse truck body and concrete mixer markets, the Company also faces intense competition on the basis of price, innovation, quality, service and product performance. As the Company seeks to expand its sales of refuse truck bodies to municipal customers, management believes the principal basis of competition for such business will be lowest qualified bid.
In all of the Company's market segments, competitors include smaller, specialized manufacturers as well as large, mass producers. The Company believes that, in its specialized truck markets, it has been able to effectively compete against large, mass producers due to product quality, flexible manufacturing and specialized distribution systems. The Company believes that its competitive cost structure, engineering expertise, product quality and global distribution systems have enabled it to compete effectively with other specialized manufacturers.
Principal competitors of McNeilus for refuse truck body sales include The Heil Company (a subsidiary of Dover Corporation), Leach Company and McClain E-Z Pack, Inc. Principal competitors of McNeilus and Oshkosh for concrete mixer sales include Advance Mixer, Inc., Continental Manufacturing Co., London Machinery, Inc. and Temco (a division of Trinity Industries, Inc.). Oshkosh's principal competitor for airport snow removal sales is Stewart & Stevenson Services, Inc. Pierce's principal competitors for fire apparatus sales include Emergency One, Inc. (a subsidiary of Federal Signal Corporation), Kovatch Mobile Equipment Corp., and
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numerous small, regional manufacturers. Medtec's principal competitors for ambulance and rescue sales include Wheeled Coach (a subsidiary of Collins Industries, Inc.), McCoy Miller and Halcore. Oshkosh's principal competitor for aircraft rescue and firefighting sales is Emergency One, Inc. Oshkosh's principal competitors for DoD contracts include AM General Corporation and Stewart & Stevenson Services, Inc. The Company also faces competition from its competitors for acquisition opportunities.
Several of the Company's competitors have greater financial, marketing, manufacturing and distribution resources than the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company's products will continue to compete successfully with the products of competitors or that the Company will be able to retain its customer base or to improve or maintain its profit margins on sales to its customers, all of which could materially adversely affect the Company's financial condition, profitability and cash flows.
Customers and Backlog
Sales to the U. S. Department of Defense comprised approximately 20% of the Company's net sales in fiscal 2000. No other single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company's net sales for this period. A substantial majority of the Company's net sales are derived from customer orders prior to commencing production.
The Company's backlog at September 30, 2000 was $607.5 million compared to $486.5 million at September 30, 1999. Backlog related to the defense segment increased by $127.6 million to $291.5 million in 2000 compared to 1999, with approximately $87.8 million of the increase due to the multi-year MTVR contract. Fire and emergency backlogs increased by $16.6 million to $216.9 million at September 30, 2000 compared to the prior year. Commercial backlogs decreased by $23.2 million to $99.1 million at September 30, 2000 compared to the prior year. The Company believes customers placed orders for commercial products earlier in the prior year due to tightness in the market for commercial truck chassis, which condition no longer exists. Additionally, the Company expects overall sales levels of the Company's concrete placement products to be lower in fiscal 2001 by approximately 10% compared to historical levels reached in fiscal 2000. Approximately 3% of the September 30, 2000 backlog is not expected to be filled in fiscal 2001.
Reported backlog excludes purchase options and announced orders for which definitive contracts have not been executed. Additionally, backlog excludes unfunded portions of the U. S. Department of Defense long-term family and MTVR contracts. Backlog information and comparisons thereof as of different dates may not be accurate indicators of future sales or the ratio of the Company's future sales to the U. S. Department of Defense versus its sales to other customers.
Government Contracts
Approximately 20% of the Company's net sales for fiscal 2000 were made to the U.S. government under long-term contracts and programs, the majority of which were in the defense truck market. Accordingly, a significant portion of the Company's sales are subject to risks specific to doing business with the U.S. government, including uncertainty of economic conditions, changes in government policies and requirements that may reflect rapidly changing military and political developments, the availability of funds and the ability to meet specified performance thresholds.
The Company's sales into defense truck markets are substantially dependent upon periodic awards of new contracts and the purchase of base vehicle quantities and the exercise of options under existing contracts. The Company's existing contracts with the DoD may be terminated at any time for the convenience of the government. Upon such termination, the Company would generally be entitled to reimbursement of its incurred costs and, in general, to payment of a reasonable profit for work actually performed. Contractually under the Company's MTVR contract, the Company is entitled to $11 million in program year two and $5 million in program year three if the contract is terminated for the convenience of the government.
Under firm fixed-price contracts with the government, the price paid to the Company is generally not subject to adjustment to reflect the Company's actual costs, except costs incurred as a result of contract changes ordered by the government. The Company generally attempts to negotiate with the government the amount of increased compensation to which the Company is entitled for government-ordered changes that result in higher costs. If the Company is unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement to provide such increased compensation, then the Company may file an appeal with the Armed Services Board of Contract Appeals or the U.S. Claims Court. The Company has no such appeals pending. The Company seeks to mitigate risks with respect to fixed price contracts by executing firm fixed price contracts with qualified suppliers for the duration of the Company's contracts.
The Company, as a U.S. government contractor, is subject to financial audits and other reviews by the U.S. government of performance of, and the accounting and general practices relating to, U.S. government contracts, and like most large government contractors, the Company is audited and reviewed on a continual basis. Costs and prices under such contracts may be subject to
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adjustment based upon the results of such audits and reviews. Additionally, such audits and reviews can and have led to civil, criminal or administrative proceedings. Such proceedings could involve claims by the government for fines, penalties, compensatory and treble damages, restitution and/or forfeitures. Under government regulations, a company or one or more of its subsidiaries can also be suspended or debarred from government contracts, or lose its export privileges based on the results of such proceedings. The Company believes, based on all available information, that the outcome of all such audits, reviews and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
Suppliers
The Company is highly dependent on its suppliers and subcontractors in order to meet commitments to its customers, and many major components are procured or subcontracted on a sole-source basis with a number of domestic and foreign companies. Through its reliance on this supply network for the purchase of certain components, the Company is able to avoid many of the preproduction and fixed costs associated with the manufacture of those components. The Company maintains an extensive qualification, on-site inspection and assistance and performance measurement system to control risks associated with such reliance on suppliers. The Company occasionally experiences problems with supplier and subcontractor performance and must identify alternate sources of supply and/or address related warranty claims from customers.
While the Company purchases many costly components such as engines, transmissions and axles, it manufactures certain proprietary components that are deemed material to each of the Company's segments. These components include front drive and steer axles, transfer cases, cabs, the ALL-STEER electronic all-wheel steering system, independent suspension, the Sky-Arm articulating aerial ladder, the McNeilus Auto Reach Arm, the Hercules compressed air foam system, the Command Zone proprietary multiplexing system, body structures and many smaller parts which add uniqueness and value to the Company's products. Internal production of these components provides a significant competitive advantage and also serves to reduce the manufacturing costs of the Company's products.
Intellectual Property
Patents and licenses are important in the operation of the Company's business, as one of management's key objectives is developing proprietary components to provide the Company's customers with advanced technological solutions at attractive prices. The Company holds 101 active domestic and 47 foreign patents. The Company believes patents for all-wheel steer and independent suspension systems, which have remaining lives of 8 to 13 years, provide the Company with a competitive advantage in the fire and emergency segment. In the defense segment, the independent suspension system was added to the U.S. Marine Corps' MTVR program, which the Company believes provided a performance and cost advantage in the successful competition for the Phase II production contract. To a lesser extent, other proprietary components provide the Company a competitive advantage in the Company's other segments.
The Company holds trademarks for "Oshkosh," "Pierce," "McNeilus" and "MTM," among others. These trademarks are considered to be important to the future success of the Company's business.
Employees
As of October 31, 2000, the Company had approximately 4,600 employees. Approximately 925 production employees at the Company's Oshkosh facilities are represented by the United Auto Workers union and approximately 200 employees at the Company's Kewaunee facilities are represented by the Boilermakers, Iron Shipbuilders, Blacksmiths, and Forgers Union ("Boilermakers"). The Company's five-year contract with the United Auto Workers union extends through September 2001 and the Company's contract with the Boilermakers union extends through May 2002. The Company believes its relationship with employees is satisfactory.
Industry Segments
Financial information concerning the Company's industry segments is included in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
Foreign and Domestic Operations and Export Sales
Financial information concerning the Company's foreign and domestic operations and export sales is included in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES
Management believes the Company's equipment and buildings are modern, well maintained and adequate for its present and anticipated needs. As of October 31, 2000, the Company operated in fifteen manufacturing facilities and owned another facility that was not in use. The location, size and focus of the Company's facilities is provided in the table below:

                                          Approximate
                                         Square Footage                        Principal
Location (# of facilities)          Owned              Leased            Products Manufactured
----------------------------  -----------------  ------------------ --------------------------------------------
Oshkosh, Wisconsin(3).......       774,000              17,000      Defense Trucks; Front-Discharge Mixers; Snow
                                                                    Removal Vehicles; ARFF Vehicles
Appleton, Wisconsin(2)......       604,000              16,000      Fire Apparatus
Dodge Center, Minnesota(1)         711,000               2,000      Rear-Discharge Mixers; Refuse Truck Bodies;
                                                                    Portable Batch Plants
Bradenton, Florida(1).......       287,000                          Fire Apparatus; Defense Trucks and Truck
                                                                    Bodies
Kewaunee, Wisconsin(1)......       171,000                          Aerial Devices and Heavy Steel Fabrication
Riceville, Iowa(1)..........       108,000                          Components for Rear-Discharge Mixers and
Goshen, Indiana(1)..........        87,000                          Ambulances
White Pigeon, Michigan(1)           58,000                          Ambulances
Kensett, Iowa(1)............        65,000                          Not Currently in Use
McIntire, Iowa(1)...........        28,000                          Components for Rear-Discharge Mixers and
                                                                    Refuse Truck Bodies
Weyauwega, Wisconsin(1).....        28,000                          Refurbished Fire Apparatus
Ontario, California(1)......                            31,000      Refurbished Fire Apparatus
Villa Rica, Georgia(1)......                            20,000      Replacement Drums for Rear-Discharge Mixers

The Company's manufacturing facilities generally operate five days per week on one shift, except for one-week shutdowns in July and December. Management believes the Company's manufacturing capacity could be significantly increased with limited capital spending by working an additional shift at each facility.
In addition to sales and service activities at the Company's manufacturing facilities, the Company maintains sixteen sales and service centers in the United States. The Company owns such facilities in Grand Rapids, Michigan; Colton, California; Commerce City, Colorado; Villa Rica, Georgia; Lithia Springs, Georgia; Hutchins, Texas; Morgantown, Pennsylvania; and Gahanna, Ohio. The Company leases such facilities in Milpitas, California; Tacoma, Washington; Salt Lake City, Utah; Aurora, Illinois; Fairfield, Ohio; East Granby, Connecticut; Houston, Texas; and Phoenix, Arizona. These facilities range in size from approximately 2,000 square feet to approximately 46,000 square feet and are used primarily for sales and service of concrete mixers and refuse bodies.
The Company's facilities are pledged as collateral under the terms of the Company's Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
The Company is subject to federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations that impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the environment and establish standards for the treatment, storage and disposal of toxic and hazardous wastes. As part of its routine business operations, the Company disposes of and recycles or reclaims certain industrial waste materials, chemicals and solvents at third party disposal and recycling facilities which are licensed by appropriate governmental agencies. In some instances, these facilities have been and may be designated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") or a state environmental agency for remediation. Under Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (the "Superfund" law) and similar state laws, each potentially responsible party ("PRP") that contributed hazardous substances may be jointly and severally liable for the costs associated with cleaning up the site. Typically, PRPs negotiate a resolution with the EPA and/or the state environmental agencies. PRPs also negotiate with each other regarding allocation of the cleanup cost.
As to one such Superfund site, Pierce is one of 431 PRPs participating in the costs of addressing the site and has been assigned an allocation share of approximately 0.04%. Currently, a report of the remedial investigation/feasibility study is being completed, and as such, an estimate for the total cost of the remediation of this site has not been made to date. However, based on estimates and the assigned allocations, the Company believes its liability at the site will not be material and its share is adequately covered through reserves established by the Company at September 30, 2000. Actual liability could vary based on results of the study, the resources of other PRPs and the Company's final share of liability.
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The Company is addressing a regional trichloroethylene ("TCE") groundwater plume on the south side of Oshkosh, Wisconsin. The Company believes there may be multiple sources in the area. TCE was detected at the Company's North Plant facility with testing showing the highest concentrations in a monitoring well located on the upgradient property line. Because the investigation process is still ongoing, it is not possible for the Company to estimate its long-term total liability associated with this issue at this time. Also, as part of the regional TCE groundwater investigation, the Company conducted a groundwater investigation of a former landfill located on Company property. The landfill, acquired by the Company in 1972, is approximately 2.0 acres in size and is believed to have been used for the disposal of household waste. Based on the investigation, the Company does not believe the landfill is one of the sources of the TCE contamination. Based upon current knowledge, the Company believes its liability associated with the TCE issue will not be material and is adequately covered through reserves established by the Company at September 30, 2000. However, this may change as investigations proceed by the Company, other unrelated property owners and government entities.
The Company is subject to other environmental matters and legal proceedings and claims, including patent, antitrust, product liability and state dealership regulation compliance proceedings. Although the final results of all such matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such matters and claims, after taking into account the liabilities accrued with respect to such matters and claims, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations. Actual results could vary, among other things, due to the uncertainties involved in litigation.
Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2000.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The following table sets forth certain information as of November 30, 2000 concerning the Company's executive officers. All of the Company's officers serve terms of one year and until their successors are elected and qualified.

       Name             Age                  Title
----------------------- ---- ----------------------------------------------
Robert G. Bohn.........  47  President, Chief Executive Officer and
                             Chairman of the Board
Timothy M. Dempsey.....  60  Executive Vice President, General Counsel and
                             Secretary
Paul C. Hollowell......  59  Executive Vice President and President,
                             Defense Business
Daniel J. Lanzdorf.....  52  Executive Vice President and President,
                             McNeilus Companies, Inc.
John W. Randjelovic....  56  Executive Vice President and President,
                             Pierce Manufacturing Inc.
Charles L. Szews.......  44  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
                             Officer
Matthew J. Zolnowski...  47  Executive Vice President, Corporate
                             Administration

Robert G. Bohn. Mr. Bohn joined the Company in 1992 as Vice President-Operations. He was appointed President and Chief Operating Officer in 1994. He was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer in October 1997 and Chairman of the Board in January 2000. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Bohn was Director-European Operations for Johnson Controls, Inc., Milwaukee, Wisconsin, which manufactures, among other things, automotive products. He worked for Johnson Controls from 1984 until 1992. He was elected a Director of the Company in June 1995. He is a director of Graco, Inc.
Timothy M. Dempsey. Mr. Dempsey joined the Company in October 1995 as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. Mr. Dempsey has been and continues to be a partner in the law firm of Dempsey, Magnusen, Williamson and Lampe in Oshkosh, Wisconsin. Mr. Dempsey was appointed Executive Vice President in February 1999.
Paul C. Hollowell. Mr. Hollowell joined the Company in April 1989 as Vice President-Defense Product, was appointed Executive Vice President in February 1994 and assumed his present position in February 1999.
Daniel J. Lanzdorf. Mr. Lanzdorf joined the Company in 1973 as a design engineer and has served in various assignments including Chief Engineer-- Defense, Director of Defense Engineering, Director of the Defense Business Unit, and Vice President of Manufacturing Operations & General Manager Commercial Business prior to becoming President of McNeilus Companies, Inc. in April 1998. Mr. Lanzdorf was appointed to his present position in February 1999.
15

John W. Randjelovic. Mr. Randjelovic joined the Company in October 1992 as Vice President and General Manager in charge of the Bradenton, Florida Division. In September 1996, he was appointed Vice President of Manufacturing, Purchasing, and Materials for Pierce. In October 1997, Mr. Randjelovic was appointed Vice President and General Manager, Pierce Manufacturing Inc. and was appointed to his current position in February 1999.
Charles L. Szews. Mr. Szews joined the Company in March 1996 as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and assumed his present position in October 1997. Mr. Szews was previously employed by Fort Howard Corporation, a manufacturer of tissue products, from June 1988 until March 1996 in various positions, including Vice President and Controller from September 1994 until March 1996.
Matthew J. Zolnowski. Mr. Zolnowski joined the Company as Vice President-Human Resources in January 1992, was appointed Vice President, Administration in February 1994 and assumed his present position in February 1999.
PART II
Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
The information included in Notes 7 and 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained herein under Item 8 and the information relating to dividends per share contained herein under Item 6 is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item.
In July 1995, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 1,500,000 shares of Common Stock. As of November 30, 2000, the Company has repurchased 692,302 shares under this program at a cost of $6.6 million.
Dividends and Common Stock Price*
It is the Company's intention to declare and pay dividends on a regular basis. However, the payment of future dividends is at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, future earnings, capital requirements, the Company's general financial condition, general business conditions and other factors. When the Company pays dividends, it pays a dividend on each share of Common Stock equal to 115% of the amount paid on each share of Class A Common Stock. The agreements governing the Company's subordinated debt and bank debt restrict its ability to pay dividends on Common Stock and Class A Common Stock. For fiscal 2001, the terms of its Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility generally limit the aggregate amount of all dividends the Company may pay on its common equity during that period to an amount equal to $6 million plus 7.5% of consolidated net income.
The Company's Common Stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market. As of September 30, 2000, there were 855 holders of record of the Company's Common Stock and 104 holders of record of the Company's Class A Common Stock. The following table sets forth prices reflecting actual sales as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, as adjusted to reflect the three-for-two split of the Company's Common Stock effected on August 19, 1999.

                                   Fiscal 2000       Fiscal 1999
              Quarter Ended      High     Low       High     Low
              -------------      ----     ---       ----     ---
September....................... $40.00   $30.81    $38.50  $22.75
June............................  38.50    28.75     33.58   19.33
March...........................  34.88    21.63     25.50   20.83
December........................  34.75    24.88     23.33   14.50

*There is no established public trading market for Class A Common Stock.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
Fiscal years ended September 30,
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

                                                       2000(4)         1999           1998(5)          1997            1996(6)
                                                       ----            ----           ----             ----            ----
Net sales.......................................     $1,324,026     $1,164,954       $902,792         $683,234        $413,455
Operating income (loss).........................         98,051         76,213         48,720           28,785          (3,601)
Income (loss) from continuing operations........         48,508         31,191         16,253           10,006            (241)
     Per share assuming dilution................           2.96           2.39           1.27             0.78           (0.02)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations(1)...          2,015            ---            ---              ---          (2,859)
     Per share assuming dilution(1).............           0.12            ---            ---              ---           (0.21)
Net income (loss) (2)...........................         49,703         31,131         15,068           10,006          (3,100)
     Per share assuming dilution (2)............           3.03           2.39           1.18             0.78           (0.23)
Dividends per share:
     Class A Common Stock.......................           .300           .292           .290             .290            .290
     Common Stock...............................           .345           .336           .333             .333            .333
Total assets....................................        796,380        753,290        685,039          420,394         435,161
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment..         22,647         17,999         13,444            6,574           5,515
Depreciation....................................         12,200         10,743          9,515            9,382           8,627
Amortization of goodwill, other intangible assets
      and deferred financing costs..............         12,018         12,414          9,183            4,688             171
Net working capital.............................         70,461         43,505         41,137           50,113          67,469
Long-term debt (including current maturities)(3)        162,782        260,548        280,804          135,000         157,882
Shareholders' equity(3).........................        301,057        162,880        131,296          120,900         121,602
Book value per share(3).........................          18.06          12.70          10.39             9.70            9.39
Backlog.........................................        608,000        487,000        377,000          361,000         433,000

(1)In fiscal 2000, the Company recorded a $2,015 after-tax gain resulting from a technology transfer agreement and collection
of previously written-off receivables related to the Company's former bus chassis joint venture in Mexico. In fiscal 1996,
the Company incurred after-tax charges of $1,600 arising from the write-off of receivables and other obligations related to
the Company's former chassis joint venture in Mexico and incurred additional warranty and other related costs of $1,259 with
respect to the Company's former U.S. chassis business.

(2)Includes after-tax extraordinary charges of $820 ($0.05 per share) in 2000, $60 ($0.00 per share) in 1999 and $1,185
($0.09 per share) in 1998 related to early retirement of debt.

(3)On November 24, 1999, the Company prepaid $93,500 of term debt under its Senior Credit Facility from proceeds of the sale
of 3,795,000 shares of Common Stock. On September 28, 2000, the Company amended and restated its Senior Credit Facility. See
Note 4 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(4)On November 1, 1999 the Company acquired assets, assumed certain liabilities and entered into related non-compete
agreements for Kewaunee Fabrications for $5,467 in cash. On April 28, 2000, the Company acquired for cash, all of the issued
and outstanding capital stock of Viking Truck and Equipment for $1,680. See Note 3 to Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(5)On February 26, 1998, the Company acquired for cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of McNeilus Companies,
Inc. and entered into related non-compete and ancillary agreements for $217,581. See Note 3 to Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

(6)On September 18, 1996, the Company acquired for cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Pierce
Manufacturing Inc. for $156,926.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Oshkosh Truck Corporation and Subsidiaries
General
The Company is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of a wide range of specialty trucks and truck bodies including concrete mixers, refuse bodies, fire and emergency vehicles and defense trucks. Under the "McNeilus" and "Oshkosh" brand names, the Company manufactures rear- and front-discharge concrete mixers and a wide range of automated rear, front, side and top loading refuse truck bodies. Under the "Pierce" brand name, the Company is among the leading domestic manufacturers of fire apparatus assembled on both custom and commercial chassis. The Company manufactures aircraft rescue and firefighting and airport snow removal vehicles under the "Oshkosh" brand name and ambulances and heavy-duty rescues under the "Medtec" brand name. The Company also manufactures defense trucks under the "Oshkosh" brand name and is the leading manufacturer of severe-duty heavy tactical trucks for the Department of Defense.
Major products manufactured and marketed by each of the Company's business segments are as follows:
Commercial--concrete mixer systems, refuse truck bodies, portable concrete batch plants and truck components sold to ready-mix companies and commercial and municipal waste haulers in the U. S. and abroad.
Fire and emergency--commercial and custom fire trucks, aircraft rescue and firefighting trucks, snow removal trucks, ambulances and other emergency vehicles primarily sold to fire departments, airports and other governmental units in the U. S. and abroad.
Defense--heavy- and medium-payload tactical trucks and supply parts sold to the U. S. military and to other militaries around the world.
Acquisition History
Since 1996, the Company has selectively pursued strategic acquisitions to enhance its product offerings and diversify its business. The Company has focused its acquisition strategy on providing a full range of products to customers in specialty truck and truck body markets that are growing and where it can develop strong market positions and achieve acquisition synergies. Identified below is information with respect to these acquisitions, all of which have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and have been included in the Company's results of operations from the date of acquisition.
On September 18, 1996, the Company acquired for cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Pierce, a leading manufacturer and marketer of fire trucks and other emergency apparatus for $156.9 million, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. The acquisition was financed from borrowings under a subsequently retired bank credit facility.
On December 19, 1997, Pierce acquired certain inventory, machinery and equipment, and intangible assets of Nova Quintech, a division of Nova Bus Corporation, for $3.6 million. Nova Quintech was engaged in the manufacture and sale of aerial devices for fire trucks.
On February 26, 1998, the Company acquired for cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of McNeilus and entered into related non-compete and ancillary agreements for $217.6 million, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. McNeilus is a leading manufacturer and marketer of rear-discharge concrete mixers and portable concrete batch plants for the concrete placement industry and refuse truck bodies for the waste services industry in the United States. The acquisition was financed from borrowings under a Senior Credit Facility and the issuance of Senior Subordinated Notes.
On November 1, 1999, the Company acquired the manufacturing assets of Kewaunee for $5.5 million in cash plus the assumption of certain liabilities aggregating $2.2 million. Kewaunee manufactures all of the Company's requirements for aerial devices in its fire and emergency segment. The acquisition was financed from borrowings under the Company's Senior Credit Facility.
18

On April 28, 2000, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Viking for $1.7 million, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. The acquisition was financed from borrowings under the Company's Senior Credit Facility.
On October 30, 2000, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Medtec and an affiliate and certain related assets for $14.5 million in cash, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. Medtec is a U.S. manufacturer of custom ambulances and rescue vehicles with annual sales of approximately $22 million. The acquisition of Medtec will be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of Medtec will be included in the Company's consolidated statements of income beginning October 30, 2000 as part of the Company's fire and emergency segment. The acquisition was financed from available cash and borrowings under the Company's Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility.
Results of Operations
Analysis of Consolidated Net Sales--Three Years Ended September 30, 2000
The following table presents net sales by business segment (in thousands):

                                                                               Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                                    2000                     1999                    1998
                                                                    ----                     ----                    ----
Net sales to unaffiliated customers:
    Commercial.......................................           $    658,329             $    607,678             $    354,165
    Fire and emergency...............................                390,659                  336,241                  301,181
    Defense..........................................                275,841                  222,535                  247,956
    Corporate and other..............................                   (803)                  (1,500)                    (510)
                                                                ------------             ------------             ------------
        Consolidated.................................           $  1,324,026             $  1,164,954             $    902,792
                                                                ============             ============             ============

The following table presents net sales by geographic region based on product shipment destination (in thousands):

                                                                               Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                                    2000                     1999                    1998
                                                                    ----                     ----                    ----
Net sales:
    United States........................................       $  1,221,548             $  1,113,214             $    857,310
    Other North America..................................              7,429                    7,822                    4,678
    Middle East..........................................             68,317                   21,713                   16,889
    Other................................................             26,732                   22,205                   23,915
                                                                ------------             ------------             ------------
        Consolidated.....................................       $  1,324,026             $  1,164,954             $    902,792
                                                                ============             ============             ============

FISCAL 2000 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1999
Consolidated net sales increased $159.1 million, or 13.7%, to $1,324.0 million in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999 with approximately one-third of the overall sales growth being generated by each of the Company's three segments
- defense, fire and emergency and commercial.
Commercial segment net sales increased $50.7 million, or 8.3%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999. Sales increases were balanced across the entire segment, which includes front- and rear-discharge concrete mixers, batch plants, concrete placement parts and service, refuse packers and refuse parts and service.
Fire and emergency segment sales increased $54.4 million, or 16.2%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999. Traditional fire truck sales accounted for 78.1% of the current year increase, with sales up across all categories, including custom and commercial pumpers, aerials, heavy duty rescues and parts sales and service. The Company experienced particular success in the launch of its new Contender Series of commercial fire trucks. A $17.8 million reduction in international fire truck sales in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999 was partially offset by a $7.2 million increase in international sales of ARFF vehicles. Fiscal 1999 sales included final shipments under a large, multi-unit fire truck order which was shipped to the Middle East in fiscal 1998 and 1999.
Defense segment net sales increased $53.3 million, or 24.0%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999. Approximately one-half of the current year sales increase was due to start-up of low rate initial production of the MTVR truck, which began early in fiscal
19

2000. International shipments increased $53.7 million as a result of several large orders to Middle East customers. Increased international vehicle sales and domestic parts sales offset reductions in domestic, heavy-payload vehicle sales.
FISCAL 1999 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1998
Consolidated net sales increased $262.2 million, or 29.0%, to $1,165.0 million in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998. Fiscal 1998 results included seven months of operations of McNeilus, which was acquired in February 1998, while fiscal 1999 results included a full twelve months of McNeilus operations. On a pro forma basis, assuming McNeilus had been acquired at the beginning of fiscal 1998, net sales increased $124.0 million, or 11.9%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998.
Commercial segment net sales increased $253.5 million, or 71.6%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998. Strong end markets in the concrete placement industry, the introduction of a new cab and mixer package for Oshkosh's front-discharge concrete mixer, and sales, marketing and distribution synergies created through the acquisition of McNeilus contributed to a 24% increase in concrete mixer sales compared to prior year pro forma sales. Refuse truck and truck body sales increased 36% compared to pro forma 1998 sales, generally as a result of commercial waste haulers accelerating the replacement of refuse packers in their fleets and as a result of McNeilus increasing sales penetration with both commercial and municipal accounts.
Fire and emergency segment net sales increased $35.1 million, or 11.6%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998. Pierce comprises the largest share of this segment and has increased its sales at a compound annual growth rate of 11% since 1980. Pierce's sales increased 10.2% in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998, generally as a result of strong market demand, expanding international sales and new product introductions.
Defense segment net sales decreased $25.4 million, or 10.3%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998. Defense sales declined due to the trend of lower heavy military truck spending in the federal budget and the completion of the ISO-Compatible Palletized Flatrack ("IPF") contract in fiscal 1998, which had fiscal 1998 sales of $32.0 million.
Analysis of Consolidated Operating Income--Three Years Ended September 30, 2000
The following table presents operating income by business segment (in thousands):

                                                                               Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                                    2000                     1999                    1998
                                                                    ----                     ----                    ----
Operating income (loss):
    Commercial.......................................           $     54,654             $     48,995             $     19,317
    Fire and emergency...............................                 32,922                   26,758                   25,581
    Defense..........................................                 30,119                   22,878                   22,680
    Corporate and other..............................                (19,644)                 (22,418)                 (18,858)
                                                                ------------             ------------             ------------
        Consolidated.................................           $     98,051             $     76,213             $     48,720
                                                                ============             ============             ============

FISCAL 2000 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1999
Consolidated operating income increased $21.8 million, or 28.7%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999. Consolidated operating income divided by consolidated sales ("operating income margin") increased from 6.5% in fiscal 1999 to 7.4% in fiscal 2000.
Commercial segment operating income increased $5.7 million, or 11.6%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999. Operating income margins increased to 8.3% of segment sales in fiscal 2000 compared to 8.1% in fiscal 1999. Higher front-discharge concrete mixer margins resulting from material cost reduction efforts and lower manufacturing overhead costs as a result of increased defense business volume were partially offset by production inefficiencies associated with the $8.3 million facilities expansion at the McNeilus Dodge Center location which was completed in September 2000. In fiscal 2000, the commercial segment experienced workforce-related health claims in excess of historical rates of occurrence. Management does not expect these rates of occurrence to continue. Expense related to these claims was offset by reductions of expense due to settlement in fiscal 2000 of unrelated litigation.
Fire and emergency segment operating income increased $6.2 million, or 23.0%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999. Operating income margins increased to 8.4% of segment sales in fiscal 2000 compared to 8.0% in fiscal 1999. The acquisition of Kewaunee contributed 0.2 percentage points to the segment operating income margin. Improved gross margins of the Company's
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ARFF and snow removal vehicles resulting from cost reduction efforts and manufacturing efficiencies contributed most of the remaining improvement in the segment operating income margin.
Defense segment operating income margins increased $7.2 million, or 31.7%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999. Operating income margins increased to 10.9% of segment sales in fiscal 2000 compared to 10.3% in fiscal 1999. Favorable product mix (more higher-margin U.S. heavy-payload trucks and higher international sales), the favorable impact of increased sales volume on fixed manufacturing overhead costs and lower operating expenses offset the impact of $26.2 million in MTVR sales at lower gross margins.
Corporate and other expenses decreased $2.8 million to $19.6 million, or 1.5% of consolidated net sales, from $22.4 million, or 1.9% of consolidated net sales, in fiscal 1999. Excluding the $3.5 million charge in fiscal 1999 in connection with the settlement of litigation, corporate and other expenses were up $0.7 million, or 3.8%.
FISCAL 1999 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1998
Consolidated operating income increased $27.5 million, or 56.4%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998. Fiscal 1998 results included seven months of operations of McNeilus, while fiscal 1999 results included a full twelve months of McNeilus operations. Fiscal 1999 consolidated operating income increased $18.1 million, or 31.2% over pro forma fiscal 1998 consolidated operating income, assuming McNeilus had been acquired at the beginning of fiscal 1998.
Commercial segment operating income increased $29.7 million, or 153.6%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998. On a pro forma basis, assuming McNeilus had been acquired at the beginning of fiscal 1998, operating income increased $20.3 million, or 70.7%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998. Operating income margin increased to 8.1% of commercial segment sales in fiscal 1999 compared to 5.5% of commercial segment sales in fiscal 1998. Increased concrete mixer unit volume and manufacturing, purchasing and distribution synergies generated as a result of the acquisition of McNeilus contributed to the improvement in the operating income margin. Also, fiscal 1998 results included a $1.9 million charge related to an impairment loss on previously-acquired concrete mixer technology.
Fire and emergency segment operating income increased $1.2 million, or 4.6%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998. The operating income margin decreased from 8.5% in fiscal 1998 to 8.0% in fiscal 1999. Benefits of increased sales volume were offset by short-term production inefficiencies following the installation at Pierce of the final modules of a new enterprise-wide resource planning system during the third quarter of fiscal 1999. By the end of September 1999, Pierce had significantly reduced those production inefficiencies.
Defense segment operating income was comparable in fiscal 1999 and fiscal 1998 ($0.2 million increase in fiscal 1999). However, the operating income margin increased from 9.1% in fiscal 1998 to 10.3% in fiscal 1999. Fiscal 1998 results included the low margin IPF contract and bid-and-proposal costs on the MTVR contract.
Corporate and other expenses increased $3.6 million to $22.4 million, or 1.9% of consolidated net sales, from $18.9 million, or 2.1% of consolidated net sales, in fiscal 1998. Fiscal 1999 results included a $3.5 million charge in connection with the settlement of litigation.
Analysis of Non-operating Income Statement Items--Three Years Ended September 30, 2000
FISCAL 2000 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1999
Interest expense decreased $5.8 million, or 21.6%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999. Interest expense was reduced approximately $6.0 million as the Company paid down $93.5 million of term debt following a November 1999 secondary equity offering. Interest on borrowings to fund the Kewaunee and Viking acquisitions, higher working capital requirements associated with overall sales growth and higher interest rates contributed to increased interest expense, exclusive of the impact of the equity offering.
The provision for income taxes in fiscal 2000 was $31.3 million, or 39.9% of pre-tax income, compared to $21.3 million, or 41.8% of pre-tax income, in fiscal 1999. The effective tax rate was impacted by nondeductible goodwill amortization of $5.4 million in fiscal 2000 and $5.5 million in fiscal 1999 related to the acquisitions of McNeilus and Pierce. Excluding the effects of nondeductible goodwill amortization, the Company's effective tax rate decreased from 38.0% in fiscal 1999 to 37.4% in fiscal 2000 as a result of certain research and development tax credits claimed in fiscal 2000.
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Net of tax equity in earnings of an unconsolidated lease financing partnership of $1.2 million in fiscal 2000 was down from $1.5 million in fiscal 1999. The Company's share of pre-tax earnings of the partnership declined from 65% in fiscal 1999 to 59% in fiscal 2000 as the Company's equity in the partnership continues to decline from approximately 70% at formation in fiscal 1998 to 53% currently. Ultimately, the Company and its other partner will each share 50/50 in the earnings of the partnership as the original "contributed" lease portfolio runs off and is replaced with leases originated subsequent to the formation of the partnership, in which each partner has a 50% interest.
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations of $3.2 million, less income taxes of $1.2, or $2.0 million in fiscal 2000 relates to a technology transfer agreement and collection of previously written-off receivables from a foreign affiliate. The Company exited this business in fiscal 1995.
The $0.8 million after-tax extraordinary charge in fiscal 2000 relates to the write-off of deferred financing costs for that portion of debt prepaid during the year.
FISCAL 1999 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1998
Interest expense increased $5.3 million, or 24.4%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998. Increased interest expense generally relates to indebtedness incurred in connection with the McNeilus acquisition being outstanding for a full twelve months in fiscal 1999 compared to only seven months in fiscal 1998. Interest expense as a percent of net sales dropped to 2.3% in fiscal 1999 compared to 2.4% in fiscal 1998 as the Company paid down debt during fiscal 1999.
The provision for income taxes in fiscal 1999 was $21.3 million, or 41.8% of pre-tax income, compared to $12.7 million, or 44.2% of pre-tax income, in fiscal 1998. The effective tax rate was impacted by nondeductible goodwill amortization of $5.5 million in fiscal 1999 and $4.2 million in fiscal 1998 related to the acquisitions of McNeilus and Pierce. Excluding the effects of nondeductible goodwill amortization, the Company's effective tax rate decreased from 39.1% in fiscal 1998 to 38.0% in 1999, generally as a result of a more efficient state tax structure associated with the McNeilus acquisition.
Equity in earnings of an unconsolidated lease financing partnership of $1.5 million in fiscal 1999 included a full twelve months of the Company's share of the after-tax income of the lease financing partnership. Fiscal 1998 equity in earnings of $0.3 million included seven months of operations of the lease financing partnership since its formation in February 1998, which was offset by the Company's share of the write-off of organization costs ($1.5 million pre-tax, $0.9 million after-tax) in accordance with the issuance of a new accounting standard.
The $0.1 million extraordinary charge in fiscal 1999 and the $1.2 million extraordinary charge in fiscal 1998 related to the write-off of deferred financing costs for that portion of debt prepaid during the respective fiscal year.
Financial Condition
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2000
During fiscal 2000, cash and cash equivalents increased by $8.4 million to $13.6 million at September 30, 2000. Cash provided from operating activities of $49.7 million was used to fund capital expenditures of $22.6 million, to repay $12.2 million of indebtedness under the Company's revolving credit facility (including $7.2 million of current year advances used to fund the acquisitions of Viking and Kewaunee) and to pay dividends of $5.4 million.
The Company's debt-to-total capital ratio at September 30, 2000 was 35.1%. Debt-to-total capital may vary from time to time to the extent that the Company uses debt to fund acquisitions.
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 1999
During fiscal 1999, cash increased by $1.5 million to $5.1 million at September 30, 1999. Cash provided from operating activities of $39.0 million along with a $3.4 million reduction in other long-term assets was used to fund capital expenditures of $18.0 million, reduce indebtedness by $20.3 million (including $15.8 million of debt prepayments) and pay dividends of $4.2 million. Cash provided from operating activities in fiscal 1999 was impacted by a $49.3 million increase in inventory. The increase in inventory is primarily the result of the timing of truck chassis purchases at McNeilus.
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The Company's debt-to-total-capital ratio at September 30, 1999 was 61.5%. In November 1999, the Company completed a secondary offering of 3,795,000 shares of Common Stock at $26.00 per share, before commissions and expenses. Proceeds to the Company from the offering, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, were used to prepay $93.5 million of term debt under the Company's Senior Credit Facility. The Company's pro forma debt-to-total-capital ratio at September 30, 1999, after giving effect to the debt prepayment from proceeds of the Company's November 1999 equity offering, was 39.5%.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company had cash and cash equivalents of $13.6 million and approximately $158.1 million of unused availability under the terms of its Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility (See Note 4 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) as of September 30, 2000. On October 30, 2000, the Company used available cash and borrowings under its Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility to acquire all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Medtec for approximately $14.5 million, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. The Company's primary cash requirements include working capital, interest and principal payments on indebtedness, capital expenditures, dividends and, potentially, future acquisitions. The primary sources of cash are expected to be cash flow from operations and borrowings under the Company's Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility. Based upon current and anticipated future operations, management believes that capital resources will be adequate to meet future working capital, debt service and other capital requirements for fiscal 2001, including the working capital requirements associated with the ramp-up to full-rate production under the MTVR contract and the acquisition of Medtec.
The Company's cash flow from operations has fluctuated, and will likely continue to fluctuate, significantly from quarter to quarter due to changes in working capital requirements arising principally from seasonal fluctuations in sales.
The Company's Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility and Senior Subordinated Notes contain various restrictions and covenants that could potentially limit the Company's ability to respond to market conditions, to provide for unanticipated capital investments, to raise additional debt or equity capital or to take advantage of business opportunities, including future acquisitions.
The Company's Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility accrues interest at variable rates. The Company presently has no plans to enter into interest rate swap arrangements to limit exposure to future increases in interest rates.
Capital expenditures are expected to approximate $23 million in fiscal 2001.
Fiscal 2001 Outlook
The Company expects consolidated sales growth of approximately $156 million in fiscal 2001 to $1,480 million. The Company estimates that consolidated operating income margins will improve one-half of a percentage point over fiscal 2000 levels and will yield consolidated operating income of approximately $117 to $119 million in fiscal 2001. The Company anticipates consolidated income from continuing operations of approximately $60 million in fiscal 2001, or a 23% increase compared to fiscal 2000. The Company expects earnings per share from continuing operations assuming dilution to increase to approximately $3.45 in fiscal 2001.
The Company estimates that commercial segment sales will decline 4.2% in fiscal 2001. The Company believes this decline will primarily be the result of a slowing of concrete placement orders and lower backlogs, due to higher mortgage rates and lower housing starts. The Company anticipates this decline will be offset in part by growth in refuse sales as a result of increased purchases by large commercial waste haulers. The Company expects commercial operating income to expand to $60 to $62 million and refuse margins to double as a result of manufacturing efficiencies the Company anticipates in McNeilus' refuse products due to the facility expansion completed in fiscal 2000.
The Company expects fire and emergency segment sales to increase 12.7% to $440 million in fiscal 2001 with approximately $20 million of the increase resulting from the Medtec acquisition. The Company anticipates this growth rate will be less than in fiscal 2000 because ARFF sales may be less in fiscal 2001 due to lower international bid activity and because of one more year of limited snowfall affecting the Company's snow plow and blower business. The Company estimates that fire and emergency operating income will increase 40% to $45 to $47 million in fiscal 2001 as a result of cost reduction initiatives, recovery from enterprise resource planning ("ERP") system-related inefficiencies and the Medtec acquisition.
The Company estimates that defense segment sales will increase to approximately $410 million largely due to an anticipated $115 million increase in MTVR vehicle sales, plus higher parts sales. This projected level of sales assumes production levels under the MTVR contract will begin to increase to "full-rate" production following the passage of certain vehicle performance milestones,
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which the Company expects to occur in early 2001. The Company believes defense operating income will increase modestly to $30 to $31 million. The Company expects increased sales of lower-margin MTVR trucks combined with increased engineering and bid and proposal costs in connection with the FMTV proposal effort to contribute to these results.
Corporate and other expenses are expected to be flat in fiscal 2001 compared to fiscal 2000.
The expectations with respect to projected sales, costs and earnings in this "Fiscal 2001 Outlook" are forward-looking statements and are based in part on certain assumptions made by the Company, some of which are referred to in, or as part of, the forward-looking statements. These assumptions include, without limitation, the Company's ability to achieve cost reductions in the fire and emergency segment; the amount of costs for the Company to bid for the FMTV program; the completion of performance milestones in early 2001 and commencement of full-rate production for the MTVR program without delays or failures; the Company's estimates for fiscal 2001 concrete placement activity and related mortgage rates and housing starts and capital expenditures of large commercial refuse haulers and municipalities; the Company's ability to double margins in refuse packer manufacturing; and that the Company does not complete any acquisitions beyond the Medtec acquisition. Although the Company believes such assumptions are reasonable, there can be no assurance that the assumptions referred to in the forward-looking statements or otherwise are accurate or will prove to have been correct. Any assumptions that are inaccurate or do not prove to be correct could have a material adverse effect on the Company's ability to achieve the forward-looking statement.
New Accounting Standards
The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," which was amended by SFAS No. 137. Provisions of these standards are required to be adopted in years beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company adopted SFAS No. 133, as amended, on October 1, 2000. The impact on the Company of adoption will be a charge to fiscal 2001 earnings of less than $0.1 million. This charge will be recorded by the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2001.
In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") issued Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 101, which deals with revenue recognition issues. SAB No. 101 (as modified by SAB No. 101 A and B) is required to be adopted by the Company no later than the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001. Management does not anticipate that the adoption of SAB No. 101, 101A or 101B will have a significant effect on the results of operations or on the financial position of the Company.
Financial Market Risk
The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in foreign exchange and interest rates. To reduce the risk from changes in foreign exchange rates, the Company selectively uses financial instruments. The Company does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.
INTEREST RATE RISK
The Company's interest expense is sensitive to changes in the interest rates in the U.S. and off-shore markets. In this regard, changes in U.S. and off-shore interest rates affect interest payable on the Company's long-term borrowing under its Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility. The Company has not historically utilized derivative securities to fix variable rate interest obligations or to make fixed-rate interest obligations variable. If short-term interest rates averaged two percent more in fiscal 2001 than in fiscal 2000, the Company's interest expense would increase, and pre-tax income would decrease by approximately $1.7 million. Similarly, if interest rates increased by two percent, the fair value of the Company's $100 million fixed rate, long-term notes at September 30, 2000 would decrease by approximately $9.4 million. These amounts are determined by considering the impact of the hypothetical interest rates on the Company's borrowing cost, but do not consider the effects of the reduced level of overall economic activity that could exist in such an environment. Further, in the event of a change of such magnitude, management would likely take actions to mitigate the Company's exposure to the change. However, due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and their possible effects, the foregoing sensitivity analysis assumes no changes in the Company's financial structure other than as noted.
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The Company's operations consist of manufacturing in the U. S. and sales activities in the U. S. and in various foreign jurisdictions. Export sales were less than eight percent of overall net sales in fiscal 2000. Generally, the Company purchases materials and components denominated in U.S. dollars and attempts to seek payment in U. S. dollars for large multi-unit sales contracts which span several months or years.
24

The Company's earnings are affected by fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies primarily as a result of euro-denominated purchases of component parts from a European supplier (approximately 14.0 million euros in annual requirements, or approximately $12.3 million based on the exchange rate as of September 30, 2000) and, to a lesser extent, to hedge customer orders denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Forward foreign exchange contracts may be used to partially hedge against the earnings effects of such fluctuations. At September 30, 2000, the Company had the following foreign currency denominated firm sales commitments and purchase obligations and forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding with the fair value gain (loss) as shown:

                                                  Weighted Average
                                                    Contract Rate              Fair Value
                                    Notional         (US$/Foreign            Gain (Loss) At
              Description            Value            Currency)            September 30, 2000
              -----------            -----            ---------            ------------------
                                 (in thousands)                         (in thousands of U.S. $)
Firmly committed sales
  contracts denominated in
  Canadian $                           532
Forward contracts to sell
  Canadian $ for US $                  532               .678                  $  6
Firmly committed purchase
  obligations denominated in
  euros                              4,804
Forward contracts to buy
  euros for US $                     4,804               .912                  (125)

All of the above contracts expire within the next five months.
Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
The information under the caption "Management's Discussion and Analysis
- Financial Market Risk" contained in Item 7 of this Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item.
Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
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REPORT OF ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Oshkosh Truck Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Oshkosh Truck Corporation (the "Company") as of September 30, 2000 and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2000 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The schedule listed in Part IV, Item 14(a)(2) is presented for purposes of complying with the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and is not part of the basic financial statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly state in all material respects the financial data required to be set forth therein in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

/S/ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
October 23, 2000, except for Note 15,
as to which the date is October 30, 2000
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Oshkosh Truck Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Oshkosh Truck Corporation (the "Company") as of September 30, 1999 and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended September 30, 1999. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index of Item 14(a) for each of the two years in the period ended September 30, 1999. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company at September 30, 1999 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended September 30, 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, for each of the two years in the period ended September 30, 1999, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

Milwaukee, Wisconsin                           /S/ERNST & YOUNG LLP
October 23, 1999
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                                      OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION

                                  Consolidated Statements of Income
                                                                     Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                                     -------------------------------
                                                                   2000           1999           1998
                                                                   ----           ----           ----
                                                                (In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net sales.................................................       $1,324,026     $1,164,954      $ 902,792
Cost of  sales............................................        1,121,092        991,573        776,756
                                                                -----------    -----------      ---------
     Gross income.........................................          202,934        173,381        126,036

Operating expenses:
     Selling, general and administrative..................           93,724         85,996         69,001
     Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles.......           11,159         11,172          8,315
                                                                -----------    -----------      ---------
           Total operating expenses.......................          104,883         97,168         77,316
                                                                -----------    -----------      ---------

Operating income..........................................           98,051         76,213         48,720

Other income (expense):
    Interest expense......................................          (20,956)       (26,744)       (21,490)
    Interest income.......................................              893            760          1,326
    Miscellaneous, net....................................              661            730             92
                                                                -----------    -----------      ---------
                                                                    (19,402)       (25,254)       (20,072)
                                                                -----------    ------------     ---------
Income before items noted below...........................           78,649         50,959         28,648
Provision for income taxes................................           31,346         21,313         12,655
                                                                -----------    -----------      ---------
                                                                     47,303         29,646         15,993
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated partnership, net of
   income taxes of $738, $948 and $167....................            1,205          1,545            260
                                                                -----------    -----------      ---------
Income from continuing operations.........................           48,508         31,191         16,253
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of
    income taxes of $1,235................................            2,015             --             --
Extraordinary charge for early retirement of debt, net of
   income tax benefit of $503, $37 and $757...............             (820)           (60)        (1,185)
                                                                -----------    -----------      ---------
Net income................................................      $    49,703    $    31,131      $  15,068
                                                                ===========    ===========      =========

Earnings (loss) per share:
    Continuing operations.................................      $      3.01    $      2.45      $    1.29
    Discontinued operations...............................             0.13             --             --
    Extraordinary item....................................            (0.05)            --          (0.09)
                                                                -----------    -----------      ---------
    Net income............................................      $      3.09    $      2.45      $    1.20
                                                                ===========    ===========      =========

Earnings (loss) per share assuming dilution:
    Continuing operations.................................      $      2.96    $      2.39      $    1.27
    Discontinued operations...............................             0.12             --             --
    Extraordinary item....................................            (0.05)            --          (0.09)
                                                                -----------    -----------      ---------
    Net income............................................      $      3.03    $      2.39      $    1.18
                                                                ===========    ===========      =========

See accompanying notes.
28


                                        OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION

                                       Consolidated Balance Sheets
                                                                                     September 30,
                                                                                  2000             1999
                                                                                  ----             ----
                                                                              (In thousands, except share
Assets                                                                           and per share amounts)
Current assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents.............................................       $ 13,569         $  5,137
    Receivables, net......................................................        106,805           93,186
    Inventories...........................................................        194,931          198,446
    Prepaid expenses......................................................          5,424            4,963
    Deferred income taxes.................................................         14,708           14,558
                                                                                 --------         --------
       Total current assets...............................................        335,437          316,290
Investment in unconsolidated partnership..................................         15,179           12,335
Other long-term assets....................................................         16,274           11,824
Property, plant and equipment:
    Land and land improvements............................................          8,359            7,885
    Equipment on operating lease to others................................         11,915               --
    Buildings.............................................................         69,494           64,246
    Machinery and equipment...............................................        111,591           90,637
    Construction in progress..............................................          5,148            5,850
                                                                                 --------         --------
                                                                                  206,507          168,618
    Less accumulated depreciation.........................................        (87,748)         (75,598)
                                                                                 --------         --------
       Net property, plant and equipment..................................        118,759           93,020
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net.................................        310,731          319,821
                                                                                 --------         --------
Total assets..............................................................       $796,380         $753,290
                                                                                 ========         ========

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
    Accounts payable......................................................       $ 84,215         $ 84,727
    Floor plan notes payable..............................................         23,925           26,616
    Customer advances.....................................................         59,996           68,364
    Payroll-related obligations...........................................         23,465           20,990
    Accrued warranty......................................................         16,320           14,623
    Other current liabilities.............................................         48,511           52,206
    Revolving credit facility and current maturities of long-term debt....          8,544            5,259
                                                                                 --------         --------
         Total current liabilities........................................        264,976          272,785
Long-term debt............................................................        154,238          255,289
Deferred income taxes.....................................................         46,414           44,265
Other long-term liabilities...............................................         29,695           18,071
Commitments and contingencies.............................................
Shareholders' equity:
    Preferred Stock, $.01 par value; authorized - 2,000,000 shares;
        none issued and outstanding.......................................             --               --
    Class A Common Stock, $.01 par value; authorized - 1,000,000 shares;
        issued - 422,207 in 2000 and 425,985 in 1999......................              4                4
    Common Stock, $.01 par value; authorized 60,000,000 shares;
        issued - 17,409,822 in 2000 and 13,611,044 in 1999................            174              136
    Paid-in capital.......................................................        109,740           15,997
    Retained earnings.....................................................        201,791          157,810
    Common Stock in treasury, at cost: 1,163,872 shares in 2000 and
        1,206,874 shares in 1999..........................................        (10,652)         (11,067)
                                                                                 --------         --------
        Total shareholders' equity........................................        301,057          162,880
                                                                                 --------         --------
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity................................       $796,380         $753,290
                                                                                 ========         ========

See accompanying notes.
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                                            OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION

                                 Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

                                                                                         Common     Minimum
                                                                                        Stock in    Pension
                                                    Common      Paid-In     Retained    Treasury    Liability
                                                     Stock      Capital     Earnings     at Cost    Adjustment      Total
                                                  ----------  ----------   ----------  ----------   -----------  ----------
                                                                (In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Balance at September 30, 1997..................        $140      $13,544    $ 120,085   $ (12,869)    $    --     $120,900
Comprehensive income:
    Net income.................................          --           --       15,068          --          --       15,068
    Minimum pension liability adjustment (net
         of tax benefit of $1,153).............          --           --           --          --      (1,804)      (1,804)
                                                                                                                  --------
        Comprehensive income...................                                                                     13,264
Cash dividends:
    Class A Common Stock
        ($.29000 per share)....................          --           --         (153)         --          --         (153)
    Common Stock ($.33333 per share)...........          --           --       (4,041)         --          --       (4,041)
Purchase of Common Stock for treasury..........          --           --           --      (1,424)         --       (1,424)
Exercise of stock options......................          --          255           --       1,207          --        1,462
Tax benefit related to stock options exercised.          --          468           --          --          --          468
Issuance of Common Stock under incentive
    compensation plan..........................          --          398           --         422          --          820
                                                       ----      -------    ---------   ---------     -------    ---------
Balance at September 30, 1998..................         140       14,665      130,959     (12,664)     (1,804)     131,296
Comprehensive income:
    Net income.................................          --           --       31,131          --          --       31,131
    Minimum pension liability adjustment (net
         of tax benefit of $1,153).............          --           --           --          --       1,804        1,804
                                                                                                                  --------
        Comprehensive income...................                                                                     32,935
Cash dividends:
    Class A Common Stock
        ($.29250 per share)....................          --           --         (125)         --          --         (125)
    Common Stock ($.33625 per share)...........          --           --       (4,155)         --          --       (4,155)
Exercise of stock options......................          --         (156)          --       1,597          --        1,441
Tax benefit related to stock options exercised.          --        1,496           --          --          --        1,496
Other..........................................          --           (8)          --          --          --           (8)
                                                       ----      -------    ---------   ---------     -------    ----------
Balance at September 30, 1999..................         140       15,997      157,810     (11,067)         --      162,880
Net income and comprehensive income............          --           --       49,703          --          --       49,703
Cash dividends:
    Class A Common Stock
        ($.30000 per share)....................          --           --         (127)         --          --         (127)
    Common Stock ($.34500 per share)...........          --           --       (5,595)         --          --       (5,595)
Exercise of stock options......................          --          (55)          --         415          --          360
Net proceeds of Common Stock offering..........          38       93,364           --          --          --       93,402
Tax benefit related to stock options exercised.          --          434           --          --          --          434
                                                       ----      -------    ---------   ---------     -------    ---------
Balance at September 30, 2000..................        $178     $109,740    $ 201,791   $ (10,652)    $    --    $ 301,057
                                                       ====     ========    =========   ==========    =======    =========

See accompanying notes.
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                                     OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION

                              Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
                                                                   Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                                   2000         1999         1998
                                                               -----------  -----------  -----------
                                                                          (In thousands)
Operating activities:
Income from continuing operations...........................      $ 48,508     $ 31,191     $ 16,253
Provision for impairment of assets..........................            --           --        5,800
Depreciation and amortization...............................        24,218       23,157       18,698
Gain from sale of investments...............................            --           --       (3,375)
Deferred income taxes.......................................         2,277       (3,370)          26
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated partnership............        (1,943)      (2,493)        (427)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and
      equipment.............................................           (12)          59          122
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
    Receivables, net........................................        (9,702)     (12,204)      20,900
    Inventories.............................................        11,250      (49,255)       9,958
    Prepaid expenses........................................          (436)      (1,195)        (260)
    Other long-term assets..................................        (3,664)      (2,017)         725
    Accounts payable........................................        (7,802)      19,556          956
    Floor plan notes payable................................        (2,691)      14,971      (11,377)
    Customer advances.......................................       (10,556)      23,449       10,718
    Payroll-related obligations.............................         1,639        1,582          452
    Accrued warranty........................................         1,624       (2,264)      (1,883)
    Other current liabilities...............................        (3,250)      (2,875)       9,778
    Other long-term liabilities.............................           223          756        2,877
                                                                  --------     --------     --------
        Net cash provided from operating activities                 49,683       39,048       79,941
Investing activities:
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired............        (7,147)          --     (221,144)
Additions to property, plant and equipment..................       (22,647)     (17,999)     (13,444)
Proceeds from sale of investments...........................            --           --        3,375
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment.........            52          158        1,524
Decrease (increase) in other long-term assets...............        (2,417)       3,357        1,072
                                                                  --------     --------     --------
      Net cash used for investing activities................       (32,159)     (14,484)    (228,617)
Net cash provided from (used for) discontinued operations            2,015           --       (1,093)
Financing activities:
Net borrowings (repayments) under revolving credit facility.        (5,000)      (1,000)       6,000
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt....................        30,913           --      325,000
Repayment of long-term debt.................................      (124,595)     (19,256)    (188,049)
Debt issuance costs.........................................          (795)          --       (8,641)
Proceeds from Common Stock offering.........................        93,736           --           --
Costs of Common Stock offering..............................          (334)          --           --
Purchase of Common Stock and proceeds from
    exercise of stock options, net..........................           360        1,433           38
Dividends paid..............................................        (5,392)      (4,226)      (4,176)
                                                                  --------     --------     --------
    Net cash provided from (used for) financing
        activities..........................................       (11,107)     (23,049)     130,172
                                                                  --------     --------     --------
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents............         8,432        1,515      (19,597)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year..............         5,137        3,622       23,219
                                                                  --------     --------     --------
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year....................      $ 13,569     $  5,137     $  3,622
                                                                  ========     ========     ========

Supplemental disclosures:
    Cash paid for interest (net of amount capitalized)......      $ 22,148     $ 26,142     $ 17,240
    Cash paid for income taxes..............................        22,438       26,859       11,097

See accompanying notes.
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OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements September 30, 2000

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Operations -- Oshkosh Truck Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the "Company" or "Oshkosh") is a leading manufacturer of a wide variety of medium and heavy duty specialized trucks and truck bodies predominately for the U.S. market. The Company sells its products into three principal truck markets -- commercial, fire and emergency, and defense. The Company's commercial truck business is principally conducted through its wholly-owned subsidiary, McNeilus Companies, Inc. ("McNeilus"). The Company's fire and emergency business is principally conducted through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Pierce Manufacturing Inc. ("Pierce"). The defense business and certain fire and emergency and commercial truck businesses are conducted through the operations of the parent company. McNeilus is one of two general partners in Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services Partnership ("OMFSP"), which provides lease financing to the Company's customers. Each of the two general partners have identical participating and protective rights and responsibilities and, accordingly, the Company accounts for its equity interest in OMFSP of 53% at September 30, 2000 and 57% at September 30, 1999, under the equity method.
Principles of Consolidation and Presentation -- The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Oshkosh Truck Corporation and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries and are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Company records its interest in OMFSP under the equity method. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Cash and Cash Equivalents -- The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents, consisting principally of time deposits and money market instruments, totaled $13,000 and $2,150 at September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The cost of these securities, which are considered "available for sale" for financial reporting purposes, approximates fair value at September 30, 2000 and 1999.
Receivables -- Receivables consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers and unbilled costs and accrued profits related to revenues on long-term contracts that have been recognized for accounting purposes but not yet billed to customers.
Inventories -- The Company values approximately 85% of its inventories at the lower of cost, computed on the last-in, first-out ("LIFO") method, or market. The remaining inventories are valued at the lower of cost, computed on the first-in, first-out ("FIFO") method, or market. If the FIFO inventory valuation method had been used exclusively, inventories would have increased by $10,988 and $9,716 at September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Property, Plant and Equipment -- Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using accelerated and straight-line methods. The estimated useful lives range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements, from 4 to 25 years for machinery and equipment and from 3 to 10 years for capitalized software and related costs. Depreciation expense was $12,200, $10,743 and $9,515 in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The Company capitalizes interest on borrowings during the active construction period of major capital projects. Capitalized interest is added to the cost of the underlying assets and is amortized over the useful lives of the assets. The Company capitalized interest of $270 in fiscal 2000. There was no capitalized interest in fiscal 1999 or 1998. Equipment on operating lease to others represents the cost of vehicles sold to customers for which the Company has guaranteed the residual value. These transactions are accounted for as operating leases with the related assets capitalized and depreciated over their estimated economic life of 10 years. Cost less accumulated depreciation for equipment on operating lease at September 30, 2000 was $11,309.
Other Long-Term Assets -- Other long-term assets include deferred financing costs, which are amortized using the interest method over the term of the debt, prepaid funding of pension costs, certain investments and deferred charges. Deferred charges include certain engineering and technical support costs incurred in connection with multi-year government contracts, including $6,623 and $2,322 at September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively, related to the Company's Medium Tactical Vehicle Replacement
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("MTVR") contract. These costs are charged to cost of sales when the related project is billable to the government, or are amortized to cost of sales as base units are delivered under the related contracts.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets -- The cost of goodwill and other intangible assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated periods benefited ranging from 5 to 40 years.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets -- Property, plant and equipment, other long-term assets and goodwill and other intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the related asset or group of assets, a loss is recognized for the difference between the fair value and carrying value of the asset or group of assets. Such analyses necessarily involve significant judgment. See Note 12.
Floor Plan Notes Payable -- Floor plan notes payable represent liabilities related to the purchase of commercial truck chassis upon which the Company mounts its manufactured refuse bodies and rear-discharge cement mixers and certain fire apparatus. Floor plan notes payable are non-interest bearing for terms ranging from 90 to 120 days and must be repaid upon the sale of the vehicle to a customer. The Company's practice is to repay all floor plan notes for which the non-interest bearing period has expired without sale of the vehicle to a customer.
Customer Advances -- Customer advances principally represent amounts received in advance of the completion of fire and emergency and commercial vehicles. Most of these advances bear interest at variable rates approximating the prime rate.
Guaranteed Residual Value Obligations and Deferred Income - Prior to acquisition, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, Viking Truck and Equipment ("Viking"), entered into "sales" transactions with customers that provided for residual value guarantees. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 13 "Accounting For Leases," these transactions have been recorded as operating leases. Net proceeds received in connection with the initial transactions have been recorded as residual value liabilities to the extent of Viking's guarantee. Any proceeds received in excess of the guarantee amount has been recorded as deferred income and is being accreted to income on a straight-line basis over the period to the first exercise date of the guarantee. Amounts outstanding at September 30, 2000 and included in other liabilities were:

                                        Current     Long-Term      Total
                                        -------     ---------      -----
Deferred revenue....................    $1,503       $2,570       $ 4,073
Residual value guarantees...........     1,495        6,114         7,609
                                        ------       ------       -------
                                        $2,998       $8,684       $11,682
                                        ======       ======       =======

Residual value guarantees are first exercisable by the customer as follows:
2001 - $1,495; 2002 - $700; 2003 - $1,635; 2004 - $3,471; 2005 - $308.
Revenue Recognition and Long-Term Contracts -- Sales to commercial and fire and emergency customers are recorded when the goods or services are billable at time of shipment or delivery of the trucks. Sales under fixed-price defense contracts generally are recorded as units are accepted by the U.S. government. Sales and anticipated profits under the MTVR long-term, fixed-price production contract are recorded on a percentage-of-completion basis, generally using units accepted as the measurement basis for effort accomplished. Estimated contract profits are taken into earnings in proportion to recorded sales based on estimated average cost determined using total contract units under order (including exercised options of 122) of 5,788, of which 189 units have been completed as of September 30, 2000. Sales under certain long-term, fixed price defense contracts which, among other things, provide for delivery of minimal quantities or require a significant amount of development effort in relation to total contract value, are recorded upon achievement of performance milestones, or using the cost-to-cost method of accounting where sales and profits are recorded based on the ratio of costs incurred to estimated total costs at completion. Amounts representing contract change orders, claims or other items are included in sales only when they can be reliably estimated and realization is probable. When adjustments in contract value or estimated costs are determined, any changes from prior estimates are reflected in earnings in the current period. Anticipated losses on contracts or programs in progress are charged to earnings when identified.
In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") issued Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 101, which deals with revenue recognition issues. SAB No. 101 (as modified by SAB No. 101 A and B) is required to be adopted by the Company no later than the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001. Management does not anticipate that the adoption of SAB No. 101, 101A or 101B will have a significant effect on the results of operations or on the financial position of the Company.
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Research and Development and Similar Costs -- Except for certain arrangements described below, research and development costs are generally expensed as incurred and included as part of cost of sales. Research and development costs charged to expense amounted to approximately $14,137, $10,868, and $9,681 during fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Customer-sponsored research and development costs incurred pursuant to contracts are accounted for as contract costs.
Warranty -- Provisions for estimated warranty and other related costs are recorded in cost of sales at the time of sale and are periodically adjusted to reflect actual experience. Amounts expensed in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998 were $9,648, $7,573, and $8,383, respectively.
Advertising -- Advertising costs are included in selling, general and administrative expense and are expensed as incurred. These expenses totaled $2,132, $1,804 and $1,286 in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.
Income Taxes -- Deferred income taxes are provided to recognize temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the income tax basis of the Company's assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates and laws.
Financial Instruments -- The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and debt approximated fair value as of September 30, 2000 and 1999.
Concentration of Credit Risk -- Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and leases receivable of OMFSP.
The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents, and certain other financial instruments, with various major financial institutions. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of these financial institutions and limits the amount of credit exposure with any institution.
Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade accounts and leases receivable is limited due to the large number of customers and their dispersion across many geographic areas. However, a significant amount of trade receivables are with the U.S. government, with companies in the ready-mix concrete industry and with several large waste haulers in the United States. The Company does not currently foresee a significant credit risk associated with these receivables.
Derivative Financial Instruments -- The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its foreign currency exposures. Forward foreign exchange contracts are designated as qualifying hedges of firm commitments. Gains and losses on these contracts are recognized in income when the hedged transactions occur. To the extent that hedges are deemed ineffective, amounts are charged to income. At September 30, 2000, the Company had outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to purchase 4,804 million euros over a period of five months and contracts to sell 532 Canadian dollars over a period of two months. At September 30, 2000 the deferred loss on these contracts at fair value totaled $119. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," which was amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFAS No. 138. This new standard became effective for the Company on October 1, 2000, and requires companies to record derivatives on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities, measured at fair value. Any fair value changes will be recorded in net income or comprehensive income. Upon adoption of this standard on October 1, 2000, the Company recorded a $119 charge to income before income tax benefit of $45, or $74 as required under the standard.
Stock-Based Compensation -- The Company measures compensation cost for stock-based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method of accounting as prescribed in Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and related interpretations. The Company has adopted those provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," which require disclosure of the pro forma effect on net earnings and earnings per share as if compensation cost had been recognized based upon the estimated fair value at the date of grant for options awarded.
Environmental Remediation Costs -- The Company accrues for losses associated with environmental remediation obligations when such losses are probable and reasonably estimable. Costs of future expenditures for environmental remediation obligations are not discounted to their present value. Recoveries of environmental remediation costs from other parties are recorded as assets when their receipt is deemed probable. The accruals are adjusted as further information develops or circumstances change.
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Earnings Per Share -- The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted weighted average shares used in the per share calculations:

                                          Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                          2000         1999          1998
                                      ------------ -----------  ----------
Denominator for basic earnings per
    share.........................     16,073,684   12,727,141  12,597,598
Effect of dilutive options and
    incentive compensation awards.        330,389      324,713     161,901
                                      -----------  -----------  ----------
Denominator for dilutive earnings per
    share.........................     16,404,073   13,051,854  12,759,499
                                      ===========  ===========  ==========

Reclassifications -- Certain reclassifications have been made to the fiscal 1999 and 1998 financial statements to conform to the fiscal 2000 presentation.
Common Stock Split--On July 23, 1999, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a three-for-two split of the Company's common stock in the form of a 50% stock dividend. The stock split was effected on August 19, 1999 for shareholders of record at the close of business on August 5, 1999. All references in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements to numbers of shares, per share amounts, stock option data and market prices of the Company's stock have been restated to reflect the stock split.

2.  Balance Sheet Information
                                                        September 30,
                   Receivables                       2000           1999
     -----------------------------------------    ---------      ---------
     U.S. government:
         Amounts billed.......................    $  35,932      $  25,816
         Costs and profits not billed.........        5,038             --
                                                  ---------      ---------
                                                     40,970         25,816
     Commercial customers.....................       65,754         66,999
     Other....................................        2,528          2,575
                                                  ---------      ---------
                                                    109,252         95,390
     Less allowance for doubtful accounts.....       (2,447)        (2,204)
                                                  ---------      ---------
                                                  $ 106,805      $  93,186
                                                  =========      =========

In accordance with industry practice, recoverable costs and profits not billed include amounts relating to programs and contracts with multi-year terms, a portion of which is not expected to be realized in one year. Costs and profits not billed generally will become billable upon the Company achieving certain milestones, including First Article Test which is expected in fiscal 2001.

                                                     September 30,
               Inventories                      2000          1999
-----------------------------------------    ---------      ---------
Finished products                            $  53,068      $  59,649
Partially finished products                     75,667         62,047
Raw materials                                   89,497         89,417
                                             ---------      ---------
Inventories at FIFO cost                       218,232        211,113
Less: Progress payments on U.S. government
         contracts                             (12,313)        (2,951)
      Excess of FIFO cost over LIFO cost       (10,988)        (9,716)
                                             ---------      ----------
                                             $ 194,931      $ 198,446
                                             =========      =========

Title to all inventories related to government contracts, which provide for progress payments, vests with the government to the extent of unliquidated progress payments. Inventory includes the following costs related to the Company's MTVR contract:

                                                     September 30,
                                                2000           1999
                                             ---------      ---------
Tooling..................................    $   3,570      $   2,417
Logistics support development costs......        3,399            945
Test, training and other.................        1,105            439
                                             ---------      ---------
                                             $   8,074      $   3,801
                                             =========      =========
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                                                     September 30,
   Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets         2000           1999
-----------------------------------------    ---------      ---------
                          Useful Lives
                        ---------------
Goodwill                15 - 40 Years....    $ 220,433      $ 218,614
Distribution network    40 Years.........       63,800         63,800
Non-compete agreements  5 - 15 Years.....       38,250         38,000
Other                   5 - 40 Years.....       23,320         23,320
                                             ---------      ---------
                                               345,803        343,734

Less accumulated amortization............      (35,072)       (23,913)
                                             ---------      ---------
                                             $ 310,731      $ 319,821
                                             =========      =========

The Company engaged third party business valuation appraisers to determine the fair value of the distribution network in connection with its acquisition of Pierce. The Company believes Pierce maintains the largest North American fire apparatus distribution network and has exclusive contracts with each distributor related to the fire apparatus product offerings manufactured by Pierce. The useful life of the distribution network is based on a historical turnover analysis.
On February 26, 1998, concurrent with the Company's acquisition of McNeilus (see Note 3), the Company and BA Leasing & Capital Corporation ("BALCAP") formed OMFSP, a general partnership, for the purpose of offering lease financing to customers of the Company. Each partner contributed existing lease assets (and in the case of the Company, related notes payable to third party lenders which were secured by such leases) to capitalize the partnership. Leases and related notes payable contributed by the Company were originally acquired in connection with the McNeilus acquisition.
OMFSP manages the contributed assets and liabilities and engages in new vendor lease business providing financing to customers of the Company. OMFSP purchases trucks and concrete batch plants for lease to user-customers. Banks and other financial institutions lend to OMFSP a portion of the purchase price, with recourse solely to OMFSP, secured by a pledge of lease payments due from the user-lessees. Each partner funds one-half of the equity portion of the cost of the new truck and batch plant purchases, and each partner is allocated its proportionate share of OMFSP cash flow and taxable income. Indebtedness of OMFSP is secured by the underlying leases and assets of, and is with recourse to, OMFSP. However, such indebtedness is non-recourse to the Company.
Summarized financial information of OMFSP as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999 and for the period February 26, 1998 (the date OMFSP was formed) to September 30, 1998, is as follows:

                                                     September 30,
                                                 2000          1999
                                                 ----        --------
Cash and cash equivalents................     $  1,867       $  1,383
Investment in sales type leases, net.....      172,255        140,912
Other assets.............................          491           278
                                              --------       --------
                                              $174,613       $142,573
                                              ========       ========

Notes payable............................     $141,565       $119,156
Other liabilities........................        4,368          1,799
Partners' equity.........................       28,680         21,618
                                              --------       --------
                                              $174,613       $142,573
                                              ========       ========

                                      Fiscal Year Ended September 30,            Period From
                                                                            February 26, 1998 to
                                             2000             1999           September 30, 1998
                                             ----             ----           -------------------
Interest income.........................    $13,132          $11,624             $   6,605
Net interest income.....................      3,160            3,499                 1,622
Excess of revenues over expenses........      3,295            3,854                   644

Excess of revenues over expenses in fiscal 1998 includes a $1,466 pre-tax, nonrecurring charge related to the organization of OMFSP in fiscal 1998. This charge has been included in the consolidated statements of income under the caption "Equity in earnings of unconsolidated partnership, net of income taxes."
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3. Acquisitions
On November 1, 1999, the Company acquired the manufacturing assets of Kewaunee Engineering Corporation ("Kewaunee") and entered into related non-competition agreements for $5,467 in cash plus the assumption of certain liabilities aggregating $2,211. Kewaunee is a fabricator of heavy-steel components for cranes, aerial devices and other equipment. On April 28, 2000, the Company acquired all of the capital stock of Viking Truck & Equipment, Inc. and its affiliates (collectively "Viking") for $1,680 in cash (net of cash acquired). Viking is a dealer of new and used equipment primarily in the Company's commercial products segment. The acquisitions were financed from borrowings under the Company's Senior Credit Facility.
The Kewaunee and Viking acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of Kewaunee and Viking were included in the Company's consolidated statements of income beginning November 1, 1999 and April 28, 2000, respectively. The excess of the purchase price, including acquisition costs, of the Kewaunee and Viking acquisitions over the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed amounted to $160 and $1,659, respectively, which has been recorded as goodwill and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 20 and 25 years, respectively. The purchase price allocation for these acquisitions is preliminary and further refinements, which are not expected to be material, are likely to be made. Had the acquisitions occurred on October 1, 1999 or 1998, there would have been no material pro forma impact on the Company's consolidated net sales, net income or earnings per share in fiscal 2000 or 1999.
On February 26, 1998, the Company acquired for cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of McNeilus and entered into related non-compete and ancillary agreements for $217,581, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. McNeilus is a leading manufacturer and marketer of rear-discharge concrete mixers for the construction industry and refuse truck bodies for the waste services industry in the United States. The acquisition was financed from borrowings under a Senior Credit Facility and the issuance of Senior Subordinated Notes.
The McNeilus acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of McNeilus are included in the Company's consolidated statements of income since the date of acquisition. The purchase price, including acquisition costs, was initially allocated based on the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition and was subsequently adjusted during fiscal 1999. Approximately $60,985 of the purchase price was allocated to intangible assets, including non-competition agreements. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets acquired amounted to $114,727, which has been accounted for as goodwill.
On December 19, 1997, the Company, through Pierce, acquired certain inventory, machinery and equipment, and intangible assets of Nova Quintech, a division of Nova Bus Corporation ("Nova Quintech") using available cash for $3,563. Nova Quintech was engaged in the manufacture and sale of aerial devices for fire trucks. Approximately $1,849 of the purchase price has been allocated to intangible assets, principally aerial device designs and technology. The Nova Quintech products have been integrated into Pierce's product line and are being manufactured at Pierce. The Nova Quintech acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, the operating results of Nova Quintech are included in the Company's statements of income since the date of the acquisition.
4. Revolving Credit Facility, Long-Term Debt and Extraordinary Charge for Early Retirement of Debt
The Company recorded an after-tax extraordinary charge of $581 in November 1999 and $239 in September 2000 to record the write-off of deferred financing costs related to the prepayment of $93,500 of debt from proceeds of a common stock offering (See Note 7) and the prepayment of $30,413 of debt in connection with the amendment and restatement of its Senior Credit Facility (see discussion following), respectively. Fiscal 1999 and 1998 operating results include after-tax extraordinary charges of $60 and $1,185 related to the write-off of deferred financing costs due to early repayment of debt, including $735 related to refinancing the Company's credit facility in connection with the acquisition of McNeilus in fiscal 1998. See Note 3.
On September 28, 2000, the Company amended its Senior Credit Facility. The Senior Credit Facility was comprised of a $100,000 revolving credit facility (with no borrowings at September 28, 2000) maturing in February 2004 and three term loans (Term Loans A, B and C), which had remaining outstanding balances of $32,500, $13,500 and $13,500, and maturity dates of March 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. As part of the amendment, the Company increased its amended Term Loan A ("Term Loan") to $60,000. Borrowings of $30,913 under amended Term Loan A were used to repay amounts due to lenders exiting Term Loan A ($3,413), to prepay amounts outstanding under Term Loans B and C ($13,500 each) and for general corporate purposes ($500). The amended Senior Credit Facility ("Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility") is comprised of a $60,000 Term Loan and a
37

$170,000 Revolving Credit Facility (no borrowings outstanding at September 30, 2000), both of which mature in January 2006. The amended Term Loan requires principal payments of $8,000 in fiscal 2001, $10,000 in fiscal 2002, $12,000 in fiscal 2003, $14,000 in both 2004 and 2005, with the balance of $2,000 payable in fiscal 2006. Principal payments are due in quarterly installments.
At September 30, 2000, letters of credit of $11,883 reduced available capacity under the Company's Revolving Credit Facility to $158,117.
Interest rates on borrowings under the Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility are variable and are equal to the "Base Rate" (which is equal to the higher of a bank's reference rate and the federal funds rate plus 0.5%) or the "IBOR Rate" (which is a bank's inter-bank offered rate for U.S. dollars in off-shore markets) plus a margin of 1.125% for IBOR Rate loans under the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Facility, and Term Loan as of September 30, 2000. The margins are subject to adjustment, up or down, based on whether certain financial criteria are met. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings outstanding at September 30, 2000 was 9.50%.
The Company is charged a 0.25% annual fee with respect to any unused balance under its Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Facility, and a 1.125% annual fee with respect to any letters of credit issued under the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Facility. These fees are subject to adjustment if certain financial criteria are met.
Substantially all the tangible and intangible assets of the Company and its subsidiaries (including the stock of certain subsidiaries) are pledged as collateral under the Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility. Among other restrictions, the Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility: (1) limits payments of dividends and purchases of the Company's stock, (2) requires that certain financial ratios be maintained at prescribed levels; (3) restricts the ability of the Company to make additional borrowings, or to consolidate, merge or otherwise fundamentally change the ownership of the Company; and (4) limits investments, dispositions of assets and guarantees of indebtedness. The Company believes that such limitations should not impair its future operating activities.
The Company has $100,000 of 83/4% Senior Subordinated Notes due March 1, 2008 ("Senior Subordinated Notes"). The Senior Subordinated Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture dated February 26, 1998 (the "Indenture"), between the Company, the Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined below) and Firstar Trust Company, as trustee. The Indenture contains customary affirmative and negative covenants. The Senior Subordinated Notes can be redeemed by the Company for a premium after March 1, 2003. In addition to the Company, certain of the Company's subsidiaries, including Pierce Manufacturing Inc., Summit Performance Systems, Inc., McNeilus Companies, Inc., McNeilus Truck & Manufacturing, Inc., Iowa Contract Fabricators, Inc., McIntire Fabricators, Inc., Kensett Fabricators, Inc. McNeilus Financial, Inc., Pierce Western Region Refurbishment Center, Inc., Kewaunee Fabrications, LLC, McNeilus Rescue Corporation, Viking Truck & Equipment Sales, Inc. (Ohio) and Viking Truck & Equipment Sales Inc. (Michigan) (collectively, the "Subsidiary Guarantors") fully, unconditionally, jointly and severally guarantee the Company's obligations under the Senior Subordinated Notes (see Note 14).
McNeilus has unsecured notes payable to several of its former shareholders aggregating $2,289 at September 30, 2000 and $2,548 at September 30, 1999. Interest rates on these notes range from 5.7% to 8.0% with annual principal and interest payments ranging from $20 to $155 with maturities through October 2033. Debt at September 30, 2000 of $493 was assumed as part of the Viking acquisition. This debt requires principal payments of $307 in fiscal 2001 and $186 in fiscal 2002. The interest rates on these notes range from 7.60% to 9.25%.
The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt for the five years succeeding September 30, 2000, are as follows: 2001 -- $8,544; 2002 -- $10,426; 2003 -- $12,226; 2004 -- $14,201 and 2005 -- $14,046.
38


5. Income Taxes
                                                Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                  2000       1999       1998
                                               ---------- ---------- ---------
     Income Tax Provision (Credit)
     Current:
         Federal.............................. $  26,021  $  22,654   $ 10,555
         State................................     3,048      2,029      2,074
                                               ---------  ---------   --------
            Total current.....................    29,069     24,683     12,629
     Deferred:
         Federal..............................     1,935     (2,882)        35
         State................................       342       (488)        (9)
                                               ---------  ----------  --------
            Total deferred....................     2,277     (3,370)        26
                                               ---------  ----------  --------
                                               $  31,346  $  21,313   $ 12,655
                                               =========  =========   ========

                                                Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                  2000       1999       1998
                                               ---------- ---------- ---------
     Effective Rate Reconciliation
     U.S. federal tax rate...................      35.0%      35.0%       35.0%
     State income taxes, net.................       2.8        2.9         4.9
     Foreign sales corporation...............      (0.6)      (0.5)       (1.5)
     Goodwill amortization...................       2.5        3.8         5.1
     Other, net..............................       0.2        0.6         0.7
                                               --------   --------      ------
                                                   39.9%      41.8%       44.2%
                                               ========   ========      ======

                                                             September 30,
                                                           2000        1999
     Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities                ----------  ----------
     Deferred tax assets:
         Other current liabilities.....................  $  8,965    $  11,979
         Other long-term liabilities...................     7,290        5,768
         Accrued warranty..............................     5,849        5,496
         Payroll-related obligations...................     4,035        2,842
         Other.........................................        --        1,067
                                                       ----------    ---------
             Total deferred tax assets.................    26,139       27,152
     Deferred tax liabilities:
         Intangible assets.............................    29,079       30,233
         Investment in unconsolidated partnership......    10,819       13,301
         Property, plant and equipment.................     8,849        8,802
         Other long-term assets........................     4,819        1,423
         Inventories...................................     2,855        2,717
         Other.........................................     1,424          383
                                                       ----------    ---------
             Total deferred tax liabilities............    57,845       56,859
                                                       ----------    ---------
             Net deferred tax liability................$  (31,706)    $(29,707)
                                                       ==========     ========

The net deferred tax liability is classified in the consolidated balance sheet as follows:

                                                        September 30,
                                                     2000          1999
                                                     ----          ----
Current net deferred tax asset....................  $ 14,708     $ 14,558
Noncurrent net deferred tax liability.............   (46,414)     (44,265)
                                                     -------     --------
                                                    $(31,706)    $(29,707)
                                                    ========     ========
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6. Employee Benefit Plans
The Company and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor multiple defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefit plans covering certain Oshkosh and Pierce employees and certain Oshkosh and Kewaunee retirees and their spouses, respectively. The pension plans provide benefits based on compensation, years of service and date of birth. The postretirement benefit plans provides health benefits based on years of service and date of birth. The Company's policy is to fund the pension plans in amounts that comply with contribution limits imposed by law. Requirements of the Company's postretirement benefit plans are funded as benefit payments are made.

                                                                          Pension Benefits      Postretirement Benefits
                                                                         2000          1999         2000         1999
                                                                     ----------    ----------   ----------    ---------
Change in benefit obligation
    Benefit obligation at October 1..............................     $  41,816     $  41,860    $   8,744    $  10,071
    Service cost.................................................         1,741         1,828          349          461
    Interest cost................................................         3,203         2,853          694          708
    Actuarial losses (gains).....................................           170        (3,402)         306       (2,207)
    Acquisition of Kewaunee......................................            --            --          262           --
    Benefits paid by the Company.................................            --            --         (472)        (289)
    Benefits paid from plan assets...............................        (1,538)       (1,323)          --           --
                                                                      ---------     ---------    ---------    ---------
    Benefit obligation at September 30...........................     $  45,392     $  41,816    $   9,883    $   8,744
                                                                      =========     =========    =========    =========
Change in plan assets
    Fair value of plan assets at October 1.......................     $  45,953     $  37,769    $      --    $      --
    Actual return on plan assets.................................         4,966         8,231           --           --
    Company contributions........................................         2,493         1,276          472          289
    Benefits paid from plan assets...............................        (1,538)       (1,323)          --           --
    Benefits paid by the Company.................................            --            --         (472)        (289)
                                                                      ---------     ---------    ---------    ---------
    Fair value of plan assets at September 30....................     $  51,874     $  45,953    $      --    $      --
                                                                      =========     =========    =========    =========
    Funded status of plan - over (under) funded..................     $   6,482     $   4,137    $  (9,883)   $  (8,744)
    Unrecognized net actuarial gains.............................        (3,072)       (2,299)      (2,654)      (3,071)
    Unrecognized transition asset................................          (392)         (459)          --           --
    Unamortized prior service cost...............................         1,652         1,783           --           --
                                                                      ---------     ---------    ---------    ---------
                                                                          4,670         3,162      (12,537)     (11,815)
    Prepaid benefit cost recorded in other long-term assets......         4,670         3,162           --           --
                                                                      ---------     ---------    ---------    ---------
    Accrued benefit cost recorded in other long-term liabilities.     $      --     $      --    $ (12,537)   $ (11,815)
                                                                      =========     =========    =========    ==========
Weighted-average assumptions as of September 30
    Discount rate................................................         7.75%         7.75%        7.75%        7.75%
    Expected return on plan assets...............................         9.25          9.25          n/a          n/a
    Rate of compensation increase................................         4.50          4.50          n/a          n/a

                                                           Pension Benefits               Postretirement Benefits
                                                   Fiscal Year Ended September 30,     Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                   2000         1999         1998       2000         1999        1998
                                                ---------    --------    ---------    ---------   ---------   --------
Components of net periodic benefit cost
  Service cost................................. $   1,741    $  1,828    $   1,744    $     349   $     461   $    397
  Interest cost................................     3,203       2,853        2,751          694         708        676
  Expected return on plan assets...............    (4,023)     (3,450)      (3,185)          --          --         --
  Amortization of prior service cost...........       131         131          131           --          --         --
  Amortization of transition asset.............       (67)        (67)         (67)          --          --         --
  Amortization of net actuarial (gains)/losses.        --         155          193         (111)         --        (13)
                                                ---------    --------     --------    ---------   ---------   ---------
  Net periodic benefit cost.................... $     985    $  1,450     $  1,567    $     932   $   1,169   $   1,060
                                                =========    ========     ========    =========   =========   =========

The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation for the Company was 9.0% in fiscal 2000, declining to 5.5% in fiscal 2008. If the health care cost trend rate was increased by 1%, the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at September 30, 2000 would increase by $758 and net periodic postretirement benefit cost for fiscal 2000 would increase by $122. A corresponding decrease of 1% would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at September 30, 2000 by $656 and net periodic postretirement benefit cost for fiscal 2000 would decrease by $101.
The Company maintains supplemental executive retirement plans ("SERPs") for certain executive officers of the Company and its subsidiaries which are unfunded. Expense related to the plans of $409, $660 and $1,125 was recorded in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Amounts accrued as of September 30, 2000 and 1999 related to the plans were $2,145 and $1,765, respectively.
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The Company has defined contribution 401(k) plans covering substantially all employees. The plans allow employees to defer 2% to 19% of their income on a pre-tax basis. Each employee who elects to participate is eligible to receive Company matching contributions which are based on employee contributions to the plans, subject to certain limitations. Amounts expensed for Company matching contributions were $2,120, $1,684 and $1,345, in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.
7. Shareholders' Equity
On February 1, 1999, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted a shareholder rights plan and declared a rights dividend of two-thirds of one Preferred Share Purchase Right ("Right") for each share of Common Stock and 40/69 of one Right for each share of Class A Common Stock outstanding on February 8, 1999, and provided that two-thirds of one Right and 40/69 of one Right would be issued with each share of Common Stock and Class A Common Stock, respectively, thereafter issued. The Rights are exercisable only if a person or group acquires 15% or more of the Common Stock and Class A Common Stock or announces a tender offer for 15% or more of the Common Stock and Class A Common Stock. Each Right entitles the holder thereof to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth share of the Company's Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an initial exercise price of $145 per one one-hundredth of a share (subject to adjustment), or, upon the occurrence of certain events, Common Stock or common stock of an acquiring company having a market value equivalent to two times the exercise price. Subject to certain conditions, the Rights are redeemable by the Board of Directors for $.01 per Right and are exchangeable for shares of Common Stock. The Board of Directors is also authorized to reduce the 15% thresholds referred to above to not less than 10%. The Rights have no voting power and initially expire on February 1, 2009.
The Company has a stock restriction agreement with two shareholders owning the majority of the Company's Class A Common Stock. The agreement is intended to allow for an orderly transition of Class A Common Stock into Common Stock. The agreement provides that at the time of death or incapacity of the survivor of them, the two shareholders will exchange all of their Class A Common Stock for Common Stock. At that time, or at such earlier time as there are no more than 225,000 shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding, the Company's Articles of Incorporation provide for a mandatory conversion of all Class A Common Stock into Common Stock.
Each share of Class A Common Stock is convertible into Common Stock on a one-for-one basis. During fiscal 2000, 3,778 shares of Class A Common Stock were converted into Common Stock. As of September 30, 2000, 422,207 shares of Common Stock are reserved for the conversion of Class A Common Stock. In July 1995, the Company authorized the buyback of up to 1,500,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock. As of September 30, 2000 and 1999, the Company had purchased 692,302 shares of its Common Stock at an aggregate cost of $6,551.
Dividends are required to be paid on both the Class A Common Stock and Common Stock at any time that dividends are paid on either. Each share of Common Stock is entitled to receive 115% of any dividend paid on each share of Class A Common Stock, rounded up or down to the nearest $0.0025 per share. Agreements governing the Company's Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility and Senior Subordinated Notes restrict the Company's ability to pay dividends. Under these agreements, the Company generally may pay dividends in an amount not to exceed $6,000 plus 7.5% of net income.
Holders of the Common Stock have the right to elect or remove as a class 25% of the entire Board of Directors of the Company rounded to the nearest whole number of directors, but not less than one. Holders of Common Stock are not entitled to vote on any other Company matters, except as may be required by law in connection with certain significant actions such as certain mergers and amendments to the Company's Articles of Incorporation, and are entitled to one vote per share on all matters upon which they are entitled to vote. Holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to elect the remaining directors (subject to any rights granted to any series of Preferred Stock) and are entitled to one vote per share for the election of directors and on all matters presented to the shareholders for vote.
The Common Stock shareholders are entitled to receive a liquidation preference of $5.00 per share before any payment or distribution to holders of the Class A Common Stock. Thereafter, holders of the Class A Common Stock are entitled to receive $5.00 per share before any further payment or distribution to holders of the Common Stock. Thereafter, holders of the Class A Common Stock and Common Stock share on a pro rata basis in all payments or distributions upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.
On November 24, 1999, the Company completed the offer and sale of 3,795,000 shares of its Common Stock at $26.00 per share. Proceeds from the offering, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, totaled $93,736 with $93,500 used to repay indebtedness under the Company's Senior Credit Facility (see Note 4).
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8. Stock Options and Common Stock Reserved
The Company has reserved 2,145,628 shares of Common Stock at September 30, 2000 (including 900,000 shares for which approval from the holders of the Class A Common Stock will be sought at the Company's 2001 Annual Shareholders' Meeting) to provide for the exercise of outstanding stock options and the issuance of Common Stock under incentive compensation awards and 422,207 shares of Common Stock at September 30, 2000 to provide for conversion of Class A Common Stock to Common Stock, for a total of 2,567,835 shares of Common Stock reserved. Under the 1990 Incentive Stock Plan for Key Employees as amended (the "Plan"), officers, other key employees and directors may be granted options to purchase shares of the Company's Common Stock at not less than the fair market value of such shares on the date of grant. Participants may also be awarded grants of restricted stock under the Plan. The Plan expires on September 19, 2010. Options become exercisable ratably on the first, second, and third anniversary of the date of grant. Options to purchase shares expire not later than ten years and one month after the grant of the option.
The following table summarizes the transactions under the Plan for the three-year period ended September 30, 2000.

                                                                                        Number of     Weighted-Average
                                                                                         Options       Exercise Price
                                                                                       -----------    ----------------
Unexercised options outstanding September 30, 1997.................................        656,852        $  7.43
     Options granted...............................................................        621,000          13.57
     Options exercised.............................................................       (208,800)          7.00
     Options forfeited.............................................................         (1,500)          9.25
                                                                                          --------
Unexercised options outstanding September 30, 1998.................................      1,067,552          11.08
     Options granted...............................................................        210,500          29.89
     Options exercised.............................................................       (199,622)          7.22
     Options forfeited.............................................................         (1,875)         10.43
                                                                                         ---------
Unexercised options outstanding September 30, 1999.................................      1,076,555          15.47
     Options granted...............................................................        265,500          32.75
     Options exercised.............................................................        (43,002)          8.39
     Options forfeited.............................................................         (3,500)         12.30
                                                                                         ---------
Unexercised options outstanding September 30, 2000.................................      1,295,553        $ 19.26
                                                                                         =========        =======

Price range $5.25-- $11.17 (weighted-average contractual life of 5.5 years)........        363,553        $  9.33
Price range $12.75-- $15.75 (weighted-average contractual life of 7.8 years).......        456,000          14.41
Price range $25.17-- $33.13 (weighted-average contractual life of 9.6 years).......        476,000          31.49
Exercisable options at September 30, 2000..........................................        688,193          13.54
Shares available for grant at September 30, 2000...................................        850,075

As allowed by SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," the Company has elected to continue to follow APB No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" and related interpretations in accounting for the Plan. Accordingly, no compensation expense has been recognized for grants under the stock option plan. Had compensation cost for the Plan been determined consistent with SFAS No. 123, the Company's net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts:

                                        Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                       2000           1999         1998
                                       ----           ----         ----
Pro forma:
  Net income.......................  $48,387        $30,313      $14,681
  Per share:
    Net income.....................     3.01           2.38         1.17
    Net income assuming dilution...     2.95           2.32         1.15

During the initial phase-in period, as required by SFAS No. 123, the pro forma amounts were determined based on stock option grants subsequent to September 30, 1995. Therefore, the pro forma amounts may not be indicative of the effects of compensation cost on net earnings and earnings per share in future years. The fair value of each stock option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 5.99% in 2000, 5.82% in 1999, and 5.22% in 1998; dividend yields of 1.05% in 2000, 1.13% in 1999, and 2.51% in 1998; expected common stock market price volatility factor of .325 in 2000, .335 in 1999, and .308 in 1998; and a weighted-average expected life of the options of six years. The weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2000, 1999 and 1998 was $12.64, $11.57 and $4.07 per share, respectively.
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9. Operating Leases and Related Party Transactions
Total rental expense for plant and equipment charged to operations under noncancelable operating leases was $1,723, $937 and $1,114 in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Minimum rental payments due under operating leases for subsequent fiscal years are: 2001 -- $1,880; 2002 -- $1,297; 2003 -- $859; 2004 -- $725; and 2005 -- $191.
Included in rental expense are charges of $128 in fiscal 1998 relating to a building lease between the Company and certain shareholders. In September 1998, the Company purchased the building, which had been leased from such shareholders, for $773. The purchase price was based on the average of two independent appraisals.
10. Contingencies, Significant Estimates and Concentrations
The Company was engaged in litigation against Super Steel Products Corporation ("SSPC"), the Company's former supplier of mixer systems for front discharge concrete mixer trucks under a long-term supply contract. SSPC sued the Company in state court claiming that the Company breached the contract. The Company counterclaimed for repudiation of contract. On July 26, 1996, a jury returned a verdict for SSPC awarding damages totaling $4,485. On October 10, 1996, the state court judge overturned the verdict against the Company, granted judgment for the Company on its counterclaim, and ordered a new trial for damages on the Company's counterclaim. Both SSPC and the Company appealed the state court judge's decision. On December 8, 1998, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals ordered a state court judge to reinstate the jury verdict against the Company awarding damages totaling $4,485 plus interest to SSPC. On April 6, 1999, the Company's petition for review of this decision by the Wisconsin Supreme Court was denied. On April 12, 1999, the Company petitioned the state court judge to act on the Company's previous motion for a retrial. This petition was denied on June 18, 1999 and the state court judge directed that judgment be entered. In lieu of further appeals, the Company paid $5.75 million on July 27, 1999 in final settlement of the matter.
McNeilus was a defendant in litigation, which was commenced in 1993 prior to the acquisition of McNeilus by the Company, in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Alabama. The litigation, which was brought by The Heil Co. ("Heil"), a McNeilus competitor, sought damages and claimed that McNeilus infringed certain aspects of its patent for refuse packer design. The patent referenced in the matter was allowed by Heil to lapse in 1995. The Company denied infringement and asserted that the patent was invalid, both on the basis of prior art and on a defective application. The matter was settled in January 2000 for payment of an amount previously accrued.
The Company was engaged in the arbitration of certain disputes between the Oshkosh Florida Division and O.V. Containers, Inc., ("OV") which arose out of the performance of a contract to deliver 690 trailers. The Company contested warranty and other claims made against it, and reached a settlement in June 1998, which included payment by the Company of $1,000 to OV.
As part of its routine business operations, the Company disposes of and recycles or reclaims certain industrial waste materials, chemicals and solvents at third party disposal and recycling facilities, which are licensed by appropriate governmental agencies. In some instances, these facilities have been and may be designated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") or a state environmental agency for remediation. Under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (the "Superfund" law) and similar state laws, each potentially responsible party ("PRP") that contributed hazardous substances may be jointly and severally liable for the costs associated with cleaning up the site. Typically, PRPs negotiate a resolution with the EPA and/or the state environmental agencies. PRPs also negotiate with each other regarding allocation of the cleanup cost.
As to one such Superfund site, Pierce is one of 431 PRPs participating in the costs of addressing the site and has been assigned an allocation share of approximately 0.04%. Currently, a report of the remedial investigation/feasibility study is being completed, and as such, an estimate for the total cost of the remediation of this site has not been made to date. However, based on estimates and the assigned allocations, the Company believes its liability at the site will not be material and its share is adequately covered through reserves established by the Company at September 30, 2000. Actual liability could vary based on results of the study, the resources of other PRPs, and the Company's final share of liability.
The Company is addressing a regional trichloroethylene ("TCE") groundwater plume on the south side of Oshkosh, Wisconsin. The Company believes there may be multiple sources in the area. TCE was detected at the Company's North Plant facility with testing showing the highest concentrations in a monitoring well located on the upgradient property line. Because the investigation process is still ongoing, it is not possible for the Company to estimate its long-term total liability associated with this issue at this time. Also, as part of the regional TCE groundwater investigation, the Company conducted a groundwater investigation of a former landfill located on Company property. The landfill, acquired by the Company in 1972, is approximately 2.0 acres in size and is
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believed to have been used for the disposal of household waste. Based on the investigation, the Company does not believe the landfill is one of the sources of the TCE contamination. Based upon current knowledge, the Company believes its liability associated with the TCE issue will not be material and is adequately covered through reserves established by the Company at September 30, 2000. However, this may change as investigations proceed by the Company, other unrelated property owners, and the government.
The Company is subject to other environmental matters and legal proceedings and claims, including patent, antitrust, product liability and state dealership regulation compliance proceedings, that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although the final results of all such matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such matters and claims, after taking into account the liabilities accrued with respect to such matters and claims, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations. Actual results could vary, among other things, due to the uncertainties involved in litigation.
The Company has guaranteed certain customers' obligations under deferred payment contracts and lease purchase agreements totaling approximately $1,000 at September 30, 2000. The Company is also contingently liable under bid, performance and specialty bonds totaling approximately $123,595 and open standby letters of credit issued by the Company's bank in favor of third parties totaling $12,133 at September 30, 2000.
Provisions for estimated warranty and other related costs are recorded at the time of sale and are periodically adjusted to reflect actual experience. At September 30, 2000 and 1999, the Company has reserved $16,320 and $14,623, respectively, for warranty claims. Certain warranty and other related claims involve matters of dispute that ultimately are resolved by negotiation, arbitration or litigation. Infrequently, a material warranty issue can arise which is beyond the scope of the Company's historical experience. During fiscal 1998 the Company recorded warranty and other related costs for matters beyond the Company's historical experience totaling $3,200. The additional charges in fiscal 1998 principally related to a dispute with or involving the Company's former trailer manufacturing operations, which was settled in fiscal 1998 (see above), and secondarily to repair certain matters related to refuse and front-discharge chassis. It is reasonably possible that additional warranty and other related claims could arise from disputes or other matters beyond the scope of the Company's historical experience.
Product and general liability claims arise against the Company from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company is generally self-insured for future claims up to $250 to $750 per claim. Accordingly, a reserve is maintained for the estimated costs of such claims. At September 30, 2000 and 1999, the reserve for product and general liability claims was $11,475 and $13,001, respectively, based on available information. There is inherent uncertainty as to the eventual resolution of unsettled claims. Management, however, believes that any losses in excess of established reserves will not have a material effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations.
The Company subcontracted production under an $85,000 ISO-Compatible Palletized Flatracks ("IPF") contract for the U.S. Army to Steeltech Manufacturing, Inc. ("Steeltech"), a minority-owned firm, pursuant to Department of Defense regulations under the IPF contract. Due to financial difficulties encountered by Steeltech, the Company advanced working capital requirements to Steeltech. As a result of delays in the start-up of full-scale production under the IPF contract, the Company wrote off certain of its advances and an investment in Steeltech totaling $3,300 in prior years. Such charges were determined based on the amount of advances that were deemed to be unrealizable based on a projection of Steeltech's cash flows through completion of the IPF contract. Steeltech's IPF production was completed in July 1998. The Company also wrote off an investment of $900 in a joint venture, which leases equipment to Steeltech, and accrued $1,084 for the satisfaction of a guarantee of 50% of the outstanding indebtedness of the joint venture which was paid in full in fiscal 1999. Such charges were based on a projection of Steeltech's cash flows, which indicated that Steeltech could not sustain its lease payments to the joint venture, and because the Company believed that there was not a market for the sale of the leased equipment. Given the completion of the IPF contract, and Steeltech's filing for bankruptcy under Chapter 7 of the U.S. Bankruptcy code in October 1999, the Company is attempting to dispose of its investment in the joint venture. The Company believes that it is adequately reserved at September 30, 2000, for any matters relating to the disposition of such investment.
The Company's defense segment derives a significant portion of its revenue from the U.S. Department of Defense, as follows:

                                     Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                      2000         1999        1998
                                   -----------  ----------- --------

U.S. Department of Defense....     $  259,614   $  218,017   $ 248,577
Export........................         16,227        4,518         452
                                   ----------   ----------   ---------
   Total Defense Sales........     $  275,841   $  222,535    $249,029
                                   ==========   ==========    ========
                                  44


U.S. Department of Defense sales include $42,207, $180 and $10,437 in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, for products sold internationally under the Foreign Military Sales ("FMS") Program.
Inherent in doing business with the U.S. Department of Defense are certain risks, including technological changes and changes in levels of defense spending. All U.S. Department of Defense contracts contain a provision that they may be terminated at any time at the convenience of the government. In such an event, the Company is entitled to recover allowable costs plus a reasonable profit earned to the date of termination.
11. Unaudited Quarterly Results

                                    Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2000                Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 1999
                           ----------------------------------------------------  --------------------------------------------------
                             4th Quarter  3rd Quarter  2nd Quarter  1st Quarter  4th Quarter  3rd Quarter  2nd Quarter  1st Quarter
                            ------------  -----------  -----------  -----------  -----------  -----------  -----------  -----------
Net sales.................   $ 357,968    $ 391,667    $ 330,524    $  243,867   $ 313,906    $ 329,821    $ 298,534    $ 222,693
Gross income..............      54,394       58,802       49,761        39,977      48,461       48,292       44,520       32,108
Income from  continuing
  operations..............      14,625       15,274       11,913         6,696      10,185       10,545        6,549        3,912
Discontinued operations...          --           --        2,015            --          --           --           --           --
Extraordinary item........        (239)          --           --          (581)        (60)          --           --           --
Net income................      14,386       15,274       13,928         6,115      10,125       10,545        6,549        3,912
Earnings per share:
  Continuing operations...      $ 0.87    $    0.92    $    0.72    $     0.46   $     .79    $     .83    $     .51    $     .31
  Discontinued operations           --           --         0.12            --          --           --           --           --
  Extraordinary item......       (0.01)          --           --         (0.04)         --           --           --           --
  Net income..............        0.86         0.92         0.84          0.42         .79          .83          .51          .31
Earnings per share assuming
  dilution:
    Continuing operations.        0.86         0.90         0.70          0.46         .77          .81          .50          .30
    Discontinued
      operations..........          --           --         0.12            --          --           --           --           --
    Extraordinary item....       (0.01)          --           --         (0.04)         --           --           --           --
    Net income............        0.85         0.90         0.82          0.42         .77          .81          .50          .30
Dividends per share:
  Class A Common Stock....   $ 0.07500    $ 0.07500    $ 0.07500    $  0.07500   $ 0.07500    $ 0.07250    $ 0.07250    $ 0.07250
  Common Stock............     0.08625      0.08625      0.08625       0.08625     0.08625      0.08333      0.08333      0.08333

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000, the Company recorded a $385 non-cash charge ($239 after-tax) for the write-off of deferred financing costs related to debt which was prepaid on September 28, 2000 in connection with the refinancing of the Company's Senior Credit Facility. The after-tax amount has been recorded as an extraordinary charge.
12. Discontinued Operations, Impairment Losses and Gain on Sale of Affiliate
In fiscal 2000, the Company entered into a technology transfer agreement and collected certain previously written-off receivables from a foreign affiliate, as part of the disposition of a business that the Company exited in 1995. Gross proceeds of $3,250, less income taxes of $1,235, or $2,015 have been recorded as a gain on disposal of discontinued operations.
Following the acquisition of McNeilus and after conducting an internal study to determine how to integrate the concrete mixer businesses of the Company and McNeilus, the Company revised its plans regarding the use of the Company's Florida manufacturing facility and of previously acquired concrete mixer technology. The Florida manufacturing facility was originally acquired in connection with the Company's acquisition of assets and the business of a manufacturer of truck trailers in fiscal 1991. In 1996, the Company exited the manufacture of truck trailers but retained the Florida facility to manufacture products for the U.S. military and the Company's Summit brand of rear-discharge cement mixers. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 1998, following the completion of the internal study, management determined that all of the Company's U.S. requirements for rear-discharge concrete mixers would be sourced through the McNeilus manufacturing facilities due to the quality of the McNeilus brand and the efficient manufacturing processes at its facilities. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 1998, the Company further decided to begin to consolidate all its U.S. defense-related manufacturing in its Oshkosh, Wisconsin facility due to available capacity in Oshkosh and the ability to improve management of defense programs from this facility. As a result, management determined that Oshkosh's Florida facility and the Summit intangible asset may be impaired. Management estimated the projected undiscounted future cash flows from the Florida facility and the acquired concrete mixer technology and determined that such cash flows were less than the carrying value of the assets. Accordingly, pre-tax impairment losses of $3,865 and $1,935 included in selling, general and administrative expenses of corporate and the commercial segment, respectively, were recognized in fiscal 1998 based on the excess of their carrying values over the fair values of the assets. The fair value of the Florida facility was based on a third party appraisal. The fair value of the mixer intangible asset was determined based on the absence of future cash flows.
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In previous years, the Company wrote off (as a charge to selling, general and administrative expense) its $3,025 equity investment in and advances to a Mexican bus manufacturer due to prolonged weakness in the Mexican economy and continuing high losses and high leverage reported by the Mexican affiliate. In fiscal 1998, the Company sold its 5.0% ownership interest in the Mexican bus manufacturer and recorded a pre-tax gain of $3,375. This gain was recorded as a reduction of selling, general and administrative expense in fiscal 1998.
13. Business Segment Information
The Company is organized into three reportable segments based on the internal organization used by management for making operating decisions and measuring performance. The Company's eight operating units have been aggregated into the three reportable segments of commercial, fire and emergency, and defense based on similar customers served and similar economic results attained.
Commercial: This segment consists of three operating units--McNeilus, Viking and the commercial division of Oshkosh. McNeilus and Oshkosh manufacture, market and distribute concrete mixer systems, refuse truck bodies, portable concrete batch plants and truck components. Viking sells and distributes concrete mixer systems. Sales are made to commercial and municipal customers in the U.S. and abroad.
Fire and emergency: This segment consists of four operating units--Pierce, the aircraft, rescue and firefighting ("ARFF") and snow removal divisions of Oshkosh and Kewaunee Fabrications, LLC. These units manufacture and market commercial and custom fire trucks and emergency vehicles primarily for fire departments, airports and other governmental units in the U.S. and abroad.
Defense: This segment consists of one operating unit (a division of Oshkosh), which manufactures heavy- and medium-payload tactical trucks and supply parts for the U.S. military and to other militaries around the world.
The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on profit or loss from segment operations before interest income and expense, income taxes and non-recurring items. Intersegment sales are not significant. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Summarized financial information concerning the Company's reportable segments is shown in the following table. The caption "Corporate and other" includes corporate related items, results of insignificant operations, intersegment eliminations and income and expense not allocated to reportable segments.
Selected financial data by business segment is as follows:

                                                                           Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                                2000                     1999                    1998
                                                                ----                     ----                    ----
Net sales to unaffiliated customers:
    Commercial.......................................       $    658,329             $    607,678             $    354,165
    Fire and emergency...............................            390,659                  336,241                  301,181
    Defense..........................................            275,841                  222,535                  247,956
    Corporate and other..............................               (803)                  (1,500)                    (510)
                                                            -------------            ------------             ------------
        Consolidated.................................       $  1,324,026             $  1,164,954             $    902,792
                                                            ============             ============             ============
Operating income (loss):
    Commercial.......................................       $     54,654             $     48,995             $     19,317
    Fire and emergency...............................             32,922                   26,758                   25,581
    Defense..........................................             30,119                   22,878                   22,680
    Corporate and other..............................            (19,644)                 (22,418)                 (18,858)
                                                            ------------             ------------             ------------
        Consolidated operating income................             98,051                   76,213                   48,720
    Net interest expense.............................            (20,063)                 (25,984)                 (20,164)
    Miscellaneous other..............................                661                      730                       92
                                                            ------------             ------------             ------------
    Income from continuing operations before
        income taxes, equity in earnings of
        unconsolidated partnership and extraordinary
        item.........................................       $     78,649             $     50,959             $     28,648
                                                            ============             ============             ============
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                                                                           Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                                2000                     1999                    1998
                                                                ----                     ----                    ----
Depreciation and amortization:
    Commercial.......................................         $   11,547               $   10,949              $    7,273
    Fire and emergency...............................              8,979                    8,156                   7,286
    Defense..........................................              2,833                    2,810                   3,271
    Corporate and other..............................                859                    1,242                     868
                                                              ----------               ----------              ----------
        Consolidated.................................         $   24,218               $   23,157              $   18,698
                                                              ==========               ==========              ==========

Capital expenditures:
    Commercial.......................................         $   11,053               $    9,317              $    2,206
    Fire and emergency...............................              5,016                    6,125                   9,439
    Defense..........................................              6,578                    2,557                   1,799
                                                              ----------               ----------              ----------
        Consolidated.................................         $   22,647               $   17,999              $   13,444
                                                              ==========               ==========              ==========
                                                                                     September 30,
                                                                2000                     1999                    1998
                                                                ----                     ----                    ----
Identifiable assets(a):
    Commercial (b)...................................         $  385,622               $  381,199              $  329,036
    Fire and emergency...............................            288,904                  276,692                 273,188
    Defense..........................................            108,528                   85,796                  73,917
    Corporate and other..............................             13,326                    9,603                   8,898
                                                              ----------               ----------              ----------
        Consolidated.................................         $  796,380               $  753,290              $  685,039
                                                              ==========               ==========              ==========

(a)The Company has no significant long-lived assets in foreign countries.
(b)Includes investment in unconsolidated partnership.

The following table presents net sales by geographic region based on product shipment destination.

                                                                           Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
                                                                2000                     1999                    1998
                                                                ----                     ----                    ----
Net sales:
    United States....................................        $ 1,221,548               $1,113,214                 $857,310
    Other North America..............................              7,429                    7,822                    4,678
    Europe and Middle East...........................             68,317                   21,713                   16,889
    Other............................................             26,732                   22,205                   23,915
                                                             -----------              -----------                ---------
        Consolidated.................................        $ 1,324,026               $1,164,954                 $902,792
                                                             ===========               ==========                 ========

14. Subsidiary Guarantors
The following tables present condensed consolidating financial information for: (a) the Company; (b) on a combined basis, the guarantors of the Senior Subordinated Notes, which include all of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company ("Subsidiary Guarantors") other than McNeilus Financial Services, Inc. and Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services, Inc. which are the only non-guarantor subsidiaries of the Company ("Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries"); and (c) on a combined basis, the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries. Separate financial statements of the Subsidiary Guarantors are not presented because the guarantors are jointly, severally, and unconditionally liable under the guarantees, and the Company believes separate financial statements and other disclosures regarding the Subsidiary Guarantors are not material to investors.
The Company is comprised of Wisconsin and Florida manufacturing operations and certain corporate management, information services and finance functions. Borrowings and related interest expense under the Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility and the Senior Subordinated Notes are charged to the Company. The Company has allocated a portion of this interest expense to certain Subsidiary Guarantors through a formal lending arrangement. There are presently no management fee arrangements between the Company and its Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.
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                                           OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
                                Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income
                                  Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2000

                                                               Subsidiary      Non-Guarantor
                                                 Company       Guarantors      Subsidiaries      Eliminations    Consolidated
                                                 -------       ----------      ------------      ------------    ------------
                                                                              (In thousands)
Net sales................................      $  478,569      $  870,317      $        --        $  (24,860)     $ 1,324,026
Cost of sales............................         411,850         733,893               --           (24,651)       1,121,092
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Gross income.............................          66,719         136,424               --              (209)         202,934
Operating expenses:
    Selling, general and administrative..          41,108          52,260              356                --           93,724
    Amortization of goodwill and other
          intangibles....................              --          11,159               --                --           11,159
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Total operating expenses.................          41,108          63,419              356                --          104,883
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Operating income (loss)..................          25,611          73,005             (356)             (209)          98,051
Other income (expense):
    Interest expense.....................         (18,863)         (8,368)             (25)            6,300          (20,956)
    Interest income......................             267           6,855               71            (6,300)             893
    Miscellaneous, net...................          11,836         (11,763)             588                --              661
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
                                                   (6,760)        (13,276)             634                --          (19,402)
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Income before items noted below..........          18,851          59,729              278              (209)          78,649
Provision (credit) for income taxes......           6,564          24,755              106               (79)          31,346
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
                                                   12,287          34,974              172              (130)          47,303
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries and
    unconsolidated partnership, net of
    income taxes.........................          36,221              --            1,205           (36,221)           1,205
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Income from continuing operations........          48,508          34,974            1,377           (36,351)          48,508
Gain from disposal of discontinued
    operations...........................           2,015              --               --                --            2,015
Extraordinary charge.....................            (820)             --               --                --             (820)
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Net income...............................      $   49,703      $   34,974      $     1,377        $  (36,351)     $    49,703
                                               ==========      ==========      ===========        ==========-     ===========
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                                           OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
                                 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income
                                     Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 1999

                                                               Subsidiary      Non-Guarantor
                                                 Company       Guarantors      Subsidiaries      Eliminations    Consolidated
                                                 -------       ----------      ------------      ------------    ------------
                                                                              (In thousands)
Net sales................................      $  410,197      $  767,441      $        --        $  (12,684)     $ 1,164,954
Cost of sales............................         359,299         644,958               --           (12,684)         991,573
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        -----------     -----------
Gross income.............................          50,898         122,483               --                --          173,381
Operating expenses:
    Selling, general and administrative..          41,100          44,567              329                --           85,996
    Amortization of goodwill and other
          intangibles....................              --          11,172               --                --           11,172
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Total operating expenses.................          41,100          55,739              329                --           97,168
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Operating income (loss)..................           9,798          66,744             (329)               --           76,213
Other income (expense):
    Interest expense.....................         (24,817)         (8,227)              --             6,300          (26,744)
    Interest income......................             282           6,725               53            (6,300)             760
    Miscellaneous, net...................              95             205              430                --              730
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
                                                  (24,440)         (1,297)             483                --          (25,254)
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Income (loss) before items noted below...         (14,642)         65,447              154                --           50,959
Provision (credit) for income taxes......          (5,706)         26,961               58                --           21,313
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
                                                   (8,936)         38,486               96                --           29,646
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries and
    unconsolidated partnership, net of
    income taxes.........................          40,127              --            1,545           (40,127)           1,545
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Income before extraordinary charge.......          31,191          38,486            1,641           (40,127)          31,191
Extraordinary charge.....................             (60)             --               --                --              (60)
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Net income...............................      $   31,131      $   38,486      $     1,641        $  (40,127)     $    31,131
                                               ==========      ==========      ===========        ==========      ===========
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                                           OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
                                  Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income
                                    Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 1998

                                                               Subsidiary      Non-Guarantor
                                                 Company       Guarantors      Subsidiaries      Eliminations    Consolidated
                                                 -------       ----------      ------------      ------------    ------------
                                                                              (In thousands)
Net sales................................      $  393,720      $  509,072      $        --        $       --      $   902,792
Cost of sales............................         350,139         426,617               --                --          776,756
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Gross income.............................          43,581          82,455               --                --          126,036
Operating expenses:
    Selling, general and administrative..          37,861          31,117               23                --           69,001
    Amortization of goodwill and other
          intangibles....................              --           8,315               --                --            8,315
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Total operating expenses.................          37,861          39,432               23                --           77,316
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Operating income (loss)..................           5,720          43,023              (23)               --           48,720
Other income (expense):
    Interest expense.....................         (16,878)         (7,195)            (180)            2,763          (21,490)
    Interest income......................             418           3,248              423            (2,763)           1,326
    Miscellaneous, net...................             (96)             18              170                --               92
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
                                                  (16,556)         (3,929)             413                --          (20,072)
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Income (loss) before items noted below...         (10,836)         39,094              390                --           28,648
Provision (credit) for income taxes......          (4,075)         16,578              152                --           12,655
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
                                                   (6,761)         22,516              238                --           15,993
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries and
    unconsolidated partnership, net of
    income taxes.........................          23,014              --              260           (23,014)             260
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Income before extraordinary charge.......          16,253          22,516              498           (23,014)          16,253
Extraordinary charge.....................          (1,185)             --               --                --           (1,185)
                                               ----------      ----------      -----------        ----------      -----------
Net income...............................      $   15,068      $   22,516      $       498        $  (23,014)     $    15,068
                                               ==========      ==========      ===========        ==========      ===========
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                                       OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
                                   Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
                                           September 30, 2000
                                                                Subsidiary     Non-Guarantor
                                                  Company       Guarantors     Subsidiaries      Eliminations    Consolidated
                                                  -------       ----------     ------------      ------------    ------------
                                                                              (In thousands)
Assets
Current assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents..............      $  13,034      $      499      $      36        $         --    $     13,569
    Receivables, net.......................         61,156          47,473            272              (2,096)        106,805
    Inventories............................         53,273         141,867             --                (209)        194,931
    Prepaid expenses and other.............         12,153           7,836            143                  --          20,132
                                                 ---------      ----------      ---------        ------------    ------------
       Total current assets................        139,616         197,675            451              (2,305)        335,437
Investment in and advances to:
    Subsidiaries...........................        382,723           4,308             --            (387,031)             --
    Unconsolidated partnership.............             --              --         15,179                  --          15,179
Other long-term assets.....................         14,010           1,980            284                  --          16,274
Net property, plant and equipment..........         30,196          88,563             --                  --         118,759
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net..             --         310,731             --                  --         310,731
                                                 ---------      ----------      ---------        ------------    ------------
Total assets...............................      $ 566,545      $  603,257      $  15,914        $   (389,336)   $    796,380
                                                 =========      ==========      =========        ============    ============

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
    Accounts payable.......................      $  39,602      $   46,704      $       5        $     (2,096)   $     84,215
    Floor plan notes payable...............             --          23,925             --                  --          23,925
    Customer advances......................          3,114          56,856             26                  --          59,996
    Payroll-related obligations............         10,642          12,792             31                  --          23,465
    Accrued warranty.......................          7,668           8,652             --                  --          16,320
    Other current liabilities..............         26,433          21,914            164                  --          48,511
    Revolving credit facility and current
        maturities of long-term debt.......          8,000             237            307                  --           8,544
                                                 ---------      ----------      ---------        ------------    ------------
           Total current liabilities.......         95,459         171,080            533              (2,096)        264,976
Long-term debt.............................        152,000           2,052            186                  --         154,238
Deferred income taxes......................           (905)         36,432         10,887                  --          46,414
Other long-term liabilities ...............         18,934          10,761             --                  --          29,695
Investment by and advances from (to)
    Parent.................................             --         382,932          4,308            (387,240)             --
Shareholders' equity.......................        301,057              --             --                  --         301,057
                                                 ---------      ----------      ---------        ------------    ------------
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity.      $ 566,545      $  603,257      $  15,914        $   (389,336)   $    796,380
                                                 =========      ==========      =========        ============    ============
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                                           OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
                                 Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
                                           September 30, 1999

                                                                Subsidiary     Non-Guarantor
                                                  Company       Guarantors     Subsidiaries      Eliminations    Consolidated
                                                  -------       ----------     ------------      ------------    ------------
                                                                              (In thousands)
Assets
Current assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents..............      $   3,698      $    1,337      $     102        $         --    $      5,137
    Receivables, net.......................         49,311          43,837             38                  --          93,186
    Inventories............................         49,988         148,458             --                  --         198,446
    Prepaid expenses and other.............          7,609           7,695          4,217                  --          19,521
                                                 ---------      ----------      ---------        ------------    ------------
       Total current assets................        110,606         201,327          4,357                  --         316,290
Investment in and advances to:
    Subsidiaries...........................        357,575          (7,590)            --            (349,985)             --
    Unconsolidated partnership.............             --              --         12,335                  --          12,335
Other long-term assets.....................         10,745           1,027             52                  --          11,824
Net property, plant and equipment..........         23,960          69,060             --                  --          93,020
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net..             --         319,821             --                  --         319,821
                                                 ---------      ----------      ---------        ------------    ------------
Total assets...............................      $ 502,886      $  583,645      $  16,744        $   (349,985)   $    753,290
                                                 =========      ==========      =========        =============   ============

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
    Accounts payable.......................      $  34,261      $   50,234      $     232        $         --    $     84,727
    Floor plan notes payable...............             --          26,616             --                  --          26,616
    Customer advances......................          1,669          66,695             --                  --          68,364
    Payroll-related obligations............          9,172          11,788             30                  --          20,990
    Accrued warranty.......................          6,785           7,838             --                  --          14,623
    Other current liabilities..............         17,940          23,638         10,628                  --          52,206
    Revolving credit facility and current
        maturities of long-term debt.......          5,000             259             --                  --           5,259
                                                 ---------      ----------      ---------        ------------    ------------
           Total current liabilities.......         74,827         187,068         10,890                  --         272,785
Long-term debt.............................        253,000           2,289             --                  --         255,289
Deferred income taxes......................         (5,407)         36,228         13,444                  --          44,265
Other long-term liabilities ...............         17,586             485             --                  --          18,071
Investment by and advances from (to)
    Parent.................................             --         357,575         (7,590)           (349,985)             --
Shareholders' equity.......................        162,880              --             --                  --         162,880
                                                 ---------      ----------      ---------        ------------    ------------
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity.      $ 502,886      $  583,645      $  16,744        $   (349,985)   $    753,290
                                                 =========      ==========      =========        =============   ============
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                                           OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
                                Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
                                   Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2000

                                                                Subsidiary     Non-Guarantor
                                                    Company      Guarantors     Subsidiaries      Eliminations    Consolidated
                                                    -------      ----------     ------------      ------------    ------------
                                                                              (In thousands)
Operating activities:
    Income from continuing operations
        before extraordinary item...........      $  48,508      $  34,974      $    1,377         $(36,351)      $   48,508
    Non-cash adjustments....................          5,967         18,999            (426)              --           24,540
    Changes in operating assets and
        liabilities.........................            100        (13,434)        (10,240)             209          (23,365)
                                                  ---------      ---------      ----------         --------       ----------
    Net cash provided from (used for)
        operating activities................         54,575         40,539          (9,289)         (36,142)          49,683

Investing activities:
    Acquisition of businesses, net of cash
        acquired............................         (5,467)        (1,752)             72               --           (7,147)
    Investments in and advances to
        subsidiaries........................        (19,681)       (26,982)         10,521           36,142               --
    Additions to property, plant and
        equipment...........................        (10,962)       (11,685)             --               --          (22,647)
    Other...................................           (719)          (699)           (947)              --           (2,365)
                                                  ---------      ---------      ----------         --------       ----------
    Net cash provided from (used for)
        investing activities................        (36,829)       (41,118)          9,646           36,142          (32,159)

Net cash provided from discontinued
    operations..............................          2,015             --              --               --            2,015

Financing activities:
    Net repayments under revolving credit
        facility............................         (5,000)            --              --               --           (5,000)
    Proceeds from issuance of long-term
        debt................................         30,913             --              --               --           30,913
    Repayment of long-term debt.............       (123,913)          (259)           (423)              --         (124,595)
    Debt issuance costs.....................           (795)            --              --               --             (795)
    Proceeds from Common Stock Offering.....         93,736             --              --               --           93,736
    Costs of Common Stock Offering..........           (334)            --              --               --             (334)
    Dividends paid..........................         (5,392)            --              --               --           (5,392)
    Other...................................            360             --              --               --              360
                                                  ---------      ---------      ----------         --------       ----------
    Net cash used for financing activities..        (10,425)          (259)           (423)              --          (11,107)
                                                  ---------      ---------      ----------         --------       ----------
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
    equivalents.............................          9,336           (838)            (66)              --            8,432
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
    year....................................          3,698          1,337             102               --            5,137
                                                  ---------      ---------      ----------         --------       ----------
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year....      $  13,034      $     499      $       36         $     --       $   13,569
                                                  =========      =========      ==========         ========       ==========
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                                          OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
                               Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
                                 Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 1999

                                                               Subsidiary      Non-Guarantor
                                                   Company     Guarantors      Subsidiaries      Eliminations    Consolidated
                                                   -------     ----------      ------------      ------------    ------------
                                                                              (In thousands)
Operating activities:
    Income before extraordinary item........      $  31,191     $  38,486       $    1,641         $(40,127)      $   31,191
    Non-cash adjustments....................          4,005        18,491           (5,143)              --           17,353
    Changes in operating assets and
        liabilities.........................        (11,739)        3,893           (1,650)              --           (9,496)
                                                  ----------    ---------       -----------        --------       -----------
    Net cash provided from (used for)
        operating activities................         23,457        60,870           (5,152)         (40,127)          39,048

Investing activities:
    Investments in and advances to
        subsidiaries........................          5,992       (46,231)             112           40,127               --
    Additions to property, plant and
        equipment...........................         (4,261)      (13,738)              --               --          (17,999)
    Other...................................            238          (287)           3,564               --            3,515
                                                  ---------     ---------       ----------         --------       ----------
    Net cash provided from (used for)
        investing activities................          1,969       (60,256)           3,676           40,127          (14,484)

Financing activities:
    Net repayments under
        revolving credit facility...........         (1,000)           --               --               --           (1,000)
    Repayment of long-term debt.............        (19,000)         (256)              --               --          (19,256)
    Dividends paid..........................         (4,226)           --               --               --           (4,226)
    Other...................................          1,433            --               --               --            1,433
                                                  ---------     ---------       ----------         --------       ----------
    Net cash used for  financing activities.        (22,793)         (256)              --               --          (23,049)
                                                  ----------    ----------      ----------         --------       -----------
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
    equivalents.............................          2,633           358           (1,476)              --            1,515
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
    year....................................          1,065           979            1,578               --            3,622
                                                  ---------     ---------       ----------         --------       ----------
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year....      $   3,698     $   1,337       $      102         $     --       $    5,137
                                                  =========     =========       ==========         ========       ==========
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                                           OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
                                Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
                                   Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 1998

                                                                Subsidiary     Non-Guarantor
                                                   Company      Guarantors     Subsidiaries      Eliminations    Consolidated
                                                   -------      ----------     ------------      ------------    ------------
                                                                              (In thousands)
Operating activities:
    Income before extraordinary item........      $  16,253      $  22,516      $      498         $(23,014)      $   16,253
    Non-cash adjustments....................          9,707         14,293          (3,156)              --           20,844
    Changes in operating assets and
        liabilities.........................         40,800          4,533          (2,489)              --           42,844
                                                  ---------      ---------      -----------        --------       ----------
    Net cash provided from (used for)
        operating activities................         66,760         41,342          (5,147)         (23,014)          79,941

Investing activities:
    Acquisitions of businesses, net of
        cash acquired.......................       (229,876)        (3,563)         12,295               --         (221,144)
    Investments in and advances to
        subsidiaries........................         10,250        (28,181)         (5,083)          23,014               --
    Additions to property, plant and
        equipment...........................         (2,997)       (10,447)             --               --          (13,444)
    Other...................................          4,590          1,868            (487)              --            5,971
                                                  ---------      ---------      -----------        --------       ----------
    Net cash provided from (used for)
        investing activities................       (218,033)       (40,323)          6,725           23,014         (228,617)

Net cash used for discontinued
    operations..............................         (1,093)            --              --               --           (1,093)

Financing activities:
    Net borrowings under revolving credit
        facility............................          6,000             --              --               --            6,000
    Proceeds from issuance of long-term
        debt................................        325,000             --              --               --          325,000
    Repayment of long-term debt.............       (188,000)           (49)             --               --         (188,049)
    Debt issuance costs.....................         (8,641)            --              --               --           (8,641)
    Dividends paid..........................         (4,176)            --              --               --           (4,176)
    Other...................................             38             --              --               --               38
                                                  ---------      ---------      ----------         --------       ----------
    Net cash provided from (used for)
        financing activities................        130,221            (49)             --               --          130,172
                                                  ---------      ----------     ----------         --------       ----------
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
    equivalents.............................        (22,145)           970           1,578               --          (19,597)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
    year....................................         23,210              9              --               --           23,219
                                                  ---------      ---------      ----------         --------       ----------
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year....      $   1,065      $     979      $    1,578         $     --       $    3,622
                                                  =========      =========      ==========         ========       ==========
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15. Subsequent Event
On October 30, 2000, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Medtec Ambulance Corporation ("Medtec") for approximately $14,500, including acquisition costs and net of cash acquired. Medtec is a U.S. manufacturer of custom ambulances and rescue vehicles with manufacturing facilities in Indiana and Michigan.
The acquisition was financed from available cash and borrowings under the Company's Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Facility. The acquisition will be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of Medtec will be included in the Company's consolidated statements of income beginning October 30, 2000. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets acquired amounted to approximately $5,800, which will be accounted for as goodwill and amortized over a 25 year period. The purchase price allocation for the Medtec acquisition is preliminary and further adjustments are likely based on final valuations.
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Item 9.CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL

DISCLOSURES.
The Company had no disagreements with its accountants during the last two fiscal years. On May 9, 2000, the Company engaged Arthur Andersen LLP, to act as its independent auditors as successor to Ernst & Young LLP. All information relating to such change in accountants is incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 9, 2000.
PART III
Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.
The information to be included under the captions "Governance of the Company - The Board of Directors" and "Stock Ownership - Compliance with Section
16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting of shareholders on February 5, 2001, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item. Reference is also made to the information under the heading "Executive Officers of the Registrant" included under Part I of this report.
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
The information to be included under the captions "Governance of the Company - Compensation of Directors," "Stock Price Performance Graph" and "Executive Compensation" contained in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting of shareholders on February 5, 2001, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item.
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.
The information to be included under the caption "Stock Ownership - Stock Ownership of Directors, Executive Officers and Other Large Shareholders" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting of shareholders on February 5, 2001, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item.
Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.
The information to be included under the captions "Governance of the Company - The Board of Directors" and "Executive Compensation - Executive Employment and Severance Agreements and Other Agreements" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting of shareholders on February 5, 2001, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item.
PART IV
Item 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.
(a) 1. Financial Statements: The following consolidated financial statements of the Company and the report of independent auditors included in the Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2000, are contained in Item 8:
Report of Arthur Andersen LLP, Independent Auditors Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended September 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998
Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2000 and 1999 Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the years ended September 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Financial Statement Schedules:
Schedule II - Valuation & Qualifying Accounts
All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
3. Exhibits:
3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Oshkosh Truck Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000 (File No. 0-13886)).
3.2 By-Laws of Oshkosh Truck Corporation, as amended.
4.1 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 28, 2000, among Oshkosh Truck Corporation, Bank of America, N.A., as Agent and Swing Line Lender, and certain other financial institutions.
4.2 Indenture dated February 26, 1998, among Oshkosh Truck Corporation, the Subsidiary Guarantors and Firstar Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 26, 1998 (File No. 0-13886)).
4.3 Form of 8 3/4% Senior Subordinated Note due 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-47931)).
4.4 Form of Note Guarantee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-47931)).
4.5 Rights Agreement, dated as of February 1, 1999, between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and Firstar Bank, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated as of February 1, 1999 (File No. 013886)). 10.1 1990 Incentive Stock Plan for Key Employees, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 0-13886)).* 10.2 1994 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan, dated March 29, 1994 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1994) (File No. 0-13886)).*
10.3 Form of Key Employees Employment and Severance Agreement with Messrs. R.G. Bohn, T.M. Dempsey, P.C. Hollowell, C.L. Szews, and M.J. Zolnowski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1994 (File No. 0-13886)).*
10.4 Form of Oshkosh Truck Corporation 1990 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended, Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 33-6287)).*
10.5 Form of Oshkosh Truck Corporation 1990 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended, Nonqualified Director Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 33-6287)).*
10.6 Form of 1994 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1995 (File No. 0-13886)).*
10.7 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated April 26, 1996, among Oshkosh Truck Corporation, J. Peter Mosling, Jr. and Stephen P. Mosling (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1996 (File No. 0-13886)).
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10.8 Employment Agreement, dated as of October 15, 1998, between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and Robert G. Bohn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 0-13886)).*
10.9 Employment Agreement, dated April 24, 1998, between McNeilus

      Companies, Inc. and Daniel J. Lanzdorf (incorporated by
      reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's Annual Report on
      Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1999 (File No.
      0-13886)).*
10.10  Oshkosh Truck Corporation Executive Retirement Plan
       (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
       Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
       31, 2000).*
10.11  Form of Key Executive Employment and Severance Agreement
       between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and each of Robert G.
       Bohn, Timothy M. Dempsey, Paul C. Hollowell, Daniel J.
       Lanzdorf, John W. Randjelovic, Charles L. Szews and Matthew
       J. Zolnowski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
       the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
       ended June 30, 2000).*
10.12  Employment Agreement, dated September 16, 2996, between
       Pierce Manufacturing Inc. and John W. Randjelovic.*
10.13  Amendment effective July 1, 2000 to Employment Agreement,
       dated as of October 15, 1998, between Oshkosh Truck
       Corporation and Robert G. Bohn.*
11.    Computation of per share earnings (contained in Note 1 of
       "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" of the
       Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
       ended September 30, 2000).
21.    Subsidiaries of Registrant.
23.    Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP
23.1   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
27.    Financial Data Schedule

*Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
(b) The Company filed Current Report on Form 8-K, dated July 25, 2000, reporting a conference call for analysts held in connection with the announcement of the Company's earnings for the third quarter ended June 30, 2000.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION

December 12, 2000          By      /S/ Robert G. Bohn
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              Robert G. Bohn, President, Chief Executive Officer
                               and Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities on the dates indicated.

December 12, 2000                  /S/ R. G. Bohn
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              R.G. Bohn, President, Chief Executive Officer and
                               Chairman of the Board
                              (Principal Executive Officer)


December 12, 2000                  /S/ C. L. Szews
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              C.L. Szews, Executive Vice President and Chief
                               Financial Officer
                              (Principal Financial Officer)


December 12, 2000                  /S/ T. J. Polnaszek
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              T.J. Polnaszek, Vice President and Controller
                              (Principal Accounting Officer)


December 12, 2000                  /S/ J. W. Andersen
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              J.W. Andersen, Director


December 12, 2000                  /S/ D. T. Carroll
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              D.T. Carroll, Director


December 12, 2000                  /S/ D. V. Fites
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              D.V. Fites, Director


December 12, 2000                  /S/ General (Ret.) F. M. Franks, Jr.
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              General (Ret.) F. M. Franks, Jr., Director


December 12, 2000                  /S/ M. W. Grebe
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              M.W. Grebe, Director


December 12, 2000                  /S/ K. J. Hempel
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              K.J. Hempel, Director


December 12, 2000                  /S/ S. P. Mosling
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              S.P. Mosling, Director


December 12, 2000                  /S/ J. P. Mosling, Jr.
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              J.P. Mosling, Jr., Director


December 12, 2000                  /S/ R. G. Sim
                             ---------------------------------------------------
                              R.G. Sim, Director
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SCHEDULE II
OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years Ended September 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998
 (In Thousands)

                                               Balance at      Acquisitions    Additions
                                              Beginning of         of          Charged to                      Balance at
             Classification                       Year         Businesses       Expense        Reductions*     End of Year
             --------------                       ----         ----------       -------        ----------      -----------
Receivables -
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
         1998                                    $1,970           $173           $124            $(199)          $2,068
                                                 ======           ====           ====            ======          ======

         1999                                    $2,068            ---           $201            $(65)           $2,204
                                                 ======            ===           ====            =====           ======

         2000                                    $2,204            $ 5           $255            $(17)           $2,447
                                                 ======            ===           ====            =====           ======

* Represents amounts written off to the reserve, net of recoveries.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Oshkosh Truck Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000 (File No. 0-13886)).
3.2 By-Laws of Oshkosh Truck Corporation, as amended.
4.1 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 28, 2000, among Oshkosh Truck Corporation, Bank of America, N.A., as Agent and Swing Line Lender, and certain other financial institutions.
4.2 Indenture dated February 26, 1998, among Oshkosh Truck Corporation, the Subsidiary Guarantors and Firstar Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 26, 1998 (File No. 0-13886)).
4.3 Form of 8 3/4% Senior Subordinated Note due 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-47931)).
4.4 Form of Note Guarantee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-47931)).
4.5 Rights Agreement, dated as of February 1, 1999, between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and Firstar Bank, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated as of February 1, 1999 (File No. 013886)).
10.1 1990 Incentive Stock Plan for Key Employees, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 0-13886)).*
10.2 1994 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan, dated March 29, 1994 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1994) (File No. 0-13886)).*
10.3 Form of Key Employees Employment and Severance Agreement with Messrs. R.G. Bohn, T.M. Dempsey, P.C. Hollowell, C.L. Szews, and M.J. Zolnowski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1994 (File No. 0-13886)).*
10.4 Form of Oshkosh Truck Corporation 1990 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended, Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 33-6287)).*
10.5 Form of Oshkosh Truck Corporation 1990 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended, Nonqualified Director Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 33-6287)).*
10.6 Form of 1994 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1995 (File No. 0-13886)).*
10.7 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated April 26, 1996, among Oshkosh Truck Corporation, J. Peter Mosling, Jr. and Stephen P. Mosling (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1996 (File No. 0-13886)).
10.8 Employment Agreement, dated as of October 15, 1998, between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and Robert G. Bohn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 0-13886)).*
10.9 Employment Agreement, dated April 24, 1998, between McNeilus Companies, Inc. and Daniel J. Lanzdorf (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1999 (File No. 0-13886)).*
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10.10     Oshkosh Truck Corporation Executive Retirement Plan
          (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
          Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
          31, 2000).*
10.11     Form of Key Executive Employment and Severance Agreement
          between Oshkosh Truck Corporation and each of Robert G.
          Bohn, Timothy M. Dempsey, Paul C. Hollowell, Daniel J.
          Lanzdorf, John W. Randjelovic, Charles L. Szews and Matthew
          J. Zolnowski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
          the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
          ended June 30, 2000).*
10.12     Employment Agreement, dated September 16, 1996, between
          Pierce Manufacturing Inc. and John W. Randjelovic.*
10.13     Amendment effective July 1, 2000 to Employment Agreement,
          dated as of October 15, 1998, between Oshkosh Truck
          Corporation and Robert G. Bohn.*
11.       Computation of per share earnings (contained in Note 1 of
          "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" of the
          Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
          ended September 30, 2000).
21.       Subsidiaries of Registrant.
23.       Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP
23.1      Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
27.       Financial Data Schedule

*Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Amended November 14, 2000 Effective Immediately Unless Otherwise Noted
BY-LAWS
OF
OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION
 (a Wisconsin Corporation)
INTRODUCTION
VARIABLE REFERENCES
0.01. Date of annual shareholders' meeting (See Section 2.01): The regular annual meeting of the shareholders of this corporation shall be held at the offices of the company or at any other place in the country as may be determined by the Board of Directors, at ten o'clock A.M. upon the fourth Monday in January of each year, or on such other date which shall not be a legal holiday as shall be determined by the Board of Directors.
0.02. Required notice of shareholders' meeting (See Section 2.04): Not less than ten days.
0.03. Authorized number of directors (See Section 3.01): Ten (10)
0.04. Required notice of directors' meetings (See Section 3.05):
(a) not less than five days if by mail, and
(b) not less than 48 hours if by telegram, telephone, teletype, telegraph, facsimile, or other form of wire or wireless communication, or personal delivery.
0.05. Authorized number of Vice Presidents (See Section 4.01): One to thirteen.
ARTICLE I. OFFICES
1.01. Principal and Business Offices. The corporation may have such principal and other business offices, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the Board of Directors may designate or as the business of the corporation may require from time to time.
1.02. Registered Office. The registered office of the corporation required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law to be maintained in the State of Wisconsin may be, but need not be, identical with the principal office in the State of Wisconsin, and the address of the registered office may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors or by the registered agent. The business office of the registered agent of the corporation shall be identical to such registered office.

ARTICLE II. SHAREHOLDERS
2.01. Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the shareholders shall be held at the date and hour in each year set forth in Section 0.01, or at such other time and date within thirty days before or after said date as may be fixed by or under the authority of the Board of Directors, for the purpose of electing directors and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting. If the day fixed for the annual meeting shall be a legal holiday in the State of Wisconsin, such meeting shall be held on the next succeeding business day. If the election of directors shall not be held on the day designated herein, or fixed as herein provided, for any annual meeting of the shareholders, or at any adjournment thereof, the Board of Directors shall cause the election to be held at a special meeting of the shareholders as soon thereafter as conveniently may be.
2.02. Special Meeting. Special meetings of the shareholders, for any purpose or purposes, unless otherwise prescribed by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, may be called by the Board of Directors or the President. The corporation shall call a special meeting of shareholders in the event that the holders of at least 10% of all of the votes entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at the proposed special meeting sign, date and deliver to the corporation one or more written demands for the meeting describing one or more purposes for which it is to be held. The corporation shall give notice of such a special meeting within thirty days after the date that the demand is delivered to the corporation.
2.03. Place of Meeting. The Board of Directors may designate any place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the place of meeting for any annual or special meeting of shareholders. If no designation is made, the place of meeting shall be the principal office of the corporation. Any meeting may be adjourned to reconvene at any place designated by vote of a majority of the shares represented thereat.
2.04. Notice of Meeting. Written notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered not less than the number of days set forth in Section 0.02 (unless a longer period is required by the law or the articles of incorporation) nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting, either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the President, or the Secretary, or other officer or persons calling the meeting, to each shareholder of record entitled to vote at such meeting and to such other persons as required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail, addressed to the shareholder at his, her or its address as appears on the stock record books of the corporation, with postage thereon prepaid. If an annual or special meeting of shareholders is adjourned to a different date, time or place, the corporation shall not be required to give notice of the new date, time or place if the new date, time or place is announced at the meeting before adjournment; provided, however, that if a new record date for an adjourned meeting is or must be fixed, the corporation shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to persons who are shareholders as of the new record date.
2.05. Closing of Transfer Books or Fixing of Record Date. For the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of shareholders or any adjournment thereof, or shareholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend, or in order to make a determination of shareholders for any other proper purpose, the Board of Directors may provide that the stock transfer books shall be closed for a stated period but not to exceed, in any case, seventy days. If the stock transfer books shall be closed for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a
2

meeting of shareholders, such books shall be closed for at least ten days immediately preceding such meeting. In lieu of closing the stock transfer books, the Board of Directors may fix in advance a date as of the record date for any such determination of shareholders, such date in any case to be not more than seventy days and, in case of a meeting of shareholders, not less than ten days prior to the date on which the particular action, requiring such determination of shareholders, is to be taken. If the stock transfer books are not closed and no record date is fixed for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of shareholders, or shareholders entitled to receive payment of a dividend, the close of business on the date on which notice of the meeting is mailed or on the date on which the resolution of the Board of Directors declaring such dividend is adopted, as the case may be, shall be the record date for such determination of shareholders. If no record date is fixed by the Board of Directors or by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law for the determination of shareholders entitled to demand a special meeting under Section 2.02, the record date shall be the date that the first shareholder signs the demand. Except as provided by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law for a court-ordered adjournment, a determination of shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at a meeting of shareholders is effective for any adjournment of such meeting unless the Board of Directors fixes a new record date, which it shall do if the meeting is adjourned to a date more than 120 days after the date fixed for the original meeting.
2.06. Voting Records. After a record date for a special or annual meeting of shareholders has been fixed, the corporation shall prepare a list of the names of all of the shareholders entitled to notice of the meeting. The list shall be arranged by class or series of shares, if any, and show the address of and number of shares held by each shareholder. Such list shall be available for inspection by any shareholder, beginning two business days after notice of the meeting is given for which the list was prepared and continuing to the date of the meeting, at the corporation's principal office or at a place identified in the meeting notice in the city where the meeting will be held. A shareholder or his or her agent may, on written demand, inspect and, subject to the limitations imposed by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, copy the list, during regular business hours and at his or her expense, during the period that it is available for inspection pursuant to Section 2.07. The corporation shall make the shareholders' list available at the meeting and any shareholder or his or her agent or attorney may inspect the list at any time during the meeting or any adjournment thereof. Refusal or failure to prepare or make available the shareholders' list shall not affect the validity of any action taken at a meeting of shareholders.
2.07. Quorum. Shares entitled to vote as a separate voting group may take action on a matter at a meeting only if a quorum of those shares exists with respect to that matter. Except as otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation or the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter shall constitute a quorum of the voting group for action on that matter. Once a share is represented for any purpose at a meeting, other than for the purpose of objecting to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting, it is considered present for purpose of determining whether a quorum exists for the remainder of the meeting and for any adjournment of that meeting unless a new record date is or must be set for the adjourned meeting. If a quorum exists, except in the case of the election of directors, action on a matter shall be approved if the votes cast within the voting group favoring the action exceed the votes cast opposing the action, unless the articles of incorporation or the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law requires a greater number of affirmative votes. Unless otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation, each director shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the shares entitled to vote in the election of directors at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Though less than a quorum of the outstanding votes of a voting group are represented at a meeting, a majority of the votes so represented may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice. At such
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adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally notified.
2.08. Conduct of Meetings. The Chairman of the Board and in his or her absence any person chosen by the shareholders present, shall call the meeting of the shareholders to order and shall act as Chairman of the meeting, and the Secretary of the Corporation shall act as Secretary of all meetings of the shareholders, but, in the absence of the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any other person to act as Secretary of the meeting.
2.09. Proxies. At all meetings of shareholders, a shareholder entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy appointed in writing by the shareholder or his or her duly authorized attorney in fact. Such proxy shall be filed with the Secretary of the Corporation before or at the time of the meeting. Unless otherwise provided in the proxy, a proxy may be revoked at any time before it is voted, either by written notice filed with the Secretary or the acting secretary of the meeting or by oral notice given by the shareholder to the presiding officer during the meeting. The presence of a shareholder who has filed his or her proxy shall not of itself constitute a revocation. No proxy shall be valid after eleven months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy. The Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to make rules establishing presumptions as to the validity and sufficiency of proxies.
2.10. Voting of Shares. Each outstanding share shall be entitled to one vote upon each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of shareholders, except to the extent that the voting rights of the shares of any class or classes are enlarged, limited or denied by the articles of incorporation.
2.11. Voting of Shares by Certain Holders.
(a) Other Corporations. Shares standing in the name of another corporation may be voted either in person or by proxy, by the president of such corporation or any other officers appointed by such president. A proxy executed by any principal officer of such other corporation or assistant thereto shall be conclusive evidence of the signer's authority to act, in the absence of express notice to this corporation, given in writing to the Secretary of this corporation, at the designation of some other person by the Board of Directors or the by-laws of such other corporation.
(b) Legal Representatives and Fiduciaries. Shares held by an administrator, executor, guardian, conservator, trustee in bankruptcy, receiver, or assignee for creditors may be voted by him, either in person or by proxy, without a transfer of such shares into his name, provided that there is filed with the Secretary before or at the time of meeting proper evidence of his incumbency and the number of shares held. Shares standing in the name of a fiduciary may be voted by him, either in person or by proxy. A proxy executed by a fiduciary, shall be conclusive evidence of the signer's authority to act, in the absence of express notice to this corporation, given in writing to the Secretary of this corporation, that such manner of voting is expressly prohibited or otherwise directed by the document creating the fiduciary relationship.
(c) Pledges. A shareholder whose shares are pledged shall be entitled to vote such shares until the shares have been transferred into the name of the pledgee, and thereafter the pledgee shall be entitled to vote the shares so transferred.
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(d) Treasury Stock and Subsidiaries. Neither treasury shares, nor shares held by another corporation if a majority of the shares entitled to vote for the election of directors of such other corporation is held by the corporation, shall be voted at any meeting or counted in determining the total number of outstanding shares entitled to vote, but shares of its own issue held by this corporation in a fiduciary capacity, or held by such other corporation in a fiduciary capacity, may be voted and shall be entitled to vote.
(e) Minors. Shares held by a minor may be voted by such minor in person or by proxy and no such vote shall be subject to disaffirmance or avoidance, unless prior to such vote the Secretary of the corporation has received written notice or has actual knowledge that such shareholder is a minor.
(f) Incompetents and Spendthrifts. Shares held by a incompetent or spendthrift may be voted by such incompetent or spendthrift in person or by proxy and no such vote shall be subject to disaffirmance or avoidance, unless prior to such vote the Secretary of the Corporation has actual knowledge that such shareholder has been adjudicated an incompetent or spendthrift or actual knowledge of filing of judicial proceedings for appointment of a guardian.
(g) Joint Tenants. Shares registered in the names of two or more individuals who are named in the registration as joint tenants may be voted in person or by proxy signed by any one or more of such individuals if either (i) no other such individual or his legal representative is present and claims the right to participate in the voting of such shares or prior to the vote filed with the Secretary of the corporation a contrary written voting authorization or direction or written denial of authority of the individual present or signing the proxy proposed to be voted or (ii) all such other individuals are deceased and the Secretary of the corporation has no knowledge that the survivor has been adjudicated not to be the successor to the interest of those deceased.
2.12. Waiver of Notice by Shareholders. Whenever any notice whatever is required to be given to any shareholder of the corporation under the articles of incorporation or by-laws or any provision of law, a waiver thereof in writing, signed at any time, whether before or after the time of meeting, by the shareholder entitled to such notice, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice; provided that such waiver in respect to any matter of which notice is required under any provision of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, shall contain the same information as would have been required to be included in such notice, except the time and place of meeting.
2.13. Unanimous Consent without Meeting. Any action required or permitted by the articles of incorporation or by-laws or any provision of law to be taken at a meeting of the shareholders, may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the entitled shareholders to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof.
ARTICLE III. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
3.01. General Powers and Number. The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors. The number of directors of the corporation shall be as provided in Section 0.03.
5

3.02. Tenure and Qualifications. Each director shall hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders, and until his or her successor shall have been elected, or until his or her prior death, resignation or removal. A Director may be removed from office by affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote for the election of such director, taken at a meeting of shareholders called for that purpose. A director may resign at any time by filing his or her written resignation with the Secretary of the corporation, which shall be effective when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a later date. Directors need not be residents of the State of Wisconsin or shareholders of the corporation. No one shall be eligible for election as a director, nor shall any directors be eligible for re-election after attaining the age of seventy-two (72); provided, however, that this restriction shall not apply to any director with an attained age of seventy-two
(72) holding such office at the time of adoption of this by-law, i.e., November 14, 2000 until January 1, 2002.
3.03. Regular Meetings. A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without other notice than this by-law immediately after the annual meeting of shareholders, and each adjourned session thereof. The place of such regular meeting shall be the same as the place of the meeting of shareholders which precedes it, or such other suitable place as may be announced at such meeting of shareholders. The Board of Directors may provide, by resolution, the time and place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, for the holding of additional regular meetings without other notice than such resolution.
3.04. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the Chairman of the Board, the President, the Secretary or any two directors. If such meeting shall be called by two directors, the date of the meeting shall be within ten days of receipt by the Secretary or, in his absence by the Chairman of the Board, the President or any Assistant Secretary, of their request, at a time determined by such officer. The Chairman of the Board, the President or the Secretary calling any special meeting of the Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided by by-law, may fix any place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors called by them, and if no other place is fixed, the place of meeting shall be the principal business office of the Corporation in the State of Wisconsin.
3.05. Notice; Waiver. Notice of such meeting of the Board of Directors (unless otherwise provide in or pursuant to Section 3.03) shall be given by written notice delivered personally or mailed or given by telegram or facsimile to each director at his or her business address or at such other address as such director shall have designated in writing filed with the Secretary, in each case not less than that number of hours prior thereto as set forth in Section 0.04. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid. If notice be given by telegram or facsimile, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when the telegram is delivered to the telegraph company. Whenever any notice whatever is required to be given to any director of the corporation under the articles of incorporation or by-laws or any provision of law, a waiver thereof in writing, signed at any time, whether before or after the time of meeting, by the director entitled to such notice, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. The attendance of a director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of objects thereat to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors need to be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.
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3.06. Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by law or by the articles of incorporation or these by-laws, a majority of the number of directors as provided in Section 0.03 shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors, but a majority of the directors present (though less than such quorum) may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice.
3.07. Manner of Acting. The act of the majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors, unless the act of a greater number is required by law or by the articles of incorporation or these by-laws. Annually, at the meeting of the Board of Directors which follows the annual meeting of the shareholders, the directors shall choose from among them a Chairman of the Board, who shall serve as such until a successor is elected.
3.08. Conduct of Meetings. In the absence of the Chairman of the Board, the President shall call the meeting of the Board of Directors to order, and shall act as Chairman of the meeting, and in their absence any director chosen by the Directors present shall call the meeting of the Board of Directors to order and shall act as Chairman of the meeting. The Secretary of the Corporation shall act as Secretary of all meetings of the Board of Directors but, in the absence of the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any Assistant Secretary or any director or other person present to act as Secretary of the meeting.
3.09. Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, including a vacancy created by an increase in the number of directors, may be filled until the next succeeding annual election by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors; provided, that in case of a vacancy created by the removal of a director by vote of the shareholders, the shareholders shall have the right to fill such vacancy at the same meeting or any adjournment thereof; and provided further, that a vacancy filled by the Board of Directors shall be filled by the vote of the remaining director(s) elected by the class of shareholders which would be entitled to fill that vacancy at a meeting of the shareholders.
3.10. Compensation. The Board of Directors, by affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, and irrespective of any personal interest of any of its members, may establish from time to time a reasonable compensation for directors of the corporation; provided that persons who are directors and also are officers or employees of the corporation eligible shall be ineligible to receive compensation as directors. By affirmative vote of a majority of such directors, and irrespective of any personal interest of any of them, the Board of Directors also may establish, from time to time, a reasonable compensation for each of the officers of the corporation. The Board of Directors, from time to time, may delegate its authority under this by-law to an appropriate committee. The Board of Directors also shall have authority to provide for or to delegate authority to an appropriate committee to provide for reasonable pensions, disability or death benefits, and other benefits or payments to directors, officers and employees, and to their estates, families, dependents or beneficiaries on account of services rendered by such directors, officers and employees of the corporation.
3.11. Presumption of Assent. A director of the corporation who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee thereof of which he or she is a member at which action on any corporate matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless his or her dissent shall be entered in the minutes of the meeting or unless he or she shall file his or her written dissent to such action with the person acting as the Secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof or shall forward such dissent by registered mail to the Secretary of the corporation immediately after the
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adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to a director who voted in favor of such action.
3.12. Committees. The Board of Directors by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of them then in office may designate one or more committees from time to time. Each such committee shall consist of at least three directors and shall have those of the powers of the Board of Directors as shall be granted to such committee. Each such committee may exercise its power at times when the Board of Directors is not in session, subject to the by-laws of the corporation. No such committee ever shall have the power or authority, however, to do any of the following: adopt, amend, or repeal by-laws; authorize dividends or other distributions; approve or propose action required by law to be approved by shareholders; fill vacancies on the Board of Directors or any committee of the Board of Directors; amend the articles of incorporation; adopt, amend or repeal by-laws, approve a plan of merger not requiring shareholder approval; authorizing or approve reacquisition of shares of stock; or authorize or approve the issuance or sale or contract for sale of shares of stock. The Board of Directors also at any time may elect one or more of its members as alternate members of any such committee. Any such alternate, upon request by the Chairman of the board, or in his or her absence the President, or in his or her absence the Chairman of such committee, may take the place of any absent member or members of the committee at any of its meetings. Except as provided by by-laws or by resolution of the Board of Directors, each such committee shall fix its own rules governing the conduct of its activities as the Board of Directors may request.
3.13. Unanimous Consent Without Meeting. Any action required or permitted by the articles of incorporation or by-laws or any provision of law to be taken by the Board of Directors at a meeting or by resolution may be taken without a meeting, if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the directors then in office.
3.14. Telephonic Meetings. Except as provided by this by-law, any action required or permitted by the articles of incorporation or by-laws or any provision of law to be taken by the Board of Directors at a meeting or by resolution may be taken by a quorum of the Board of Directors at a telephonic meeting or other meeting utilizing electronic communication, if all participating directors: are informed that a meeting is taking place at which official business may be transacted; simultaneously may hear each other during the meeting; immediately is able to send messages to all other participating directors; and if all communication during the meeting immediately is transmitted to each participating director. No meeting of the Board of Directors held pursuant to this by-law may vote upon a plan of merger or shares exchange; or to sell, lease, exchange or otherwise dispose of substantial property or assets of the corporation; to dissolve voluntarily or to revoke voluntary dissolution proceedings; or to file for bankruptcy.
ARTICLE IV. OFFICERS
4.01. Number. The principal officers of the corporation shall be a President, the number of Vice-Presidents as provided in Section 0.05, a Secretary and a Treasurer, each of whom shall be elected by the Board of Directors. Such other officers and assistant officers as may be deemed necessary may be elected or appointed by the Board of Directors. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person, except the offices of President and Secretary and the offices of President and Vice-President.
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4.02. Election and Term of Office. The officers of the corporation to be elected by the Board of Directors shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors at the first meeting of the Board of Directors held after each annual meeting of the Shareholders. If the election of officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as conveniently may be. Each officer shall hold office until his successor shall have been duly elected or until his prior death, resignation or removal.
4.03. Resignation; Removal. Any officer may resign at any time by delivering written notice to an officer of the corporation. A resignation shall be effective when delivered unless the notice specifies a later date which is accepted by the corporation. Any officer or agent may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the best interest of the corporation will be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Election or appointment shall not of itself create contract rights.
4.04. Vacancies. A vacancy in any principal office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or otherwise, shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.
4.05. This Section 4.05 is intentionally left vacant.
4.06. President and Chief Executive Officer. The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the corporation. Subject to the control of the Board of Directors, he shall be responsible for the control and general management of all of the business and affairs of the corporation. In the absence of the Chairman of the Board he may preside at all meetings of the shareholders and of the Board of Directors. He shall see that all resolutions and orders of the Board of Directors and its committees are carried into effect. He shall have authority to sign, execute and acknowledge, on behalf of the corporation, all deeds, mortgages, bonds, stock certificates, contracts, leases, reports and all other documents or instruments necessary or proper to be executed in the course of the ordinary business of the corporation, or which shall be authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors. Except as otherwise provided by law or the Board of Directors, he also may authorize any Vice-President or other officer or agent of the corporation to sign, execute and acknowledge such documents or instruments in his place and stead. In general he shall have the powers of supervision of the business of the corporation. He shall have authority, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, to appoint such agents and employees of the corporation as he shall deem necessary, to prescribe their powers, duties and compensation, and to delegate authority to them. Such agents and employees shall hold office at the discretion of the President.
4.07. The Vice-Presidents. In the absence of the President or in the event of his death, inability or refusal to act, or in the event for any reason it shall be impracticable for the President to act personally, the Vice-President (or in the event there be more than one Vice-President, the Vice-Presidents in the order designated by the Board of Directors, or in the absence of any designation, then in the order of their election) shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. The Board of Directors may designate a Vice-President as the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation, in which event he or she shall have responsibility for all financial matters which affects the Corporation other than those expressly provided for the Treasurer. Any Vice President may sign, with the Secretary or Assistant Secretary, certificates for shares of the corporation; and shall perform such other duties and have such authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him by the President or by the Board of Directors. The execution of any
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instrument of the corporation by any Vice-President shall be conclusive evidence, as to third parties, of his authority to act in the stead of the President.
4.08. The Secretary. The Secretary shall: (a) keep the minutes of the meetings of the shareholders and of the Board of Directors in one or more books provided for that purpose; (b) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these by-laws or as required by law; (c) be custodian of the corporate records and of the seal of the corporation and see that the seal of the corporation is affixed to all documents the execution of which on behalf of the corporation under its seal is duly authorized; (d) keep or arrange for the keeping of a register of the post office addresses of each shareholder which shall be furnished to the Secretary by such shareholder; (e) sign with the President, or a Vice-President, certificates for shares of the corporation, the issuance of which shall have been authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; (f) have general charge of the stock transfer books of the corporation; and (g) in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and have such other duties and exercise such authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him/her by the President or by the Board of Directors.
4.09. The Treasurer. The Treasurer shall: (a) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the corporation; (b) receive and give receipts for money due and payables to the corporation from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such moneys in the name of the corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.04; and (c) in general perform all of the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and have such other duties and exercise such other authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him by the President or by the Board of Directors. If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give a bond for the faithful discharge of his duties in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine.
4.10. Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers. There shall be such number of Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers as the Board of Directors may from time to time authorize. The Assistant Secretaries may sign with the President or a Vice-President certificates for shares of the corporation the issuance of which shall have been authorized by a resolution of the Board of Directors. The Assistant Treasurers shall respectively, if required by the Board of Directors, give bonds for the faithful discharge of their duties in such sums and with such sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers, in general, shall perform such duties and have such authority as shall from time to time be delegated or assigned to them by the Secretary or the Treasurer, respectively, or by the President or the Board of Directors.
4.11. Other Assistants and Acting Officers. The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint any person to act as Assistant to any officer, or as agent for the corporation in his stead, or to perform the duties of such officer whenever for any reason it is impracticable for such officer to act personally, and such assistant or acting officer or other agent so appointed by the Board of Directors shall have the power to perform all the duties of the office to which he is so appointed to be assistant, or as to which he is so appointed to act, except as such power may be otherwise defined or restricted by the Board of Directors.
4.12. Salaries. The salaries of the principal officers shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors or by a duly authorized committee thereof, and no officer shall be prevented from receiving such salary by reason of the fact that he is also a director of the corporation.
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ARTICLE V. CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS
AND DEPOSITS; SPECIAL CORPORATE ACTS
5.01. Contracts. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute or deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the corporation and such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances. In the absence of other designation, all deeds, mortgages and instruments of assignment or pledge made by the corporation shall be executed in the name of the corporation by the President, or, in his absence by one of the Vice Presidents and by the Secretary, an Assistant Secretary, the Treasurer, an Assistant Treasurer, or Controller. When necessary or required by law, the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary shall affix the corporate seal to all such instruments. When an instrument has been executed in the manner provided by this Section, no party or third person shall be required to inquire into the authority of the officers signing for the corporation so to act.
5.02. Loans. No indebtedness for borrowed money shall be contracted on behalf of the corporation and no evidences of such indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors. Such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances.
5.03. Checks, Drafts, etc. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the corporation, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, of the corporation and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors.
5.04. Deposits. All funds of the corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositaries as may be selected by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors.
5.05. Voting of Securities Owned by this Corporation. Subject always to the specific directions of the Board of Directors, (a) any shares or other securities issued by any other corporation and owned or controlled by this corporation may be voted at any meeting of security holders of such other corporation by the President and, in his absence, by any Vice-President then present, and (b) whenever in the judgment of the President and, in his absence, by any Vice-President, it is desirable for this corporation to execute a proxy or written consent in respect to any share or other securities issued by any other corporation and owned by this corporation, such proxy or consent shall be executed in the name of this corporation by the President or, in his absence, by any Vice President, without necessity of any authorization by the Board of Directors, affixation of corporate seal, or counter-signature or attestation by another officer. Any person or persons designated in the manner provided by this
Section as the proxy or proxies of this corporation shall have full right, power and authority to vote the shares or other securities issued by such other corporation and owned by this corporation the same as such shares or other securities might be voted by this corporation.
11

ARTICLE VI. CERTIFICATES FOR SHARES AND THEIR TRANSFER
6.01. Certificates for Shares. Certificates representing shares of the corporation shall be in such form, consistent with law, as shall be determined by the Board of Directors. All certificates shall be signed by the President or a Vice-President and by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary. All certificates shall be numbered consecutively or otherwise identified. The name and address of each person to whom a certificate is issued, together with the number of shares represented by the certificate and the date of its issue, shall be entered on the stock transfer books of the corporation. All certificates surrendered to the corporation shall be canceled. No new certificate for previously issued shares shall be issued until the outstanding certificate(s) for the same share shall have been surrendered and canceled, except as provided by Section 6.06.
6.02. Facsimile Signatures and Seal. The seal of the corporation on any certificate for shares may be a facsimile. The signatures of the President or Vice-President and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary upon a certificate may be facsimiles if the certificate is manually signed on behalf of a transfer agent, or a registrar, other than the corporation itself or an employee of the corporation.
6.03. Signature by Former Officers. In case any officer, who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon any certificate for shares, shall have ceased to be such officer before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the same effect as if he were such officer at the date of its issue.
6.04. Transfer of Shares. Prior to due presentment of a certificate for shares for registration of transfer the corporation may treat the registered owner of such shares as the person exclusively entitled to vote, to receive notifications and otherwise to have and exercise all the rights and power of an owner. Where a certificate for shares is presented to the corporation with a request to register for transfer, the corporation shall not be liable to the owner or any other person suffering loss as a result of such registration of transfer if (a) there were on or with the certificate the necessary endorsements and (b) the corporation had no duty to inquire into adverse claims or has discharged any such duty. The corporation may require reasonable assurance that said endorsements are genuine and effective and compliance with such other regulations as may be prescribed by or under the authority of the Board of Directors.
6.05. Restrictions on Transfer. The face or reverse side of each certificate representing shares shall bear a conspicuous notation of any restriction imposed by the corporation upon the transfer of such shares.
6.06. Lost, Destroyed or Stolen Certificates. Where the owner claims that his certificate for been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken, a new certificate shall be issued in place thereof if the owner (a) so requests before the corporation has notice that such shares have been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, and (b) files with the corporation a sufficient indemnity bond, and
(c) satisfied such other reasonable requirements as may be prescribed by or under the authority of the Board of Directors.
6.07. Consideration for Shares. The shares of the corporation may be issued for such consideration as shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors, provided that any shares having a par value shall not be issued for a consideration less than the par value thereof. The consideration to be paid for shares may be paid in whole or in part, in money, on other property, tangible or intangible, or in labor or services actually performed for the corporation. When payment of the
12

consideration for which shares are to be issued shall have been received by the corporation, such shares shall be deemed to be fully paid and nonassessable by the corporation. No certificate shall be issued for any share until such share is fully paid.
6.08. Stock Regulations. The Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to make all such further rules and regulations not inconsistent with the statutes of the State of Wisconsin as it may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer and registration of certificates representing shares of the corporation.
ARTICLE VII. INDEMNIFICATION
7.01. Indemnification. Indemnification by the corporation shall be provided pursuant to Wisconsin Statute Section 180.0859 et. seq. Such indemnification shall be provided to directors, officers, employees, and agents of the corporation. Directors and officers eligible for indemnification shall include:
(a) A natural person who is or was a director or officer of the corporation.
(b) A natural person who, while a director or officer of the corporation, is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, partner, trustee, member of any governing or decision making committee, employee or agent of another corporation or foreign corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.
(c) A natural person who, while a director or officer of the corporation, is or was serving an employee benefit plan because his or her duties to the corporation also imposed duties on, or otherwise involved services by, the person to the plan or to participants in or beneficiaries of the plan.
(d) And, unless the context requires otherwise, the estate or personal representative of a director or officer.
The corporation shall indemnify a director, officer, employee or agent to the extent he or she has been successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of a proceeding for all reasonable expenses incurred in the proceeding if the director, officer, employee, or agent was a party because he or she is a member or officer of the corporation.
In cases not included under the above paragraph, the corporation shall indemnify a director, officer, employee or agent against liability incurred by that person in a proceeding to which that person was a party because he or she is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the corporation, unless liability was incurred because that person breached or failed to perform a duty he or she owed to the corporation and the breach or failure to perform constitutes any of the following:
(a) A willful failure to deal fairly with the corporation or its shareholders in connection with a matter in which the person has a material conflict of interest.
(b) A violation of criminal law unless the person had a reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.
13

(c) A transaction from which the person derived an improper personal profit.
(d) Willful misconduct.
For purposes of this Article "expenses" shall be defined to include fees, costs, charges, disbursements, attorneys fees and other expenses incurred in connection with the proceeding. "Liability" includes an obligation to pay a judgment, settlement, penalty, assessment, forfeiture or fine, including an excess tax assessment with respect to an employee benefit plan, and reasonable expenses. "Party" includes a natural person who was, or is threatened to be made, a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding. "Proceeding" means any threatened, pending or completed civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit, arbitration or other proceeding, whether formal or informal, which involves foreign, federal, state or local law and which is brought by or in the right of the corporation or by any other person.
The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement or conviction, or upon a plea of no contest or an equivalent plea, does not, by itself, create a presumption that indemnification of the director or officer is not required.
The director, officer, employee, or agent seeking indemnification shall select one of the following means for determining his or her right to indemnification:
(a) By a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors consisting of directors not at the time parties to the same or related proceedings. If a quorum of disinterested directors cannot be obtained, by majority vote of a committee duly appointed by the Board of Directors and consisting solely of two or more directors not at the same time parties to the same or related proceedings. Directors who are parties to the same or related proceedings may participate in the designation of members of the committee.
(b) By independent legal counsel selected by a quorum of the Board of Directors or its committee in the manners prescribed in paragraph (a) above or, if unable to obtain such quorum or committee, by a majority vote of the full Board of Directors, including directors who are parties to the same or related proceedings.
(c) By a panel of three arbitrators consisting of one arbitrator selected by those directors entitled under paragraph (b) to select independent legal counsel, one arbitrator selected by the director or officer seeking indemnification and one arbitrator selected by the two arbitrators previously selected.
(d) By an affirmative vote of shares as provided in Wisconsin Statutes Section 180.0725 through 180.0727. Shares owned by, or voted under the control of, persons who are at the time parties to the same or related proceedings, whether as plaintiffs or defendants or in any other capacity, may not be voted in making the determination.
(e) By a Court under Wisconsin Statutes Section 180.0854.
(f) By any other method provided for and any additional right to indemnification permitted under Wisconsin Statutes Section 180.0858.
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Upon written request by a person who is a party to a proceeding, a corporation may pay or reimburse his or her reasonable expenses as incurred, if the person provides the corporation with a written affirmation of his or her good faith belief that he or she has not reached or failed to perform his or her duties to the corporation. A bond or undertaking need not be required prior to the advancement of such expenses.
Indemnification additional to that set forth in this Article may be provided by resolution of the Board of Directors except as restricted by law.
7.02 Insurance. The corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify him against such liability under the provisions of this By-law.
ARTICLE VIII. AMENDMENTS
8.01. By Shareholders. These by-laws may be altered, amended or repealed and new by-laws may be adopted by the shareholders by affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the shares present or represented at any annual or special meeting of the shareholders at which a quorum is in attendance.
8.02. By Directors. These by-laws may also be altered, amended or repealed and new by-laws may be adopted by the Board of Directors by affirmative vote of a majority of the number of directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is in attendance; but no by-law adopted by the shareholders shall be amended or repealed by the Board of Directors if the by-law so adopted so provides.
8.03. Implied Amendments. Any action taken or authorized by the shareholders or by the Board of Directors, which would be inconsistent with the by-laws then in effect but is taken or authorized by affirmative vote of not less than the number of shares or the number of directors required to amend the by-laws so that the by-laws would be consistent with such action, shall be given the same effect as though the by-laws had been temporarily amended or suspended so far, but only so far, as is necessary to permit the specific action so taken or authorized.
15

$230,000,000
AMENDED AND RESTATED
CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of September 28, 2000
among
OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION,
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
as Agent
and
as Swing Line Lender,
and
THE OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS PARTY HERETO
BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC,
as Lead Arranger and Book Manager


                                Table Of Contents
                                -----------------
                                                                            Page
                                                                            ----

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS..........................................................1
   1.01     Certain Defined Terms..............................................1
   1.02     Other Interpretive Provisions.....................................29
   1.03     Accounting Principles.............................................30
   1.04     Currency Equivalents Generally....................................30
ARTICLE II THE CREDITS........................................................30
   2.01     Amounts and Terms of Commitments..................................30
   2.02     Loan Accounts.....................................................31
   2.03     Procedure for Borrowing...........................................31
   2.04     Conversion and Continuation Elections.............................32
   2.05     The Swing Line Loans..............................................34
   2.06     Procedure for Swing Line Loans....................................34
   2.07     The Fronted Offshore Currency Loans...............................36
   2.08     Utilization of Commitments in Offshore Currencies.................39
   2.09     Voluntary Termination, Reduction or Increase of
               Revolving Loan Commitments.....................................40
   2.10     Optional Prepayments..............................................42
   2.11     Mandatory Prepayments of Loans.....................................
   2.12     Repayment.........................................................43
   2.13     Interest..........................................................44
   2.14     Fees..............................................................45
   2.15     Computation of Fees and Interest..................................45
   2.16     Payments by the Borrowers.........................................46
   2.17     Payments by the Lenders to the Agent..............................46
   2.18     Sharing of Payments, Etc..........................................47
   2.19     Security and Subsidiary Guaranty..................................47
   2.20     Subsidiary Borrowers..............................................47
ARTICLE III THE LETTERS OF CREDIT.............................................48
   3.01     The Letter of Credit Subfacility..................................48
   3.02     Issuance, Amendment and Renewal of Letters of Credit..............49
   3.03     Risk Participations, Drawings and Reimbursements..................51
   3.04     Repayment of Participations.......................................52
   3.05     Role of the Issuer................................................53
   3.06     Obligations Absolute..............................................54
   3.07     Cash Collateral Pledge............................................54
   3.08     Letter of Credit Fees.............................................55
   3.09     Applicability of ISP98 and UCP....................................55
   3.10     Utilization of Offshore Currencies................................56
ARTICLE IV TAXES, YIELD PROTECTION AND ILLEGALITY.............................56
   4.01     Taxes..............................................................
   4.02     Illegality........................................................57
   4.03     Increased Costs and Reduction of Return...........................58
   4.04     Funding Losses.....................................................
   4.05     Inability to Determine Rates......................................59
   4.06     Certificates of Lenders...........................................59


                                       i


                               Table Of Contents
                               -----------------
                                  (continued)
                                                                            Page
                                                                            ----

   4.07     Substitution of Banks.............................................59
   4.08     Survival..........................................................59
ARTICLE V CONDITIONS PRECEDENT................................................60
   5.01     Conditions to Effectiveness of Restatement........................60
   5.02     Conditions to All Credit Extensions...............................63
ARTICLE VI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.....................................63
   6.01     Corporate Existence and Power.....................................63
   6.02     Corporate Authorization; No Contravention.........................64
   6.03     Governmental Authorization........................................64
   6.04     Binding Effect....................................................64
   6.05     Litigation........................................................64
   6.06     No Default........................................................65
   6.07     ERISA Compliance..................................................65
   6.08     Use of Proceeds; Margin Regulations...............................66
   6.09     Title to Properties...............................................66
   6.10     Taxes.............................................................66
   6.11     Financial Condition...............................................66
   6.12     Environmental Matters.............................................66
   6.13     Collateral Documents..............................................67
   6.14     Regulated Entities................................................68
   6.15     No Burdensome Restrictions........................................68
   6.16     Copyrights, Patents, Trademarks and Licenses, etc.................68
   6.17     Capitalization; Subsidiaries......................................68
   6.18     Insurance.........................................................68
   6.19     Swap Obligations.   ..............................................69
   6.20     Solvency..........................................................69
   6.21     Subordination Provisions..........................................69
   6.22     Subsidiary Borrower Supplements...................................69
   6.23     Letter Agreements.................................................69
   6.24     Full Disclosure...................................................69
ARTICLE VII AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS.............................................69
   7.01     Financial Statements..............................................69
   7.02     Certificates; Other Information...................................70
   7.03     Notices...........................................................70
   7.04     Preservation of Corporate Existence, Etc..........................72
   7.05     Maintenance of Property...........................................72
   7.06     Insurance.........................................................72
   7.07     Payment of Obligations............................................73
   7.08     Compliance with Laws..............................................73
   7.09     Compliance with ERISA.............................................73
   7.10     Inspection of Property and Books and Records......................73
   7.11     Environmental Laws................................................74
   7.12     Use of Proceeds...................................................74


                                       ii


                               Table Of Contents
                               -----------------
                                  (continued)
                                                                            Page
                                                                            ----
   7.13     Further Assurances................................................74
   7.14     Additional Guaranties and Personal Property Pledge................75
   7.15     Additional Real Property..........................................75
   7.16     Additional Pledge.................................................75
ARTICLE VIII NEGATIVE COVENANTS...............................................76
   8.01     Limitation on Liens...............................................76
   8.02     Disposition of Assets.............................................78
   8.03     Consolidations and Mergers........................................79
   8.04     Loans and Investments.............................................80
   8.05     Limitation on Indebtedness........................................81
   8.06     Transactions with Affiliates......................................82
   8.07     Use of Proceeds...................................................83
   8.08     Contingent Obligations............................................83
   8.09     Joint Ventures....................................................84
   8.10     Lease Obligations.................................................84
   8.11     Restricted Payments...............................................84
   8.12     ERISA.............................................................85
   8.13     Change in Business................................................85
   8.14     Accounting Changes................................................85
   8.15     Amendments to Charter and Agreements; Subordinated Indebtedness...85
   8.16     Net Worth.........................................................86
   8.17     Leverage Ratio....................................................86
   8.18     Minimum EBITDA....................................................86
   8.19     Restrictive Agreements............................................86
ARTICLE IX EVENTS OF DEFAULT..................................................87
   9.01     Event of Default..................................................87
   9.02     Remedies..........................................................90
   9.03     Rights Not Exclusive..............................................90
ARTICLE X THE AGENT...........................................................90
   10.01    Appointment and Authorization; "Agent"............................90
   10.02    Delegation of Duties..............................................91
   10.03    Liability of Agent................................................91
   10.04    Reliance by Agent.................................................91
   10.05    Notice of Default.................................................92
   10.06    Credit Decision...................................................92
   10.07    Indemnification of Agent..........................................92
   10.08    Agent in Individual Capacity......................................93
   10.09    Successor Agent...................................................93
   10.10    Withholding Tax...................................................94
   10.11    Collateral Matters................................................95
ARTICLE XI MISCELLANEOUS......................................................96
   11.01    Amendments and Waivers............................................96
   11.02    Notices...........................................................97


                                       iii


                               Table Of Contents
                               -----------------
                                  (continued)
                                                                            Page
                                                                            ----
   11.03    No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies....................................98
   11.04    Costs and Expenses................................................98
   11.05    Company Indemnification...........................................99
   11.06    Marshalling; Payments Set Aside..................................100
   11.07    Successors and Assigns...........................................100
   11.08    Assignments, Participations, etc.................................100
   11.09    Confidentiality..................................................103
   11.10    Set-off..........................................................103
   11.11    Automatic Debits of Fees.........................................103
   11.12    Notification of Addresses, Lending Offices, Etc..................103
   11.13    Counterparts.....................................................104
   11.14    Severability.....................................................104
   11.15    No Third Parties Benefited.......................................104
   11.16    Governing Law and Jurisdiction...................................104
   11.17    WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.............................................104
   11.18    Judgment.........................................................105
   11.19    Entire Agreement.................................................105
   11.20    Restatement Date.................................................105
   11.21    Return of Notes..................................................106
   11.22    Departing Lenders................................................106
   11.23    Collateral Documents.............................................106
ARTICLE XII COMPANY GUARANTY.................................................106
   12.01    The Guaranty.....................................................106
   12.02    Insolvency.......................................................107
   12.03    Nature of Liability..............................................107
   12.04    Independent Obligation...........................................107
   12.05    Authorization....................................................107
   12.06    Reliance.........................................................108
   12.07    Subordination....................................................108
   12.08    Waiver...........................................................109
   12.09    Nature of Liability..............................................109



                                       iv


    SCHEDULES

    Schedule 1.01       Existing Letters of Credit
    Schedule 2.01       Commitments and Pro Rata Shares
    Schedule 6.07       ERISA
    Schedule 6.16       Litigation
    Schedule 6.11       Pro Forma
    Schedule 6.12       Environmental Matters
    Schedule 6.17       Capitalization; Subsidiaries and Minority Interests
    Schedule 6.18       Insurance Matters
    Schedule 7.04       Excluded Subsidiaries
    Schedule 8.01       Permitted Liens
    Schedule 8.02       Asset Dispositions
    Schedule 8.04(d)    Pending Acquisitions
    Schedule 8.04(m)    Investments
    Schedule 8.05       Permitted Indebtedness
    Schedule 8.08       Contingent Obligations
    Schedule 11.02      Lending Offices; Addresses for Notices


    EXHIBITS

    Exhibit A   Form of Notice of Borrowing
    Exhibit B   Form of Notice of Conversion/Continuation
    Exhibit C   Form of Compliance Certificate
    Exhibit D   Form of Assignment and Acceptance
    Exhibit E   Form of Revolving Loan Note
    Exhibit F   Form of Term Loan Note
    Exhibit G   Form of Swing Line Note
    Exhibit H   Form of Subsidiary Borrower Supplement
    Exhibit I   Form of Offshore Currency Addendum

v

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CREDIT AGREEMENT
This AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT is entered into as of September 28, 2000, among Oshkosh Truck Corporation, a Wisconsin corporation (the "Company"), the several financial institutions from time to time party to this Agreement (collectively, the "Lenders"; individually, a "Lender"), and Bank of America, N.A. (f/k/a Bank of America National Trust and Savings Association), as Swing Line Lender and as agent for the Lenders.
WHEREAS, the Company, the lenders party thereto and the Agent entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated as of February 26, 1998 and amended as of December 21, 1999 (the "Prior Credit Agreement"), pursuant to which such lenders made certain term loans to the Company and made a revolving credit facility available to the Company;
WHEREAS, the Company, the Lenders and the Agent wish to refinance the existing term loans, to refinance and increase the existing revolving credit facility and letter of credit and swing line subfacilities and to add a fronted offshore currency subfacility and, concurrently, to amend and restate the Prior Credit Agreement in its entirety; and
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements, provisions and covenants contained herein, the parties agree, subject to the fulfillment of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 5.01, that the Prior Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
1.01 Certain Defined Terms. The following terms have the following meanings:
"Acquisition" means any transaction or series of related transactions for the purpose of or resulting, directly or indirectly, in (a) the acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of a Person, or of any business or division of a Person, (b) the acquisition of in excess of 50% of the capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests or equity of any Person, or otherwise causing any Person to become a Subsidiary, or (c) a merger or consolidation or any other combination with another Person (other than a Person that is a Subsidiary) provided that the Company or the Subsidiary is the surviving entity.
"Affiliate" means, as to any Person, any other Person which, directly or indirectly, is in control of, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. A Person shall be deemed to control another Person if the controlling Person possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause the direction of the

management and policies of the other Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, membership interests, by contract, or otherwise.
"Agent" means BofA in its capacity as agent for the Lenders hereunder, and any successor agent arising under Section 10.09.
"Agent-Related Persons" means BofA and any successor agent arising under Section 10.09 and any successor letter of credit issuing bank hereunder, together with their respective Affiliates (including, in the case of BofA, the Arranger), and the officers, directors, employees, agents and attorneys-in-fact of such Persons and Affiliates.
"Agent's Payment Office" means the address for payments set forth on Schedule 11.02 or such other address as the Agent may from time to time specify.
"Aggregate Commitment" means the sum of (a) the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment and (b) the Aggregate Term Loan Commitment.
"Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment" means the aggregate Revolving Loan Commitments of the Lenders.
"Aggregate Term Loan Commitment" means the aggregate Term Loan Commitments of the Lenders, equal to Sixty Million Dollars ($60,000,000).
"Agreement" means this Credit Agreement.
"Agreement Currency" has the meaning specified in subsection 11.18.
"Alternate Currency" shall mean any Offshore Currency (and any other currency which is at the relevant time freely traded in the offshore interbank foreign exchange markets and is freely transferable and freely convertible into Dollars) which, as applicable, (a) the applicable Borrower requests the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender to include as an Alternate Currency hereunder and which is acceptable to the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender and with respect to which an Offshore Currency Addendum has been executed by a Subsidiary Borrower or the Company and the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender in connection therewith or (b) a Borrower requests as the currency in which a Letter of Credit is to be denominated and which is acceptable to the Issuer thereof.
"Applicable Base Rate Margin" means, subject to the last sentence of this definition, for any period, the applicable of the following percentages in effect with respect to such period as the Leverage Ratio of the Company shall fall within the indicated ranges:
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                                  Applicable Base
                                  Rate Margin
Leverage Ratio                    (in basis points)
--------------                    ----------------
Less        Greater Than
Than        or Equal to
----        -----------
2.0:1.0     _ _:_                          0
2.5:1.0     2.0:1.0                     12.5
3.0:1.0     2.5:1.0                     37.5
3.5:1.0     3.0:1.0                     62.5
4.0:1.0     3.5:1.0                     87.5

---- 4.0:0.1 125.0
The Leverage Ratio shall be calculated by the Company as of the end of each fiscal quarter, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2000, and shall be reported to the Agent pursuant to a Compliance Certificate executed by a Responsible Officer of the Company and delivered pursuant to subsection 7.02(b) hereof. The Applicable Base Rate Margin shall be adjusted, if necessary, on the third Business Day after the delivery of such certificate; provided, that no such adjustment shall take place until the date 90 days after the Restatement Date; and further provided that if such certificate, together with the financial statements to which such certificate relates, is not delivered to the Agent by the fifth Business Day after the date on which the related financial statements are due to be delivered to the Agent pursuant to subsection 7.01(a) or (b), then, from such fifth Business Day until the third Business Day after delivery of such certificate, the Applicable Base Rate Margin shall be equal to 125 basis points. From the Restatement Date until adjusted as described above, the Applicable Base Rate Margin shall be equal to 0 basis points.
"Applicable Commitment Fee Percentage" means, subject to the last sentence of this definition, for any period, the applicable of the following percentages in effect with respect to such period as the Leverage Ratio of the Company shall fall within the indicated ranges:

                                Applicable Commitment
                                   Fee Percentage
Leverage Ratio                    (in basis points)
Less           Greater Than
Than           or Equal to

 1.5:1.0          ----                 20.0
 2.0:1.0        1.5:1.0                25.0
 2.5:1.0        2.0:1.0                30.0
 3.0:1.0        2.5:1.0                35.0
 3.5:1.0        3.0:1.0                40.0
 4.0:1.0        3.5:1.0                45.0
   ----         4.0:1.0                50.0
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The Leverage Ratio shall be calculated by the Company as of the end of each fiscal quarter, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2000, and shall be reported to the Agent pursuant to a Compliance Certificate executed by a Responsible Officer of the Company and delivered pursuant to subsection 7.02(b) hereof. The Applicable Commitment Fee Percentage shall be adjusted, if necessary, on the third Business Day after the delivery of such certificate; provided, that no such downward adjustment shall take place until the date 90 days after the Restatement Date; and further provided that if such certificate, together with the financial statements to which such certificate relates, is not delivered to the Agent by the fifth Business Day after the date on which the related financial statements are due to be delivered to the Agent pursuant to subsection 7.01(a) or (b), then, from such fifth Business Day until the third Business Day after delivery of such certificate, the Applicable Commitment Fee Percentage shall be equal to 50 basis points. From the Restatement Date until adjusted as described above, the Applicable Commitment Fee Percentage shall be equal to 25 basis points.
"Applicable Currency" means, as to any particular Letter of Credit or Loan, Dollars or the Offshore Currency or Alternate Currency in which it is denominated or payable.
"Applicable Offshore Rate Margin" means, subject to the last sentence of this definition, for any period, the applicable of the following percentages in effect with respect to such period as the Leverage Ratio of the Company shall fall within the indicated ranges:

                                   Applicable Offshore
                                     Rate Margin
  Leverage Ratio                   (in basis points)
  ---------------                 ---------------------
Less        Greater Than
Than        or Equal to
----        -----------
1.5:1.0       ----                     100.0
2.0:1.0     1.5:1.0                    112.5
2.5:1.0     2.0:1.0                    137.5
3.0:1.0     2.5:1.0                    162.5
3.5:1.0     3.0:1.0                    187.5
4.0:1.0     3.5:1.0                    212.5

---- 4.0:0.1 250.0
The Leverage Ratio shall be calculated by the Company as of the end of each fiscal quarter, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2000, and shall be reported to the Agent pursuant to a Compliance Certificate executed by a Responsible Officer of the Company and delivered pursuant to subsection 7.02(b) hereof. The Applicable Offshore Rate Margin shall be adjusted, if necessary, on the third Business Day after the delivery of such certificate, with such adjustment to apply to all Interest Periods then outstanding and beginning thereafter until the next adjustment date; provided, that no such downward adjustment shall take place until the date 90 days after
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the Restatement Date; and further provided that if such certificate, together with the financial statements to which such certificate relates, is not delivered to the Agent by the fifth Business Day after the date on which the related financial statements are due to be delivered to the Agent pursuant to subsection 7.01(a) or (b), then, from such fifth Business Day until the third Business Day after delivery of such certificate, the Applicable Offshore Rate Margin shall be equal to 250 basis points. From the Restatement Date until adjusted as described above, the Applicable Offshore Rate Margin shall be equal to 112.5 basis points.
"Approved Fund" means, with respect to any Lender that is a fund that invests in bank loans, any other fund that invests in bank loans and is advised or managed by the same investment advisor as such Lender or by an Affiliate of such investment advisor.
"Arranger" means Banc of America Securities LLC, a Delaware corporation.
"Asset Disposition" has the meaning specified in Section 8.02.
"Assignee" has the meaning specified in subsection 11.08(a).
"Attorney Costs" means and includes all reasonable fees and disbursements of any law firm or other external counsel, the allocated cost of internal legal services and all disbursements of internal counsel.
"Bankruptcy Code" means the Federal Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978 (11 U.S.C.ss.101, et seq.).
"Base Rate" means for any day a fluctuating rate per annum equal to, in the case of Loans in Dollars, the higher of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus 1/2 of 1%; or (b) the rate of interest in effect for such day as publicly announced from time to time by BofA as its "prime rate" and, in the case of Loans in any Alternate Currency, the comparable rate for such Alternate Currency, as reasonably determined by the Agent or Offshore Currency Funding Lender, as applicable. Such "prime rate" is a rate set by BofA based upon various factors including BofA's costs and desired return, general economic conditions and other factors, and is used as a reference point for pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such announced rate. Any change in such rate announced by BofA shall take effect at the opening of business on the day specified in the public announcement of such change.
"Base Rate Loan" means a Loan or an L/C Advance that bears interest based on the Base Rate and is denominated in Dollars.
"basis point" means one one-hundredth of one percent.
"BofA" means Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association.
"Borrower" means either the Company or any Subsidiary Borrower.
5

"Borrowing" means a borrowing hereunder consisting of Revolving Loans or Term Loans of the same Type made to the Company on the same day by the Lenders or a borrowing consisting of Revolving Loans of the same type made to a Subsidiary Borrower under Article II, and, in the case of Offshore Rate Loans, having the same Interest Period and denominated in the same Offshore Currency. The making of either a Swing Line Loan or a Fronted Offshore Currency Loan shall not constitute a Borrowing.
"Borrowing Date" means any date on which a Borrowing occurs under Section 2.03.
"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks are authorized or required by law to close or are in fact closed, in the state where the Agent's Payment Office is located and, if the applicable Business Day relates to any Offshore Rate Loan denominated in Dollars, means such a day on which dealings are carried on in the applicable offshore dollar interbank market and, if the applicable Business Day relates to any Offshore Rate Loan denominated in any Offshore Currency, a day on which commercial banks are open for foreign exchange business in London, England, and on which dealings in the relevant Offshore Currency are carried on in the applicable offshore foreign exchange interbank market in which disbursements of or payments in such Offshore Currency will be made or received hereunder.
"Capital Adequacy Regulation" means any guideline, request or directive of any central bank or other Governmental Authority, or any other law, rule or regulation, whether or not having the force of law, in each case, regarding capital adequacy of any bank or of any corporation controlling a bank.
"Capital Stock" means (a) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock, (b) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock, (c) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership or membership interests (whether general or limited) and (d) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person.
"Cash Collateralize" means to pledge and deposit with or deliver to the Agent, for the benefit of the Agent, the Issuers and the Lenders, as additional collateral for the L/C Obligations, cash or deposit account balances pursuant to documentation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent and the Issuers (which documents are hereby consented to by the Lenders). Derivatives of such term shall have corresponding meanings. The Company hereby grants the Agent, for the benefit of the Agent, the Issuers and the Lenders, a security interest in all such cash and deposit account balances. Cash collateral shall be maintained in blocked, non-interest bearing deposit accounts at BofA while an Event of Default is continuing and shall be transferred to an interest bearing account as soon as practicable after the termination of such Event of Default.
"CERCLA" has the meaning specified in the definition of "Environmental Laws."
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"Change of Control" means the occurrence of any of the following: (a) the sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of merger or consolidation), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole to any "person" (as such term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act); (b) the adoption of a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of the Company; (c) the consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any merger or consolidation) the result of which is that any "person" (as defined above) becomes the "beneficial owner" (as such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that a person shall be deemed to have "beneficial ownership" of all securities that such person has the right to acquire, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only upon the occurrence of a subsequent condition), directly or indirectly of more than 30% of the Voting Stock of the Company (measured by voting power rather than number of shares); (d) the Company consolidates with, or merges with or into, any Person, or any Person consolidates with, or merges with or into, the Company in any such event pursuant to a transaction in which any of the outstanding Voting Stock of the Company is converted into or exchanged for cash, securities or other property, other than any such transaction where the Voting Stock of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such transaction is converted into or exchanged for Voting Stock of the surviving or transferee Person constituting a majority of the outstanding shares of such Voting Stock of such surviving or transferee Person (immediately after giving effect to such issuance); or (e) during any period of 25 consecutive calendar months, commencing on the Restatement Date, the ceasing of those individuals (the "Continuing Directors") who (i) were directors of the Company on the first day of each such period or (ii) subsequently became directors of the Company and whose actual election or initial nomination for election subsequent to that date was approved by a majority of the Continuing Directors then on the board of directors of the Company, to constitute a majority of the board of directors of the Company.
"Closing Date" means February 26, 1998.
"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and regulations promulgated thereunder.
"Collateral" means all property and interests in property and proceeds thereof now owned or hereafter acquired by the Company or any Guarantor and their respective Subsidiaries in or upon which a Lien now or hereafter exists in favor of the Lenders, or the Agent on behalf of the Lenders, whether under this Agreement, under the Collateral Documents or under any other documents executed by any such Person and delivered to the Agent or the Lenders.
"Collateral Documents" means, collectively, (a) the Security Agreement, the Mortgages, the Pledge Agreement, the Subsidiary Guaranty, the Subsidiary Security Agreement, and all other security agreements, mortgages, deeds of trust, patent and trademark assignments, lease assignments, guarantees and other similar agreements between the Company or any Subsidiary or any Guarantor and the Lenders or the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders previously, now or hereafter delivered to the Lenders or the Agent pursuant to or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and all
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financing statements (or comparable documents now or hereafter filed in accordance with the Uniform Commercial Code or comparable law) against the Company or any Subsidiary or any Guarantor as debtor in favor of the Lenders or the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders as secured party, and (b) any amendments, supplements, modifications, renewals, replacements, consolidations, substitutions and extensions of any of the foregoing.
"Commitment", as to each Lender, means (a) such Lender's Term Loan Commitment, plus (b) such Lender's Revolving Loan Commitment.
"Company" has the meaning specified in the introductory clause hereto.
"Compliance Certificate" means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit C.
"Computation Date" has the meaning specified in subsection 2.08(a).
"Contingent Obligation" means, as to any Person, any direct or indirect liability of that Person, whether or not contingent, with or without recourse, (a) with respect to any Indebtedness, lease, dividend, letter of credit or other obligation (the "primary obligations") of another Person (the "primary obligor"), including any obligation of that Person (i) to purchase, repurchase or otherwise acquire such primary obligations or any security therefor, (ii) to advance or provide funds for the payment or discharge of any such primary obligation, or to maintain working capital or equity capital of the primary obligor or otherwise to maintain the net worth or solvency or any balance sheet item, level of income or financial condition of the primary obligor, (iii) to purchase property, securities or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of any such primary obligation of the ability of the primary obligor to make payment of such primary obligation, or (iv) otherwise to assure or hold harmless the holder of any such primary obligation against loss in respect thereof (each, a "Guaranty Obligation"); (b) with respect to any Surety Instrument issued for the account of that Person or as to which that Person is otherwise liable for reimbursement of drawings or payments;
(c) to purchase any materials, supplies or other property from, or to obtain the services of, another Person if the relevant contract or other related document or obligation requires that payment for such materials, supplies or other property, or for such services, shall be made regardless of whether delivery of such materials, supplies or other property is ever made or tendered, or such services are ever performed or tendered; or (d) in respect of any Swap Contract (other than in respect of ordinary course foreign currency hedging arrangements). The amount of any Contingent Obligation, (w) in the case of Guaranty Obligations (excluding payment guarantees made to third parties in connection with Bank One leasing programs, which shall be valued at the maximum stated amount of any such guarantees), shall be deemed equal to the lesser of (i) the stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation in respect of which such Guaranty Obligation is made or, if not stated or if indeterminable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof, and (ii) the stated amount of the guaranty, (x) in the case of Contingent Obligations in respect of Swap Contracts, shall be deemed equal to the aggregate Swap Termination Value of such Swap Contracts, (y) in the case of Contingent Obligations in
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respect of Surety Instruments other than Non-Surety L/C's, shall be deemed equal to the probable amount of the expected liability thereunder, and (z) in the case of Contingent Obligations in respect of Non-Surety L/C's, shall be deemed equal to (i) the face amount of outstanding Non-Surety L/C's which are not Letters of Credit and (ii) the outstanding amount of L/C Obligations in respect of Non-Surety L/C's which are Letters of Credit pursuant to Article III.
"Contractual Obligation" means, as to any Person, any provision of any security issued by such Person or of any agreement, undertaking, contract, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust or other instrument, document or agreement to which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound.
"Conversion/Continuation Date" means any date on which, under
Section 2.04, the Company (a) converts Loans of one Type to another Type, or (b) continues as Loans of the same Type, but with a new Interest Period, Loans having Interest Periods expiring on such date.
"Credit Extension" means and includes (a) the making of any Loans hereunder, and (b) the Issuance of any Letters of Credit hereunder.
"Current Assets" means all assets of the Company, on a consolidated basis, which should, in accordance with GAAP, be classified as current assets.
"Current Liabilities" means all liabilities of the Company, on a consolidated basis, which should, in accordance with GAAP, be classified as current liabilities, other than current maturities in respect of the Loans.
"Default" means any event or circumstance which, with the giving of notice, the lapse of time, or both, would (if not cured or otherwise remedied during such time) constitute an Event of Default.
"Departing Lenders" means those lenders party to the Prior Credit Agreement which are not signatories to this Agreement.
"Dividend Supplement Amount" means, as at any date of determination, an amount equal to (a) the lesser of (1) $5,000,000 and
(2) the cumulative excess of (A) Restricted Equity Payments which the Company was permitted by Section 8.11(c) (but without giving effect to
Section 8.11(c)(i)(A)(2) thereof) to pay during the period commencing on October 1, 1998 and ending on the date of determination over (B) the amount of Restricted Equity Payments actually paid by the Company during such period minus (b) the aggregate amount of incremental Restricted Equity Payments previously designated by the Company pursuant to Section 8.11(c)(i)(A)(2).
"Dollars", "dollars" and "$" each mean lawful money of the United States.
"Dollar Equivalent" means, at any time, (a) as to any amount denominated in Dollars, the amount thereof at such time, and (b) as to any amount denominated in an
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Offshore Currency, the equivalent amount in Dollars as determined by the Agent at such time on the basis of the Spot Rate for the purchase of Dollars with such Offshore Currency on the most recent Computation Date.
"Domestic Subsidiary" means a Subsidiary organized under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision or any agency, department or instrumentality thereof.
"EBITDA" means, for any period, for the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP, the sum of (a) the net income (or net loss) for such period, plus
(b) all amounts treated as expenses for depreciation and interest and the amortization of intangibles of any kind to the extent included in the determination of such net income (or loss), plus (c) all accrued taxes on or measured by income to the extent included in the determination of such net income (or net loss), plus (d) all charges (or less any credits) in such period arising from LIFO valuation, plus (or less, if negative) (e) the amount of post-retirement health benefits accrued in such period less the amount of post-retirement health benefits paid in such period, in an amount of up to $1,000,000 in any period, plus (f) all charges arising from the write down of fixed assets, severance payments and relocation expenses taken after the Closing Date with respect to Permitted Acquisitions, in an amount not to exceed $10,000,000 in the aggregate, plus (g) all charges (or less any credits) arising from the write-off of intangible assets (without duplication of any amounts set forth in clause (b)); provided, however, that net income (or net loss) shall be computed (i) without giving effect to extraordinary losses or extraordinary gains, (ii) without regard to the net income (or net loss) of Leasing Subsidiaries or to the carrying value of the equity interest of the Company and its Subsidiaries in Leasing Subsidiaries, and (iii) without giving effect to any dividends or other distributions received by the Company and its Subsidiaries from Leasing Subsidiaries or any equity contributions made by the Company and its Subsidiaries to Leasing Subsidiaries.
"Effective Amount" means (a) with respect to any Revolving Loans, Swing Line Loans, Fronted Offshore Currency Loans and Term Loans on any date, the aggregate outstanding principal amount thereof after giving effect to any Borrowings and prepayments or repayments of Revolving Loans, Swing Line Loans, Fronted Offshore Currency Loans and Term Loans occurring on such date; and (b) with respect to any outstanding L/C Obligations on any date, the amount of such L/C Obligations on such date after giving effect to any Issuances of Letters of Credit occurring on such date and any other changes in the aggregate amount of the L/C Obligations as of such date, including as a result of any reimbursements of outstanding unpaid drawings under any Letters of Credit or any reductions in the maximum amount available for drawing under Letters of Credit taking effect on such date. For purposes of subsection 2.09(a) the Effective Amount shall be determined without giving effect to any mandatory prepayments to be made under subsection 2.09(b).
"Eligible Assignee" means (a) a commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States, or any state thereof, and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $100,000,000; (b) a commercial bank organized under the laws of any other country
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which is a member of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (the "OECD"), or a political subdivision of any such country, and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $100,000,000, provided that such bank is acting through a branch or agency located in the United States; (c) a Person that is primarily engaged in the business of commercial banking and that is (i) a Subsidiary of a Lender, (ii) a Subsidiary of a Person of which a Lender is a Subsidiary, or (iii) a Person of which a Lender is a Subsidiary;
(d) as to the Term Loans, (i) an "accredited investor", as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (other than the Company or an Affiliate of the Company) or (ii) a finance company, insurance company or other financial institution or fund (whether a corporation, partnership, trust or other entity) that is primarily engaged in the business of making, purchasing or otherwise investing in commercial loans; and (e) any other entity approved by the Company and the Agent.
"Environmental Claims" means all claims, however asserted, by any Governmental Authority or other Person alleging potential liability or responsibility for violation of any Environmental Law, or for release or injury to the environment or threat to public health, personal injury (including sickness, disease or death), property damage, natural resources damage, or otherwise alleging liability or responsibility for damages (punitive or otherwise), investigation, cleanup, removal, remedial or response costs, restitution, civil or criminal penalties, injunctive relief, or other type of relief, resulting from or based upon the presence, placements, discharge, emission or release (including intentional and unintentional, negligent and non-negligent, sudden or non-sudden, accidental or non-accidental, placements, spills, leaks, discharges, emissions or releases) of any Hazardous Material at, in, or from any property, whether or not owned by the Company or any Subsidiary or taken as collateral, or in connection with any operations of the Company.
"Environmental Laws" means all federal, state or local laws, statutes, common law duties, rules, regulations, ordinances and codes, together with all administrative orders, directed duties, requests, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental Authorities, in each case relating to environmental, health, safety and land use matters, including without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 ("CERCLA"), the Clean Air Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, the Solid Waste Disposal Act, the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, and the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act.
"Environmental Permits" has the meaning specified in subsection 6.12(b).
"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, and regulations promulgated thereunder.
"ERISA Affiliate" means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common control with the Company within the meaning of Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code (and Sections 414(m) and (o) of the Code for purposes of provisions relating to Section 412 of the Code).
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"ERISA Event" means (a) a Reportable Event with respect to a Pension Plan; (b) a withdrawal by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate from a Pension Plan subject to Section 4063 of ERISA during a plan year in which it was a substantial employer (as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA) or a cessation of operations which is treated as such a withdrawal under Section 4062(e) of ERISA; (c) a complete or partial withdrawal by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate from a Multiemployer Plan or notification that a Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization; (d) the filing of a notice of intent to terminate, the treatment of a Plan amendment as a termination under Section 4041 or 4041A of ERISA, or the commencement of proceedings by the PBGC to terminate a Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan; (e) an event or condition which might reasonably be expected to constitute grounds under Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or
(f) the imposition of any liability under Title IV of ERISA, other than PBGC premiums due but not delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA, upon the Company or any ERISA Affiliate.
"Eurodollar Reserve Percentage" has the meaning specified in the definition of "Offshore Rate".
"Event of Default" means any of the events or circumstances specified in Section 9.01.
"Event of Loss" means, with respect to any property, any of the following: (a) any loss, destruction or damage of such property;
(b) any institution of any proceedings for the condemnation or seizure of such property or for the exercise of any right of eminent domain; or
(c) any actual condemnation, seizure or taking, by exercise of the power of eminent domain or otherwise, of such property, or confiscation of such property or the requisition of the use of such property.
"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
"FDIC" means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of its principal functions.
"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upwards to the nearest 1/100 of 1%) equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank on the Business Day next succeeding such day; provided that (a) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the next preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day, and (b) if no such rate is published on such next succeeding Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate charged to BofA on such day on such transactions as determined by the Agent.
"Fee Letter" has the meaning specified in subsection 2.14(a).
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"Floor Plan Financing Facility" means any facility entered or to be entered into by the Company or any Subsidiary pursuant to which such person may (a) incur Indebtedness to purchase vehicles and/or related equipment from certain vendors for the prompt resale to customers in the ordinary course of business and (b) grant a security interest in such vehicles and/or related equipment to secure such borrowings.
"FRB" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, and any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of its principal functions.
"Fronted Offshore Currency Commitment" means, for any Offshore Currency Fronting Lender for each Alternate Currency, the obligation of such Offshore Currency Fronting Lender to make Fronted Offshore Currency Loans in such Alternate Currency not exceeding the Dollar Equivalent set forth in the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum, as such amount may be modified from time to time pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum.
"Fronted Offshore Currency Loan" means a loan made by an Offshore Currency Fronting Lender to a Borrower pursuant to Section 2.07 and an Offshore Currency Addendum.
"Fronted Offshore Currency Note" means a promissory note in such form as may be required by the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum.
"Fronted Offshore Currency Rate" means, for any day for any Fronted Offshore Currency Loan, the per annum rate of interest determined under or as set forth in the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum.
"Further Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, levies, assessments, imposts, duties, deductions, fees, withholdings or similar charges (including, without limitation, net income taxes and franchise taxes), and all liabilities with respect thereto, imposed by any jurisdiction on account of amounts payable or paid pursuant to
Section 4.01.
"FX Trading Office" means the Foreign Exchange Trading Center, Chicago, Illinois, of BofA, or such other of BofA's offices as the Agent may designate from time to time.
"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles set forth from time to time in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (or agencies with similar functions of comparable stature and authority within the U.S. accounting profession), which are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination.
"Governmental Authority" means (a) any nation or government, any state or other political subdivision thereof, any central bank (or similar monetary or regulatory
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authority) thereof, any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government, and any corporation or other entity owned or controlled, through stock or capital ownership or otherwise, by any of the foregoing, and (b) the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.
"Guaranteed Creditors" shall mean and include the Agent, the Lenders and each Person (other than the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) which is a party to a Rate Swap Document if such Person is or at the time of entry into such Rate Swap Document was a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender.
"Guaranteed Obligations" shall mean (a) the full and prompt payment when due (whether at the stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of the principal and interest (whether such interest is allowed as a claim in a bankruptcy proceeding with respect to any Subsidiary Borrower or otherwise) on each Note issued by a Subsidiary Borrower to each Lender, and Loans made under this Agreement to any Subsidiary Borrower, together with all other Obligations (including obligations which, but for the automatic stay under Section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, would become due) and liabilities (including, without limitation, indemnities, fees and interest thereon) of any Subsidiary Borrower to the Agent or any Lender now existing or hereafter incurred under, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Documents and the due performance and compliance with all terms, conditions and agreements contained in the Loan Documents by any Subsidiary Borrower and (b) the full and prompt payment when due (whether by acceleration or otherwise) of all Obligations (including obligations which, but for the automatic stay under Section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code or similar proceeding under applicable law, would become due) of the Company or any Subsidiary owing under any Rate Swap Document entered into by the Company or any Subsidiary with any Lender or any Affiliate thereof (even if such Lender subsequently ceases to be a Lender under this Agreement for any reason) so long as such Lender or Affiliate participates in such Rate Swap Document and their subsequent assigns, if any, whether now in existence or hereafter arising, and the due performance and compliance with all terms, conditions and agreements contained therein.
"Guarantors" means each of the Subsidiaries of the Company from time to time party to the Subsidiary Guaranty.
"Guaranty Obligation" has the meaning specified in the definition of "Contingent Obligation."
"Hazardous Materials" means all those substances that are regulated by, or which may form the basis of liability or a standard of conduct under, any Environmental Law, including any substance identified under any Environmental Law as a pollutant, contaminant, hazardous waste, hazardous constituent, special waste, hazardous substance, hazardous material, or toxic substance, or petroleum or petroleum-derived substance or waste.
"Honor Date" has the meaning specified in subsection 3.03(b).
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"Indebtedness" of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness for borrowed money; (b) all obligations issued, undertaken or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than trade payables entered into in the ordinary course of business on ordinary terms); (c) all Contingent Obligations with respect to Surety Instruments; (d) all obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or similar instruments, including obligations so evidenced incurred in connection with the acquisition of property, assets or businesses; (e) all indebtedness created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, or incurred as financing, in either case with respect to property acquired by the Person (even though the rights and remedies of the seller or bank under such agreement in the event of default are limited to repossession or sale of such property); (f) all obligations with respect to capital leases; (g) all indebtedness referred to in clauses (a) through (f) above secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien upon or in property (including accounts and contract rights) owned by such Person, even though such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such Indebtedness; and (h) all Guaranty Obligations in respect of indebtedness or obligations of others of the kinds referred to in clauses (a) through (g) above; provided, that "Indebtedness" shall not include (x) any indebtedness incurred by the Company or any Subsidiary pursuant to any Floor Plan Financing Facility to the extent that it shall be non-interest bearing or (y) any obligations of the Company or its Subsidiaries in respect of customer advances received and held in the ordinary course of business. For all purposes of this Agreement, the Indebtedness of any Person shall include all recourse Indebtedness of any partnership or joint venture or limited liability company in which such Person is a general partner or a joint venturer or a member and as to which such Person is or may become directly liable.
"Indemnified Liabilities" has the meaning specified in Section 11.05.
"Indemnified Person" has the meaning specified in Section 11.05.
"Independent Auditor" has the meaning specified in subsection 7.01(a).
"Insolvency Proceeding" means, with respect to any Person, (a) any case, action or proceeding with respect to such Person before any court or other Governmental Authority relating to bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, liquidation, receivership, dissolution, winding-up or relief of debtors, or (b) any general assignment for the benefit of creditors, composition, marshalling of assets for creditors, or other, similar arrangement in respect of its creditors generally or any substantial portion of its creditors; in each case, undertaken under U.S. Federal, state or foreign law, including the Bankruptcy Code.
"Interest Payment Date" means, as to any Offshore Rate Loan, the last day of each Interest Period applicable to such Loan and, as to any Base Rate Loan, the last Business Day of each calendar quarter; provided, however, that if any Interest Period for an Offshore Rate Loan exceeds three months, the date that falls three months after the beginning of such Interest Period and after each Interest Payment Date thereafter is also an Interest Payment Date.
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"Interest Period" means, as to any Fronted Offshore Currency Loan, the Interest Period as set forth in, or determined in accordance with, the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum and, as to any other Offshore Rate Loan, the period commencing on the Borrowing Date of such Loan or on the Conversion/Continuation Date on which the Loan is converted into or continued as an Offshore Rate Loan, and ending on the date one, two, three or six months thereafter as selected by a Borrower in its Notice of Borrowing or Notice of Conversion/Continuation;
provided that:
(a) if any Interest Period would otherwise end on a day that is not a Business Day, that Interest Period shall be extended to the following Business Day unless the result of such extension would be to carry such Interest Period into another calendar month, in which event such Interest Period shall end on the preceding Business Day;
(b) any Interest Period that begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period;
(c) no Interest Period for any Term Loan or for any Revolving Loan shall extend beyond January 31, 2006; and
(d) no Interest Period applicable to a Term Loan or portion thereof shall extend beyond any date upon which is due any scheduled principal payment in respect of the Term Loans unless the aggregate principal amount of Term Loans represented by Base Rate Loans, or by Offshore Rate Loans having Interest Periods that will expire on or before such date, equals or exceeds the amount of such principal payment.
"Investments" has the meaning specified in Section 8.04.
"IRS" means the Internal Revenue Service, and any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of its principal functions under the Code.
"Issuance Date" has the meaning specified in subsection 3.01(a).
"Issue" means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, to issue or to extend the expiry of, or to renew or increase the amount of, such Letter of Credit; and the terms "Issued," "Issuing" and "Issuance" have corresponding meanings.
"Issuer" means, in respect of each Letter of Credit, BofA or such other Revolving Lender selected by a Borrower which, in either case, has agreed to act as issuer of such Letter of Credit hereunder.
"Joint Venture" means a single-purpose corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or other similar legal arrangement (whether created by contract or
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conducted through a separate legal entity) now or hereafter formed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with another Person (or such a pre-existing entity in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries acquires a minority interest) in order to conduct a common venture or enterprise with such Person.
"Judgment Currency" has the meaning specified in subsection 11.18.
"L/C Advance" means each Revolving Lender's participation in any L/C Borrowing in accordance with its Pro Rata Share.
"L/C Amendment Application" means an application form for amendment of outstanding standby or commercial documentary letters of credit as shall at any time be in use at the applicable Issuer, as such Issuer shall request.
"L/C Application" means an application form for issuances of standby or commercial documentary letters of credit as shall at any time be in use at the applicable Issuer, as such Issuer shall request.
"L/C Borrowing" means an extension of credit resulting from a drawing under any Letter of Credit which shall not have been reimbursed on the date when made nor converted into a Borrowing of Revolving Loans under subsection 3.03(c).
"L/C Commitment" means the commitment of the Issuers to Issue, and the commitment of the Revolving Lenders severally to participate in, Letters of Credit from time to time Issued or outstanding under Article III, in an aggregate amount not to exceed on any date (a) the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment less (b) the aggregate principal amount of Revolving Loans, Swing Line Loans and Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments then outstanding; provided that the L/C Commitment is a part of the Aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment, rather than a separate, independent commitment.
"L/C Obligations" means at any time the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all Letters of Credit then outstanding, plus (b) the amount of all unreimbursed drawings under all Letters of Credit, including all outstanding L/C Borrowings.
"L/C-Related Documents" means the Letters of Credit, the L/C Applications, the L/C Amendment Applications and any other document relating to any Letter of Credit, including any standard form documents used by any Issuer for letter of credit issuances.
"Lease Assets" means, with respect to any lease, all of the following property and interests in property whether now existing or existing in the future or hereafter acquired or arising: (a) all vehicles or equipment manufactured or refurbished by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (and truck chassis, cement block boom trucks and similar vehicles manufactured or refurbished by third parties) and acquired by a Leasing Subsidiary in connection with such assets being contemporaneously leased to a third party; (b) all leases and other contracts or agreements relating to the lease financing by a customer of vehicles or equipment manufactured or refurbished by the Company or any of its
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Subsidiaries; (c) all accounts receivable and other obligations incurred by lessees in connection with the foregoing, no matter how evidenced; (d) all rights to any vehicles or equipment subject to any of the foregoing after or in connection with creation of the foregoing, including, without limitation, returned or repossessed goods; (e) all reserves and credit balances with respect to any such lease contracts or agreements or lessees; (f) all letters of credit, security or guarantees for any of the foregoing; (g) all insurance policies or reports relating to any of the foregoing; and (h) all books and records relating to any of the foregoing.
"Leasing Subsidiary" means MFSI, Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services, Inc., Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services Partnership and any other Subsidiary that is designated by the Board of Directors of the Company as a Leasing Subsidiary and that is exclusively engaged in Leasing Transactions and activities related thereto. If at any time any Leasing Subsidiary should engage in a material transaction or activity other than those described above, it shall thereafter cease to be a Leasing Subsidiary hereunder.
"Leasing Transaction" means (a) the formation of Leasing Subsidiaries (whether in one or a series of related transactions); (b) the sale or other disposition to a third party of Lease Assets or an interest therein; (c) the borrowing of money secured by Lease Assets; or (d) the sale or other disposition of Lease Assets or an interest therein to a Leasing Subsidiary followed by a financing transaction in connection with such sale or disposition of such Lease Assets (whether such financing transaction is effected by such Leasing Subsidiary or by a third party to whom such Leasing Subsidiary sells such Lease Assets or interest therein); provided, that in each of the foregoing, the Company or its Subsidiaries receive or have received in cash at least 95% of the aggregate sale price attributed to the vehicles and equipment that underlie the leases financed in such transaction.
"Lender" has the meaning specified in the introductory clause hereto. References to the "Lenders" shall include BofA, including in its capacity as an Issuer, as Offshore Currency Fronting Lender and as Swing Line Lender; for purposes of clarification only, to the extent that BofA may have any rights or obligations in addition to those of the Lenders due to its status as an Issuer, as Offshore Currency Fronting Lender or as Swing Line Lender, its status as such will be specifically referenced.
"Lending Office" means, as to any Lender, the office or offices of such Lender specified as its "Lending Office" or "Domestic Lending Office" or "Offshore Lending Office", as the case may be, on Schedule 11.02, or such other office or offices as such Lender may from time to time notify the Company and the Agent.
"Letters of Credit" means any letters of credit (whether standby letters of credit or commercial documentary letters of credit) Issued by the Issuers pursuant to Article III, including without limitation the existing letters of credit set forth on Schedule 1.01 hereto.
"Leverage Ratio" means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) all Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries (other than MFSI) determined on a
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consolidated basis as of such date, to (b) EBITDA for the period of four fiscal quarters ending on such date.
"Lien" means any security interest, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, charge or deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or other) or similar interest of any kind or nature whatsoever in respect of any property (including those created by, arising under or evidenced by any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, the interest of a lessor under a capital lease, any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing, or the filing of any financing statement naming the owner of the asset to which such lien relates as debtor, under the Uniform Commercial Code or any comparable law) and any contingent or other agreement to provide any of the foregoing, but not including the interest of a lessor under an operating lease.
"Loan" means an extension of credit by a Lender to a Borrower under Article II or Article III in the form of a Revolving Loan, Term Loan, Swing Line Loan, Fronted Offshore Currency Loan or L/C Advance.
"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, any Notes, the Fee Letters, the L/C-Related Documents, the Collateral Documents, the Rate Swap Documents and all other documents delivered to the Agent or any Lender in connection herewith.
"local time" shall mean (a) with respect to Loans, the time of the office of the Agent or Offshore Currency Fronting Lender, as applicable, to which payment of each Loan is to be made, and (b) with respect to Letters of Credit, the time of the issuing office of the Issuer issuing such Letter of Credit.
"Margin Stock" means "margin stock" as such term is defined in Regulation T, U or X of the FRB.
"Material Adverse Effect" means (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect upon, the operations, business, properties or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company or the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; (b) a material impairment of the ability of the Company or any Subsidiary to perform under any Loan Document and to avoid any Event of Default; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability against the Company or any Subsidiary of any Loan Document.
"Material Subsidiary" means, at any time, any Subsidiary having at such time either (a) total (gross) revenues for the preceding four fiscal quarter period in excess of 2% of the total (gross) revenues of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such period or (b) a shareholder's equity, as of the last day of the preceding fiscal quarter, with a book value in excess of 4% of Net Worth, based in each case, to the extent applicable, upon the Company's most recent annual or quarterly financial statements delivered to the Agent pursuant to
Section 7.01.
"MFSI" means McNeilus Financial Services, Inc., a Minnesota corporation.
19

"Mortgage" means any deed of trust, mortgage, leasehold mortgage, assignment of rents or other document creating a Lien on real property or any interest in real property.
"Mortgaged Property" means all property subject to a Lien pursuant to a Mortgage.
"Multiemployer Plan" means a "multiemployer plan", within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA, to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate makes, is making, or is obligated to make contributions or, during the preceding three calendar years, has made, or been obligated to make, contributions.
"Net Proceeds" means (a) with respect to any Asset Disposition, the sum of cash or readily marketable cash equivalents received (including by way of a cash generating sale or discounting of a note or receivable, but excluding any other consideration received in the form of assumption by the acquiring Person of debt or other obligations relating to the properties or assets so disposed of or received in any other non-cash form) therefrom, whether at the time of such disposition or subsequent thereto, or (b) with respect to any sale or issuance of publicly traded debt securities (or other Indebtedness issued pursuant to an indenture, including Indebtedness issued in a so called "144A Offering") of the Company or any Subsidiary, cash or readily marketable cash equivalents received (but excluding any other non-cash form) therefrom, whether at the time of such disposition, sale or issuance or subsequent thereto, net, in either case, of all legal, title and recording tax expenses, commissions and other fees and all costs and expenses incurred and all federal, state, local and other taxes required to be accrued as a liability as a consequence of such transactions and, in the case of an Asset Disposition, net of all payments made by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries on any Indebtedness which is secured by such assets pursuant to a Permitted Lien upon or with respect to such assets or which must by the terms of such Lien, or in order to obtain a necessary consent to such Asset Disposition, or by applicable law be repaid out of the proceeds from such Asset Disposition.
"Net Worth" means the shareholders' equity of the Company as determined in accordance with GAAP, but excluding any portion thereof in excess of $23,000,000 attributable to the equity interest of the Company and its Subsidiaries in Leasing Subsidiaries.
"Non-Surety L/C's" means letters of credit which are not Surety L/C's.
"Note" means a promissory note executed by a Borrower in favor of a Lender pursuant to subsection 2.02(b), or pursuant to the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum.
"Notice of Borrowing" means a notice in substantially the form of Exhibit A.
"Notice of Conversion/Continuation" means a notice in substantially the form of Exhibit B.
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"Obligations" means all advances, debts, liabilities, obligations, covenants and duties arising under any Loan Document owing by the Company and each Subsidiary Borrower to any Lender, the Agent, or any Indemnified Person, whether direct or indirect (including those acquired by assignment), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising.
"Offshore Currency" means at any time, Euro, Japanese Yen, French Francs, Pounds Sterling, German Deutschemarks, Canadian Dollars or Italian Lira and, from and after the time of such approval, any other currency requested by the Company and approved by each Lender in accordance with subsection 2.08(e).
"Offshore Currency Addendum" means an addendum substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto with such modifications thereto as shall be approved by the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender and the Agent.
"Offshore Currency Fronting Lender" means any Lender with a Revolving Loan Commitment (or any Affiliate, branch or agency thereof) to the extent it is party to an Offshore Currency Addendum as the "Offshore Currency Fronting Lender" thereunder. If any agency, branch or Affiliate of such Lender shall be a party to an Offshore Currency Addendum, such agency, branch or Affiliate shall, to the extent of any commitment extended and any Loans made by it, have all the rights of such Lender hereunder; provided, however, that such Lender shall to the exclusion of such agency, branch or Affiliate, continue to have all the voting rights vested in it by the terms hereof.
"Offshore Currency Loan" means any Offshore Rate Loan denominated in an Offshore Currency.
"Offshore Currency Sublimit" means $50,000,000.
"Offshore Rate" means, for any Interest Period, with respect to Offshore Rate Loans comprising part of the same Borrowing or any Fronted Offshore Currency Loan, as applicable, the rate of interest per annum (rounded upward to the next 1/100th of 1%) determined by the Agent as follows:

Offshore Rate =              IBOR
               ----------------------------------------
                  1.00 - Eurodollar Reserve Percentage
Where,

"Eurodollar Reserve Percentage" means for any day for any Interest Period the maximum reserve percentage (expressed as a decimal, rounded upward to the next 1/100th of 1%) in effect on such day (whether or not applicable to any Lender) under regulations issued from time to time by the FRB for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including any emergency, supplemental or other marginal reserve requirement) with respect to Eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as "Eurocurrency liabilities"); and
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"IBOR" means the rate of interest per annum determined by the Agent as the rate at which deposits in the Applicable Currency in the approximate amount of BofA's Offshore Rate Loan for such Interest Period would be offered by BofA's Grand Cayman Branch, Grand Cayman B.W.I. (or such other office as may be designated for such purpose by BofA), to major banks in the offshore interbank market at their request at approximately 11:00 a.m. (local time) two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period.
The Offshore Rate shall be adjusted automatically as to all Offshore Rate Loans then outstanding as of the effective date of any change in the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage.
"Offshore Rate Loan" means a Loan that bears interest based on the Offshore Rate, which may be denominated in Dollars or any Offshore Currency.
"Organization Documents" means, for any corporation, the certificate or articles of incorporation, the bylaws, any certificate of determination or instrument relating to the rights of preferred shareholders of such corporation, any shareholder rights agreement, and all applicable resolutions of the board of directors (or any committee thereof) of such corporation.
"Other Taxes" means any present or future stamp, court or documentary taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies which arise from any payment made hereunder or from the execution, delivery, performance, enforcement or registration of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Documents.
"Participant" has the meaning specified in subsection 11.08(e).
"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of its principal functions under ERISA.
"Pension Plan" means a pension plan (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) subject to Title IV of ERISA which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate sponsors, maintains, or to which it makes, is making, or is obligated to make contributions, or otherwise has any liability, or in the case of a multiple employer plan (as described in Section 4064(a) of ERISA) has made contributions at any time during the immediately preceding five (5) plan years.
"Permitted Liens" has the meaning specified in Section 8.01.
"Permitted Securitization" means any receivables financing program providing for the sale of accounts receivable (including rights in respect of capitalized leases) and related rights by the Company and its Subsidiaries to a Securitization Subsidiary in transactions purporting to be sales (and treated as sales for GAAP purposes), which Securitization Subsidiary shall finance the purchase of such assets by the sale, transfer, conveyance, lien or pledge of such assets to one or more limited purpose financing
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companies, special purpose entities and/or other financial institutions, in each case pursuant to documentation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent.
"Permitted Swap Obligations" means all obligations (contingent or otherwise) of the Company or any Subsidiary existing or arising under Swap Contracts, provided that each of the following criteria is satisfied: (a) such obligations are (or were) entered into by such Person in the ordinary course of business for the purpose of directly mitigating risks associated with liabilities, commitments or assets held or reasonably anticipated by such Person, or changes in the value of securities issued by such Person in conjunction with a securities repurchase program not otherwise prohibited hereunder, and not for purposes of speculation or taking a "market view"; and (b) such Swap Contracts do not contain any provision ("walk-away" provision) exonerating the non-defaulting party from its obligation to make payments on outstanding transactions to the defaulting party.
"Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture or Governmental Authority.
"Plan" means an employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate sponsors or maintains or to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate makes, is making, or is obligated to make contributions or otherwise has any liability and includes any Pension Plan.
"Pledge Agreement" means that certain Stock and Note Pledge Agreement dated as of the Closing Date between the Company and the Agent.
"Pledged Collateral" has the meaning specified in the Pledge Agreement.
"Pro Rata Revolving Share" means, as to any Revolving Lender,
(a) at any time at which the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment remains outstanding, the percentage equivalent (expressed as a decimal rounded to the ninth decimal place) at such time of such Lender's Revolving Loan Commitment divided by the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment, and (b) after the termination of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment, the percentage equivalent (expressed as a decimal, rounded to the ninth decimal place) at such time of the principal amount of such Lender's outstanding Revolving Loans (other than Swing Line Loans and Fronted Offshore Currency Loans) divided by the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Revolving Loans (other than Swing Line Loans and Fronted Offshore Currency Loans) of all the Lenders.
"Pro Rata Share" means, as to any Lender, (a) in respect of a particular Loan and/or Commitment, (i) at any time at which the Commitments in respect of such Loan remain outstanding, the percentage equivalent (expressed as a decimal, rounded to the ninth decimal place) at such time of such Lender's Commitment in respect of such Loan divided by the combined Commitments in respect of such Loan, and (ii) after the termination of the Commitments in respect of such Loan, the percentage equivalent (expressed as a decimal, rounded to the ninth decimal place) at such time of the principal amount outstanding of such Loans held by such Lender divided by the aggregate
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principal amount outstanding of such Loans held by all Lenders, and (b) in respect of all Loans and/or Commitments, (i) at any time at which the Aggregate Commitment (or any portion thereof) remains outstanding, the percentage equivalent (expressed as a decimal, rounded to the ninth decimal place) at such time of such Lender's Commitments in respect of all Loans (and if any Term Loans are outstanding, with the Term Loan Commitment deemed to be outstanding to the extent of the principal amount of the related Term Loan which is then outstanding) divided by the Aggregate Commitment, and (b) after the termination of the Aggregate Commitment, the percentage equivalent (expressed as a decimal, rounded to the ninth decimal place) at such time of the principal amount of such Lender's outstanding Loans (including such Lender's ratable share of outstanding Swing Line Loans, Fronted Offshore Currency Loans and L/C Obligations) divided by the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Loans and L/C Obligations of all of the Lenders.
"Rate Swap Documents" means, collectively, all Swap Contracts entered into between the Company and any Lender (or any Affiliate thereof) in respect of any portion of the Obligations.
"Remarketing Agreements" means agreements guaranteeing the residual or future resale value of products manufactured and sold or leased by the Company or any Subsidiary.
"Reportable Event" means any of the events set forth in
Section 4043(c) of ERISA or the regulations thereunder, other than any such event for which the 30-day notice requirement under ERISA has been waived in regulations issued by the PBGC.
"Required Lenders" means at any time Lenders then holding at least 51% of the sum of (a) the then aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Term Loans, plus (b) the amount of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment (or if the Revolving Loan Commitment has been terminated, then the aggregate principal amount outstanding of Revolving Loans, Swing Line Loans and Fronted Offshore Currency Loans, plus the outstanding amount of L/C Obligations); provided, that, if no principal amount of any Loan is then outstanding, then "Required Lenders" shall mean Lenders then having at least 51% of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment.
"Required Revolving Lenders" means at any time Revolving Lenders then holding at least 51% of the then aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Revolving Loans, or, if no such principal amount is then outstanding, Revolving Lenders then having at least 51% of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment.
"Requirement of Law" means, as to any Person, any law (statutory or common), treaty, rule or regulation or determination of an arbitrator or of a Governmental Authority, in each case applicable to or binding upon the Person or any of its property or to which the Person or any of its property is subject.
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"Responsible Officer" means the chief executive officer, the president, the chief financial officer, the treasurer or the corporate controller of the Company, or any other officer having substantially the same authority and responsibility.
"Restatement Date" means the date on which all conditions precedent set forth in Section 5.01 are satisfied or waived by all Lenders (or, in the case of subsection 5.01(e), waived by the Person entitled to receive such payment).
"Restricted Equity Payments" has the meaning specified in
Section 8.11.
"Revolving Lender" means any Lender having a Revolving Loan Commitment.
"Revolving Loan" has the meaning specified in subsection 2.01(b).
"Revolving Loan Commitment", as to each Revolving Lender, has the meaning specified in subsection 2.01(b).
"Revolving Termination Date" means the earlier to occur of:
(a) January 31, 2006; and
(b) the date on which the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment terminates in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
"Same Day Funds" means (a) with respect to disbursements and payments in Dollars, immediately available funds, and (b) with respect to disbursements and payments in an Offshore Currency, same day or other funds as may be determined by the Agent to be customary in the place of disbursement or payment for the settlement of international banking transactions in the relevant Offshore Currency.
"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of its principal functions.
"Securitization Subsidiary" means a special purpose, bankruptcy remote Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Company which may be formed for the sole and exclusive purpose of engaging in activities in connection with the purchase, sale and financing of accounts receivable and related rights (or of rights as lessor under capitalized leases and related equipment and rights) in connection with and pursuant to a Permitted Securitization.
"Security Agreement" means that certain Security Agreement dated as of the Closing Date between the Company and the Agent.
"Senior Subordinated Debt Documents" means the Senior Subordinated Indenture, the Senior Subordinated Notes and the other documents and instruments executed and delivered in connection therewith.
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"Senior Subordinated Indenture" means that certain Indenture dated as of February 26, 1998 between the Company and the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and Firstar Trust Company.
"Senior Subordinated Notes" means those certain $100,000,000 8.75% Senior Subordinated Notes of the Company due 2008.
"Solvent" means, as to any Person at any time, that (a) the fair value of the property of such Person is greater than the amount of such Person's liabilities (including disputed, contingent and unliquidated liabilities) as such value is established and liabilities evaluated for purposes of Section 101(31) of the Bankruptcy Code and, in the alternative, for purposes of the Illinois Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act; (b) the present fair saleable value of the property of such Person is not less than the amount that will be required to pay the probable liability of such Person on its debts as they become absolute and matured; (c) such Person is able to realize upon its property and pay its debts and other liabilities (including disputed, contingent and unliquidated liabilities, but applying the reasonably anticipated liability, after giving effect to payments under insurance policies and indemnity agreements which such Person reasonably expects to receive) as they mature in the normal course of business; (d) such Person does not intend to, and does not believe that it will, incur debts or liabilities beyond such Person's ability to pay as such debts and liabilities mature; and (e) such Person is not engaged in business or a transaction, and is not about to engage in business or a transaction, for which such Person's property would constitute unreasonably small capital.
"Spot Rate" for a currency means the rate quoted by BofA as the spot rate for the purchase by BofA of such currency with another currency through its FX Trading Office at approximately 10:30 a.m. (local time) on the date two Business Days prior to the date as of which the foreign exchange computation is made.
"Stated Amount" means the stated or face amount of a Letter of Credit to the extent available at the time for drawing (subject to presentment of all requested documents), as the same may be increased or decreased from time to time in accordance with the terms of such Letter of Credit.
"Subsidiary" of a Person means any corporation, association, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or other business entity of which more than 50% of the voting stock, membership interests or other equity interests (in the case of Persons other than corporations), is owned or controlled directly or indirectly by the Person, or one or more of the Subsidiaries of the Person, or a combination thereof; provided, that for the purposes of Articles VII and VIII hereof (and any definitions incorporated therein) and of calculating the Leverage Ratio and Net Worth, "Subsidiary" shall exclude all Leasing Subsidiaries. Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, references herein to a "Subsidiary" refer to a Subsidiary of the Company.
"Subsidiary Borrower" means any Subsidiary that is designated as a Subsidiary Borrower by the Company pursuant to Section 2.20 with the consent of the Agent, which
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Subsidiary shall have delivered a Subsidiary Borrower Supplement in accordance with Section 2.20.
"Subsidiary Borrower Supplement" means a Subsidiary Borrower Supplement in the form of Exhibit H.
"Subsidiary Guaranty" means that certain Subsidiary Guaranty dated as of the Closing Date by certain of the Subsidiaries in favor of the Agent and the Lenders.
"Subsidiary Security Agreement" means that certain Subsidiary Security Agreement dated as of the Closing Date between the Guarantors and the Agent.
"Surety Bonds" means all bonds issued for the account of the Company or any Subsidiary to assure the performance thereby (or to the extent issued in the ordinary course of business, any other Person) under any contract entered into in the ordinary course of business.
"Surety Instruments" means all letters of credit (including standby and commercial), banker's acceptances, bank guaranties, shipside bonds, performance bonds, Surety Bonds, Remarketing Agreements and similar instruments.
"Surety L/C's" means letters of credit which are issued for the account of the Company or any Subsidiary to provide credit support, in the ordinary course of business, for (a) a contract bid by any such Person, (b) the performance by any such Person under any contract, (c) any warranty extended by any such Person and (d) the repayment of advance payments made to any such Person.
"Swap Contract" means any agreement, whether or not in writing, relating to any transaction that is a rate swap, basis swap, forward rate transaction, commodity swap, commodity option, equity or equity index swap or option, bond, note or bill option, interest rate option, forward foreign exchange transaction, cap, collar or floor transaction, currency swap, cross-currency rate swap, swaption, currency option or any other, similar transaction (including any option to enter into any of the foregoing) or any combination of the foregoing, and, unless the context otherwise clearly requires, any master agreement relating to or governing any or all of the foregoing.
"Swap Termination Value" means, in respect of any one or more Swap Contracts, after taking into account the effect of any legally enforceable netting agreement relating to such Swap Contracts, (a) for any date on or after the date such Swap Contracts have been closed out and termination value(s) determined in accordance therewith, such termination value(s), and (b) for any date prior to the date referenced in clause (a) the amount(s) determined as the mark-to-market value(s) for such Swap Contracts, as determined by the Company based upon one or more mid-market or other readily available quotations provided by any recognized dealer in such Swap Contracts (which may include any Lender).
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"Swing Line Commitment" means at any time, the obligation of the Swing Line Lender to make Swing Line Loans pursuant to Section 2.05.
"Swing Line Lender" means BofA, in its capacity as provider of the Swing Line Loans.
"Swing Line Loan" means a Loan denominated in Dollars made by the Swing Line Lender.
"Swing Line Note" means a promissory note in substantially the form of Exhibit G.
"Swing Line Rate" means, at any time, for each Swing Line Loan, (a) the Offshore Rate in effect as of the Business Day of the making of a Swing Line Loan (or if extended, the date of such extension), assuming an Interest Period of one month, plus (b) the Applicable Offshore Rate Margin then in effect, plus (c) 50 basis points per annum.
"Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, levies, assessments, imposts, duties, deductions, fees, withholdings or similar charges, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding, in the case of each Lender and the Agent, respectively, taxes imposed on or measured by its net income by the jurisdiction (or any political subdivision thereof) under the laws of which such Lender or the Agent, as the case may be, is organized or maintains a lending office.
"Term Loan Commitment" means, as to each Lender, such Lender's Term Loan Commitment, as specified on Schedule 2.01.
"Term Loan" has the meaning specified in subsection 2.01(a).
A "Type" of Loan means its status as either a Base Rate Loan or an Offshore Rate Loan.
"UCC" means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Illinois.
"Unfunded Pension Liability" means the excess of a Plan's benefit liabilities under Section 4001(a)(16) of ERISA, over the current value of that Plan's assets, determined in accordance with the assumptions used for funding the Pension Plan pursuant to Section 412 of the Code for the applicable plan year.
"United States" and "U.S." each means the United States of America.
"Voting Stock" of any Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is entitled to vote in the election of the board of directors (or other governing body) of such Person.
"Wholly-Owned Subsidiary" means any corporation in which (other than directors' qualifying shares required by law) 100% of the capital stock of each class having ordinary voting power, and 100% of the capital stock of every other class, in each
28

case (or, in the case of Persons other than corporations, membership interests or other equity interests), at the time as of which any determination is being made, is owned, beneficially and of record, by the Company, or by one or more of the other Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries, or both.
"Working Capital" means (a) Current Assets, less (b) Current Liabilities.
1.02 Other Interpretive Provisions. (a) The meanings of defined terms are equally applicable to the singular and plural forms of the defined terms.
(b) The words "hereof", "herein", "hereunder" and similar words refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement; and subsection, Section, Schedule and Exhibit references are to this Agreement unless otherwise specified.
(c) (i) The term "documents" includes any and all instruments, documents, agreements, certificates, indentures, notices and other writings, however evidenced.
(ii) The term "including" is not limiting and means "including without limitation."
(iii) In the computation of periods of time from a specified date to a later specified date, the word "from" means "from and including"; the words "to" and "until" each mean "to but excluding", and the word "through" means "to and including."
(iv) The term "property" includes any kind of property or asset, real, personal or mixed, tangible or intangible.
(d) Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, (i) references to agreements (including this Agreement) and other contractual instruments shall be deemed to include all subsequent amendments and other modifications thereto, but only to the extent such amendments and other modifications are not prohibited by the terms of any Loan Document, and (ii) references to any statute or regulation are to be construed as including all statutory and regulatory provisions consolidating, amending, replacing, supplementing or interpreting the statute or regulation.
(e) The captions and headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement.
(f) This Agreement and other Loan Documents may use several different limitations, tests or measurements to regulate the same or similar matters. All such limitations, tests and measurements are cumulative and shall each be performed in accordance with their terms.
(g) This Agreement and the other Loan Documents are the result of negotiations among and have been reviewed by counsel to the Agent, the Company and the other parties, and are the products of all parties. Accordingly, they shall not be construed against the Lenders or the Agent merely because of the Agent's or Lenders' involvement in their preparation.
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1.03 Accounting Principles. (a) Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, all accounting terms not expressly defined herein shall be construed, and all financial computations required under this Agreement shall be made, in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied.
(b) References herein to "fiscal year" and "fiscal quarter" refer to such fiscal periods of the Company.
(c) In the event that any changes in GAAP occur after the date of this Agreement and such changes result in a material variation in the method of calculation of financial covenants or other terms of this Agreement or in what Subsidiaries are consolidated for financial reporting purposes, then the Company, the Agent and the Lenders agree to amend such provisions of this Agreement so as to equitably reflect such changes so that the criteria for evaluating the Company's financial condition will be the same after such changes as if such changes had not occurred.
1.04 Currency Equivalents Generally. For all purposes of this Agreement (but not for purposes of the preparation of any financial statements delivered pursuant hereto), the equivalent in any Offshore Currency or other currency of an amount in Dollars, and the equivalent in Dollars of an amount in any Offshore Currency or other currency, shall be determined at the Spot Rate.
ARTICLE II
THE CREDITS
2.01 Amounts and Terms of Commitments. (a) The Term Loans. Each Lender severally agrees, on the terms and conditions set forth herein, to make a single loan in Dollars to the Company (each such loan, a "Term Loan") on the Restatement Date in an amount not to exceed such Lender's Term Loan Commitment as set forth on Schedule 2.01. Amounts borrowed as a Term Loan which are repaid or prepaid by the Company may not be reborrowed.
(b) The Revolving Credit. Each Revolving Lender severally agrees, on the terms and conditions set forth herein, to make loans to the Borrowers (each such loan, a "Revolving Loan") from time to time on any Business Day during the period from the Restatement Date to the Revolving Termination Date, in Dollars and/or one or more Offshore Currencies to the Company and in Offshore Currencies only to any Subsidiary Borrower, in an aggregate amount the Dollar Equivalent of which shall not exceed at any time outstanding the amount set forth on Schedule 2.01 (such amount, as the same may be reduced or increased under Section 2.09 or as a result of one or more assignments under Section 11.08, the Revolving Lender's "Revolving Loan Commitment"); provided, however, that, after giving effect to any Borrowing of Revolving Loans, the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all Revolving Loans and Swing Line Loans outstanding at such time plus the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all L/C Obligations outstanding at such time, plus the aggregate amount of all Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments outstanding at such time, shall not at any time exceed the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment; provided further, that the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of the outstanding Revolving Loans of any Revolving Lender plus the participation of such Revolving Lender in the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all
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L/C Obligations and such Revolving Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of any outstanding Swing Line Loans and of the aggregate amount of all Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments shall not at any time exceed such Revolving Lender's Revolving Loan Commitment; and provided further, that the sum of the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of the outstanding Revolving Loans denominated in an Offshore Currency, plus the aggregate amount of all Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments shall not exceed the Offshore Currency Sublimit. Within the limits of each Revolving Lender's Commitment, and subject to the other terms and conditions hereof, the Borrowers may borrow under this subsection 2.01(b), prepay under Section 2.10 and reborrow under this subsection 2.01(b).
2.02 Loan Accounts. (a) The Loans made by each Lender and the Letters of Credit Issued by the Issuer shall be evidenced by one or more accounts or records maintained by such Lender or Issuer, as the case may be, in the ordinary course of business. The accounts or records maintained by the Agent, the Issuer and each Lender shall be conclusive absent manifest error of the amount of the Loans made by the Lenders to the Borrowers and the Letters of Credit Issued for the account of the Company, and the interest and payments thereon. Any failure so to record or any error in doing so shall not, however, limit or otherwise affect the obligation of the Borrowers hereunder to pay any amount owing with respect to the Loans or any Letter of Credit.
(b) Each Borrower shall issue to each Lender notes ("Notes") to evidence such Lender's Loans (which shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit E with respect to Revolving Loans, Exhibit F with respect to Term Loans and Exhibit G with respect to Swing Line Loans and with respect to Fronted Offshore Currency Loans, shall be in such form as may be required by the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum). Each Lender may, instead of or in addition to maintaining a loan account, endorse on the schedule annexed to its Note(s) the date, amount and maturity of each Loan made by it and the amount of each payment of principal made by a Borrower with respect thereto. Each such Lender is irrevocably authorized by the Borrowers to endorse its Note(s) and each Lender's record shall be conclusive absent manifest error; provided, however, that the failure of a Lender to make, or an error in making, a notation thereon with respect to any Loan shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligations of any Borrower hereunder or under any such Note to such Lender.
2.03 Procedure for Borrowing. (a) Each Borrowing shall be made upon the applicable Borrower's irrevocable notice delivered to the Agent in the form of a Notice of Borrowing (which notice must be received by the Agent prior to noon (local time) (i) two Business Days prior to the requested Borrowing Date, in the case of Offshore Rate Loans denominated in Dollars, (ii) four Business Days prior to the requested Borrowing Date in the case of Offshore Rate Loans denominated in Offshore Currencies; and (iii) on the requested Borrowing Date, in the case of Base Rate Loans), specifying:
(A) the amount of the Borrowing, which shall be in an aggregate minimum Dollar Equivalent amount of $3,000,000 or any Dollar Equivalent multiple of $250,000 in excess thereof;
(B) the requested Borrowing Date, which shall be a Business Day;
(C) the Type of Loans comprising the Borrowing;
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(D) with respect to Offshore Rate Loans, the duration of the Interest Period applicable to such Loans included in such notice. If the Notice of Borrowing fails to specify the duration of the Interest Period for any Borrowing comprised of Offshore Rate Loans, such Interest Period shall be three months;
(E) with respect to Offshore Rate Loans, the Applicable Currency for the Borrowing; and
(F) the identity of the Borrower requesting the Borrowing.
(b) The Agent will promptly notify each applicable Lender of its receipt of any Notice of Borrowing and, in respect of Borrowings of Revolving Loans, of (i) the amount of such Revolving Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of that Borrowing and (ii) if such Borrowing is in an Offshore Currency, the aggregate Dollar Equivalent amount of the Borrowing and the applicable Spot Rate used by the Agent to determine the Dollar Equivalent amount. The Agent shall also give the Company prompt notice of the matters referred to in subpart
(ii) of the preceding sentence.
(c) Each Lender will make the amount of its Pro Rata Share of each Borrowing available to the Agent for the account of the applicable Borrower at the Agent's applicable Payment Office by 1:00 p.m. (local time) on the Borrowing Date requested by the Company in funds immediately available to the Agent; provided that each "Lender" under the Prior Credit Agreement which is a Lender shall be deemed to have made available on the Restatement Date an amount equal to the lesser of the aggregate principal amount of "Loans" under the Prior Credit Agreement outstanding on the Restatement Date and the amount of its Pro Rata Share of each Borrowing on the Restatement Date. The proceeds of all such Loans will then be made available to the applicable Borrower by the Agent at such office by crediting the account of such Borrower on the books of BofA with the aggregate of the amounts made available to the Agent by the Lenders and in like funds as received by the Agent.
(d) After giving effect to any Borrowing, unless the Agent shall otherwise consent, there may not be more than 10 different Interest Periods in effect.
(e) Each Borrower hereby authorizes the Lenders and the Agent to accept Notices of Borrowing based on telephonic notices made by any person or persons the Agent or any Lender in good faith believes to be acting on behalf of such Borrower. Each Borrower agrees to deliver promptly to the Agent a written confirmation of each telephonic notice, signed by a Responsible Officer or an authorized designee. If the written confirmation differs in any material respect from the action taken by the Agent and the Lenders, the records of the Agent and the Lenders shall govern absent manifest error.
2.04 Conversion and Continuation Elections. (a) Each Borrower may, with respect to Loans other than Fronted Offshore Currency Loans, upon irrevocable notice to the Agent in accordance with subsection 2.04(b):
(i) elect, as of any Business Day, in the case of Base Rate Loans, or as of the last day of the applicable Interest Period, in the case of Offshore Rate Loans made
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to the Company, to convert any such Loans (or any part thereof in a Dollar Equivalent amount not less than $3,000,000 or that is in an integral multiple of the Dollar Equivalent of $250,000 in excess thereof) into Base Rate Loans; or
(ii) elect as of the last day of the applicable Interest Period, to continue any Revolving Loans or Term Loans having Interest Periods expiring on such day (or any part thereof in an amount not less than the Dollar Equivalent of $3,000,000, or that is in an integral multiple of the Dollar Equivalent of $250,000 in excess thereof);
provided, that if at any time the aggregate amount of Offshore Rate Loans in respect of any Borrowing by all Borrowers is reduced, by payment, prepayment, or conversion of part thereof to be less than the Dollar Equivalent of $3,000,000, such Offshore Rate Loans shall be assigned to and assumed by the Company, if borrowed by a Borrower other than the Company, and then may, upon written notice by the Company delivered to the Agent and the Swing Line Lender concurrent with its notice of prepayment and compliance with Section 2.06, be converted into Swing Line Loans, or, in the absence of such a conversion, shall automatically convert into Base Rate Loans, and on and after such date the right of the Company to continue such Loans as, and convert such Loans into, Offshore Rate Loans shall terminate.
(b) Each Borrower shall deliver a Notice of Conversion/Continuation to be received by the Agent not later than 10:30 a.m. (local time) at least (i) two Business Days in advance of the Conversion/Continuation Date, if the Loans are to be converted into or continued as Offshore Rate Loans denominated in Dollars; (ii) four Business Days in advance of the Conversion/Continuation Date, if the Loans are to be converted into or continued as Offshore Rate Loans denominated in an Offshore Currency; and (iii) on the Conversion/Continuation Date, if the Loans are to be converted into Base Rate Loans, specifying:
(A) the proposed Conversion/Continuation Date;
(B) the aggregate amount of Loans to be converted or continued;
(C) the Type of Loans resulting from the proposed conversion or continuation;
(D) other than in the case of conversions into Base Rate Loans, the duration of the requested Interest Period; and
(E) if converted into Offshore Rate Loans denominated in an Offshore Currency, the Applicable Currency in which such converted Loans are to be denominated.
(c) If upon the expiration of any Interest Period applicable to Offshore Rate Loans, a Borrower has failed to select timely a new Interest Period to be applicable to such Offshore Rate Loans, as the case may be, then
(i) if no Default or Event of Default then exists, such Borrower shall be deemed to have elected to continue such Loans as Offshore Rate Loans to itself denominated in the same Offshore Currency and having a one-month Interest Period effective as of the expiration date of such expiring Interest Period and (ii) if any Default or Event
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of Default then exists, such Borrower shall be deemed to have elected to convert such Offshore Rate Loans into Base Rate Loans made to the Company and denominated in Dollars effective as of the expiration date of such expiring Interest Period.
(d) The Agent will promptly notify each applicable Lender of its receipt of a Notice of Conversion/Continuation, or, if no timely notice is provided by a Borrower, the Agent will promptly notify each applicable Lender of the details of any automatic conversion. All conversions and continuations shall be made ratably according to the respective outstanding principal amounts of the Loans with respect to which the notice was given held by each Lender.
(e) Unless the Required Lenders otherwise consent, during the existence of a Default or Event of Default, no Borrower may elect to have a Loan converted into or continued as an Offshore Rate Loan.
(f) After giving effect to any conversion or continuation of Loans, unless the Agent shall otherwise consent, there may not be more than 10 different Interest Periods in effect.
(g) Each Borrower hereby authorizes the Lenders and the Agent to accept Notices of Conversion/Continuation based on telephonic notices made by any person or persons the Agent or any Lender in good faith believes to be acting on behalf of such Borrower. Each Borrower agrees to deliver promptly to the Agent a written confirmation of each telephonic notice, signed by a Responsible Officer or an authorized designee. If the written confirmation differs in any material respect from the action taken by the Agent and the Lenders, the records of the Agent and the Lenders shall govern absent manifest error.
2.05 The Swing Line Loans. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Swing Line Lender agrees to make Swing Line Loans denominated in Dollars to the Company from time to time prior to the Revolving Termination Date in an aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed $20,000,000; provided, that after giving effect to any such Swing Line Loan, the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all Revolving Loans, Swing Line Loans, Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments and L/C Obligations at such time would not exceed the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment at such time. Prior to the Revolving Termination Date, the Company may use the Swing Line Commitment by borrowing, prepaying the Swing Line Loans in whole or in part, and reborrowing, all in accordance with the terms and conditions hereof. All Swing Line Loans shall bear interest at the Swing Line Rate and shall not be entitled to be converted into Loans that bear interest at any other rate.
2.06 Procedure for Swing Line Loans. (a) The Company may borrow under the Swing Line Commitment on any Business Day until the Revolving Termination Date; provided, that the Company shall give the Swing Line Lender irrevocable written notice signed by a Responsible Officer or an authorized designee (which notice must be received by the Swing Line Lender prior to 11:00 a.m. (local time)) with a copy to the Agent specifying the amount of the requested Swing Line Loan, which shall be in a minimum amount of $100,000 or a whole multiple of $100,000 in excess thereof. The proceeds of the Swing Line Loan will be made available by the Swing Line Lender to the Company in immediately available funds at the office of the Swing Line Lender by 1:00 p.m. (local time) on the date of such notice. The Company may at any time and from time to time, prepay the Swing Line Loans, in whole or in part,
34

without premium or penalty, by notifying the Swing Line Lender prior to 11:00
a.m. (local time) on any Business Day of the date and amount of prepayment with a copy to the Agent. If any such notice is given, the amount specified in such notice shall be due and payable on the date specified therein. Partial prepayments shall be in an aggregate principal amount of $100,000 or a whole multiple of $100,000 in excess thereof.
(b) If any Swing Line Loan shall remain outstanding at 11:00
a.m. (local time) on the fifth Business Day following the date of such Swing Line Loan and if by such time on such fifth Business Day the Agent shall have received neither (i) a Notice of Borrowing delivered by the Company pursuant to
Section 2.03 requesting that Revolving Loans be made pursuant to subsection 2.01(b) on the immediately succeeding Business Day in an amount at least equal to the principal amount of such Swing Line Loan for the purpose of refunding such Swing Line Loan nor (ii) any other notice satisfactory to the Agent indicating the Company's intent to repay such Swing Line Loan on or before the immediately succeeding Business Day with funds obtained from other sources or to extend such Swing Line Loan, then on such Business Day the Swing Line Lender shall (and on any Business Day the Swing Line Lender in its sole discretion may), on behalf of the Company (which hereby irrevocably directs the Swing Line Lender to act on its behalf) request the Agent to notify each Revolving Lender to make a Base Rate Loan in an amount equal to such Revolving Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of (A) in the case of such a request which is required to be made, the amount of the relevant Swing Line Loan and (B) in the case of such a discretionary request, the aggregate principal amount of the Swing Line Loans outstanding on the date such notice is given; provided, that absent notice by the Company to the contrary by such time on such fifth Business Day, the Company shall be deemed to have requested, at the end of such five Business Day period, that each outstanding Swing Line Loan be extended for an additional period of five Business Days, so long as the conditions specified in Section 5.02 would be satisfied at the beginning of each such additional period, treating each such extension as if it were the making of a new Loan. Unless any of the events described in subsection 9.01(f) or (g) shall have occurred with respect to the Company (in which event the procedures of paragraph (d) of this Section 2.06 shall apply) each Revolving Lender shall make the proceeds of its Revolving Loan available to the Agent for the account of the Swing Line Lender at the Agent's Payment Office in funds immediately available prior to 1:00 p.m. (local time) on the Business Day next succeeding the date such notice is given. The proceeds of such Revolving Loans shall be immediately applied to repay the outstanding Swing Line Loans. Effective on the day such Revolving Loans are made, the portion of the Swing Line Loans so paid shall no longer be outstanding as Swing Line Loans and shall no longer be due under the Swing Line Note. The Company shall pay to the Swing Line Lender, promptly following the Swing Line Lender's demand, the amount of its outstanding Swing Line Loans to the extent amounts received from the Revolving Lenders are not sufficient to repay in full such outstanding Swing Line Loans.
(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Swing Line Lender (i) shall not be obligated to make any Swing Line Loan if the conditions set forth in Article V have not been satisfied and (ii) shall not make any requested Swing Line Loan if, prior to 11:00 a.m. (local time) on the date of such requested Swing Line Loan, it has received a written notice from the Agent or any Revolving Lender directing it not to make further Swing Line Loans because one or more of the conditions specified in Article V are not then satisfied.
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(d) If prior to the making of a Revolving Loan required to be made by subsection 2.06(b) an Event of Default described in subsection 9.01(f) or 9.01(g) shall have occurred and be continuing with respect to the Company, each Revolving Lender will, on the date such Revolving Loan was to have been made pursuant to the notice described in subsection 2.06(b), purchase an undivided participating interest in the outstanding Swing Line Loans in an amount equal to its Pro Rata Revolving Share of the aggregate principal amount of Swing Line Loans then outstanding. Each Revolving Lender will immediately transfer to the Agent for the benefit of the Swing Line Lender, in immediately available funds, the amount of its participation.
(e) Whenever, at any time after a Revolving Lender has purchased a participating interest in a Swing Line Loan, the Swing Line Lender receives any payment on account thereof, the Swing Line Lender will distribute to the Agent for delivery to each Revolving Lender its participating interest in such amount (appropriately adjusted, in the case of interest payments, to reflect the period of time during which such Revolving Lender's participating interest was outstanding and funded); provided, however, that in the event that such payment received by the Swing Line Lender is required to be returned, such Revolving Lender will return to the Agent for delivery to the Swing Line Lender any portion thereof previously distributed by the Swing Line Lender to it.
(f) Each Lender's obligation to make the Revolving Loans referred to in subsection 2.06(b) and to purchase participating interests pursuant to subsection 2.06(d) shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance, including, without limitation, (i) any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which such Revolving Lender or the Company may have against the Swing Line Lender, the Company or any other Person for any reason whatsoever, (ii) the occurrence or continuance of a Default or an Event of Default, (iii) any adverse change in the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Company, (iv) any breach of this Agreement or any other Loan Document by the Company, any Subsidiary or any other Lender, or
(v) any other circumstance, happening or event whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing.
2.07 The Fronted Offshore Currency Loans.
(a) Upon the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Article V hereof and set forth in the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum, from and including the later of the date of this Agreement and the date of execution of the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum and prior to the termination of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment (or such earlier termination date as shall be specified in or pursuant to the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum), each Offshore Currency Fronting Lender agrees, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum, to make Fronted Offshore Currency Loans under such Offshore Currency Addendum to the applicable Borrower party to such Offshore Currency Addendum from time to time in the applicable Alternate Currency, in an aggregate principal Effective Amount with a Dollar Equivalent not to exceed each such Offshore Currency Fronting Lender's applicable Fronted Offshore Currency Commitment (the amount of which shall in no event be, if not zero, less than the Dollar Equivalent of $10,000,000 or an increment of $1,000,000 in excess thereof); provided, that, at no time shall the Dollar Equivalent of the Fronted Offshore Currency Loans for any specific Alternate Currency exceed the maximum amount specified as the maximum amount for such
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Alternate Currency in the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum other than as a result of currency fluctuations. Subject to the terms of this Agreement and the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum, the applicable Borrowers may borrow, repay and reborrow Fronted Offshore Currency Loans in the applicable Alternate Currency at any time prior to the termination of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment (or such earlier termination date as shall be specified in or pursuant to the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum). On the termination of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment (or such earlier termination date as shall be specified in or pursuant to the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum), the outstanding principal balance of the Fronted Offshore Currency Loans shall be paid in full by the applicable Borrower and prior to the termination of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment (or such earlier termination date as shall be specified in or pursuant to the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum) prepayments of the Fronted Offshore Currency Loans shall be made by the applicable Borrower if and to the extent required by Section 2.11(e). For the avoidance of doubt, it is understood that no Lender shall have any obligation hereunder to execute an Offshore Currency Addendum and so to become an Offshore Currency Fronting Lender.
(b) The applicable Borrower shall pay the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender a fronting fee in respect of each Fronted Offshore Currency Loan in accordance with the Offshore Currency Addendum (or other agreement with the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender).
(c) Except as otherwise required by applicable law, in no event shall any Offshore Currency Fronting Lender have the right to accelerate the Fronted Offshore Currency Loans outstanding under any Offshore Currency Addendum prior to the stated termination date in respect thereof, except that each Offshore Currency Fronting Lender shall have such rights upon an acceleration of the Loans and a termination of the Revolving Loan Commitments pursuant to Article IX.
(d) Each Offshore Currency Fronting Lender shall furnish to the Agent not less frequently than monthly, at the end of each calendar quarter, and at any other time upon the request of the Agent, a statement setting forth the outstanding Fronted Offshore Currency Loans made and repaid during the period since the last such report under such Offshore Currency Addendum.
(e) Immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under Sections 9.1(a), (f) or (g), each Revolving Lender shall be deemed to have unconditionally and irrevocably purchased from the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender, without recourse or warranty, an undivided interest in and participation in each Fronted Offshore Currency Loan ratably in an amount equal to such Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of the amount of principal and accrued interest of such Loan, and immediately and automatically all Fronted Offshore Currency Loans shall be converted to and redenominated in Dollars equal to the Dollar Equivalent of each such Fronted Offshore Currency Loan determined as of the date of such conversion; provided, that to the extent such conversion shall occur other than at the end of an Interest Period, the applicable Borrower shall pay to the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender, all losses and breakage costs related thereto in accordance with Section
4.04. Each of the Lenders shall pay to the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender not later than two (2) Business Days following a request for payment from such Offshore Currency Fronting Lender, in Dollars, an amount equal to the undivided interest in and participation in the Fronted
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Offshore Currency Loan purchased by such Lender pursuant to this Section
2.07(e). In the event that any Lender fails to make payment to the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender of any amount due under this Section 2.07(e), the Agent shall be entitled to receive, retain and apply against such obligation the principal and interest otherwise payable to such Lender hereunder until the Agent receives from such Lender an amount sufficient to discharge such Lender's payment obligation as prescribed in this Section 2.07(e) together with interest thereon at the Federal Funds Rate for each day during the period commencing on the date of demand by the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender and ending on the date such obligation is fully satisfied. The Agent will promptly remit all payments received as provided above to the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender. In consideration of the risk participations prescribed in this Section 2.07(e), each Lender shall receive, from the accrued interest paid for periods prior to the conversion of any Fronted Offshore Currency Loan as described above by the applicable Borrower on each Fronted Offshore Currency Loan, a fee equal to such Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of the Applicable Offshore Rate Margin component of the interest accrued on such Loan, as in effect from time to time during the period such interest accrued. Such portion of the interest paid by the applicable Borrower on Fronted Offshore Currency Loans to the applicable Offshore Currency Fronting Lender shall be paid as promptly as possible by such Offshore Currency Fronting Lender to the Agent, and the Agent shall as promptly as possible convert such amount into Dollars at the spot rate of exchange in accordance with its normal banking practices and apply such resulting amount ratably among the Lenders (including the Offshore Currency Fronting Lenders) in proportion to their Pro Rata Revolving Share.
(f) Whenever, at any time after a Revolving Lender has purchased a participating interest in a Fronted Offshore Currency Loan, the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender receives any payment on account thereof, the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender will distribute to the Agent for delivery to each Revolving Lender its participating interest in such amount (appropriately adjusted, in the case of interest payments, to reflect the period of time during which such Revolving Lender's participating interest was outstanding and funded); provided, however, that in the event that such payment received by the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender is required to be returned, such Revolving Lender will return to the Agent for delivery to the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender any portion thereof previously distributed by the Agent or the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender to it.
(g) Each Revolving Lender's obligation to purchase the participating interests referred to in subsection 2.07(e) shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance, including, without limitation, (i) any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which such Revolving Lender or any Borrower may have against the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender, the Company or any other Person for any reason whatsoever, (ii) the occurrence or continuance of a Default or an Event of Default, (iii) any adverse change in the condition (financial or otherwise) of any Borrower, (iv) any breach of this Agreement or any other Loan Document by any Borrower, any Guarantor or any other Lender, or (v) any other circumstance, happening or event whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing.
(h) The specification of payment of Fronted Offshore Currency Loans in the related Alternate Currency at a specific place pursuant to this Agreement is of the essence. Such
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Alternate Currency shall, subject to Section 2.07, be the currency of account and payment of such Loans under this Agreement and the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, the obligation of the applicable Borrower in respect of such Loans shall not be discharged by an amount paid in any other currency or at another place, whether pursuant to a judgment or otherwise, to the extent the amount so paid, on prompt conversion into the applicable Alternate Currency and transfer to such Lender under normal banking procedure, does not yield the amount of such Alternate Currency due under this Agreement or the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum. In the event that any payment, whether pursuant to a judgment or otherwise, upon conversion and transfer, does not result in payment of the amount of such Alternate Currency due under this Agreement or the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum, such Lender shall have an independent cause of action against each of the Borrowers for the currency deficit. In the event that any payment, upon conversion and transfer, results in payment in excess of the amount of such Alternate Currency due under this Agreement or the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum, such Lender shall refund such excess to the applicable Borrower.
2.08 Utilization of Commitments in Offshore Currencies.
(a) The Agent will determine the Dollar Equivalent amount with respect to any (i) Borrowing comprised of Offshore Currency Loans as of the requested Borrowing Date, (ii) outstanding Offshore Currency Loans as of the last Banking Day of each month, and (iii) outstanding Offshore Currency Loans as of any redenomination date pursuant to this Section 2.08 or Section 4.05 (each such date under clauses (i) through (iii) a "Computation Date"). The Agent will provide the Company with the amount determined pursuant to the foregoing clause
(ii) promptly following the end of each month. Upon receipt of any Notice of Borrowing, the Agent will promptly notify each Revolving Lender thereof and of the amount of such Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of the Borrowing. In the case of a Borrowing comprised of Offshore Currency Loans, such notice will provide the approximate amount of each Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of the Borrowing, and the Agent will, upon the determination of the Dollar Equivalent amount of the Borrowing as specified in the Notice of Borrowing, promptly notify each Revolving Lender of the exact amount of such Revolving Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of the Borrowing.
(b) In the case of a proposed Borrowing comprised of Offshore Currency Loans, the Revolving Lenders shall be under no obligation to make Offshore Currency Loans in the requested Offshore Currency as part of such Borrowing if the Agent has received notice from any of the Revolving Lenders by 3:00 p.m. (local time) three Business Days prior to the day of such Borrowing that such Lender cannot provide Loans in the requested Offshore Currency, in which event the Agent will give notice to the Company no later than 9:00 a.m. (local time) on the third Business Day prior to the requested date of such Borrowing that the Borrowing in the requested Offshore Currency is not then available, no such Borrowing shall be made and any request for a Revolving Loan in such Offshore Currency shall be deemed withdrawn and shall otherwise be without effect.
(c) In the case of a proposed continuation of Offshore Currency Loans for an additional Interest Period pursuant to Section 2.04, the Revolving Lenders shall be under no obligation to continue such Offshore Currency Loans if the Agent has received notice from any
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of the Revolving Lenders by 4:00 p.m. (local time) three Business Days prior to the day of such continuation that such Revolving Lender cannot continue to provide Loans in the Offshore Currency, in which event the Agent will give notice to the Company not later than 9:00 a.m. (local time) on the second Business Day prior to the requested date of such continuation that the continuation of such Offshore Currency Loans in the Offshore Currency is not then available, and notice thereof also will be given promptly by the Agent to the Lenders. If the Agent shall have so notified the Company that any such continuation of Offshore Currency Loans is not then available, any Notice of Continuation/Conversion with respect thereto shall be deemed withdrawn and such Offshore Currency Loans shall be redenominated into Base Rate Loans assumed by the Company in Dollars with effect from the last day of the Interest Period with respect to any such Offshore Currency Loans. The Agent will promptly notify the Company and the Revolving Lenders of any such redenomination and in such notice by the Agent to each Revolving Lender the Agent will state the aggregate Dollar Equivalent amount of the redenominated Offshore Currency Loans assumed by the Company as of the Computation Date with respect thereto and such Revolving Lender's Pro Rata Share thereof.
(d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, during the existence of an Event of Default, upon the request of the Required Revolving Lenders, all or any part of any outstanding Offshore Currency Loans shall be redenominated and converted into Base Rate Loans in Dollars assumed by the Company with effect from the last day of the Interest Period with respect to any such Offshore Currency Loans. The Agent will promptly notify the applicable Borrower of any such redenomination and conversion request.
(e) The Company shall be entitled to request that Revolving Loans hereunder shall also be permitted to be made in any other lawful currency constituting a eurocurrency (other than Dollars), in addition to the currencies specified in the definition of "Offshore Currency" herein, that in the opinion of each Revolving Lender is at such time freely traded in the offshore interbank foreign exchange markets and is freely transferable and freely convertible into Dollars (an "Agreed Alternative Currency"). The Company shall deliver to the Agent any request for designation of an Agreed Alternative Currency in accordance with Section 11.02, to be received by the Agent not later than noon (local time) at least ten Business Days in advance of the date of any Borrowing hereunder proposed to be made in such Agreed Alternative Currency. Upon receipt of any such request the Agent will promptly notify the Revolving Lenders thereof, and each Revolving Lender will use its best efforts to respond to such request within two Business Days of receipt thereof. Each Revolving Lender may grant or accept such request in its sole discretion. The Agent will promptly notify the Company of the acceptance or rejection of any such request.
2.09 Voluntary Termination, Reduction or Increase of Revolving Loan Commitments. (a) The Company may, upon not less than five Business Days' prior notice to the Agent, terminate the Revolving Loan Commitments, or permanently reduce the Revolving Loan Commitments by an aggregate minimum amount of $10,000,000 or any multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof; unless, after giving effect thereto and to any prepayments of Loans made on the effective date thereof, (a) the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all Revolving Loans, Swing Line Loans and L/C Obligations together plus the amount of all outstanding Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments would exceed the amount of the Aggregate Revolving
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Loan Commitment then in effect, or (b) the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all L/C Obligations then outstanding would exceed the L/C Commitment. Once reduced in accordance with this Section, the Revolving Loan Commitments may not be increased. Any reduction of the Revolving Loan Commitments shall be applied to each Revolving Lender according to its Pro Rata Revolving Share. All accrued commitment and letter of credit fees to, but not including, the effective date of any reduction or termination of Revolving Loan Commitments, shall be paid on the effective date of such reduction or termination.
(b) At no time shall the sum of the Swing Line Commitment and the Fronted Offshore Currency Commitment(s) exceed the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment, and any reduction of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment which reduces the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment below the then-current sum of the Swing Line Commitment and the Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments shall result in an automatic pro rata corresponding reduction of each of the Swing Line Commitment and the Fronted Offshore Currency Commitment(s) so that the sum thereof is equal to the amount of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment, as so reduced, without any action on the part of the Swing Line Lender or the Fronted Offshore Currency Lender(s). At no time shall either the sum of the Swing Line Commitment plus any Fronted Offshore Currency Commitment of BofA exceed the Revolving Loan Commitment of BofA, and any reduction of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment which reduces the Revolving Loan Commitment of BofA below the then-current sum of the Swing Line Commitment plus the Fronted Offshore Currency Commitment of BofA shall result in an automatic corresponding reduction of the Swing Line Commitment and the Fronted Offshore Currency Commitment of BofA, on a ratable basis, to the amount of the Revolving Loan Commitment of BofA, as so reduced, without any action on the part of BofA.
(c) The Company may, at its option, on a single occasion within two years of the Restatement Date, seek to increase the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment by up to an aggregate amount of $50,000,000 (resulting in a maximum Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment of $220,000,000) upon at least three (3) Business Days' prior written notice to the Agent, which notice shall specify the amount of any such increase and shall be delivered at a time when no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. The Company may, after giving such notice, offer the increase (which may be declined by any Lender in its sole discretion) in the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment on either a ratable basis to the Lenders or on a non pro-rata basis to one or more Lenders and/or to other banks or entities reasonably acceptable to the Agent. No increase in the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment shall become effective until the existing or new Lenders extending such incremental Revolving Loan Commitment amount and the Company shall have delivered to the Agent a document in form reasonably satisfactory to the Agent pursuant to which any such existing Revolving Lender states the amount of its Revolving Loan Commitment increase, any such new Revolving Lender states its Revolving Loan Commitment amount and agrees to assume and accept the obligations and rights of a Revolving Lender hereunder and the Company accepts such incremental Revolving Loan Commitments. The Revolving Lenders (new or existing) shall accept an assignment from the existing Revolving Lenders, and the existing Revolving Lenders shall make an assignment to the new or existing Revolving Lender accepting a new or increased Revolving Loan Commitment, of an interest (or participation interest, as applicable) in all Revolving Loans and other credit exposure in respect of the
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Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment such that, after giving effect thereto, all Revolving Loans and all such other credit exposure are held ratably by the Revolving Lenders in proportion to their respective Revolving Loan Commitments. Assignments pursuant to the preceding sentence shall be made in exchange for the principal amount assigned plus accrued and unpaid interest and commitment and other fees. The Company shall make any payments under Section 4.04 resulting from such assignments.
2.10 Optional Prepayments. Subject to Section 4.04, any Borrower may, at any time or from time to time, upon not less than two (2) Business Days' irrevocable notice to the Agent, in respect of Offshore Rate Loans (other than Fronted Offshore Currency Loans, except as otherwise provided in the applicable Offshore Currency Addendum), and in respect of Base Rate Loans, by not later than 10:30 a.m. (local time) on the prepayment date, prepay Loans in whole or in part, in minimum amounts equal to the Dollar Equivalent of $3,000,000 or any Dollar Equivalent multiple of $250,000 in excess thereof. Such notice of prepayment shall specify the date and amount of such prepayment, which Loans are to be prepaid and the Type(s) of such Loans to be prepaid. The Agent will promptly notify each Lender of its receipt of any such notice, and of such Lender's Pro Rata Share of such prepayment. If such notice is given by any Borrower, such Borrower shall make such prepayment and the payment amount specified in such notice shall be due and payable on the date specified therein, together, in the case of Offshore Rate Loans, with accrued interest to each such date on the amount prepaid and any amounts required pursuant to Section 4.04. Optional prepayments of such Term Loan shall be applied first, in the order of maturity, to payments due on the Term Loan in the next 12 months, and then ratably to all remaining payments on the Term Loan.
2.11 Mandatory Prepayments of Loans. (a) If on any date the Effective Amount of L/C Obligations exceeds the L/C Commitment, the Company shall Cash Collateralize on such date the outstanding Letters of Credit in an amount equal to the excess of the maximum amount then available to be drawn under the Letters of Credit over the Aggregate L/C Commitment. Subject to Section 4.04, if on any date, after giving effect to any Cash Collateralization made on such date pursuant to the preceding sentence, the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all Revolving Loans, Swing Line Loans and Fronted Offshore Currency Loans then outstanding plus the Effective Amount of all L/C Obligations exceeds the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment, the Borrowers shall immediately, and without notice or demand, prepay the outstanding principal amount of the Revolving Loans, Swing Line Loans, Fronted Offshore Currency Loans and/or L/C Advances by an amount equal to such excess.
(b) Within five (5) Business Days after the receipt thereof, the Company shall prepay the Term Loans and reduce the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment in an amount equal to 100% of the Net Proceeds realized upon the issuance by the Company or any Subsidiary of any publicly traded debt securities (or other Indebtedness issued pursuant to an indenture, including Indebtedness issued in a so called "144A Offering") other than any subordinated debt securities issued pursuant to Section 8.05(g) or Indebtedness incurred pursuant to Section 8.05(i).
(c) Within five (5) Business Days after the end of each fiscal quarter, the Company shall prepay the Term Loans and reduce the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment in an amount equal to 100% of the sum of (a) the Net Proceeds realized upon all Asset Dispositions (excluding those described in
Section 8.02 (a)-(c) and (e)-(m) and those which,
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together with all related Asset Dispositions, result in Net Proceeds of less than $1,000,000) made by the Company or any Subsidiary in such fiscal quarter,
(b) the insurance proceeds received by the Company or any Subsidiary in such fiscal quarter following a casualty involving such Person's Property and (c) the payments received by the Company or any Subsidiary in such fiscal quarter from a condemnation of such Person's Property, aggregating in excess of $250,000, to the extent not applied (or committed to be applied) within 90 days after the consummation or receipt thereof, as applicable, to the purchase of other assets that are not classified as current assets under GAAP and are used or useful in the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the prepayment due in respect of any sales pursuant to a Permitted Securitization shall not exceed the program limit for such Permitted Securitization.
(d) The amount of any prepayment pursuant to paragraph (b) or
(c) shall be applied (i) first to the Term Loans as described in the last sentence of Section 2.10, and then (ii) to permanently reduce the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment. The Company shall use its best efforts to notify the Agent and each Lender of the amount of any required prepayment at least three
(3) Business Days before it is made.
(e) If at any time of calculation by the Agent (whether pursuant to Section 2.08(a) or otherwise) (i) the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all Revolving Loans denominated in an Offshore Currency plus the outstanding amount of all Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments exceeds either the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment or the Offshore Currency Sublimit as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange rates, the Borrowers shall immediately prepay Loans in an aggregate amount such that after giving effect thereto any such excess is eliminated; or (ii) the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Fronted Offshore Currency Loans in the same Alternate Currency exceeds the aggregate Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments with respect thereto as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange rates, the applicable Borrowers shall on such date prepay Fronted Offshore Currency Loans in such Alternate Currency in an aggregate amount such that after giving effect thereto the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all Fronted Offshore Currency Loans in such Alternate Currency is less than or equal to the aggregate Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments with respect thereto.
2.12 Repayment. (a) Term Loan. The Company shall repay the Term Loan on each date set forth below as follows (each a "Principal Payment Date"):

                       Term Loan
Date                   Payment
----                  ----------
12/31/00              $2,000,000
3/31/01               $2,000,000
6/30/01               $2,000,000
9/30/01               $2,000,000
12/31/01              $2,500,000
3/31/02               $2,500,000
6/30/02               $2,500,000
9/30/02               $2,500,000
12/31/02              $3,000,000
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                       Term Loan
Date                   Payment
----                  ----------
3/31/03               $3,000,000
6/30/03               $3,000,000
9/30/03               $3,000,000
12/31/03              $3,500,000
3/31/04               $3,500,000
6/30/04               $3,500,000
9/30/04               $3,500,000
12/31/04              $3,500,000
3/31/05               $3,500,000
6/30/05               $3,500,000
9/30/05               $3,500,000
12/31/05              $1,000,000
1/31/06               $1,000,000

Total                $60,000,000

(b) The Revolving Credit. The Borrowers shall repay to the Lenders on the Revolving Termination Date the aggregate principal amount of Revolving Loans outstanding on such date.
2.13 Interest. (a) Each Revolving Loan and Term Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof from the applicable Borrowing Date at a rate per annum equal to the Offshore Rate or the Base Rate, as the case may be (and subject to the Borrowers' right to convert to other Types of Loans under Section 2.04), plus the Applicable Offshore Rate Margin or the Applicable Base Rate Margin, as applicable. Each Fronted Offshore Currency Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof from the applicable borrowing date at a rate per annum equal to the applicable Fronted Offshore Currency Rate.
(b) Interest on each Revolving Loan and Term Loan shall be paid in arrears on each Interest Payment Date. Interest on Base Rate Loans shall also be paid on the date of any payment (including prepayment) in full thereof. Interest on Offshore Rate Loans shall also be paid on the date of any prepayment of Loans under Section 2.10 or 2.11 for the portion of the Loans so prepaid and upon payment (including prepayment) in full thereof. During the existence of any Event of Default, interest on all Loans shall be paid on demand of the Agent at the request or with the consent of the Required Lenders.
(c) Notwithstanding subsection 2.13(a), while any Event of Default exists or after acceleration, the applicable Borrower shall pay interest (after as well as before entry of judgment thereon to the extent permitted by law) on the principal amount of all outstanding Obligations, at a rate per annum which is determined by adding 2% per annum to the applicable interest rate otherwise then in effect for such Loans; provided, however, that on and after the expiration of any Interest Period applicable to any Offshore Rate Loan outstanding on the date of occurrence of such Event of Default or acceleration, the principal amount of such Loan shall,
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during the continuation of such Event of Default or after acceleration, bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Base Rate plus the Applicable Base Rate Margin plus 2%.
(d) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the obligations of any Borrower to any Lender hereunder shall be subject to the limitation that payments of interest shall not be required for any period for which interest is computed hereunder, to the extent (but only to the extent) that contracting for or receiving such payment by such Lender would be contrary to the provisions of any law applicable to such Lender limiting the highest rate of interest that may be lawfully contracted for, charged or received by such Lender, and in such event such Borrower shall pay such Lender interest at the highest rate permitted by applicable law.
2.14 Fees. In addition to certain fees described in Section 3.08:
(a) Arrangement, Agency Fees. The Company shall pay such fees to the Agent and the Arranger as are required by the letter agreement ("Fee Letter") between the Company and the Arranger and Agent dated July 19, 2000.
(b) Commitment Fees. The Company shall pay to the Agent for the account of each Revolving Lender a commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of such Revolving Lender's Revolving Loan Commitment, computed on a quarterly basis in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter based upon the daily utilization for that quarter as calculated by the Agent, equal to the Applicable Commitment Fee Percentage. For purposes of calculating utilization under this subsection, the Revolving Loan Commitments shall be deemed used to the extent of the Effective Amount of Revolving Loans then outstanding (excluding any outstanding Swing Line Loans), plus the Effective Amount of the Dollar Equivalent of the Fronted Offshore Currency Loans then outstanding plus the Effective Amount of L/C Obligations then outstanding. Such commitment fee shall accrue from the date hereof to the Revolving Termination Date and shall be due and payable quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter commencing on September 30, 2000 through the Revolving Termination Date, with the final payment to be made on the Revolving Termination Date; provided that, in connection with any reduction or termination of Revolving Loan Commitments under Section 2.09, the accrued commitment fee calculated for the period ending on such date shall also be paid on the date of such reduction or termination, with the following quarterly payment being calculated on the basis of the period from such reduction or termination date to such quarterly payment date. The commitment fees provided in this subsection shall accrue at all times after the above-mentioned commencement date, including at any time during which one or more conditions in Article V are not met.
2.15 Computation of Fees and Interest. (a) All computations of interest for Base Rate Loans when the Base Rate is determined by BofA's "reference rate" shall be made on the basis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, and actual days elapsed. All other computations of fees and interest shall be made on the basis of a 360-day year and actual days elapsed (which results in more interest being paid than if computed on the basis of a 365-day year). Interest and fees shall accrue during each period during which interest or such fees are computed from the first day thereof to the last day thereof.
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(b) Each determination of an interest rate by the Agent shall be conclusive and binding on the applicable Borrower and the Lenders in the absence of manifest error.
2.16 Payments by the Borrowers. (a) All payments to be made by the Borrowers shall be made without set-off, recoupment or counterclaim. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all payments by the Borrowers shall be made to the Agent for the account of the Lenders at the Agent's Payment Office, and shall be made in dollars and in immediately available funds, no later than 11:00
a.m. (local time) on the date specified herein. The Agent will promptly distribute to each Lender its applicable share of such payment in like funds as received which, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be based upon such Lender's Pro Rata Share of the Loans in respect of which such prepayment has been made. Any payment received by the Agent later than 1:00 p.m. (local time) shall be deemed to have been received on the following Business Day and any applicable interest or fee shall continue to accrue.
(b) Subject to the provisions set forth in the definition of "Interest Period" herein, whenever any payment is due on a day other than a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the following Business Day, and such extension of time shall in such case be included in the computation of interest or fees, as the case may be.
(c) Unless the Agent receives notice from a Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Lenders that such Borrower will not make such payment in full as and when required, the Agent may assume that such Borrower has made such payment in full to the Agent on such date in immediately available funds and the Agent may (but shall not be so required), in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to each Lender on such due date an amount equal to the amount then due such Lender. If and to the extent a Borrower has not made such payment in full to the Agent, each Lender shall repay to the Agent on demand such amount distributed to such Lender, together with interest thereon at the Federal Funds Rate for each day from the date such amount is distributed to such Lender until the date repaid.
2.17 Payments by the Lenders to the Agent. (a) Except as otherwise expressly provided in Section 2.08 with respect to Fronted Offshore Currency Loans, unless the Agent receives notice from a Lender on or prior to the Restatement Date or, with respect to any Borrowing after the Restatement Date, at least one Business Day prior to the date of such Borrowing, that such Lender will not make available as and when required hereunder to the Agent for the account of a Borrower the amount of that Lender's Pro Rata Share of the Borrowing, the Agent may assume that each Lender has made such amount available to the Agent in immediately available funds on the Borrowing Date and the Agent may (but shall not be so required), in reliance upon such assumption, make available to such Borrower on such date a corresponding amount. If and to the extent any Lender shall not have made its full amount available to the Agent in immediately available funds and the Agent in such circumstances has made available to such Borrower such amount, that Lender shall on the Business Day following such Borrowing Date make such amount available to the Agent, together with interest at the Federal Funds Rate for each day during such period. A notice of the Agent submitted to any Lender with respect to amounts owing under this subsection (a) shall be conclusive, absent manifest error. If such amount is so made available, such payment to the Agent shall constitute such Lender's Loan on the date of Borrowing for all purposes of this Agreement. If such amount is not made available to the Agent on the Business Day following the Borrowing Date, the Agent
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will notify applicable Borrower of such failure to fund and, upon demand by the Agent, such Borrower shall pay such amount to the Agent for the Agent's account, together with interest thereon for each day elapsed since the date of such Borrowing, at a rate per annum equal to the interest rate applicable at the time to the Loans comprising such Borrowing.
(b) The failure of any Lender to make any Loan on any Borrowing Date shall not relieve any other Lender of any obligation hereunder to make a Loan on such Borrowing Date, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to make the Loan to be made by such other Lender on any Borrowing Date.
2.18 Sharing of Payments, Etc. If, other than as expressly provided elsewhere herein, any Lender shall obtain on account of the Loans made by it any payment (whether voluntary, involuntary, through the exercise of any right of set-off, or otherwise) in excess of its ratable share (or other share contemplated hereunder), such Lender shall immediately (a) notify the Agent of such fact, and (b) purchase from the other Lenders such participations in the Loans made by them as shall be necessary to cause such purchasing Lender to share the excess payment pro rata with each of them; provided, however, that if all or any portion of such excess payment is thereafter recovered from the purchasing Lender, such purchase shall to that extent be rescinded and each other Lender shall repay to the purchasing Lender the purchase price paid therefor, together with an amount equal to such paying Lender's ratable share (according to the proportion of (i) the amount of such paying Lender's required repayment to (ii) the total amount so recovered from the purchasing Lender) of any interest or other amount paid or payable by the purchasing Lender in respect of the total amount so recovered. Each Borrower agrees that any Lender so purchasing a participation from another Lender may, to the fullest extent permitted by law, exercise all its rights of payment (including the right of set-off, but subject to Section 11.10) with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were the direct creditor of such Borrower in the amount of such participation. The Agent will keep records (which shall be conclusive and binding in the absence of manifest error) of participations purchased under this Section and will in each case notify the Lenders following any such purchases or repayments.
2.19 Security and Subsidiary Guaranty. (a) All Obligations of the Borrowers and the Guarantors under this Agreement, the Notes and all other Loan Documents shall be secured in accordance with the Collateral Documents.
(b) All Obligations of the Borrowers under this Agreement, each of the Notes delivered by it and all other Loan Documents shall be unconditionally guaranteed by the Guarantors pursuant to the Subsidiary Guaranty, and all Obligations of the Subsidiary Borrowers under this Agreement, each of the Notes delivered by them and all other Loan Documents shall be unconditionally guaranteed by the Company pursuant to the terms of Section 12 hereof.
2.20 Subsidiary Borrowers. On or after the Restatement Date, with the consent of the Agent, the Company may designate any Subsidiary (other than any Securitization Subsidiary and any captive insurance company Subsidiary) as a Subsidiary Borrower by delivery to the Agent of a Subsidiary Borrower Supplement executed by such Subsidiary and the Company, together with Notes in favor of each Revolving Lender and, if applicable, a Fronted Offshore Currency Note in favor of the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender, and upon such delivery such Subsidiary shall for all purposes of this Agreement be a Subsidiary Borrower and party to this Agreement. As
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soon as practicable upon receipt of a Subsidiary Borrower Supplement, the Agent will deliver a copy thereof to each Lender. So long as the principal of and interest on all Loans made to any Subsidiary Borrowers under this Agreement shall have been paid in full and all other obligations of such Subsidiary Borrower shall have been fully performed, such Subsidiary Borrower may, upon not less than five Business Days' prior written notice to the Agent (which shall promptly notify the Lenders thereof), terminate its status as a "Subsidiary Borrower".
ARTICLE III
THE LETTERS OF CREDIT
3.01 The Letter of Credit Subfacility. (a) On the terms and conditions set forth herein (i) the Issuer agrees, (A) from time to time on any Business Day, during the period from the Restatement Date to the day which is five days prior to the Revolving Termination Date, to issue Letters of Credit for the account of the Company in an aggregate Stated Amount in Dollars or any Alternate Currency at any one time that, the Dollar Equivalent of which, together with the aggregate Dollar Equivalent of the Stated Amount of all other outstanding Letters of Credit issued pursuant hereto, does not exceed the L/C Commitment, and to amend or renew Letters of Credit previously issued by it, in accordance with subsections 3.02(c) and 3.02(d), and (B) to honor drafts under the Letters of Credit; and (ii) the Revolving Lenders severally agree to participate in Letters of Credit Issued for the account of the Company; provided, that the Issuer shall not be obligated to Issue, and no Revolving Lender shall be obligated to participate in, any Letter of Credit if as of the date of Issuance of such Letter of Credit (the "Issuance Date") (1) the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all L/C Obligations, plus the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all Revolving Loans and Swing Line Loans plus the aggregate amount of all Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments exceeds the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment or (2) the participation of any Lender in the Dollar Equivalent of the Effective Amount of all L/C Obligations plus the Effective Amount of the Revolving Loans of such Lender and such Revolving Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of any outstanding Swing Line Loans and Fronted Offshore Currency Commitments exceeds such Lender's Commitment. Within the foregoing limits, and subject to the other terms and conditions hereof, the Company's ability to obtain Letters of Credit shall be fully revolving, and, accordingly, the Company may, during the foregoing period, obtain Letters of Credit to replace Letters of Credit which have expired or which have been drawn upon and reimbursed.
(b) The Issuer is under no obligation to, and shall not, Issue any Letter of Credit if:
(i) any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain the Issuer from Issuing such Letter of Credit, or any Requirement of Law applicable to the Issuer or any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over the Issuer shall prohibit, or request that the Issuer refrain from, the Issuance of letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall impose upon the Issuer with respect to such Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or capital requirement (for which the Issuer is not otherwise compensated hereunder) not in effect on the Closing Date, or shall impose upon the Issuer any unreimbursed loss, cost or
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expense which was not applicable on the Closing Date and which the Issuer in good faith deems material to it;
(ii) the Issuer has received written notice from any Revolving Lender, the Agent or the Company, on or prior to the Business Day prior to the requested date of Issuance of such Letter of Credit, that one or more of the applicable conditions contained in Article V is not then satisfied;
(iii) the expiry date of any requested Letter of Credit is (A) more than 720 days after the date of Issuance, unless (1) the Required Revolving Lenders have approved such expiry date in writing or (2) such Letter of Credit is a Surety L/C, or (B) after the date which is five days prior to the Revolving Termination Date, unless all of the Revolving Lenders have approved such expiry date in writing;
(iv) the expiry date of any requested Letter of Credit is prior to the maturity date of any financial obligation to be supported by the requested Letter of Credit;
(v) any requested Letter of Credit does not provide for drafts, or is not otherwise in form and substance acceptable to the Issuer, or the Issuance of a Letter of Credit shall violate any applicable policies of the Issuer; or
(vi) such Letter of Credit is to be denominated in a currency other than Dollars or any Offshore Currency.
3.02 Issuance, Amendment and Renewal of Letters of Credit. (a) Each Letter of Credit shall be issued upon the irrevocable written request of the Company received by the Issuer (with a copy sent by the Company to the Agent) at least three days (or such shorter time as the Issuer may agree in a particular instance in its sole discretion) prior to the proposed date of issuance; provided, that five days' prior notice (or such shorter time as the Issuer may agree in a particular instance in its sole discretion) shall be required in respect of each Letter of Credit to be denominated in an Offshore Currency. Each such request for issuance of a Letter of Credit shall be by facsimile, confirmed immediately in an original writing (if required by the Issuer), in the form of an L/C Application (or such other form as shall be acceptable to the Issuer), or shall be by online letter of credit software acceptable to the Issuer, and shall specify in form and detail satisfactory to the Issuer: (i) the proposed date of issuance of the Letter of Credit (which shall be a Business Day); (ii) the face amount of the Letter of Credit; (iii) the expiry date of the Letter of Credit;
(iv) the name and address of the beneficiary thereof; (v) the documents to be presented by the beneficiary of the Letter of Credit in case of any drawing thereunder; (vi) the full text of any certificate to be presented by the beneficiary in case of any drawing thereunder; (vii) the currency in which such Letter of Credit is to be denominated, which shall be Dollars or an Offshore Currency; and (viii) such other matters as the Issuer may require.
(b) At least two Business Days prior to the Issuance of any Letter of Credit (or such shorter time as the Agent may agree in a particular instance in its sole discretion), the Issuer will confirm with the Agent (by telephone or in writing) that the Agent has received a copy of the L/C Application or L/C Amendment Application from the Company and, if not, the Issuer
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will provide the Agent with a copy thereof. Unless the Issuer has received notice on or before the Business Day immediately preceding the date the Issuer is to issue a requested Letter of Credit from the Agent (A) directing the Issuer not to issue such Letter of Credit because such issuance is not then permitted under subsection 3.01(a) as a result of the limitations set forth in clauses (1) through (3) thereof or subsection 3.01(b)(ii); or (B) that one or more conditions specified in Article V are not then satisfied; then, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Issuer shall, on the requested date, issue a Letter of Credit for the account of the Company in accordance with the Issuer's usual and customary business practices.
(c) From time to time while a Letter of Credit is outstanding and prior to the Revolving Termination Date, the Issuer will, upon the written request of the Company received by the Issuer (with a copy sent by the Company to the Agent) at least three days (or such shorter time as the Issuer may agree in a particular instance in its sole discretion) prior to the proposed date of amendment, amend any Letter of Credit issued by it. Each such request for amendment of a Letter of Credit shall be made by facsimile, confirmed immediately in an original writing (if required by the Issuer), made in the form of an L/C Amendment Application or through on-line letter of credit software acceptable to the Issuer and shall specify in form and detail satisfactory to the Issuer: (i) the Letter of Credit to be amended; (ii) the proposed date of amendment of the Letter of Credit (which shall be a Business Day); (iii) the nature of the proposed amendment; and (iv) such other matters as the Issuer may require. The Issuer shall be under no obligation to amend any Letter of Credit if: (A) the Issuer would have no obligation at such time to issue such Letter of Credit in its amended form under the terms of this Agreement; or (B) the beneficiary of any such letter of Credit does not accept the proposed amendment to the Letter of Credit. The Agent will promptly notify the Revolving Lenders of the receipt by it of any L/C Application or L/C Amendment Application.
(d) The Issuer and the Lenders agree that, while a Letter of Credit is outstanding and prior to the Revolving Termination Date, at the option of the Company and upon the written request of the Company received by the Issuer (with a copy sent by the Company to the Agent) at least three days (or such shorter time as the Issuer may agree in a particular instance in its sole discretion) prior to the proposed date of notification of renewal, the Issuer shall be entitled to authorize the automatic renewal of any Letter of Credit issued by it. Each such request for renewal of a Letter of Credit shall be made by facsimile, confirmed immediately in an original writing (if required by the Issuer), in the form of an L/C Amendment Application or through on-line letter of credit software acceptable to the Issuer, and shall specify in form and detail satisfactory to the Issuer: (i) the Letter of Credit to be renewed; (ii) the proposed date of notification of renewal of the Letter of Credit (which shall be a Business Day); (iii) the revised expiry date of the Letter of Credit; and (iv) such other matters as the Issuer may require. The Issuer shall be under no obligation so to renew any Letter of Credit if: (A) the Issuer would have no obligation at such time to issue or amend such Letter of Credit in its renewed form under the terms of this Agreement; or (B) the beneficiary of any such Letter of Credit does not accept the proposed renewal of the Letter of Credit. If any outstanding Letter of Credit shall provide that it shall be automatically renewed unless the beneficiary thereof receives notice from the Issuer that such Letter of Credit shall not be renewed, and if at the time of renewal the Issuer would be entitled to authorize the automatic renewal of such Letter of Credit in accordance with this subsection 3.02(e) upon the request of the Company but the Issuer shall not have received any
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L/C Amendment Application from the Company with respect to such renewal or other written direction by the Company with respect thereto, the Issuer shall nonetheless be permitted to allow such Letter of Credit to renew, and the Company and the Lenders hereby authorize such renewal, and, accordingly, the Issuer shall be deemed to have received an L/C Amendment Application from the Company requesting such renewal.
(e) The Issuer may, at its election (or as required by the Agent at the direction of the Required Revolving Lenders), deliver any notices of termination or other communications to any Letter of Credit beneficiary or transferee, and take any other action as necessary or appropriate, at any time and from time to time, in order to cause the expiry date of such Letter of Credit to be a date not later than the date which is five days prior to the Revolving Termination Date.
(f) This Agreement shall control in the event of any conflict with any L/C-Related Document (other than any Letter of Credit).
(g) The Issuer will also deliver to the Agent, concurrently or promptly following its delivery of a Letter of Credit, or amendment to or renewal of a Letter of Credit, to an advising bank or a beneficiary, a true and complete copy of each such Letter of Credit or amendment to or renewal of a Letter of Credit.
3.03 Risk Participations, Drawings and Reimbursements. (a) Immediately upon the Issuance of each Letter of Credit, each Revolving Lender shall be deemed to, and hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees to, purchase from the Issuer a participation in such Letter of Credit and each drawing thereunder in an amount equal to the product of (i) the Pro Rata Revolving Share of such Revolving Lender, times (ii) the Dollar Equivalent of the maximum amount available to be drawn under such Letter of Credit and the amount of such drawing, respectively. For purposes of subsection 2.01(d), each Issuance of a Letter of Credit shall be deemed to utilize the Revolving Loan Commitment of each Revolving Lender by an amount equal to the amount of such participation.
(b) In the event of any request for a drawing under a Letter of Credit by the beneficiary or transferee thereof, the Issuer will promptly notify the Company. The Company shall reimburse the Issuer prior to 11:00 a.m. (local time), on each date that any amount is paid by the Issuer under any Letter of Credit (each such date, an "Honor Date"), in an amount in Dollars equal to the Dollar Equivalent of the amount so paid by the Issuer. In the event the Company fails to reimburse the Issuer in Dollars for the Dollar Equivalent of the full amount of any drawing under any Letter of Credit by 11:00 a.m. (local time) on the Honor Date, the Issuer will promptly notify the Agent and the Agent will promptly notify each Lender thereof, and the Company shall be deemed to have requested that Base Rate Loans in an amount equal to such unreimbursed amount be made by the Revolving Lenders to be disbursed on the Honor Date under such Letter of Credit, subject to the amount of the unutilized portion of the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment and subject to the conditions set forth in Section 5.02. Any notice given by the Issuer or the Agent pursuant to this subsection 3.03(b) may be oral if immediately confirmed in writing (including by facsimile); provided that the lack of such an immediate confirmation shall not affect the conclusiveness or binding effect of such notice.
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(c) Each Revolving Lender shall upon any notice pursuant to subsection 3.03(b) make available to the Agent for the account of the relevant Issuer an amount in Dollars and in immediately available funds equal to its Pro Rata Revolving Share of the Dollar Equivalent of the amount of the drawing, whereupon the participating Revolving Lenders shall (subject to subsection 3.03(d)) each be deemed to have made a Revolving Loan consisting of a Base Rate Loan to the Company in that amount. If any Revolving Lender so notified fails to make available to the Agent for the account of the Issuer the amount of such Revolving Lender's Pro Rata Share of the Dollar Equivalent of the amount of the drawing by no later than 12:00 noon (local time) on the Honor Date, then interest shall accrue on such Revolving Lender's obligation to make such payment, from the Honor Date to the date such Revolving Lender makes such payment, at a rate per annum equal to the Federal Funds Rate in effect from time to time during such period. The Agent will promptly give notice of the occurrence of the Honor Date, but failure of the Agent to give any such notice on the Honor Date or in sufficient time to enable any Revolving Lender to effect such payment on such date shall not relieve such Revolving Lender from its obligations under this Section 3.03.
(d) With respect to any unreimbursed drawing that is not converted into Revolving Loans consisting of Base Rate Loans to the Company in whole or in part, because of the Company's failure to satisfy the conditions set forth in Section 5.02 or for any other reason, the Company shall be deemed to have incurred from the Issuer an L/C Borrowing in the Dollar Equivalent of the amount of such drawing, which L/C Borrowing shall be due and payable on demand (together with interest) and shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Base Rate, plus the Applicable Base Rate Margin, plus 2.0% per annum, and each Revolving Lender's payment to the Issuer pursuant to subsection 3.03(c) shall be deemed payment in respect of its participation in such L/C Borrowing and shall constitute an L/C Advance from such Revolving Lender in satisfaction of its participation obligation under this Section 3.03.
(e) Each Revolving Lender's obligation in accordance with this Agreement to make the Revolving Loans or L/C Advances, as contemplated by this
Section 3.03, as a result of a drawing under a Letter of Credit, shall be absolute and unconditional and without recourse to the Issuer and shall not be affected by any circumstance, including (i) any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which such Revolving Lender may have against the Issuer, the Company or any other Person for any reason whatsoever; (ii) the occurrence or continuance of a Default, an Event of Default or a Material Adverse Effect; or (iii) any other circumstance, happening or event whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing; provided, however, that each Revolving Lender's obligation to make Revolving Loans under this Section 3.03 is subject to the conditions set forth in Section 5.02.
3.04 Repayment of Participations. (a) Upon (and only upon) receipt by the Agent for the account of the Issuer of immediately available funds in Dollars from the Company (i) in reimbursement of any payment made by the Issuer under the Letter of Credit with respect to which any Revolving Lender has paid the Agent for the account of the Issuer for such Revolving Lender's participation in the Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 3.03 or (ii) in payment of interest thereon, the Agent will promptly pay to each Revolving Lender, in the same funds as those received by the Agent for the account of the Issuer, the amount of such Revolving Lender's Pro Rata Revolving Share of such funds, and the Issuer shall receive the amount of the Pro Rata
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Revolving Share of such funds of any Revolving Lender that did not so pay the Agent for the account of the Issuer.
(b) If the Agent or the Issuer is required at any time to return to the Company, or to a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian, or any official in any Insolvency Proceeding, any portion of the payments made by the Company to the Agent for the account of the Issuer pursuant to subsection 3.04(a) in reimbursement of a payment made under the Letter of Credit or interest or fee thereon, each Revolving Lender shall, on demand of the Agent, forthwith return to the Agent or the Issuer the amount of its Pro Rata Revolving Share of any amounts so returned by the Agent or the Issuer plus interest thereon from the date such demand is made to the date such amounts are returned by such Revolving Lender to the Agent or the Issuer, at a rate per annum equal to the Federal Funds Rate in effect from time to time.
3.05 Role of the Issuer. (a) Each Lender and the Company agree that, in paying any drawing under a Letter of Credit, the Issuer shall not have any responsibility to obtain any document (other than any sight draft and certificates expressly required by the Letter of Credit) or to ascertain or inquire as to the validity or accuracy of any such document or the authority of the Person executing or delivering any such document.
(b) No Agent-Related Person nor any of the respective correspondents, participants or assignees of the Issuer shall be liable to any Lender for: (i) any action taken or omitted in connection herewith at the request or with the approval of the Lenders (including the Required Lenders or Required Revolving Lenders, as applicable); (ii) any action taken or omitted in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct; or (iii) the due execution, effectiveness, validity or enforceability of any L/C-Related Document.
(c) The Company hereby assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of any beneficiary or transferee with respect to its use of any Letter of Credit; provided, however, that this assumption is not intended to, and shall not, preclude the Company's pursuing such rights and remedies as it may have against the beneficiary or transferee at law or under any other agreement. No Agent-Related Person, nor any of the respective correspondents, participants or assignees of the Issuer, shall be liable or responsible for any of the matters described in clauses (i) through (vii) of Section 3.06; provided, however, anything in such clauses to the contrary notwithstanding, that the Company may have a claim against the Issuer, and the Issuer may be liable to the Company, to the extent, but only to the extent, of any direct, as opposed to consequential or exemplary, damages suffered by the Company which the Company proves were caused by the Issuer's willful misconduct or gross negligence or the Issuer's willful failure to pay under any Letter of Credit after the presentation to it by the beneficiary of a sight draft and certificate(s) strictly complying with the terms and conditions of a Letter of Credit. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing: (i) the Issuer may accept documents that appear on their face to be in order, without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or information to the contrary; and (ii) the Issuer shall not be responsible for the validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or purporting to transfer or assign a Letter of Credit or the rights or benefits thereunder or proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffective for any reason.
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3.06 Obligations Absolute. The obligations of the Company under this Agreement and any L/C-Related Document to reimburse the Issuer for a drawing under a Letter of Credit, and to repay any L/C Borrowing and any drawing under a Letter of Credit converted into Revolving Loans, shall be unconditional and irrevocable, and shall be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and each such other L/C-Related Document under all circumstances, including the following:
(i) any lack of validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any L/C-Related Document;
(ii) any change in the time, manner or place of payment of, or in any other term of, all or any of the obligations of the Company in respect of any Letter of Credit or any other amendment or waiver of or any consent to departure from all or any of the L/C-Related Documents;
(iii) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense or other right that the Company may have at any time against any beneficiary or any transferee of any Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), the Issuer or any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement, the transactions contemplated hereby or by the L/C-Related Documents or any unrelated transaction;
(iv) any draft, demand, certificate or other document presented under any Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect; or any loss or delay in the transmission or otherwise of any document required in order to make a drawing under any Letter of Credit;
(v) any payment by the Issuer under any Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or certificate that does not strictly comply with the terms of any Letter of Credit; or any payment made by the Issuer under any Letter of Credit to any Person purporting to be a trustee in bankruptcy, debtor-in-possession, assignee for the benefit of creditors, liquidator, receiver or other representative of or successor to any beneficiary or any transferee of any Letter of Credit, including any arising in connection with any Insolvency Proceeding;
(vi) any exchange, release or non-perfection of any collateral, or any release or amendment or waiver of or consent to departure from any other guarantee, for all or any of the obligations of the Company in respect of any Letter of Credit; or
(vii) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, including any other circumstance that might otherwise constitute a defense available to, or a discharge of, the Company or a guarantor.
3.07 Cash Collateral Pledge. Upon (i) the request of the Agent, (A) if the Issuer has honored any full or partial drawing request on any Letter of Credit and such drawing has resulted in an L/C Borrowing hereunder, or (B) if, as of the Revolving Termination Date, any Letters of
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Credit may for any reason remain outstanding and partially or wholly undrawn,
(ii) the occurrence of the circumstances described in subsection 2.09(a) requiring the Company to Cash Collateralize Letters of Credit, or (iii) the termination of the Aggregate Commitment, then, the Company shall immediately Cash Collateralize the L/C Obligations in an amount in Dollars equal to the Dollar Equivalent of the L/C Obligations.
3.08 Letter of Credit Fees. (a) The Company shall pay to the Agent for the account of each of the Revolving Lenders a letter of credit fee with respect to the Letters of Credit equal to the Applicable Offshore Rate Margin times the Dollar Equivalent of the average daily maximum amount available to be drawn of the outstanding Letters of Credit, computed on a quarterly basis in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter based upon Letters of Credit outstanding for that quarter as calculated by the Agent. Such letter of credit fees shall be due and payable quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter during which Letters of Credit are outstanding, commencing on the first such quarterly date to occur after the Restatement Date, through the Revolving Termination Date (or such later date upon which the outstanding Letters of Credit shall expire), with the final payment to be made on the Revolving Termination Date (or such later expiration date).
(b) The Company shall pay to the Issuer a letter of credit fronting fee with respect to the Letters of Credit equal to the percentage specified in the Fee Letter times the Dollar Equivalent of the average daily maximum amount available to be drawn of the outstanding Letters of Credit, computed on a quarterly basis in arrears based upon Letters of Credit outstanding for that quarter as calculated by the Agent. Such letter of credit fronting fee shall be due and payable on the last day of each calendar quarter.
(c) The Company shall pay to the Issuer from time to time on demand the normal issuance, presentation, amendment and other processing fees, and other standard costs and charges, of such Issuer relating to letters of credit as from time to time in effect.
3.09 Applicability of ISP98 and UCP. Unless otherwise expressly agreed by the Issuer and the applicable Borrower when a Letter of Credit is issued (including any such agreement applicable to a Letter of Credit outstanding on the date hereof), (a) the rules of the "International Standby Practices 1998" published by the Institute of International Banking Law & Practice (or such later version thereof as may be in effect at the time of issuance) ("ISP98") shall apply to each standby Letter of Credit, and (b) the rules of the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, as most recently published by the International Chamber of Commerce (the "ICC") at the time of issuance (including the ICC decision published by the Commission on Banking Technique and Practice on April 6, 1998 regarding the European single currency (euro)) (the "UCP") shall apply to each commercial Letter of Credit. It is understood, however, that the applicable Borrower may request that any particular Letter of Credit be governed by either ISP98 or the UCP, as selected by such Borrower.
3.10 Utilization of Offshore Currencies. In the case of a proposed Issuance of a Letter of Credit denominated in an Offshore Currency, the applicable Issuer shall be under no obligation to issue such Letter of Credit if the applicable Issuer cannot issue Letters of Credit denominated in the requested Offshore Currency, in which event the Issuer will give notice to the Company no later than 10:30 a.m. (local time) on the third Business Day prior to the date of such
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issuance that the Issuance in the requested Offshore Currency is not then available. If the applicable Issuer shall have so notified the Company that any such Issuance in a requested Offshore Currency is not then available, then such requested Letter of Credit shall not be issued unless the Company, by notice to the applicable Issuer not later than 5:00 p.m. (local time) three Business Days prior to the requested date of such Issuance, requests that the Letter of Credit be denominated in Dollars and issued in an equivalent aggregate amount, in which case the Letter of Credit shall be so denominated and issued.
ARTICLE IV
TAXES, YIELD PROTECTION AND ILLEGALITY
4.01 Taxes. (a) Any and all payments by each Borrower to each Lender or the Agent under this Agreement and any other Loan Document shall be made free and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for, any Taxes. In addition, each Borrower shall pay all Other Taxes.
(b) If any Borrower shall be required by law to deduct or withhold any Taxes, Other Taxes or Further Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder to any Lender or the Agent, then:
(i) the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that, after making all required deductions and withholdings (including deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section), such Lender or the Agent, as the case may be, receives and retains an amount equal to the sum it would have received and retained had no such deductions or withholdings been made;
(ii) such Borrower shall make such deductions and withholdings;
(iii) such Borrower shall pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant taxing authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law; and
(iv) such Borrower shall also pay to each Lender or the Agent for the account of such Lender, at the time interest is paid, Further Taxes in the amount that the respective Lender specifies as necessary to preserve the after-tax yield the Lender would have received if such Taxes, Other Taxes or Further Taxes had not been imposed.
(c) Each Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold harmless each Lender and the Agent for the full amount of (i) Taxes, (ii) Other Taxes, and
(iii) Further Taxes in the amount that the respective Lender specifies as necessary to preserve the after-tax yield the Lender would have received if such Taxes, Other Taxes or Further Taxes had not been imposed, and any liability (including penalties (except to the extent arising from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Agent or such Lender), interest, additions to tax and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes, Other Taxes or Further Taxes were correctly or legally asserted. Payment under this indemnification shall be made within 30 days after the date the Lender or the Agent makes written demand therefor.
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(d) Within 30 days after the date of any payment by any Borrower of Taxes, Other Taxes or Further Taxes, such Borrower shall furnish to each Lender or the Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof, or other evidence of payment satisfactory to such Lender or the Agent.
(e) If such Borrower is required to pay any amount to any Lender or the Agent pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) of this Section, then such Lender shall use reasonable efforts (consistent with legal and regulatory restrictions) to change the jurisdiction of its Lending Office so as to eliminate any such additional payment by such Borrower which may thereafter accrue, if such change in the sole judgment of such Lender is not otherwise disadvantageous to such Lender.
4.02 Illegality. (a) If any Lender determines that the introduction of any Requirement of Law, or any change in any Requirement of Law, or in the interpretation or administration of any Requirement of Law, has made it unlawful, or that any central bank or other Governmental Authority has asserted that it is unlawful, for any Lender or its applicable Lending Office to make Offshore Rate Loans, then, on notice thereof by the Lender to the Company through the Agent, any obligation of that Lender to make Offshore Rate Loans shall be suspended until the Lender notifies the Agent and the Company that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist.
(b) If a Lender determines that it is unlawful to maintain any Offshore Rate Loan, the applicable Borrower shall, upon the receipt by the Company of notice of such fact and demand from such Lender (with a copy to the Agent), prepay in full such Offshore Rate Loans of that Lender then outstanding, together with interest accrued thereon and amounts required under Section 4.04, either on the last day of the Interest Period thereof, if the Lender may lawfully continue to maintain such Offshore Rate Loans to such day, or immediately, if the Lender may not lawfully continue to maintain such Offshore Rate Loan. If a Borrower is required to so prepay any Offshore Rate Loan, then concurrently with such prepayment, the Company (regardless of whether the Company is the initial Borrower) shall borrow from the affected Lender, in the amount of such repayment, a Base Rate Loan.
(c) If the obligation of any Lender to make or maintain Offshore Rate Loans has been so terminated or suspended, the Company may elect, by giving notice to the Lender through the Agent that all Loans which would otherwise be made by the Lender as Offshore Rate Loans shall be instead Base Rate Loans.
(d) Before giving any notice to the Agent under this Section, the affected Lender shall designate a different Lending Office with respect to its Offshore Rate Loans if such designation will avoid the need for giving such notice or making such demand and will not, in the judgment of the Lender, be illegal or otherwise disadvantageous to the Lender.
4.03 Increased Costs and Reduction of Return. (a) If any Lender determines that, due to either (i) the introduction of or any change (other than any change by way of imposition of or increase in reserve requirements included in the calculation of the Offshore Rate) in or in the interpretation of any law or regulation made after the Restatement Date or (ii) the compliance by that Lender with any guideline or request from any central bank or other Governmental
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Authority (whether or not having the force of law), there shall be any increase in the cost to such Lender of agreeing to make or making, funding or maintaining any Offshore Rate Loans or participating in Letters of Credit or Fronted Offshore Currency Loans, or, in the case of the Issuer, any increase in the cost to the Issuer of agreeing to issue, issuing or maintaining any Letter of Credit or of agreeing to make or making, funding or maintaining any unpaid drawing under any Letter of Credit, then such Borrower shall be liable for, and shall from time to time, upon demand (with a copy of such demand to be sent to the Agent), pay to the Agent for the account of such Lender, additional amounts as are sufficient to compensate such Lender for such increased costs.
(b) If any Lender shall have determined that (i) the introduction of any Capital Adequacy Regulation made after the Restatement Date,
(ii) any change in any Capital Adequacy Regulation made after the Restatement Date, (iii) any change in the interpretation or administration of any Capital Adequacy Regulation by any central bank or other Governmental Authority charged with the interpretation or administration thereof made after the Restatement Date, or (iv) compliance by the Lender (or its Lending Office) or any corporation controlling the Lender with any Capital Adequacy Regulation, affects or would affect the amount of capital required or expected to be maintained by the Lender or any corporation controlling the Lender and (taking into consideration such Lender's or such corporation's policies with respect to capital adequacy and such Lender's desired return on capital) determines that the amount of such capital is increased as a consequence of its Commitment, loans, credits or obligations under this Agreement, then, upon demand of such Lender to the Company through the Agent, the applicable Borrower shall pay to the Lender, from time to time as specified by the Lender, additional amounts sufficient to compensate the Lender for such increase.
4.04 Funding Losses. Each Borrower shall reimburse each Lender and hold each Lender harmless from any loss or expense which the Lender may sustain or incur as a consequence of:
(a) the failure of such Borrower to make on a timely basis any payment of principal of any Offshore Rate Loan;
(b) the failure of such Borrower to borrow, continue or convert a Loan after such Borrower has given (or is deemed to have given) a Notice of Borrowing or a Notice of Conversion/ Continuation;
(c) the failure of such Borrower to make any prepayment in accordance with any notice delivered under Section 2.10;
(d) the prepayment (including pursuant to Section 2.11) or other payment (including after acceleration thereof or pursuant to Section 2.09(c)) of an Offshore Rate Loan on a day that is not the last day of the relevant Interest Period; or
(e) the automatic conversion under Section 2.04 of any Offshore Rate Loan to a Base Rate Loan on a day that is not the last day of the relevant Interest Period;
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including any such loss or expense arising from the liquidation or reemployment of funds obtained by it to maintain its Offshore Rate Loans or from fees payable to terminate the deposits from which such funds were obtained. For purposes of calculating amounts payable by the Borrowers to the Lenders under this Section and under subsection 4.03(a), each Offshore Rate Loan made by a Lender (and each related reserve, special deposit or similar requirement) shall be conclusively deemed to have been funded at the IBOR used in determining the Offshore Rate for such Offshore Rate Loan by a matching deposit or other borrowing in the interbank eurodollar market for a comparable amount and for a comparable period, whether or not such Offshore Rate Loan is in fact so funded.
4.05 Inability to Determine Rates. If the Agent determines that for any reason adequate and reasonable means do not exist for determining the Offshore Rate for an Applicable Currency for any requested Interest Period with respect to a proposed Offshore Rate Loan, or that the Offshore Rate applicable pursuant to subsection 2.13(a) for an Applicable Currency for any requested Interest Period with respect to a proposed Offshore Rate Loan does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to the Lenders of funding such Loan, the Agent will promptly so notify the Company and each Lender. Thereafter, the obligation of the Lenders to make or maintain Offshore Rate Loans hereunder in such Applicable Currency shall be suspended until the Agent revokes such notice in writing. Upon receipt of such notice, the Company may revoke any Notice of Borrowing or Notice of Conversion/Continuation then submitted by it or any other Borrower. If the Company does not revoke such Notice, then the Lenders shall make, convert or continue the Loans, as proposed by the Company, in the amount specified in the applicable notice submitted by the Company, but such Loans shall be made, converted or continued as Base Rate Loans instead of Offshore Rate Loans, as the case may be, and such Loans shall be assumed by the Company notwithstanding the fact that the Loans may initially have been made to a Subsidiary Borrower.
4.06 Certificates of Lenders. Any Lender claiming reimbursement or compensation under this Article IV shall deliver to the Company (with a copy to the Agent) contemporaneously with the demand in payment a certificate setting forth in reasonable detail the amount payable to the Lender hereunder and such certificate shall be conclusive and binding on the applicable Borrower in the absence of manifest error.
4.07 Substitution of Banks. Upon the receipt by the Company from any Lender (an "Affected Lender") of a claim for compensation under Section 4.04, of notice that it cannot make Offshore Rate Loans under Section 4.02, or of a claim for Taxes or Further Taxes under Section 4.01, then the Agent, at the Company's direction, shall: (i) request the Affected Lender to use good faith efforts to obtain a replacement bank or financial institution satisfactory to the Company to acquire and assume all or a ratable part of all of such Affected Lender's Loans and Commitments at the face amount thereof (a "Replacement Lender"); (ii) request one more of the other Lenders to acquire and assume all or part of such Affected Lender's Loans and Commitments; or (iii) designate a Replacement Lender. Any such designation of a Replacement Lender under clause (i) or (iii) shall be subject to the prior written consent of the Agent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld).
4.08 Survival. The agreements and obligations of the Borrowers in this Article IV shall survive the payment of all other Obligations, and no Borrower will have an obligation to
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pay any amount hereunder unless a demand is made within 180 days after the date upon which the Agent's or applicable Lender's right to reimbursement arises.
ARTICLE V
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
5.01 Conditions to Effectiveness of Restatement. The effectiveness of this Agreement is subject to the condition that the Agent shall have received all of the following, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and each Lender, and in sufficient copies for each Lender:
(a) Credit Agreement and Notes. This Agreement and the Notes and the Swing Line Note executed by each party thereto;
(b) Resolutions; Incumbency.
(i) Copies of the resolutions of the board of directors of the Company and each Subsidiary party to a Loan Document authorizing the transactions contemplated hereby, certified as of the Restatement Date by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of such Person; and
(ii) A certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Company and each Subsidiary party to a Loan Document certifying the names and true signatures of the officers of the Company or such Subsidiary authorized to execute, deliver and perform, as applicable, this Agreement, and all other Loan Documents to be delivered by it hereunder;
(c) Organization Documents; Good Standing. Each of the following documents:
(i) the articles or certificate of incorporation and the bylaws of the Company and each Subsidiary party to any Loan Document as in effect on the Restatement Date, certified by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Company or such Subsidiary as of the Restatement Date (or a certification as of the Restatement Date from such person that there has been no change therein since the Closing Date); and
(ii) a good standing certificate or certificate of status for the Company and each Subsidiary party to any Loan Document from the Secretary of State (or similar, applicable Governmental Authority) of its state of incorporation and such other states as shall be reasonably requested by Agent;
(d) Legal Opinions.
(i) an opinion of Foley & Lardner, counsel to the Company and addressed to the Agent and the Lenders; and
(ii) an opinion of such local counsel to the Company as shall be requested by the Agent and addressed to the Agent and the Lenders.
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(e) Payment of Fees. Evidence of payment by the Company of all accrued and unpaid fees, costs and expenses to the extent then due and payable on the Restatement Date, together with Attorney Costs of BofA to the extent invoiced prior to or on the Restatement Date, plus such additional amounts of Attorney Costs as shall constitute BofA's reasonable estimate of Attorney Costs incurred or to be incurred by it through the closing proceedings (provided that such estimate shall not thereafter preclude final settling of accounts between the Company and BofA); including any such costs, fees and expenses arising under or referenced in Sections 2.14 and 11.04;
(f) Certificate. A certificate signed by a Responsible Officer, dated as of the Restatement Date, stating that:
(i) the representations and warranties contained in Article VI are true and correct on and as of such date, as though made on and as of such date;
(ii) no Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the Credit Extension; and
(iii) there has occurred since September 30, 1999, no event or circumstance that has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
(g) Collateral Documents. The Collateral Documents (or amendments thereto), executed by the Company and the Subsidiaries, in appropriate form for recording, where necessary, together with:
(i) copies of all UCC-l financing statements to be filed, registered or recorded to perfect (or maintain perfection of) the security interests of the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders, and other filings, registrations and recordings necessary and advisable to perfect or maintain the Liens of the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders in accordance with applicable law;
(ii) written advice relating to such Lien and judgment searches as the Agent shall have requested, and such termination statements or other documents as may be necessary to confirm that the Collateral is subject to no other Liens in favor of any Persons (other than Permitted Liens);
(iii) all certificates and instruments representing the Pledged Collateral and stock and note transfer powers executed in blank with signatures guaranteed as the Agent may specify;
(iv) to the extent requested by the Agent, funds sufficient to pay any filing or recording tax or fee in connection with any and all UCC-1 financing statements and the Mortgages;
(v) with respect to the Mortgaged Property, (A) an ALTA Form B (or other form acceptable to the Agent and the Lenders) mortgagee policy of title insurance
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or a binder issued by a title insurance company satisfactory to the Agent insuring (or undertaking to insure, in the case of a binder) that the Mortgages create and constitute a valid first Lien against the Mortgaged Property in favor of the Agent, subject only to exceptions acceptable to the Agent, with such endorsements and affirmative insurance as the Agent may reasonably request or (B) evidence satisfactory to the Agent that such policies issued pursuant to the Prior Credit Agreement with respect to such properties as the Agent may require remain in full force and effect as to the Obligations under this Agreement;
(vi) evidence that the Agent has been named as loss payee under all policies of casualty insurance, and as additional insured under all policies of liability insurance, required by the Mortgage;
(vii) flood insurance and earthquake insurance, to the extent applicable, on terms satisfactory to the Agent;
(viii) proof of payment (or arrangements therefor satisfactory to the Agent) of all title insurance premiums, documentary stamp or intangible taxes, recording fees and mortgage taxes payable in connection with the recording of any Mortgage or the issuance of the title insurance policies (whether due on the Restatement Date or in the future) including sums due in connection with any future advances;
(ix) such consents, estoppels, subordination agreements, waivers and other documents and instruments executed by landlords, tenants, bailees, warehousemen and other Persons party to material contracts relating to any Collateral as to which the Agent shall be granted a Lien for the benefit of the Lenders, as requested by the Agent; and
(x) evidence that all other actions necessary or, in the opinion of the Agent, desirable to perfect and protect the first priority Lien created by the Collateral Documents, and to enhance the Agent's ability to preserve and protect its interests in and access to the Collateral, have been taken (or arrangements therefor satisfactory to the Agent have been made);
(h) Insurance Policies. Standard lenders' payable endorsements with respect to the insurance policies or other instruments or documents evidencing insurance coverage on the properties of the Company in accordance with Section 6.18;
(i) Departing Lender Consent. The Agent shall have received (to the extent required by the Agent) from each Departing Lender a consent in form reasonably satisfactory to the Agent as to this Agreement and the matters set forth in Section 11.22;
(j) MFSI and Other Subsidiaries. Joinder and other documentation in form reasonably satisfactory to the Agent pursuant to which MFSI and its Subsidiaries (other than Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services Partnership) and other domestic Subsidiaries of the Company designated by the Agent become parties to the Subsidiary Guaranty and, as
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appropriate, the other Collateral Documents and have their respective equity interests pledged to the Agent pursuant thereto;
(k) Payment of Principal and Interest. Evidence of payment in full by the Company of the outstanding principal amount of all "Loans" under the Prior Credit Agreement and all accrued and unpaid interest and fees thereunder; and
(l) Other Documents. Such other approvals, opinions, documents or materials as the Agent or any Lender may request.
5.02 Conditions to All Credit Extensions. The obligation of each Lender to make any Loan to be made by it (including its initial Loan) and the obligation of the Issuer to Issue any Letter of Credit (including the initial Letter of Credit) is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent on the relevant Borrowing Date or Issuance Date:
(a) Notice, Application. The Agent shall have received a Notice of Borrowing or in the case of any Issuance of any Letter of Credit, the Issuer and the Agent shall have received an L/C Application or L/C Amendment Application, as required under Section 3.02;
(b) Continuation of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties in Article V shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of such Borrowing Date or Issuance Date with the same effect as if made on and as of such Borrowing Date or Issuance Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly refer to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct as of such earlier date); and
(c) No Existing Default. No Default or Event of Default shall exist or shall result from such Borrowing or Issuance.
Each Notice of Borrowing and L/C Application or L/C Amendment Application submitted by the Company hereunder shall constitute a representation and warranty by the Company hereunder, as of the date of each such notice and as of each Borrowing Date or Issuance Date, as applicable, that the conditions in this
Section 5.02 are satisfied.
ARTICLE VI
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
The Company represents and warrants to the Agent and each Lender that both before and after giving effect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents:
6.01 Corporate Existence and Power. The Company, each Subsidiary Borrower and each of its Material Subsidiaries:
(a) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation;
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(b) has the power and authority and all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals to own its assets, to carry on its business in all material respects and to execute, deliver, and perform its obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party;
(c) is duly qualified as a foreign corporation and is licensed and in good standing under the laws of each jurisdiction where its ownership, lease or operation of property or the conduct of its business requires such qualification or license; and
(d) is in compliance with all Requirements of Law; except, in each case referred to in clause (c) or clause (d), to the extent that the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
6.02 Corporate Authorization; No Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company and its Subsidiaries of this Agreement and each other Loan Document to which such Person is party, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and do not and will not:
(a) contravene the terms of any of that Person's Organization Documents;
(b) conflict with or result in any breach or contravention of, or the creation of any Lien under, any document evidencing any material Contractual Obligation to which such Person is a party or any order, injunction, writ or decree of any Governmental Authority to which such Person or its property is subject; or
(c) violate any Requirement of Law.
6.03 Governmental Authorization. Excluding governmental approvals required in connection with the exercise by the Lenders of any security interest in shares of a captive insurance company Subsidiary, no approval, consent, exemption, authorization, or other action by, or notice to, or filing with, any Governmental Authority (except those that have been obtained and remain in effect and for recordings or filings in connection with the Liens granted to the Agent under the Collateral Documents) is necessary or required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by, or enforcement against, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of this Agreement or any other Loan Document.
6.04 Binding Effect. This Agreement and each other Loan Document to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Company and any of its Subsidiaries to the extent it is a party thereto, enforceable against such Person in accordance with their respective terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally or by equitable principles relating to enforceability.
6.05 Litigation. There are no actions, suits, proceedings, claims or disputes pending, or to the best knowledge of the Company, threatened or contemplated, at law, in equity, in arbitration or before any Governmental Authority, against the Company, or its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties:
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(a) which purport to affect or pertain to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby; or
(b) as to which there exists a substantial likelihood of an adverse determination, which determination could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No injunction, writ, temporary restraining order or any order of any nature has been issued by any court or other Governmental Authority purporting to enjoin or restrain the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or directing that the transactions provided for herein or therein not be consummated as herein or therein provided.
6.06 No Default. No Default or Event of Default exists or would result from the incurring of any Obligations by the Company or from the grant or perfection of the Liens of the Agent and the Lenders on the Collateral. As of the Restatement Date, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in default under or with respect to any Contractual Obligation in any respect which, individually or together with all such defaults, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, or that would, if such default had occurred after the Restatement Date, create an Event of Default under subsection 9.01(e).
6.07 ERISA Compliance. Except as specifically disclosed in Schedule 6.07:
(a) Each Plan is in compliance in all material respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and other federal or state law. Each Plan which is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the IRS and to the best knowledge of the Company, nothing has occurred which would cause the loss of such qualification. The Company and each ERISA Affiliate has made all required contributions to any Plan subject to Section 412 of the Code, and no application for a funding waiver or an extension of any amortization period pursuant to
Section 412 of the Code has been made with respect to any Plan.
(b) There are no pending or, to the best knowledge of Company, threatened claims, actions or lawsuits, or action by any Governmental Authority, with respect to any Plan which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. There has been no prohibited transaction or violation of the fiduciary responsibility rules with respect to any Plan which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
(c) (i) No ERISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur; (ii) no Pension Plan has any Unfunded Pension Liability; (iii) neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred, or reasonably expects to incur, any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to any Pension Plan
(other than premiums due and not delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA); (iv) neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred, or reasonably expects to incur, any liability (and no event has occurred which, with the giving of notice under Section 4219 of ERISA, would result in such liability) under
Section 4201 or 4243 of ERISA with respect to a Multiemployer Plan; and (v) neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has engaged in a transaction that could be subject to Section 4069 or 4212(c) of ERISA.
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6.08 Use of Proceeds; Margin Regulations. The proceeds of the Loans are to be used solely for the purposes set forth in and permitted by Section 7.12 and Section 8.07. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is generally engaged in the business of purchasing or selling Margin Stock or extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying Margin Stock.
6.09 Title to Properties. The Company and each Material Subsidiary have good record and marketable title in fee simple to, or valid leasehold interests in, all real property necessary or used in the ordinary conduct of their respective businesses, except for such defects in title as could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. As of the Restatement Date, the property of the Company and its Subsidiaries is subject to no Liens, other than Permitted Liens.
6.10 Taxes. The Company and its Subsidiaries have filed all Federal and other material tax returns and reports required to be filed, and have paid all Federal and other material taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges levied or imposed upon them or their properties, income or assets otherwise due and payable, except those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been provided in accordance with GAAP. There is no proposed tax assessment against the Company or any Subsidiary that would, if made, have a Material Adverse Effect.
6.11 Financial Condition. (a) Each of (i) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries dated September 30, 1999, and the related consolidated statements of income or operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the fiscal year ended on that date, and
(ii) the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries dated June 30, 2000 and the related consolidated statements of income or operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the nine months ended on that date:
(x) were prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied throughout the period covered thereby, except for the absence of footnotes and as otherwise expressly noted therein, subject, in the case of such unaudited financial statements, to ordinary, good faith year end audit adjustments;
(y) fairly present the financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the date thereof and results of operations for the period covered thereby; and
(z) except as specifically disclosed in Schedule 6.11, show all material indebtedness and other liabilities, direct or contingent, of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the date thereof.
(b) Since September 30, 1999, there has been no Material Adverse Effect.
6.12 Environmental Matters. (a) Except as specifically disclosed in Schedule 6.12, the on-going operations of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries comply in all respects with all Environmental Laws, except such non-compliance which would not (if enforced in accordance with applicable law) result in liability in excess of $10,000,000 in the aggregate
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(exclusive of amounts payable under insurance policies and indemnity agreements which the Company or such Subsidiary reasonably expects to receive).
(b) Except as specifically disclosed in Schedule 6.12, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries have obtained all licenses, permits, authorizations and registrations required under any Environmental Law ("Environmental Permits") and necessary for their respective ordinary course operations, all such Environmental Permits are in good standing, and the Company and each of its Subsidiaries are in compliance with all material terms and conditions of such Environmental Permits.
(c) Except as specifically disclosed in Schedule 6.12, none of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective present property or operations, is subject to any outstanding written order from or agreement with any Governmental Authority, nor subject to (i) any judicial or docketed administrative proceeding, respecting any Environmental Law, Environmental Claim or Hazardous Material or (ii) to the extent that it could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, any claim, proceeding or written notice from any Person regarding any Environmental Law, Environmental Claim or Hazardous Material.
(d) Except as specifically disclosed in Schedule 6.12, there are no Hazardous Materials or other conditions or circumstances existing with respect to any property of the Company or any Subsidiary, or arising from operations prior to the Restatement Date, of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that would reasonably be expected to give rise to Environmental Claims with a potential liability of the Company and its Subsidiaries in excess of $10,000,000 in the aggregate for all such conditions, circumstances and properties (exclusive of amounts payable under insurance policies and indemnity agreements which the Company or such Subsidiary reasonably expects to receive). In addition, (i) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has any underground storage tanks (x) that are not properly registered or permitted under applicable Environmental Laws, or (y) that are leaking or disposing of Hazardous Materials off-site, which in any such case could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) the Company and its Subsidiaries have met all material notification requirements under applicable Environmental Laws.
6.13 Collateral Documents. (a) The provisions of each of the Collateral Documents are effective to create in favor of the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders, a legal, valid and enforceable first priority security interest in all right, title and interest of the Company and its Subsidiaries in the collateral described therein, subject only to any Permitted Liens.
(b) Each Mortgage when delivered will be effective to grant to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders a legal, valid and enforceable lien on all the right, title and interest of the mortgagor under such Mortgage in the mortgaged property described therein. When each such Mortgage is duly recorded in the offices listed on the schedule to such Mortgage and the mortgage recording fees and taxes in respect thereof are paid and compliance is otherwise had with the formal requirements of state law applicable to the recording of real estate mortgages generally, each such mortgaged property, subject to the encumbrances and exceptions to title set forth therein and any Permitted Liens and except as noted in the title policies delivered to the Agent pursuant to
Section 5.01, is subject to a legal, valid, enforceable and perfected first priority lien; and when financing statements have been filed in the offices specified in such
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Mortgage, such Mortgage also creates a legal, valid, enforceable and perfected first lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the Company or such Subsidiary under such Mortgage in all personal property and fixtures covered by such Mortgage, subject to no other Liens, except the encumbrances and exceptions to title set forth therein, as noted in the title policies delivered to the Agent pursuant to Section 5.01 and Permitted Liens.
(c) All representations and warranties of the Company and any of its Subsidiaries party thereto contained in the Collateral Documents are true and correct.
6.14 Regulated Entities. None of the Company, any Person controlling the Company, or any Subsidiary, is an "Investment Company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940. Neither the Company nor any other Borrower is subject to regulation under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, the Federal Power Act, the Interstate Commerce Act, any state public utilities code, or any other Federal or state statute or regulation limiting its ability to incur Indebtedness.
6.15 No Burdensome Restrictions. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is a party to or bound by any Contractual Obligation, or subject to any restriction in any Organization Document, or any Requirement of Law, which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
6.16 Copyrights, Patents, Trademarks and Licenses, etc. The Company and its Material Subsidiaries own or are licensed or otherwise have the right to use all of the patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, contractual franchises, authorizations and other rights that are reasonably necessary for the operation of their respective businesses, without conflict with the rights of any other Person. To the best knowledge of the Company, no slogan or other advertising device, product, process, method, substance, part or other material now employed, or now contemplated to be employed, by the Company or any Subsidiary infringes upon any rights held by any other Person, which infringement could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Except as specifically disclosed in Schedule 6.16, no claim or litigation regarding any of the foregoing is pending or threatened, and no patent, invention, device, application, principle or any statute, law, rule, regulation, standard or code is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, proposed, which, in either case, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
6.17 Capitalization; Subsidiaries. As of the Restatement Date, the Company has no Subsidiaries other than those specifically disclosed in part (a) of Schedule 6.17 hereto and has no equity investments in any other corporation or entity other than those specifically disclosed in part (b) of Schedule 6.17. The capitalization of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the Restatement Date is as set forth on part (a) of Schedule 6.17.
6.18 Insurance. Except as specifically disclosed in Schedule 6.18, the properties of the Company and its Subsidiaries are insured with financially sound and reputable insurance companies not Affiliates of the Company in such amounts, with such deductibles and covering such risks as are customarily carried by companies engaged in similar businesses and are similarly situated.
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6.19 Swap Obligations. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has incurred any outstanding obligations under any Swap Contracts, other than Permitted Swap Obligations. The Company has undertaken its own independent assessment of its consolidated assets, liabilities and commitments and has considered appropriate means of mitigating and managing risks associated with such matters and has not relied on any swap counterparty or any Affiliate of any swap counterparty in determining whether to enter into any Swap Contract.
6.20 Solvency. The Company and each of its Material Subsidiaries are Solvent.
6.21 Subordination Provisions. The subordination provisions contained in the Senior Subordinated Debt Documents are enforceable against the Company and the holders thereof, and the Loans are within the definition of "Senior Debt" included in such provisions.
6.22 Subsidiary Borrower Supplements. For so long as any Subsidiary shall be a Subsidiary Borrower, the representations and warranties of such Subsidiary in such Subsidiary's Subsidiary Borrower Supplement are true and correct.
6.23 Letter Agreements. All Letter Agreements (as defined in the Prior Credit Agreement) have been terminated and neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary has any further liabilities or obligations thereunder.
6.24 Full Disclosure. None of the representations or warranties made by the Company or any Subsidiary in the Loan Documents as of the date such representations and warranties are made or deemed made, and none of the statements contained in any exhibit, report, statement or certificate furnished by or on behalf of the Company or any Subsidiary in connection with the Loan Documents (including the offering and disclosure materials delivered by or on behalf of the Company to the Lenders prior to the Restatement Date), contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading as of the time when made or delivered.
ARTICLE VII
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS
So long as any Lender shall have any Commitment hereunder, or any Loan or other Obligation shall remain unpaid or unsatisfied, or any Letter of Credit shall remain outstanding, unless the Required Lenders waive compliance in writing:
7.01 Financial Statements. The Company shall deliver to the Agent, in form and detail satisfactory to the Agent and the Required Lenders, with sufficient copies for each Lender:
(a) as soon as available, but not later than the earlier of
(i) five days after the filing thereof with the SEC and (ii) 105 days after the end of each fiscal year (commencing with the fiscal year ended September 30, 2000), a copy of the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such year and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for such year, setting forth in each
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case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, and accompanied by the opinion of Arthur Andersen LLP or another nationally-recognized independent public accounting firm ("Independent Auditor") which report shall state that such consolidated financial statements present fairly the financial position for the periods indicated in conformity with GAAP applied on a basis consistent with prior years. Such opinion shall not be qualified or limited because of a restricted or limited examination by the Independent Auditor of any material portion of the Company's or any Subsidiary's records; and
(b) as soon as available, but not later than the earlier of
(i) five days after the filing thereof with the SEC and (ii) 45 days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year (commencing with the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2000), a copy of the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal quarter and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the period commencing on the first day and ending on the last day of such fiscal quarter, together with a consolidating income statement for such period, and certified by a Responsible Officer as fairly presenting, in accordance with GAAP (subject to ordinary, good faith year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes), the financial position and the results of operations of the Company and the Subsidiaries.
7.02 Certificates; Other Information. The Company shall furnish to the Agent, with sufficient copies for each Lender:
(a) concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements referred to in subsection 7.01(a), a certificate of the Independent Auditor stating that in making the examination necessary therefor no knowledge was obtained of any Default or Event of Default, except as specified in such certificate;
(b) concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements referred to in subsections 7.01(a) and (b), a Compliance Certificate executed by a Responsible Officer;
(c) concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements referred to in subsection 7.01(a), (i) a consolidating balance sheet and income statement for such year (which need not be audited) and, in the case of such income statement, setting forth in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, and (ii) a budget for the next succeeding fiscal year;
(d) promptly, copies of all financial statements and reports that the Company sends to its shareholders, and copies of all financial statements and regular, periodic or special reports (including Forms 10K, 10Q and 8K) that the Company or any Subsidiary may make to, or file with, the SEC (it being understood that notification to the Agent of actual availability of any of the foregoing on the internet shall constitute the furnishing of same to the Agent); and
(e) promptly, such additional information regarding the business, financial or corporate affairs of the Company or any Subsidiary as the Agent, at the request of any Lender, may from time to time reasonably request.
7.03 Notices. The Company shall promptly notify the Agent:
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(a) of the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default, and of the occurrence or existence of any event or circumstance that foreseeably will become a Default or Event of Default;
(b) of any matter that has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, including, to the extent so applicable, (i) any breach or non-performance of, or any default under, a Contractual Obligation of the Company or any Subsidiary; (ii) any dispute, litigation, investigation, proceeding or suspension between the Company or any Subsidiary and any Governmental Authority; or (iii) the commencement of, or any material development in, any litigation or proceeding affecting the Company or any Subsidiary, including pursuant to any applicable Environmental Laws;
(c) of the occurrence of any of the following events affecting the Company or any ERISA Affiliate (but in no event more than 10 days after such event becomes known to an officer of the Company or any Subsidiary), and deliver to the Agent and each Lender a copy of any notice with respect to such event that is filed with a Governmental Authority and any notice delivered by a Governmental Authority to the Company or any ERISA Affiliate with respect to such event:
(i) an ERISA Event;
(ii) a material increase in the Unfunded Pension Liability of any Pension Plan;
(iii) the adoption of, or the commencement of contributions to, any Plan subject to Section 412 of the Code by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate resulting in a material contribution obligation; or
(iv) the adoption of any amendment to a Plan subject to Section 412 of the Code, if such amendment results in a material increase in contributions or Unfunded Pension Liability.
(d) of any material change in accounting policies or financial reporting practices by the Company or any of its consolidated Subsidiaries; and
(e) upon, but in no event later than 15 days after, any officer of the Company or any Subsidiary becoming aware of (i) any and all enforcement, investigation, cleanup, removal or other governmental or regulatory actions instituted, completed or threatened against the Company or any Subsidiary or any of their respective properties pursuant to any applicable Environmental Laws which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) all other material Environmental Claims, and (iii) any environmental or similar condition on any real property adjoining or in the vicinity of the property of the Company or any Subsidiary that could reasonably be anticipated to cause such property of the Company or such Subsidiary or any part thereof to be subject to any material restrictions on the ownership, occupancy, transferability or use of such property under any Environmental Laws.
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Each notice under this Section shall be accompanied by a written statement by a Responsible Officer setting forth details of the occurrence referred to therein, and stating what action the Company or any affected Subsidiary proposes to take with respect thereto and at what time. Each notice under subsection 7.03(a) shall describe with particularity any and all clauses or provisions of this Agreement or other Loan Document that have been (or foreseeably will be) breached or violated.
7.04 Preservation of Corporate Existence, Etc. Except as otherwise expressly permitted hereby, the Company shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary (other than Subsidiaries with no material assets) to:
(a) preserve and maintain in full force and effect its corporate existence and good standing under the laws of its state or jurisdiction of incorporation, except to the extent otherwise expressly permitted herein;
(b) preserve and maintain in full force and effect all governmental rights, privileges, qualifications, permits, licenses and franchises necessary or desirable in the normal conduct of its business except in connection with transactions permitted by Section 8.03 and sales of assets permitted by Section 8.02;
(c) use reasonable efforts, in the ordinary course of business, to preserve its business organization and goodwill except to the extent otherwise expressly permitted herein; and
(d) preserve or renew all of its registered patents, trademarks, trade names and service marks, the non-preservation of which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Except with respect to those Subsidiaries set forth on Schedule 7.04, the Company shall cause each Subsidiary which is a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary as of the Restatement Date to continue to exist as a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary so long as it shall be a Subsidiary.
7.05 Maintenance of Property. The Company shall maintain, and shall cause each Subsidiary to maintain, and preserve all its property which is used or useful in its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and make all necessary repairs thereto and renewals and replacements thereof except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
7.06 Insurance. In addition to insurance requirements set forth in the Collateral Documents, the Company shall maintain, and shall cause each Subsidiary to maintain, with financially sound and reputable independent insurers, insurance with respect to its properties and business against loss or damage of the kinds customarily insured against by Persons engaged in the same or similar business, of such types and in such amounts as are customarily carried under similar circumstances by such other Persons; including workers' compensation insurance, public liability and property and casualty insurance which amount shall not be materially reduced by the Company in the absence of 30 days' prior written notice to the Agent; provided that self insurance of risks and in amounts customary in the Company's industry shall be permitted. All
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casualty insurance maintained by the Company shall name the Agent as loss payee and all liability insurance shall name the Agent as additional insured for the benefit of the Lenders, as their interests may appear. Upon request of the Agent or any Lender, the Company shall furnish the Agent, with sufficient copies for each Lender, at reasonable intervals (but not more than once per calendar year) a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Company (and, if requested by the Agent, any insurance broker of the Company) setting forth the nature and extent of all insurance maintained by the Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with this Section or any Collateral Documents (and which, in the case of a certificate of a broker, were placed through such broker).
7.07 Payment of Obligations. The Company shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary to, pay and discharge as the same shall become due and payable, all their respective obligations and liabilities, including:
(a) all tax liabilities, assessments and governmental charges or levies upon it or its properties or assets, unless the same are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP are being maintained by the Company or such Subsidiary; and
(b) all material lawful claims which, if unpaid, would by law become a Lien upon its property in violation of Section 8.01.
7.08 Compliance with Laws. The Company shall comply, and shall cause each Subsidiary to comply, in all material respects with all material Requirements of Law of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over it or its business (including the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act), except such as may be contested in good faith or as to which a bona fide dispute may exist.
7.09 Compliance with ERISA. The Company shall, and shall cause each of its ERISA Affiliates to: (a) maintain each Plan in compliance in all material respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and other federal or state law; (b) cause each Plan which is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code to maintain such qualification; and (c) make all required contributions to any Plan subject to Section 412 of the Code; to the extent that any failure to comply with any such provision could reasonably be expected to result in liabilities in excess of $3,000,000 for all such failures in the aggregate.
7.10 Inspection of Property and Books and Records. The Company shall maintain and shall cause each Subsidiary to maintain proper books of record and account, in which full, true and correct entries in conformity with GAAP consistently applied shall be made of all financial transactions and matters involving the assets and business of the Company and such Subsidiary. The Company shall permit, and shall cause each Subsidiary to permit, representatives and independent contractors of the Agent or any Lender to visit and inspect any of their respective properties, to examine their respective corporate, financial and operating records, and make copies thereof or abstracts therefrom, and to discuss their respective affairs, finances and accounts with their respective directors, officers, and independent public accountants, all at such reasonable times during normal business hours and as often as may be reasonably desired, upon reasonable advance notice to the Company; provided, however, when an Event of Default exists
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the Agent or any Lender may do any of the foregoing at the expense of the Company at any time during normal business hours and without advance notice; provided, further, that neither the Agent nor any Lender shall conduct any environmental testing of any owned or leased facility of the Company or any Subsidiary without the prior written consent of the Company, which shall not unreasonably be withheld.
7.11 Environmental Laws. (a) The Company shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary to, conduct its operations and keep and maintain its property in compliance with all Environmental Laws, the violation of which could reasonably be expected to result in liability to the Company and its Subsidiaries in excess of $10,000,000 in the aggregate (net of any payments under insurance policies or indemnity agreements which the Company or such Subsidiary reasonably expects to receive).
(b) Upon the written request of the Agent or any Lender, the Company shall submit and cause each of its Subsidiaries to submit, to the Agent with sufficient copies for each Lender, at the Company's sole cost and expense, at reasonable intervals, a report providing an update of the status of any environmental, health or safety compliance, hazard or liability issue identified in any notice or report required pursuant to subsection 7.03(e), that could, individually or in the aggregate, result in liability in excess of $10,000,000 (net of any payments under insurance policies or indemnity agreements which the Company or such Subsidiary reasonably expects to receive).
7.12 Use of Proceeds. The Company shall use the proceeds of the Loans
(a) to refinance existing indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries, (b) to finance Acquisitions made in accordance with Section 8.04 and (c) for working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes not in contravention of any Requirement of Law or of any Loan Document.
7.13 Further Assurances. (a) The Company shall ensure that all written information, exhibits and reports furnished to the Agent or the Lenders do not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact and do not and will not omit to state any material fact or any fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading in light of the circumstances in which made, and will promptly disclose to the Agent and the Lenders and correct any defect or error that may be discovered therein or in any Loan Document or in the execution, acknowledgment or recordation thereof.
(b) Promptly upon request by the Agent or the Required Lenders, the Company shall (and shall cause any of its Subsidiaries to) do, execute, acknowledge, deliver, record, re-record, file, re-file, register and re-register, any and all such further acts, deeds, conveyances, security agreements, mortgages, assignments, estoppel certificates, financing statements and continuations thereof, termination statements, notices of assignment, transfers, certificates, assurances and other instruments the Agent or such Lenders, as the case may be, may reasonably require from time to time in order
(i) to carry out more effectively the purposes of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) to subject to the Liens created by any of the Collateral Documents any of the properties, rights or interests covered by any of the Collateral Documents, (iii) to perfect and maintain the validity, effectiveness and priority of any of the Collateral Documents and the Liens intended to be created thereby, and (iv) to better assure,
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convey, grant, assign, transfer, preserve, protect and confirm to the Agent and Lenders the rights granted or now or hereafter intended to be granted to the Lenders under any Loan Document or under any other document executed in connection therewith.
7.14 Additional Guaranties and Personal Property Pledge. Effective upon any Person (a) becoming a Domestic Subsidiary (other than (w) any Domestic Subsidiary with less than 2.0% of the total assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries (other than Leasing Subsidiaries), (x) any Leasing Subsidiary, (y) any Securitization Subsidiary and (z) any captive insurance company Subsidiary) or (b) becoming or being required to become a "Subsidiary Guarantor" under the Senior Subordinated Indenture or a guarantor of any other subordinated Indebtedness of the Company or any Domestic Subsidiary, such Person shall (i) join as a Guarantor under the Subsidiary Guaranty and the Subsidiary Security Agreement pursuant to amendments thereto in form and substance acceptable to the Agent, (ii) provide an intercompany note to the Company which shall be pledged to the Agent pursuant to the Pledge Agreement and (iii) provide such other of the items specified in subsection 5.01(g) as shall be applicable thereto, in each case in form and substance acceptable to Agent; provided, that any Domestic Subsidiary which does not become a party to the Subsidiary Guaranty and the Subsidiary Security Agreement because it does not satisfy the requirement in clause (w) above shall execute the Subsidiary Guaranty and the Subsidiary Security Agreement if it subsequently acquires sufficient assets to satisfy such requirement; provided, further, that if all Domestic Subsidiaries (other than Leasing Subsidiaries) which are not party to the Subsidiary Guaranty and the Subsidiary Security Agreement hold 4.0% or more of the total assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries (other than Leasing Subsidiaries), then such Domestic Subsidiaries shall promptly execute the Subsidiary Guaranty and the Subsidiary Security Agreement so that, upon such execution, such 4.0% threshold is no longer exceeded. The Company shall promptly notify the Agent at any time at which, in accordance with this Section 7.14, any Subsidiary shall be required to join as a guarantor under the Subsidiary Guaranty and the Subsidiary Security Agreement, with such determinations to be made based on the average assets of the relevant Subsidiary and other entities over the prior 12-month period.
7.15 Additional Real Property. Concurrent with (a) the acquisition by the Company or any Domestic Subsidiary of any parcel of property which has a value in excess of $2,500,000 or (b) the acquisition or lease by the Company or any Domestic Subsidiary of any parcel of property which, in the Agent's determination, is otherwise of significant value to the operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, unless the Required Lenders shall otherwise direct, the Company shall, or shall cause such Domestic Subsidiary to, execute and deliver to the Agent a Mortgage on such parcel or leasehold substantially in the form of the applicable Mortgages executed and delivered on the Closing Date, together with such other of the items specified in subsection 5.01(g) as shall be applicable thereto, in each case in form and substance acceptable to the Agent.
7.16 Additional Pledge. Effective upon any Person becoming a Subsidiary of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including without limitation any Leasing Subsidiary), the shareholder or shareholders thereof, shall pledge the stock or other equity interests thereof to the Agent pursuant to documentation reasonably acceptable to the Agent; provided, that the equity interests of Securitization Subsidiaries and Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services Partnership
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need not be pledged at any time; provided, further, that such shareholder shall only be required to pledge 65% of the equity interests of any Subsidiary which is not a Domestic Subsidiary.
ARTICLE VIII
NEGATIVE COVENANTS
So long as any Lender shall have any Commitment hereunder, or any Loan or other Obligation shall remain unpaid or unsatisfied, or any Letter of Credit shall remain outstanding, unless the Required Lenders waive compliance in writing:
8.01 Limitation on Liens. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, make, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon or with respect to any part of its property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, other than the following ("Permitted Liens"):
(a) any Lien existing on property of the Company or any Subsidiary on the Restatement Date and set forth in Schedule 8.01 securing Indebtedness outstanding on such date;
(b) any Lien created under any Loan Document;
(c) Liens for taxes, fees, assessments or other governmental charges (other than any Lien imposed by ERISA or in respect of environmental obligations) which are not delinquent or remain payable without penalty, or to the extent that non-payment thereof is permitted by Section 7.07, provided that no notice of lien has been filed or recorded under the Code;
(d) carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', landlords', materialmen's, repairmen's or other similar Liens arising in the ordinary course of business which are not delinquent or remain payable without penalty or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings, which proceedings have the effect of preventing the forfeiture or sale of the property subject thereto;
(e) Liens (other than any Lien imposed by ERISA) consisting of pledges or deposits required in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security legislation;
(f) Liens on the property of the Company or its Subsidiaries securing (i) the non-delinquent performance of bids, trade contracts (other than for borrowed money), leases, statutory obligations, (ii) Contingent Obligations in connection with performance bonds, Surety Bonds and appeal bonds, and (iii) other non-delinquent obligations of a like nature, in each case, incurred in the ordinary course of business; provided that all such Liens in the aggregate could not (taking into account the probable likelihood of their being enforced) reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Effect;
(g) Liens consisting of judgment or judicial attachment liens, provided that the enforcement of such Liens is effectively stayed and the obligations secured by all such Liens
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in the aggregate at any time outstanding for the Company and its Subsidiaries do not exceed $5,000,000;
(h) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances incurred in the ordinary course of business which, in the aggregate, are not substantial in amount, and which do not in any case materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto or interfere with the ordinary conduct of the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries;
(i) Liens on assets of corporations which become Subsidiaries after the Restatement Date; provided, however, that such Liens existed at the time the respective corporations became Subsidiaries and were not created in anticipation thereof and the obligations secured by all such Liens in the aggregate at any time outstanding do not exceed (i) $20,000,000, less (ii) amounts outstanding under paragraphs (j) and (p);
(j) purchase money security interests on any property acquired or held by the Company or its Subsidiaries, securing Indebtedness incurred or assumed for the purpose of financing all or any part of the cost of acquiring such property; provided that (i) any such Lien attaches to such property concurrently with or within 20 days after the acquisition thereof, (ii) such Lien attaches solely to the property so acquired in such transaction and other like assets in respect of which financing was provided by the same lender to the obligor of such Indebtedness, (iii) the principal amount of the debt secured thereby does not exceed 100% of the cost of such property, and (iv) the principal amount of the Indebtedness secured by any and all such purchase money security interests shall not at any time exceed, together with Indebtedness permitted under subsection 8.05(d), (i) $20,000,000, less (ii) amounts outstanding under paragraphs (i) and (p);
(k) Liens securing obligations in respect of capital leases on assets subject to such leases, provided that such capital leases are otherwise permitted hereunder;
(l) Liens arising solely by virtue of any statutory or common law provision relating to banker's liens, rights of set-off or similar rights and remedies as to deposit accounts or other funds maintained with a creditor depository institution; provided that (i) such deposit account is not a dedicated cash collateral account and is not subject to restrictions against access by the Company or any Subsidiary in excess of those set forth by regulations promulgated by the FRB, and (ii) such deposit account is not intended by the Company or any Subsidiary to provide collateral to the depository institution;
(m) Liens on vehicles or related property securing obligations under any Floor Plan Financing Facility incurred in the ordinary course of business; provided, that the aggregate principal amount of all obligations at any time outstanding under all Floor Plan Financing Facilities after giving effect to such incurrence does not exceed the total cost of the vehicles and equipment securing such obligations;
(n) Liens on assets acquired with the proceeds of industrial revenue bonds securing Indebtedness incurred or assumed to acquire such property; provided, that the obligations secured by such Liens do not exceed $20,000,000 in the aggregate at any time outstanding for the Company and its Subsidiaries;
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(o) Liens upon assets of any Securitization Subsidiary relating to any Permitted Securitization; and
(p) Liens securing other obligations of the Company and its Subsidiaries not to exceed in the aggregate at any one time outstanding (i) $20,000,000 less (ii) amounts outstanding under paragraphs (i) and (j).
8.02 Disposition of Assets. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, (x) issue any equity interests of any Subsidiary to any Person which is not the Company or a Subsidiary or (y) sell, assign, lease, convey, transfer or otherwise dispose of (whether in one or a series of transactions) any property, including accounts and notes receivable, with or without recourse (each, an "Asset Disposition"), or enter into any agreement to do any of the foregoing, except:
(a) dispositions of inventory, or used, worn-out or surplus equipment, all in the ordinary course of business;
(b) the sale of equipment to the extent that such equipment is exchanged for credit against the purchase price of similar replacement equipment, or the proceeds of such sale are reasonably promptly applied to the purchase price of such replacement equipment;
(c) Asset Dispositions by the Company or any Subsidiary to any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary that is party to the Subsidiary Guaranty and Asset Dispositions permitted by Section 8.03(c);
(d) sales of accounts receivable and related rights (and of rights as lessor under capitalized leases and related equipment and rights) to or by a Securitization Subsidiary pursuant to a Permitted Securitization;
(e) sale/leaseback transactions involving an aggregate consideration not to exceed $10,000,000 after the date hereof;
(f) the transfer of Lease Assets to Leasing Subsidiaries solely in connection with Leasing Transactions;
(g) the sale or other disposition of the assets or stock of Summit Performance Systems, Inc. in exchange for cash or a promissory note; provided, that any such promissory note is pledged to the Agent pursuant to the Pledge Agreement;
(h) Asset Dispositions that are not otherwise permitted in this Section 8.02 and which are of property located outside of the United States; provided; that the aggregate fair market value of all such property disposed of after the date hereof (valued at the time of disposition) shall not exceed $10,000,000;
(i) Asset Dispositions of property (1) acquired pursuant to
Section 8.04(a) or (2) acquired as an Investment pursuant to Section 8.04(b)-(p); provided, that the aggregate fair market value of such property referred to in clause (2) shall not exceed $10,000,000 after the date hereof;
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(j) the granting of non-exclusive licenses of patents, trademarks and copyrights by the Company or any Subsidiary;
(k) Asset Dispositions identified on Schedule 8.02;
(l) sales at a discount in the ordinary course of business of accounts receivable arising out of sales by the Company or its Domestic Subsidiaries to Persons domiciled outside of the United States; and
(m) dispositions not otherwise permitted hereunder which are made for fair market value; provided, that (i) at the time of any disposition, no Event of Default shall exist or shall result from such disposition, (ii) at least 75% of the aggregate sales price from such dispositions shall be paid in cash, and (iii) the aggregate value of all assets so sold by the Company and its Subsidiaries after the date hereof, together, shall not (x) represent more than 10% of Net Worth, as would be shown in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at the end of the fiscal quarter next preceding the date on which such determination is made, or (y) be responsible for more than 10% of the consolidated net revenues or consolidated net income of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the 12-month period ending as of the end of the fiscal quarter next preceding the date of determination.
8.03 Consolidations and Mergers. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, merge, consolidate with or into, or convey, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of (whether in one transaction or in a series of transactions) all or substantially all of its assets (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) to or in favor of any Person, except:
(a) any Subsidiary may merge with the Company, provided that
(i) the Company shall be the continuing or surviving corporation, or with any one or more Subsidiaries, and (ii) if any transaction shall be between a Subsidiary and a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary, the Wholly-Owned Subsidiary shall be the continuing or surviving corporation;
(b) another Person organized under the laws of any state of the United States may merge with or consolidate into the Company or any Subsidiary so long as (i) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing either before or after giving effect to such transaction (determined in respect of Sections 8.16, 8.17 and 8.18 on a pro forma basis as of the last day of the prior fiscal quarter), (ii) the Company or such Subsidiary is the surviving Person, and (iii) all applicable legal requirements have been satisfied;
(c) any Subsidiary may transfer, dispose of or sell all or substantially all of its assets (upon voluntary liquidation or otherwise), to the Company or another Wholly-Owned Subsidiary;
(d) the Company may merge with a corporation organized under the laws of any state of the United States solely for the purpose of reincorporating in such other state so long as (i) the surviving Person assumes the Company's Obligations under the Loan Documents pursuant to a written instrument reasonably satisfactory to the Agent and (ii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would occur after giving effect thereto; and
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(e) the Company or any Subsidiary may sell or transfer assets to effect an Investment in a Joint Venture permitted by Section 8.04(e).
8.04 Loans and Investments. The Company shall not purchase or acquire, or suffer or permit any Subsidiary to purchase or acquire, or make any commitment therefor, any capital stock, equity interest, or any obligations or other securities of, or any interest in, any Person, or make or commit to make any Acquisitions, or make or commit to make any advance, loan, extension of credit or capital contribution to or any other investment in, any Person including any Affiliate of the Company (together, "Investments"), except for:
(a) Investments held by the Company or Subsidiary in the form of cash equivalents or short term marketable securities;
(b) extensions of credit in the nature of accounts receivable or notes receivable arising from the sale or lease of goods or services in the ordinary course of business;
(c) Investments by the Company or any Subsidiary in Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries party to the Subsidiary Guaranty and other Indebtedness incurred pursuant to subsection 8.05(e);
(d) Investments incurred in order to consummate Acquisitions otherwise permitted herein, provided that (i) without the prior written consent of the Required Lenders, the aggregate consideration (consisting of cash paid plus assumption of Indebtedness) for Acquisitions undertaken by the Company and its Subsidiaries (other than the pending Acquisitions described on Schedule 8.04(d)) shall not exceed $35,000,000 for any single Acquisition or series of related Acquisitions or $100,000,000 in the aggregate for all such Acquisitions consummated after the Restatement Date, (ii) such Acquisitions are undertaken in accordance with all applicable Requirements of Law, (iii) the prior, effective written consent or approval to such Acquisition of the board of directors or equivalent governing body of the acquiree is obtained, (iv) the Company provides the Agent and the Lenders with a certificate at least ten days prior to the consummation of such Acquisition evidencing that, after giving effect to such Acquisition, no Default or Event of Default would occur (as determined in respect of Sections 8.16, 8.17 and 8.18 on a pro forma basis as of the last day of the preceding fiscal quarter); provided, however, that such requirement may be waived by the Agent in its sole and absolute discretion in respect of any Acquisition with a total consideration of $10,000,000 or less; and (v) the Person or business which is the subject of such Acquisition is in the same or similar line of business as the Company and its Subsidiaries or another business relating thereto.
(e) Investments in Joint Ventures (other than Leasing Subsidiaries) not exceeding $35,000,000 in the aggregate after the Restatement Date;
(f) Investments constituting Permitted Swap Obligations or payments or advances under Swap Contracts relating to Permitted Swap Obligations;
(g) loans, advances and progress payments to vendors of the Company and its Subsidiaries, or suppliers to such vendors, to enable such vendors and suppliers to purchase
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goods or parts to be processed and sold to the Company and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices;
(h) loans and advances to officers, directors and employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries not to exceed $2,500,000 in the aggregate at any one time outstanding;
(i) Investments (including debt obligations) received in connection with the bankruptcy or reorganization of suppliers and customers and in settlement of delinquent obligations of, and other disputes with, customers and suppliers arising in the ordinary course of business;
(j) loans and advances to sales representatives of the Company or its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices;
(k) Investments (i) by the Company or any Subsidiary in Subsidiaries to the extent not permitted under clause (c) above and (ii) incurred in order to consummate Acquisitions of (x) assets located outside the United States or (y) Persons which are not organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof; provided, that the aggregate cash consideration paid therefor after the Restatement Date shall not exceed $30,000,000; provided, further, that any such Investment made in order to consummate an Acquisition shall be made in compliance with clauses (ii), (iii),
(iv) and (v) of paragraph (d) above;
(l) Cash Investments in Leasing Subsidiaries consisting exclusively of Lease Assets solely in connection with the consummation of Leasing Transactions and additional Investments in Leasing Subsidiaries consisting of cash and other property in an amount not to exceed either (i) the sum of (A) $25,000,000 plus (B) the aggregate cash dividends or distributions paid by the Leasing Subsidiaries after the Restatement Date, in the aggregate after the Restatement Date, or (ii) $10,000,000 in any fiscal year;
(m) Investments aggregating not in excess of $10,000,000 made after the date hereof in a Subsidiary which is a captive insurance company;
(n) Investments aggregating not in excess of $125,000 made after the date hereof in Securitization Subsidiaries;
(o) Investments of a nature not contemplated by the foregoing clauses hereof that are outstanding as of the Restatement Date and set forth in Schedule 8.04 (o) hereto; and
(p) Other Investments aggregating no more than $10,000,000 after the date hereof.
8.05 Limitation on Indebtedness. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume, suffer to exist, or otherwise become or remain directly or indirectly liable with respect to, any Indebtedness, except:
(a) Indebtedness incurred pursuant to this Agreement;
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(b) Indebtedness consisting of Contingent Obligations permitted pursuant to Section 8.08;
(c) Indebtedness existing on the Restatement Date and set forth in Schedule 8.05;
(d) Indebtedness incurred in connection with leases permitted pursuant to Section 8.10;
(e) (i) unsecured Indebtedness owed (A) to the Company or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary which is a Guarantor (B) by any Subsidiary or by the Company or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary which is a Guarantor to any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary which is a Guarantor so long as it is evidenced by a note pledged to the Agent, (ii) unsecured Indebtedness owed by the Company or any non-Guarantor Subsidiary to any non-Guarantor Subsidiary and (iii) unsecured Indebtedness owed by the Company to any Leasing Subsidiary to the extent of funds advanced to the Company in connection with the Company's cash pooling arrangements.
(f) Indebtedness evidenced by the Senior Subordinated Notes;
(g) unsecured Indebtedness incurred on a subordinated basis on terms (other than interest and fees, which shall be at a market rate) not materially less favorable (or in the case of terms of subordination, no less favorable) to the Lenders than those of the Senior Subordinated Notes or on such other terms and conditions approved by the Agent and the Required Lenders;
(h) unsecured Indebtedness owed to former McNeilus shareholders in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $3,300,000 at any one time outstanding;
(i) Indebtedness of Securitization Subsidiaries which is non-recourse to the Company or any other Subsidiary and which is incurred in connection with a Permitted Securitization;
(j) Indebtedness incurred in connection with the issuance of industrial revenue bonds in a principal amount not to exceed $20,000,000 at any one time outstanding; and
(k) other Indebtedness with an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $35,000,000 at any time outstanding.
8.06 Transactions with Affiliates. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, enter into any transaction with any Affiliate of the Company, except upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to the Company or such Subsidiary than would obtain in a comparable arm's-length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate of the Company or such Subsidiary and except for the following:
(a) any employment or severance agreement and any amendment thereto entered into by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business;
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(b) transactions between (i) the Company and any Guarantor,
(ii) Guarantors or (iii) the Company or any Subsidiary and any Leasing Subsidiary (including the contribution of overhead costs consistent with past practice) in the ordinary course of business;
(c) the payment of reasonable directors' fees and benefits, provided that the amount of such fees and benefits paid to any Affiliate does not exceed the amount of such fees and benefits paid to any Person who is not otherwise an Affiliate of the Company;
(d) payments permitted pursuant to Section 8.11 and transactions permitted pursuant to Section 8.04 or Section 8.08;
(e) the provision of officers' and directors' indemnification and insurance in the ordinary course of business to the extent permitted by applicable law; and
(f) the payment of employee salaries, bonuses and employee benefits in the ordinary course of business (including the payment of commissions on behalf of any Leasing Subsidiary by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries consistent with past practices and in the ordinary course of business).
8.07 Use of Proceeds. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, use any portion of the proceeds of any Loan or any Letter of Credit, directly or indirectly, (i) to purchase or carry Margin Stock,
(ii) to repay or otherwise refinance indebtedness of the Company or others incurred to purchase or carry Margin Stock, (iii) to extend credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock, or (iv) to acquire any security in any transaction that is subject to Section 13 or 14 of the Exchange Act.
8.08 Contingent Obligations. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Contingent Obligations except:
(a) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business;
(b) Permitted Swap Obligations;
(c) Contingent Obligations of the Company and its Subsidiaries existing as of the Restatement Date and listed in Schedule 8.08;
(d) Contingent Obligations with respect to Indebtedness of the Company's Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries permitted pursuant to Section 8.05;
(e) Contingent Obligations with respect to Surety Instruments incurred by the Company and its Subsidiaries (including on behalf of third parties) in the ordinary course of business;
(f) Contingent Obligations of the Company and its Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries in respect of the Bank One leasing programs in an amount not to exceed $2,000,000 incurred per year (up to a maximum of $7,000,000 at any one time outstanding), without duplication of amounts covered by subsection (j) below;
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(g) Contingent Obligations with respect to letters of credit issued to support Indebtedness incurred in connection with industrial revenue bonds permitted pursuant to Section 8.05(h) with an aggregate face amount not exceeding at any time $20,000,000;
(h) Contingent Obligations of any Subsidiary which is a captive insurance company Subsidiary which are incurred in the ordinary course of its business and are non-recourse to the Company and its other Subsidiaries;
(i) Contingent Obligations of the Company's Subsidiaries arising from their becoming a "Subsidiary Guarantor" under the Senior Subordinated Indenture to the extent that such Subsidiaries have complied with
Section 7.14;
(j) Contingent Obligations which are recorded as liabilities on the balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP;
(k) Contingent Obligations aggregating up to $15,000,000 in respect of which the Company or its Subsidiaries have contractual indemnification rights against a third party; and
(l) other Contingent Obligations (except in respect of obligations of Leasing Subsidiaries) not exceeding at any time $20,000,000 in the aggregate in respect of the Company and its Subsidiaries together.
8.09 Joint Ventures. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to enter into any Joint Venture, other than (a) in the ordinary course of business and (b) in compliance with subsection 8.04(e).
8.10 Lease Obligations. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, create or suffer to exist any obligations for the payment of rent for any property under lease or agreement to lease, except for:
(a) leases of the Company and of Subsidiaries in existence on the Restatement Date and any renewal, extension or refinancing thereof;
(b) operating leases entered into by the Company or any Subsidiary after the Restatement Date in the ordinary course of business;
(c) leases entered into by the Company or any Subsidiary after the Restatement Date pursuant to sale-leaseback transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business; and
(d) capital leases other than those permitted under clauses
(a) and (c) of this Section, entered into by the Company or any Subsidiary after the Restatement Date to finance the acquisition of equipment.
8.11 Restricted Payments. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, declare or make any dividend payment or other distribution of assets, properties, cash, rights, obligations or securities on account of any shares of any class of its capital stock, or purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire for value any shares of its capital stock or any warrants,
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rights or options to acquire such shares, now or hereafter outstanding (collectively, "Restricted Equity Payments"); except that any Subsidiary may declare and make dividend payments and other distributions to its shareholders on a pro rata basis and the Company may:
(a) declare and make dividend payments or other distributions payable solely in its common stock;
(b) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of its common stock or warrants or options to acquire any such shares with the proceeds received from the substantially concurrent issue of new shares of its common stock; and
(c) declare or pay cash dividends to its stockholders and purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of its capital stock or warrants, rights or options to acquire any such shares for cash and computed on a cumulative consolidated basis; provided, that, (i) all such payments made in any period of four fiscal quarters (ending with the fiscal quarter in which any such payment is made) shall not exceed the lesser of (A) the sum of (1) the Company's consolidated net income for the period of four fiscal quarters ending with the second preceding fiscal quarter prior to the fiscal quarter in which such payment is made (if positive), plus (2) only to the extent necessary to permit the payment of up to $5,000,000 in Restricted Equity Payments during any fiscal year, an amount equal to all or any portion of the Dividend Supplement Amount as designated in writing to the Agent by the Company at least five Business Days prior to the payment of such incremental amount, and (B) the sum of (1) $6,000,000, plus (2) 7.5% of the Company's consolidated net income for the period specified in clause (A), and (ii) immediately after giving effect to such proposed action, no Default or Event of Default would exist (determined with respect to Sections 8.16, 8.17 and 8.18 on a pro forma basis as of the last day of the previous fiscal quarter).
8.12 ERISA. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any of its ERISA Affiliates to: (a) engage in a prohibited transaction or violation of the fiduciary responsibility rules with respect to any Plan which has resulted or could reasonably expected to result in liability of the Company in an aggregate amount in excess of $3,000,000; or (b) engage in a transaction that could be subject to Section 4069 or 4212(c) of ERISA.
8.13 Change in Business. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, engage in any material line of business substantially different from those lines of business carried on by the Company and its Subsidiaries on the Restatement Date.
8.14 Accounting Changes. The Company shall not, and shall not suffer or permit any Subsidiary to, (a) make any significant change in accounting treatment or reporting practices, except (i) as required by GAAP, (ii) a change in the depreciation method employed thereby to straight line depreciation and
(iii) any other change which does not affect the calculations required to determine compliance with Section 8.16, 8.17 or 8.18, or (b) change the fiscal year of the Company or of any Subsidiary.
8.15 Amendments to Charter and Agreements; Subordinated Indebtedness. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, (a) make any amendment or modification to any indenture, notes or other agreement evidencing or governing any subordinated
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Indebtedness, including without limitation the Indebtedness evidenced by the Senior Subordinated Notes, (b) directly or indirectly prepay, defease or in substance defease, purchase, redeem, retire or otherwise acquire, any such Indebtedness, except that (i) the Company may pay the Senior Subordinated Notes on the scheduled maturity date therefor in accordance with the terms thereof (including without limitation the terms of subordination set forth therein) as in effect on the Closing Date and (ii) the Company may apply an amount equal to 25% of the Net Proceeds realized upon any issuance of equity securities by the Company to the prepayment or repurchase of the Senior Subordinated Notes so long as (A) after giving effect thereto, the Company's Senior Debt to EBITDA Ratio is less than 2.0 to 1.0 and (B) no Event of Default or Default has occurred and is continuing or would occur after giving effect thereto, determined in the case of clauses (A) and (B) (in respect of Sections 8.16, 8.17, and 8.18) on a pro forma basis as of the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter, (c) make any amendment or modification to any terms or provisions of its Certificate or Articles of Incorporation or bylaws which is materially adverse to the Agent or the Lenders without the prior written consent of the Required Lenders or (d) issue any preferred stock. The Company shall not, and shall not permit any Subsidiary to, amend, waive, modify or terminate any material portion of any Senior Subordinated Debt Document. The Company will not designate any Indebtedness as "Designated Senior Indebtedness" under the Senior Subordinated Indenture.
8.16 Net Worth. The Company shall not permit its consolidated Net Worth at any time to be less than the sum of (a) $245,000,000, plus (b) the aggregate net proceeds of all offerings and sales of equity securities by the Company or any Subsidiary after the Restatement Date, plus (c) 75% of the Company's positive consolidated net income, as determined in accordance with GAAP, for each fiscal quarter ending after the Restatement Date and on or prior to the date of determination.
8.17 Leverage Ratio. The Company shall not permit its Leverage Ratio as determined as of the last day of each fiscal quarter in any period set forth below to be greater than the ratio set forth below for such period:

Period                                       Ratio
------                                       -----
Restatement Date through 9/29/02           4.50:1.0
9/30/02 through 9/29/03                    4.25:1.0
9/30/03 and thereafter                     4.00:1.0

8.18 Minimum EBITDA. The Company shall not permit its consolidated EBITDA, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter for the period of four fiscal quarters ending on such date, to be less than (i) $90,000,000 through September 30, 2002 and (ii) $100,000,000 for each measurement period thereafter.
8.19 Restrictive Agreements. The Company shall not, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any indenture, agreement, instrument or other arrangement which directly or indirectly prohibits or restrains, or has the effect of prohibiting or restraining, or imposes materially adverse conditions upon, the ability of any Subsidiary to (a) pay dividends or make other distributions (i) on its Capital Stock or (ii) with respect to any other interest or participation in, or measured by, its profits, (b) make loans or advances to the Company or any
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Subsidiary, (c) repay loans or advances from the Company or any Subsidiary or
(d) transfer any of its properties or assets to the Company or any Subsidiary.
ARTICLE IX
EVENTS OF DEFAULT
9.01 Event of Default. Any of the following shall constitute an "Event of Default":
(a) Non-Payment. Any Borrower fails to pay, (i) when and as required to be paid herein, any amount of principal of any Loan or of any L/C Obligation, or (ii) within five (5) days after the same becomes due, any interest, fee or any other amount payable hereunder or under any other Loan Document; or
(b) Representation or Warranty. Any representation or warranty by the Company or any Subsidiary made or deemed made herein or in any other Loan Document, or contained in any certificate, document or financial or other statement by the Company, any Subsidiary, or any Responsible Officer, furnished at any time under this Agreement, or in or under any other Loan Document, is incorrect in any material respect on or as of the date made or deemed made; or
(c) Specific Defaults. The Company fails to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in any of Section 7.01, 7.02, 7.03 or 7.09 or in Article VIII; or
(d) Other Defaults. The Company or any Subsidiary party thereto fails to perform or observe any other term or covenant contained in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days after the date upon which written notice thereof is given to the Company by the Agent or any Lender; or
(e) Cross-Default. (i) The Company or any Subsidiary (A) fails to make any payment in respect of any Indebtedness or Contingent Obligation (other than in respect of Swap Contracts), having an aggregate principal amount (including undrawn committed or available amounts and including amounts owing to all creditors under any combined or syndicated credit arrangement) of more than $5,000,000 when due (whether by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration, demand, or otherwise) and such failure continues after the applicable grace or notice period, if any, specified in the relevant document on the date of such failure; or (B) fails to perform or observe any other condition or covenant, or any other event shall occur or condition exist, under any agreement or instrument relating to any such Indebtedness or Contingent Obligation, and such failure continues after the applicable grace or notice period, if any, specified in the relevant document on the date of such failure if the effect of such failure, event or condition is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such Indebtedness or beneficiary or beneficiaries of such Indebtedness (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders or beneficiary or beneficiaries) to cause such Indebtedness to be declared to be due and payable, or to be required to be repurchased, prior to its stated maturity, or such Contingent Obligation to become payable or cash collateral in respect thereof to be demanded; (ii) there occurs under any Swap Contract an Early Termination Date (as defined in such Swap Contract) resulting from (1) any event of default under such Swap Contract as to which the Company or
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any Subsidiary is the Defaulting Party (as defined in such Swap Contract) or (2) any Termination Event (as so defined) arising due to a "Tax Event Upon Merger" or a "Credit Event Upon Merger" as to which the Company or any Subsidiary is an Affected Party (as so defined) and, in either event, the Swap Termination Value owed by the Company or such Subsidiary as a result thereof is greater than $5,000,000; or (iii) the Company or any Subsidiary fails to perform or observe any condition or covenant under any contract providing for the issuance of, or reimbursement of amounts in respect of, Surety Instruments (other than Non-Surety L/C's), which in such event requires the making of payments in excess of $5,000,000 in the aggregate, net of the proceeds of insurance policies and indemnity agreements in favor of the Company or any Subsidiary and received or reasonably expected to be received thereby.
(f) Insolvency; Voluntary Proceedings. Any Borrower or any Material Subsidiary (i) ceases or fails to be solvent, or generally fails to pay, or admits in writing its inability to pay, its debts as they become due, subject to applicable grace periods, if any, whether at stated maturity or otherwise; (ii) voluntarily ceases to conduct its business in the ordinary course; (iii) commences any Insolvency Proceeding with respect to itself; or
(iv) takes any action to effectuate or authorize any of the foregoing; or
(g) Involuntary Proceedings. (i) Any involuntary Insolvency Proceeding is commenced or filed against the Company or any Subsidiary, or any writ, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or similar process, is issued or levied against a substantial part of the Company's or any Subsidiary's properties, and any such proceeding or petition shall not be dismissed, or such writ, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or similar process shall not be released, vacated or fully bonded within 60 days after commencement, filing or levy; (ii) the Company or any Subsidiary admits the material allegations of a petition against it in any Insolvency Proceeding, or an order for relief (or similar order under non-U.S. law) is ordered in any Insolvency Proceeding; or
(iii) the Company or any Subsidiary acquiesces in the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, conservator, liquidator, mortgagee in possession (or agent therefor), or other similar Person for itself or a substantial portion of its property or business; or
(h) ERISA. (i) An ERISA Event shall occur with respect to a Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in liability of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate under Title IV of ERISA to such Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan or to the PBGC in an aggregate amount for all such Pension Plans and Multiemployer Plans in excess of $5,000,000; (ii) the aggregate amount of Unfunded Pension Liability among all Pension Plans and Multiemployer Plans at any time exceeds $5,000,000 (determined, in respect of Multiemployer Plans, by reference to the Unfunded Person Liability for which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may be liable); or
(iii) the Company or any ERISA Affiliate shall fail to pay when due, after the expiration of any applicable grace period, any installment payment with respect to its withdrawal liability under Section 4201 of ERISA under a Multiemployer Plan in an aggregate amount in excess of $5,000,000; or
(i) Monetary Judgments. One or more non-interlocutory judgments, non-interlocutory orders, decrees or arbitration awards is entered against the Company or any Subsidiary involving in the aggregate a liability (to the extent not covered by independent third-party insurance as to which the insurer does not dispute coverage) as to any single or related
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series of transactions, incidents or conditions, of $5,000,000 or more, and the same shall remain unsatisfied, unvacated and unstayed pending appeal for a period of 10 days after the entry thereof; or
(j) Non-Monetary Judgments. Any non-monetary judgment, order or decree is entered against the Company or any Subsidiary which does or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and there shall be any period of 10 consecutive days during which a stay of enforcement of such judgment or order, by reason of a pending appeal or otherwise, shall not be in effect; or
(k) Change of Control. There occurs any Change of Control; or
(l) Loss of Licenses. Any Governmental Authority revokes or fails to renew any material license, permit or franchise of the Company or any Material Subsidiary, or the Company or any Material Subsidiary for any reason loses any material license, permit or franchise, or the Company or any Material Subsidiary suffers the imposition of any restraining order, escrow, suspension or impound of funds in connection with any proceeding (judicial or administrative) with respect to any material license, permit or franchise; or
(m) Guarantor Defaults. Any Guarantor fails in any material respect to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement in the Subsidiary Guaranty; or the Subsidiary Guaranty is for any reason partially (including with respect to future advances) or wholly revoked or invalidated, or otherwise ceases to be in full force and effect, or any Guarantor or any other Person contests in any manner the validity or enforceability thereof or denies that it has any further liability or obligation thereunder; or any event described at subsections (f) or (g) of this Section occurs with respect to any Guarantor; or
(n) Invalidity of Subordination Provisions. The subordination provisions of the Senior Subordinated Debt Documents or any agreement or instrument governing any other subordinated debt with an outstanding principal amount of $5,000,000 or more are for any reason revoked or invalidated, or otherwise cease to be in full force and effect, any Person contests in any manner the validity or enforceability thereof, or the Indebtedness hereunder is for any reason subordinated or does not have the priority contemplated by this Agreement or such subordination provisions; or
(o) Collateral.
(i) any provision of any Collateral Document shall for any reason cease to be valid and binding on or enforceable against the Company or any Subsidiary party thereto or the Company or any Subsidiary shall so state in writing or bring an action to limit its obligations or liabilities thereunder; or
(ii) any Collateral Document shall for any reason (other than pursuant to the terms thereof) cease to create a valid security interest in the Collateral purported to be covered thereby or such security interest shall for any reason cease to be a perfected and first priority security interest subject only to Permitted Liens.
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9.02 Remedies. If any Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Agent shall, at the request of, or may, with the consent of, the Required Lenders,
(a) declare the Commitment of each Lender to make Loans and any obligation of the Issuer to Issue Letters of Credit to be terminated, whereupon such Commitments and obligation shall be terminated;
(b) declare an amount equal to the Dollar Equivalent of the maximum aggregate amount that is or at any time thereafter may become available for drawing under any outstanding Letters of Credit (whether or not any beneficiary shall have presented, or shall be entitled at such time to present, the drafts or other documents required to draw under such Letters of Credit) to be immediately due and payable, and declare the unpaid principal amount of all outstanding Loans, all interest accrued and unpaid thereon, and all other amounts owing or payable hereunder or under any other Loan Document to be immediately due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by each Borrower; and
(c) exercise on behalf of itself and the Lenders all rights and remedies available to it and the Lenders under the Loan Documents or applicable law;
provided, however, that upon the occurrence of any event specified in subsection
(f) or (g) of Section 9.01 (in the case of clause (i) of subsection (g) upon the expiration of the 60-day period mentioned therein), the obligation of each Lender to make Loans and any obligation of the Issuer to Issue Letters of Credit shall automatically terminate and the unpaid principal amount of all outstanding Loans and all interest and other amounts as aforesaid shall automatically become due and payable without further act of the Agent, the Issuer or any Lender.
9.03 Rights Not Exclusive. The rights provided for in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other rights, powers, privileges or remedies provided by law or in equity, or under any other instrument, document or agreement now existing or hereafter arising.
ARTICLE X
THE AGENT
10.01 Appointment and Authorization; "Agent". (a) Each Lender hereby irrevocably (subject to Section 10.09) appoints, designates and authorizes the Agent to take such action on its behalf under the provisions of this Agreement and each other Loan Document and to exercise such powers and perform such duties as are expressly delegated to it by the terms of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained elsewhere in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document, the Agent shall not have any duties or responsibilities, except those expressly set forth herein, nor shall the Agent have or be deemed to have any fiduciary relationship with any Lender, and no implied covenants, functions, responsibilities, duties, obligations or liabilities shall be read into this Agreement or any other Loan Document or otherwise exist against the Agent. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, the
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use of the term "agent" in this Agreement with reference to the Agent is not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency doctrine of any applicable law. Instead, such term is used merely as a matter of market custom, and is intended to create or reflect only an administrative relationship between independent contracting parties.
(b) Each Issuer shall act on behalf of the Lenders with respect to any Letters of Credit Issued by it and the documents associated therewith until such time and except for so long as the Agent may agree at the request of the Required Lenders to act for such Issuer with respect thereto; provided, however, that such Issuer shall have all of the benefits and immunities (i) provided to the Agent in this Article X with respect to any acts taken or omissions suffered by the Issuer in connection with Letters of Credit Issued by it or proposed to be Issued by it and the application and agreements for letters of credit pertaining to the Letters of Credit as fully as if the term "Agent", as used in this Article X, included such Issuer with respect to such acts or omissions, and (ii) as additionally provided in this Agreement with respect to such Issuer.
10.02 Delegation of Duties. The Agent may execute any of its duties under this Agreement or any other Loan Document by or through agents, employees or attorneys-in-fact and shall be entitled to advice of counsel concerning all matters pertaining to such duties. The Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any agent or attorney-in-fact that it selects with reasonable care.
10.03 Liability of Agent. None of the Agent-Related Persons shall (a) be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by any of them under or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the transactions contemplated hereby (except for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct), or (b) be responsible in any manner to any of the Lenders for any recital, statement, representation or warranty made by the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Company, or any officer thereof, contained in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document, or in any certificate, report, statement or other document referred to or provided for in, or received by the Agent under or in connection with, this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or for the value of or title to any Collateral, or the validity, effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or for any failure of the Company or any other party to any Loan Document to perform its obligations hereunder or thereunder. No Agent-Related Person shall be under any obligation to any Lender to ascertain or to inquire as to the observance or performance of any of the agreements contained in, or conditions of, this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or to inspect the properties, books or records of the Company or any of the Company's Subsidiaries or Affiliates.
10.04 Reliance by Agent. (a) The Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any writing, resolution, notice, consent, certificate, affidavit, letter, telegram, facsimile, telex or telephone message, statement or other document or conversation believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person or Persons, and upon advice and statements of legal counsel (including counsel to the Company), independent accountants and other experts selected by the Agent. The Agent shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action under this Agreement or any other Loan Document unless it shall first receive such advice or concurrence of the Required Lenders as it deems appropriate and, if it so requests, it shall first be indemnified to its satisfaction by the Lenders against any and all liability and expense which may be incurred by it by reason of taking
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or continuing to take any such action. The Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, under this Agreement or any other Loan Document in accordance with a request or consent of the Required Lenders and such request and any action taken or failure to act pursuant thereto shall be binding upon all of the Lenders.
(b) For purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in Section 5.01, each Lender that has executed this Agreement shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be satisfied with, each document or other matter either sent by the Agent to such Lender for consent, approval, acceptance or satisfaction, or required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or acceptable or satisfactory to such Lender.
10.05 Notice of Default. The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default, except with respect to defaults in the payment of principal, interest and fees required to be paid to the Agent for the account of the Lenders, unless the Agent shall have received written notice from a Lender or the Company referring to this Agreement, describing such Default or Event of Default and stating that such notice is a "notice of default". The Agent will notify the Lenders of its receipt of any such notice. The Agent shall take such action with respect to such Default or Event of Default as may be requested by the Required Lenders in accordance with Article IX; provided, however, that unless and until the Agent has received any such request, the Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) take such action, or refrain from taking such action, with respect to such Default or Event of Default as it shall deem advisable or in the best interest of the Lenders.
10.06 Credit Decision. Each Lender acknowledges that none of the Agent-Related Persons has made any representation or warranty to it, and that no act by the Agent hereinafter taken, including any review of the affairs of the Company and its Subsidiaries, shall be deemed to constitute any representation or warranty by any Agent-Related Person to any Lender. Each Lender represents to the Agent that it has, independently and without reliance upon any Agent-Related Person and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own appraisal of and investigation into the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the Company and its Subsidiaries, the value of and title to any Collateral, and all applicable bank regulatory laws relating to the transactions contemplated hereby, and made its own decision to enter into this Agreement and to extend credit to the Company hereunder. Each Lender also represents that it will, independently and without reliance upon any Agent-Related Person and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit analysis, appraisals and decisions in taking or not taking action under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and to make such investigations as it deems necessary to inform itself as to the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the Company. Except for notices, reports and other documents expressly herein required to be furnished to the Lenders by the Agent, the Agent shall not have any duty or responsibility to provide any Lender with any credit or other information concerning the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition or creditworthiness of the Company which may come into the possession of any of the Agent-Related Persons.
10.07 Indemnification of Agent. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, the Lenders shall indemnify upon demand the Agent-Related Persons (to the
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extent not reimbursed by or on behalf of the Company and without limiting the obligation of the Company to do so), in accordance with such Lender's Pro Rata Share of all Loans and Commitments, from and against any and all Indemnified Liabilities; provided, however, that no Lender shall be liable for the payment to the Agent-Related Persons of any portion of such Indemnified Liabilities resulting from such Person's gross negligence or willful misconduct. Without limitation of the foregoing, each Lender shall reimburse the Agent upon demand for its ratable share of any costs or out-of-pocket expenses (including Attorney Costs) incurred by the Agent in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification, amendment or enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings or otherwise) of, or legal advice in respect of rights or responsibilities under, this Agreement, any other Loan Document, or any document contemplated by or referred to herein, to the extent that the Agent is not reimbursed for such expenses by or on behalf of the Company. The undertaking in this Section shall survive the payment of all Obligations hereunder and the resignation or replacement of the Agent.
10.08 Agent in Individual Capacity. BofA and its Affiliates may make loans to, issue letters of credit for the account of, accept deposits from, acquire equity interests in and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust, financial advisory, underwriting or other business with the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates as though BofA were not the Agent or an Issuer hereunder and without notice to or consent of the Lenders. The Lenders acknowledge that, pursuant to such activities, BofA or its Affiliates may receive information regarding the Company or its Affiliates (including information that may be subject to confidentiality obligations in favor of the Company or such Subsidiary) and acknowledge that the Agent shall be under no obligation to provide such information to them. With respect to its Loans, BofA shall have the same rights and powers under this Agreement as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent or an Issuer.
10.09 Successor Agent. The Agent may, and at the request of the Required Lenders shall, resign as Agent upon 30 days' notice to the Lenders. If the Agent resigns under this Agreement, the Required Lenders shall appoint from among the Lenders a successor agent for the Lenders subject, so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is then continuing, to the consent of the Company, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. If no successor agent is appointed prior to the effective date of the resignation of the Agent, the Agent may appoint, after consulting with the Lenders and the Company, a successor agent from among the Lenders. Upon the acceptance of its appointment as successor agent hereunder, such successor agent shall succeed to all the rights, powers and duties of the retiring Agent and the term "Agent" shall mean such successor agent and the retiring Agent's appointment, powers and duties as Agent shall be terminated. After any retiring Agent's resignation hereunder as Agent, the provisions of this Article X and Sections 11.04 and 11.05 shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Agent under this Agreement. If no successor agent has accepted appointment as Agent by the date which is 30 days following a retiring Agent's notice of resignation, the retiring Agent's resignation shall nevertheless thereupon become effective and the Lenders shall perform all of the duties of the Agent hereunder until such time, if any, as the Required Lenders appoint a successor agent as provided for above. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, BofA may not be removed as the Agent at the request of the Required Lenders unless BofA shall also simultaneously be replaced as an
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"Issuer" (if any letters of credit Issued by BofA are then outstanding) hereunder pursuant to documentation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to BofA.
10.10 Withholding Tax. (a) (i) If any Lender is a "foreign corporation, partnership or trust" within the meaning of the Code and such Lender claims exemption from, or a reduction of, U.S. withholding tax under Sections 1441 or 1442 of the Code, such Lender agrees with and in favor of the Agent and the Company, to deliver to the Agent and the Company:
(A) if such Lender claims an exemption from, or a reduction of, withholding tax under a United States tax treaty, two properly completed and executed copies of IRS Form W-8BEN before the payment of any interest in the first calendar year and before the payment of any interest in each third succeeding calendar year during which interest may be paid under this Agreement;
(B) if such Lender claims that interest paid under this Agreement is exempt from United States withholding tax because it is effectively connected with a United States trade or business of such Lender, two properly completed and executed copies of IRS Form W-8ECI before the payment of any interest is due in the first taxable year of such Lender and in each succeeding taxable year of such Lender during which interest may be paid under this Agreement; and
(C) such other form or forms as may be required under the Code or other laws of the United States as a condition to exemption from, or reduction of, United States withholding tax.
Such Lender agrees to promptly notify the Agent and the Company of any change in circumstances which would modify or render invalid any claimed exemption or reduction.
(ii) If any foreign Lender claims exemption from U.S. federal withholding tax under Section 871(h) or 881(c) of the Code with respect to payments of "portfolio interest", such Lender agrees with and in favor of the Agent and the Company to deliver to the Agent and the Company a Form W-8, or any subsequent versions thereof or successors thereto (and, if such Lender delivers a Form W-8, a certificate representing that such Lender is not a "bank" for purposes of Section 881(c) of the Code, is not a 10-percent shareholder (within the meaning of Section 871(h)(3)(B) of the Code) of the Company and is not a controlled foreign corporation related to the Company (within the meaning of Section 864(d)(4) of the Code)).
(b) If any Lender claims exemption from, or reduction of, withholding tax under a United States tax treaty by providing IRS Form W-8BEN and such Lender sells, assigns, grants a participation in, or otherwise transfers all or part of the Obligations of the Company to such Lender, such Lender agrees to notify the Agent of the percentage amount in which it is no longer the beneficial owner of Obligations of the Company to such Lender. To the extent of such percentage amount, the Agent will treat such Lender's IRS Form W-8BEN as no longer valid.
(c) If any Lender claiming exemption from United States withholding tax by filing IRS Form W-8ECI with the Agent sells, assigns, grants a participation in, or otherwise
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transfers all or part of the Obligations of the Company to such Lender, such Lender agrees to undertake sole responsibility for complying with the withholding tax requirements imposed by Sections 1441 and 1442 of the Code.
(d) If any Lender is entitled to a reduction in the applicable withholding tax, the Agent may withhold from any interest payment to such Lender an amount equivalent to the applicable withholding tax after taking into account such reduction. However, if the forms or other documentation required by subsection (a) of this Section are not delivered to the Agent, then the Agent may withhold from any interest payment to such Lender not providing such forms or other documentation an amount equivalent to the applicable withholding tax imposed by Sections 1441 and 1442 of the Code, without reduction.
(e) If the IRS or any other Governmental Authority of the United States or other jurisdiction asserts a claim that the Agent did not properly withhold tax from amounts paid to or for the account of any Lender (because the appropriate form was not delivered or was not properly executed, or because such Lender failed to notify the Agent of a change in circumstances which rendered the exemption from, or reduction of, withholding tax ineffective, or for any other reason) such Lender shall indemnify the Agent fully for all amounts paid, directly or indirectly, by the Agent as tax or otherwise, including penalties and interest, and including any taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on the amounts payable to the Agent under this Section, together with all costs and expenses (including Attorney Costs). The obligation of the Lenders under this subsection shall survive the payment of all Obligations and the resignation or replacement of the Agent.
10.11 Collateral Matters. (a) The Agent is authorized on behalf of all the Lenders, without the necessity of any notice to or further consent from the Lenders, from time to time to take any action with respect to any Collateral or the Collateral Documents which may be necessary to perfect and maintain perfected the security interest in and Liens upon the Collateral granted pursuant to the Collateral Documents.
(b) The Lenders irrevocably authorize the Agent, at its option and in its discretion, to release any Lien granted to or held by the Agent upon any Collateral (i) upon termination of the Commitments and payment in full of all Loans and all other Obligations known to the Agent and payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document; (ii) constituting property sold or to be sold or disposed of as part of or in connection with any disposition permitted hereunder; (iii) constituting property in which the Company or any Subsidiary owned no interest at the time the Lien was granted or at any time thereafter;
(iv) constituting property leased to the Company or any Subsidiary under a lease which has expired or been terminated in a transaction permitted under this Agreement or is about to expire and which has not been, and is not intended by the Company or such Subsidiary to be, renewed or extended; (v) consisting of an instrument evidencing Indebtedness or other debt instrument, if the indebtedness evidenced thereby has been paid in full; or (vi) if approved, authorized or ratified in writing by the Required Lenders or all the Lenders, as the case may be, as provided in subsection 11.01(f). Upon request by the Agent at any time, the Lenders will confirm in writing the Agent's authority to release particular types or items of Collateral pursuant to this subsection 10.11(b), provided that the absence of any such confirmation for whatever reason shall not affect the Agent's rights under this Section 10.11.
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(c) Each Lender agrees with and in favor of each other (which agreement shall not be for the benefit of the Company or any Subsidiary) that the Company's obligation to such Lender under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents is not and shall not be secured by any real property collateral now or hereafter acquired by such Lender other than the real property described in the Mortgages.
(d) While an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Agent shall deliver a "Payment Blockage Notice" (as defined in the Senior Subordinated Indenture) to the Trustee under the Senior Subordinated Indenture at the direction or with the consent of the Required Lenders.
ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS
11.01 Amendments and Waivers. Except as expressly provided in the proviso in Section 8.04(d)(iv), no amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, and no consent with respect to any departure by the Company or any applicable Subsidiary therefrom, shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Required Lenders (or by the Agent at the written request of the Required Lenders) and the Company and acknowledged by the Agent, and then any such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given; provided, however, that no such waiver, amendment, or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by all the Lenders directly affected thereby and the Company and acknowledged by the Agent, do any of the following:
(a) increase or extend the Commitment of any Lender (or reinstate any Commitment terminated pursuant to Section 9.02) except for increases pursuant to Section 2.09(c);
(b) postpone or delay any date fixed by this Agreement or any other Loan Document for any payment of principal, interest, fees or other amounts due to the Lenders (or any of them) hereunder or under any other Loan Document including without limitation any mandatory prepayment required pursuant to subsection 2.11(b);
(c) reduce the principal of, or the rate of interest specified herein on any Loan, or (subject to clause (iii) below) any fees or other amounts payable hereunder or under any other Loan Document;
(d) change the percentage of the Commitments or of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Loans which is required for the Lenders or any of them to take any action hereunder or reduce the percentage specified in the definition of "Required Lenders" or, without the consent of each Revolving Lender, "Required Revolving Lenders"; or
(e) amend this Section, or Section 2.18, or any provision herein providing for consent or other action by all Lenders;
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(f) discharge all or substantially all of the Guarantors, or release all or substantially all of the Collateral except as otherwise may be provided in the Collateral Documents or except where the consent of the Required Lenders only is specifically provided for;
and, provided further, that (i) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Issuer in addition to the Required Lenders or all the Lenders, as the case may be, affect the rights or duties of the Issuer under this Agreement or any L/C-Related Document relating to any Letter of Credit Issued or to be Issued by it, (ii) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Agent in addition to the Required Lenders or all the Lenders, as the case may be, affect the rights or duties of the Agent under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (iii) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Swing Line Lender in addition to the Required Lenders or all the Lenders, as the case may be, affect the rights or duties of the Swing Line Lender under this Agreement or any other Loan Document,
(iv) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender in addition to the Required Lenders or all of the Lenders, as the case may be, affect the rights or duties of the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (v) without limiting clauses (a) through (f) above, no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless signed by Lenders holding a majority of a particular Loan (determined by reference to outstanding Commitments or, if no Commitments are then outstanding, outstanding principal amount), affect the rights of such Lenders to receive or defer payment in respect of such Loan, and (vi) the Fee Letter may be amended, or rights or privileges thereunder waived, in a writing executed by the parties thereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the execution and delivery of all documentation required by Section 2.09(c) to be delivered in connection with an increase to the Aggregate Revolving Loan Commitment, this Agreement shall be deemed amended without further action by any party to reflect, as applicable, the new Lenders and their new Revolving Loan Commitments and any increase in the Revolving Loan Commitment of any existing Lender.
11.02 Notices. (a) All notices, requests, consents, approvals, waivers and other communications shall be in writing (including, unless the context expressly otherwise provides, by facsimile transmission, provided that any matter transmitted by the Company by facsimile (i) shall be immediately confirmed by a telephone call to the recipient at the number specified on Schedule 11.02, and (ii) shall be followed promptly by delivery of a hard copy original thereof) and mailed, faxed or delivered, to the address or facsimile number specified for notices on Schedule 11.02; or, as directed to the Company or the Agent, to such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice to the other parties, and as directed to any other party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice to the Company and the Agent.
(b) All such notices, requests and communications shall, when transmitted by overnight delivery, or faxed, be effective when delivered for overnight (next-day) delivery, or transmitted in legible form by facsimile machine, respectively, or if mailed or delivered, upon delivery; except that notices pursuant to Article II, III or X to the Agent shall not be effective until actually received by the Agent, and notices pursuant to Article III to any Issuer shall not be effective until actually received by such Issuer at the address specified on Schedule 11.02.
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(c) Any agreement of the Agent and the Lenders herein to receive certain notices by telephone or facsimile is solely for the convenience and at the request of the Company. The Agent and the Lenders shall be entitled to rely on the authority of any Person identifying himself or herself as, and reasonably appearing to be, a Person authorized by the Company to give such notice and the Agent and the Lenders shall not have any liability to the Company or other Person on account of any action taken or not taken by the Agent or the Lenders in good faith in reliance upon such telephonic or facsimile notice. The obligation of the Company to repay the Loans and L/C Obligations shall not be affected in any way or to any extent by any failure by the Agent and the Lenders to receive written confirmation of any telephonic or facsimile notice or the receipt by the Agent and the Lenders of a confirmation which is at variance with the terms understood by the Agent and the Lenders to be contained in the telephonic or facsimile notice.
11.03 No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies. No failure to exercise and no delay in exercising, on the part of the Agent or any Lender, any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder, shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege.
11.04 Costs and Expenses. The Company shall:
(a) whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, pay or reimburse BofA (including in its capacity as Agent and an Issuer) and the Arranger within five Business Days after demand (subject to subsection 5.01(e)) for all costs and expenses incurred by BofA (including in its capacity as Agent and Issuer) and the Arranger in connection with the development, preparation, delivery, administration, syndication and execution of, and any amendment, supplement, waiver or modification to (in each case, whether or not consummated), this Agreement, any Loan Document and any other documents prepared in connection herewith or therewith, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including reasonable Attorney Costs incurred by BofA (including in its capacity as Agent and an Issuer) and the Arranger with respect thereto;
(b) pay or reimburse the Agent, the Arranger and each Lender within five Business Days after demand (subject to subsection 5.01(e)) for all costs and expenses (including Attorney Costs) incurred by them in connection with the enforcement, attempted enforcement, or preservation of any rights or remedies under this Agreement or any other Loan Document during the existence of an Event of Default or after acceleration of the Loans (including in connection with any "workout" or restructuring regarding the Loans, and including in any Insolvency Proceeding or appellate proceeding); and
(c) pay or reimburse BofA (including in its capacity as Agent) within five Business Days after demand (subject to subsection 5.01(e)) for all reasonable appraisal (including the allocated cost of internal appraisal services), audit, environmental inspection and review (including the allocated cost of such internal services), search and filing costs, fees and expenses, incurred or sustained by BofA (including in its capacity as Agent) in connection with the matters referred to under subsections (a) and (b) of this Section.
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11.05 Company Indemnification. (a) The Company shall indemnify, defend and hold the Agent-Related Persons, and each Lender and each of its respective officers, directors, employees, counsel, agents and attorneys-in-fact (each, an "Indemnified Person") harmless from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, charges, expenses and disbursements (including Attorney Costs) of any kind or nature whatsoever which may at any time (including at any time following repayment of the Loans, the termination of the Letters of Credit and the termination, resignation or replacement of the Agent or replacement of any Lender or assignment by any Lender of its Loans or Commitments) be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against any Indemnified Person arising out of this Agreement or any document contemplated by or referred to herein, or the transactions contemplated hereby, or any action taken or omitted by any such Person under or in connection with any of the foregoing, including with respect to any investigation, litigation or proceeding (including any Insolvency Proceeding or appellate proceeding) related to or arising out of this Agreement or the Loans or Letters of Credit or the use of the proceeds thereof or related to any Offshore Currency transactions entered into in connection herewith, whether or not any Indemnified Person is a party thereto (all the foregoing, collectively, the "Indemnified Liabilities"); provided, that the Company shall have no obligation hereunder to any Indemnified Person with respect to Indemnified Liabilities resulting from (i) the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Person or (ii) any proceeding initiated by the Agent against any Lender (except to the extent arising from a breach by such Lender of its obligations hereunder) or by any Lender against the Agent or any other Lender (except to the extent arising from a breach by the Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, of its obligations hereunder). The agreements in this Section shall survive payment of all other Obligations.
(b) (i) The Company shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each Indemnified Person, from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, charges, expenses or disbursements (including Attorney Costs and the allocated cost of internal environmental audit or review services), which may be incurred by or asserted against such Indemnified Person in connection with or arising out of any pending or threatened investigation, litigation or proceeding, or any action taken by any Person, with respect to any Environmental Claim arising out of or related to any property, whether or not subject to a Mortgage in favor of the Agent or any Lender, or arising out of or related to any operations of the Company or any Subsidiary. No action taken by legal counsel chosen by the Agent or any Lender in defending against any such investigation, litigation or proceeding or requested remedial, removal or response action shall vitiate or any way impair the Company's obligation and duty hereunder to indemnify and hold harmless the Agent and each Lender.
(ii) In no event shall any site visit, observation, or testing by the Agent or any Lender (or any contractee of the Agent or any Lender) be deemed a representation or warranty that Hazardous Materials are or are not present in, on, or under, the site, or that there has been or shall be compliance with any Environmental Law. Neither the Company nor any other Person is entitled to rely on any site visit, observation, or testing by the Agent or any Lender. Neither the Agent nor any Lender owes any duty of care to protect the Company or any other Person against, or to inform the Company or any other party of, any Hazardous Materials or any other adverse condition affecting any site or property. The Agent or any Lender may, at its discretion, disclose
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to the Company or any other Person any report or findings made as a result of, or in connection with, any site visit, observation, or testing by the Agent or any Lender. The Company understands and agrees that the Agent and the Lenders make no warranty or representation to the Company or any other Person regarding the truth, accuracy or completeness of any such report or findings that may be disclosed. The Company also understands that, depending upon the results of any site visit, observation or testing by the Agent or any Lender and disclosed to the Company, the Company may have a legal obligation to notify one or more environmental agencies of the results and that such reporting requirements are site-specific and are to be evaluated by the Company without advice or assistance from the Agent or any Lender.
(c) The obligations in this Section shall survive payment of all other Obligations. At the election of any Indemnified Person, the Company shall defend such Indemnified Person using legal counsel satisfactory to such Indemnified Person in such Person's sole discretion, at the sole cost and expense of the Company. All amounts owing under this Section shall be paid within 30 days after demand.
11.06 Marshalling; Payments Set Aside. Neither the Agent nor the Lenders shall be under any obligation to marshall any assets in favor of any Borrower or any other Person or against or in payment of any or all of the Obligations. To the extent that any Borrower makes a payment to the Agent or the Lenders, or the Agent or the Lenders exercise their right of set-off, and such payment or the proceeds of such set-off or any part thereof are subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside or required (including pursuant to any settlement entered into by the Agent or such Lender in its discretion) to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any other party, in connection with any Insolvency Proceeding or otherwise, then (a) to the extent of such recovery the obligation or part thereof originally intended to be satisfied shall be revived and continued in full force and effect as if such payment had not been made or such set-off had not occurred, and (b) each Lender severally agrees to pay to the Agent upon demand its pro rata share of any amount so recovered from or repaid by the Agent.
11.07 Successors and Assigns. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, except that the Company may not assign or transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Agent and each Lender.
11.08 Assignments, Participations, etc. (a) Any Lender may, with the written consent of the Company at all times other than during the existence of an Event of Default and the Agent, the Swing Line Lender, the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender and, in respect of assignments of Revolving Loans or a Revolving Loan Commitment, the Issuer, which consents shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, at any time assign and delegate to one or more Eligible Assignees (each an "Assignee") all, or any part of all, of the Loans, the Commitments, the L/C Obligations and the other rights and obligations of such Lender hereunder, in a minimum amount of $5,000,000 or, if less, the total amount of such Lender's outstanding Loans and/or Commitments (provided that (x) no written consent of the Company, the Agent, the Swing Line Lender, the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender or the Issuer shall be required in connection with any assignment and delegation by a Lender to an Eligible Assignee that is a Lender or an Affiliate of such Lender or any Approved Fund and (y) no consent of the Swing Line Lender, the Offshore Currency Fronting Lender or the Issuer shall be required in respect of any assignment
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and delegation consisting solely of Term Loans); provided, however, that the Company and the Agent may continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with the interest so assigned to an Assignee until (i) written notice of such assignment, together with payment instructions, addresses and related information with respect to the Assignee, shall have been given to the Company and the Agent by such Lender and the Assignee; (ii) such Lender and its Assignee shall have delivered to the Company and the Agent an Assignment and Acceptance in the form of Exhibit D ("Assignment and Acceptance") together with any Note or Notes subject to such assignment and (iii) the assignor Lender or Assignee has paid to the Agent a processing fee in the amount of $3,500; provided, that in the case of contemporaneous assignments by a Lender to more than one fund managed by the same investment advisor, only a single fee of $3,500 shall be payable for all such contemporaneous assignments.
(b) From and after the date that the Agent notifies the assignor Lender that it has received (and, if required, provided its consent with respect to) an executed Assignment and Acceptance and payment of the above-referenced processing fee, (i) the Assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent that rights and obligations hereunder (including without limitation any obligations under Section 10.10) have been assigned to it pursuant to such Assignment and Acceptance, shall have the rights and obligations of a Lender under the Loan Documents, and (ii) the assignor Lender shall, to the extent that rights and obligations hereunder and under the other Loan Documents have been assigned by it pursuant to such Assignment and Acceptance, relinquish its rights and be released from its obligations under the Loan Documents.
(c) Within five Business Days after its receipt of notice by the Agent that it has received an executed Assignment and Acceptance and payment of the processing fee, (and, if required, provided that it consents to such assignment in accordance with subsection 11.08(a)), the Company shall execute and deliver to the Agent new Notes evidencing such Assignee's assigned Loans and Commitment and, if the assignor Lender has retained a portion of its Loans and its Commitment, replacement Notes in the principal amount of the Loans retained by the assignor Lender (such Notes to be in exchange for, but not in payment of, the Notes held by such Lender). Immediately upon each Assignee's making its processing fee payment under the Assignment and Acceptance, this Agreement shall be deemed to be amended to the extent, but only to the extent, necessary to reflect the addition of the Assignee and the resulting adjustment of the Commitments arising therefrom. The Commitment allocated to each Assignee shall reduce such Commitments of the assigning Lender pro tanto.
(d) The Agent shall maintain a copy of each Assignment and Acceptance delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders and the Commitments of, and principal amount of the Loans owing to, each Lender from time to time. The entries in such register shall be conclusive, in the absence of manifest error, and the Company, the Agent and the Lenders shall treat each person whose name is recorded in such register as the owner of the Commitments and the Loans recorded therein for all purposes of this Agreement. The register shall be available for inspection by the Company, any Lender and their representatives, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.
(e) Any Lender may at any time sell to one or more commercial banks or other Persons not Affiliates of the Company (a "Participant") participating interests in any Loans, the Commitment of that Lender and the other interests of that Lender (the "originating
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Lender") hereunder and under the other Loan Documents; provided, however, that
(i) the originating Lender's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) the originating Lender shall remain solely responsible for the performance of such obligations, (iii) the Company, each Issuer and the Agent shall continue to deal solely and directly with the originating Lender in connection with the originating Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and (iv) no Lender shall transfer or grant any participating interest under which the Participant has rights to approve any amendment to, or any consent or waiver with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except to the extent such amendment, consent or waiver would require unanimous consent of the Lenders as described in clause (a) (but only in respect of any increase of any Commitment of any Originating Lender), (b), (c) or (f) of the first proviso to Section 11.01. In the case of any such participation, the Participant shall be entitled to the benefit of Sections 4.01, 4.03 and 11.05 as though it were also a Lender hereunder, and if amounts outstanding under this Agreement are due and unpaid, or shall have been declared or shall have become due and payable upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, each Participant shall be deemed to have the right of set-off in respect of its participating interest in amounts owing under this Agreement to the same extent as if the amount of its participating interest were owing directly to it as a Lender under this Agreement.
(f) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, (i) any Lender may at any time create a security interest in, or pledge, all or any portion of its rights under and interest in this Agreement and the Notes held by it in favor of any Federal Reserve Bank in accordance with Regulation A of the FRB or U.S. Treasury Regulation 31 CFR ss.203.14, and such Federal Reserve Bank may enforce such pledge or security interest in any manner permitted under applicable law and (ii) any Lender that is a fund that invests in bank loans may, without the consent of the Agent or the Company, pledge all or any portion of its rights under and interest in this Agreement to any trustee or to any other representative of holders of obligations owed or securities issued by such fund as security for such obligations or securities; provided, that any transfer to any Person upon the enforcement of such pledge or security interest may only be made subject to Section 11.08.
11.09 Confidentiality. Each Lender agrees to take and to cause its Affiliates to take normal and reasonable precautions and exercise due care to maintain the confidentiality of all information provided to it by the Company or any Subsidiary, or by the Agent on the Company's or such Subsidiary's behalf, under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, and neither it nor any of its Affiliates shall use any such information other than in connection with or in enforcement of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents or in connection with other business now or hereafter existing or contemplated with the Company or any Subsidiary; except to the extent such information (i) was or becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of disclosure by the Lender or its Affiliates, or (ii) was or becomes available on a non-confidential basis from a source other than the Company, provided that such source is not bound by a confidentiality agreement with the Company known to the Lender; provided, however, that any Lender may disclose such information (A) at the request or pursuant to any requirement of any Governmental Authority to which the Lender is subject or in connection with an examination of such Lender by any such authority; (B) pursuant to subpoena or other court process; (C) when required to do so in accordance with the provisions of any applicable
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Requirement of Law; (D) to the extent reasonably required in connection with any litigation or proceeding involving the Company to which the Agent, any Lender or their respective Affiliates may be party; (E) to the extent reasonably required in connection with the exercise of any remedy hereunder or under any other Loan Document; (F) to such Lender's independent auditors and other professional advisors; (G) to any Participant or Assignee, actual or potential, provided that such Person agrees in writing to keep such information confidential to the same extent required of the Lenders hereunder; (H) as to any Lender or its Affiliate, as expressly permitted under the terms of any other document or agreement regarding confidentiality to which the Company or any Subsidiary is party or is deemed party with such Lender or such Affiliate; (I) to its Affiliates, provided that such Person is advised of the confidentiality requirements set forth herein; and (J) to the National Association of Insurance Commissioners or any similar organization or any nationally recognized rating agency that requires access to information about such Lender's investment portfolio in connection with ratings issued with respect to such Lender.
11.10 Set-off. In addition to any rights and remedies of the Lenders provided by law, if an Event of Default exists or the Loans have been accelerated, each Lender is authorized at any time and from time to time, without prior notice to any Borrower, any such notice being waived by each Borrower to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held by, and other indebtedness at any time owing by, such Lender to or for the credit or the account of such Borrower against any and all Obligations owing to such Lender, now or hereafter existing, irrespective of whether or not the Agent or such Lender shall have made demand under this Agreement or any Loan Document and although such Obligations may be contingent or unmatured. Each Lender agrees promptly to notify the Company and the Agent after any such set-off and application made by such Lender; provided, however, that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such set-off and application.
11.11 Automatic Debits of Fees. With respect to any commitment fee, arrangement fee, letter of credit fee or other fee, or any other cost or expense (including Attorney Costs) due and payable to the Agent, any Issuer, BofA or the Arranger under the Loan Documents, the Company hereby irrevocably authorizes BofA to debit any deposit account of the Company with BofA in an amount such that the aggregate amount debited from all such deposit accounts does not exceed such fee or other cost or expense; provided, that so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, BofA has given notice to the Company thereof not later than 9:00 a.m. (local time) on the date of such debit. If there are insufficient funds in such deposit accounts to cover the amount of the fee or other cost or expense then due, such debits will be reversed so as not to create an overdraft (in whole or in part, in BofA's sole discretion) and such amount not debited shall be deemed to be unpaid. No such debit under this Section shall be deemed a set-off.
11.12 Notification of Addresses, Lending Offices, Etc. Each Lender shall notify the Agent in writing of any changes in the address to which notices to the Lender should be directed, of addresses of any Lending Office, of payment instructions in respect of all payments to be made to it hereunder and of such other administrative information as the Agent shall reasonably request.
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11.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of separate counterparts, each of which, when so executed, shall be deemed an original, and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute but one and the same instrument.
11.14 Severability. The illegality or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement or any instrument or agreement required hereunder shall not in any way affect or impair the legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement or any instrument or agreement required hereunder.
11.15 No Third Parties Benefited. This Agreement is made and entered into for the sole protection and legal benefit of the Borrowers, the Lenders, the Agent and the Agent-Related Persons, and their permitted successors and assigns, and no other Person shall be a direct or indirect legal beneficiary of, or have any direct or indirect cause of action or claim in connection with, this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents.
11.16 Governing Law and Jurisdiction. (a) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE NOTES
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS (WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PROVISIONS THEREOF); PROVIDED THAT THE BORROWERS, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS SHALL RETAIN ALL RIGHTS ARISING UNDER FEDERAL LAW.
(b) ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT MAY BE BROUGHT IN THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS OR OF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, AND BY EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS AGREEMENT, EACH OF THE BORROWERS, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS CONSENTS, FOR ITSELF AND IN RESPECT OF ITS PROPERTY, TO THE NON-EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THOSE COURTS. EACH OF THE BORROWERS, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION, INCLUDING ANY OBJECTION TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OR BASED ON THE GROUNDS OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS, WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE BRINGING OF ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN SUCH JURISDICTION IN RESPECT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY DOCUMENT RELATED HERETO. THE BORROWERS, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS EACH WAIVE PERSONAL SERVICE OF ANY SUMMONS, COMPLAINT OR OTHER PROCESS, WHICH MAY BE MADE BY ANY OTHER MEANS PERMITTED BY ILLINOIS LAW.
11.17 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. THE BORROWERS, THE LENDERS AND THE AGENT EACH WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY, IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR OTHER LITIGATION OF ANY TYPE BROUGHT BY ANY OF THE PARTIES AGAINST ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY AGENT-RELATED PERSON, PARTICIPANT OR ASSIGNEE, WHETHER WITH RESPECT TO CONTRACT CLAIMS, TORT CLAIMS, OR OTHERWISE. THE BORROWERS, THE LENDERS AND THE AGENT EACH AGREE THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE TRIED BY A COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A
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JURY. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING, THE PARTIES FURTHER AGREE THAT THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IS WAIVED BY OPERATION OF THIS SECTION AS TO ANY ACTION, COUNTERCLAIM OR OTHER PROCEEDING WHICH SEEKS, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, TO CHALLENGE THE VALIDITY OR ENFORCEABILITY OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY PROVISION HEREOF OR THEREOF. THIS WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO ANY SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS, RENEWALS, SUPPLEMENTS OR MODIFICATIONS TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS.
11.18 Judgment. If, for the purposes of obtaining judgment in any court, it is necessary to convert a sum due hereunder or under any other Loan Document in one currency into another currency, the rate of exchange used shall be that at which in accordance with normal banking procedures the Agent could purchase the first currency with such other currency on the Business Day preceding that on which final judgment is given. The obligation of each Borrower in respect of any such sum due from it to the Agent or any Lender hereunder or under the other Loan Documents shall, notwithstanding any judgment in a currency (the "Judgment Currency") other than that in which such sum is denominated in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement (the "Agreement Currency"), be discharged only to the extent that on the Business Day following receipt by the Agent or such Lender of any sum adjudged to be so due in the Judgment Currency, the Agent or such Lender may in accordance with normal banking procedures purchase the Agreement Currency with the Judgment Currency. If the amount of the Agreement Currency so purchased is less than the sum originally due to the Agent or such Lender in the Agreement Currency, each Borrower agrees, as a separate obligation and notwithstanding any such judgment, to indemnify the Agent or such Lender or the Person to whom such obligation was owing against such loss. If the amount of the Agreement Currency so purchased is greater than the sum originally due to the Agent or such Lender in such currency, the Agent or such Lender agrees to return the amount of any excess to such Borrower (or to any other Person who may be entitled thereto under applicable law).
11.19 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the other Loan Documents, embodies the entire agreement and understanding among the Borrowers, the Lenders and the Agent, and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements and understandings of such Persons, verbal or written, relating to the subject matter hereof and thereof.
11.20 Restatement Date. The Company, each Lender and the Agent agree that on the Restatement Date the following transactions shall be deemed to occur automatically, without further action by any party hereto:
(a) The Prior Credit Agreement shall be deemed to be amended and restated in its entirety in the form of this Agreement.
(b) The Agent shall, promptly after receipt of the Notes reflecting the amendments to the Prior Credit Agreement effected hereunder, cancel and return to the Company (upon receipt from the Lenders) the promissory notes being replaced by such Notes.
The Company, each Lender, and the Agent agree that (i) the restatement transactions provided in the foregoing sentence shall not be effective until the execution of this Agreement by
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all of the parties hereto and the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 5.01 hereof; (ii) all terms and conditions of the Prior Credit Agreement which are amended and restated by this Agreement shall remain effective until such amendment and restatement becomes effective hereunder, and thereafter shall continue to be effective only as amended and restated by this Agreement and (iii) the representations, warranties and covenants set forth herein shall become effective concurrently with the execution of this Agreement by all of the parties hereto.
11.21 Return of Notes. Each Lender which is a party to the Prior Credit Agreement agrees that, upon receipt of its Notes pursuant to Section 5.01(a) it shall return to the Company for cancellation any "Notes" issued to it under the Prior Credit Agreement.
11.22 Departing Lenders. Upon the effectiveness of this Agreement and the payment to each Departing Lender of the "Obligations" due it under the Prior Credit Agreement, (a) the Departing Lenders shall have no further Commitment hereunder and (b) the Departing Lenders shall cease to have any rights or duties as Lenders hereunder; provided, that the Departing Lenders shall remain entitled to indemnities hereunder which by their terms survive termination of this Agreement.
11.23 Collateral Documents. Each Lender hereby consents to (and authorizes the Agent to execute on the Restatement Date) such amendment, reaffirmation and joinder agreements with respect to the Collateral Documents as may be satisfactory to the Agent.
ARTICLE XII
COMPANY GUARANTY
12.01 The Guaranty. In order to induce the Lenders to enter into this Agreement and to extend credit hereunder and in recognition of the direct benefits to be received by the Company from the proceeds of the Loans and the issuance of the Letters of Credit, the Company hereby agrees with the Lenders as follows: the Company hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees as primary obligor and not merely as surety the full and prompt payment when due, whether upon maturity, acceleration or otherwise, of any and all of the Guaranteed Obligations of the Subsidiary Borrowers to the Guaranteed Creditors. If any or all of the Guaranteed Obligations of such Borrowers to the Guaranteed Creditors becomes due and payable hereunder, the Company unconditionally promises to pay such indebtedness to the Agent and/or the Lenders, on demand, together with any and all expenses which may be incurred by the Agent or the Lenders in collecting any of the Guaranteed Obligations. If claim is ever made upon any Guaranteed Creditor for repayment or recovery of any amount or amounts received in payment or on account of any of the Guaranteed Obligations and any of the aforesaid payees repays all or part of said amount by reason of (i) any judgment, decree or order of any court or administrative body having jurisdiction over such payee or any of its property or (ii) any settlement or compromise of any such claim effected by such payee with any such claimant (including the Borrowers), then and in such event the Company agrees that any such judgment, decree, order, settlement or compromise shall be binding upon the Company, notwithstanding any revocation
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of this Guaranty or other instrument evidencing any liability of any Borrower, and the Company shall be and remain liable to the aforesaid payees hereunder for the amount so repaid or recovered to the same extent as if such amount had never originally been received by any such payee.
12.02 Insolvency. Additionally, the Company unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the payment of the Dollar Equivalent of any and all of the Guaranteed Obligations of the Subsidiary Borrowers to the Guaranteed Creditors whether or not due or payable by any Borrower upon the occurrence of any of the events specified in Sections 9.01(f) or (g), and unconditionally promises to pay the Dollar Equivalent of such Guaranteed Obligations to the Guaranteed Creditors, or order, on demand, in lawful money of the United States.
12.03 Nature of Liability. The liability of the Company hereunder is exclusive and independent of any security for or other guaranty of the Guaranteed Obligations of any Borrower whether executed by the Company, any other guarantor or by any other party, and the liability of the Company hereunder is not affected or impaired by (a) any direction as to application of payment by any Borrower or by any other party; or (b) any other continuing or other guaranty, undertaking or maximum liability of a guarantor or of any other party as to the Guaranteed Obligations of any Borrower; or (c) any payment on or in reduction of any such other guaranty or undertaking; or (d) any dissolution, termination or increase, decrease or change in personnel by any Borrower; or (e) any payment made to any Guaranteed Creditor on the Guaranteed Obligations which any such Guaranteed Creditor repays to any Borrower pursuant to court order in any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium or other debtor relief proceeding, and the Company waives any right to the deferral or modification of its obligations hereunder by reason of any such proceeding.
12.04 Independent Obligation. The obligations of the Company hereunder are independent of the obligations of any other guarantor, any other party or any Borrower, and a separate action or actions may be brought and prosecuted against the Company whether or not action is brought against any other guarantor, any other party or any Borrower and whether or not any other guarantor, any other party or any Borrower is joined in any such action or actions. The Company waives, to the full extent permitted by law, the benefit of any statute of limitations affecting its liability hereunder or the enforcement thereof. Any payment by a Borrower or other circumstance which operates to toll any statute of limitations as to such Borrower shall operate to toll the statute of limitations as to the Company's obligations under this Article XII.
12.05 Authorization. The Company authorizes the Guaranteed Creditors without notice or demand (except as shall be required by applicable statute and cannot be waived), and without affecting or impairing its liability hereunder, from time to time to:
(a) change the manner, place or terms of payment of, and/or change or extend the time of payment of, renew, increase, accelerate or alter, any of the Guaranteed Obligations (including any increase or decrease in the rate of interest thereon), any security therefor, or any liability incurred directly or indirectly in respect thereof, and the Guaranty herein made shall apply to the Guaranteed Obligations as so changed, extended, renewed or altered;
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(b) take and hold security for the payment of the Guaranteed Obligations and sell, exchange, release, surrender, realize upon or otherwise deal with in any manner and in any order any property by whomsoever at any time pledged or mortgaged to secure, or howsoever securing, the Guaranteed Obligations or any liabilities (including any of those hereunder) incurred directly or indirectly in respect thereof or hereof, and/or any offset thereagainst;
(c) exercise or refrain from exercising any rights against any Borrower or others or otherwise act or refrain from acting;
(d) release or substitute any one or more endorsers, guarantors, Borrowers or other obligors;
(e) settle or compromise any of the Guaranteed Obligations, any security therefor or any liability (including any of those hereunder) incurred directly or indirectly in respect thereof or hereof, and may subordinate the payment of all or any part thereof to the payment of any liability (whether due or not) of any Borrower to its creditors other than the Guaranteed Creditors;
(f) apply any sums by whomsoever paid or howsoever realized to any liability or liabilities of any Borrower to the Guaranteed Creditors regardless of what liability or liabilities of the Company or any Borrower remain unpaid;
(g) consent to or waive any breach of, or any act, omission or default under, this Agreement or any of the instruments or agreements referred to herein, or otherwise amend, modify or supplement this Agreement or any of such other instruments or agreements; and/or
(h) take any other action which would, under otherwise applicable principles of common law, give rise to a legal or equitable discharge of the Company from its liabilities under this Guaranty.
12.06 Reliance. It is not necessary for any Guaranteed Creditor to inquire into the capacity or powers of any Borrower or the officers, directors, partners or agents acting or purporting to act on their behalf, and any Guaranteed Obligations made or created in reliance upon the professed exercise of such powers shall be guaranteed hereunder.
12.07 Subordination. Any of the indebtedness of each Borrower relating to the Guaranteed Obligations now or hereafter owing to the Company is hereby subordinated to the Guaranteed Obligations of such Borrower owing to the Guaranteed Creditors, and if the Agent so requests at a time when an Event of Default exists, all such indebtedness relating to the Guaranteed Obligations of such Borrower to the Company shall be collected, enforced and received by the Company for the benefit of the Guaranteed Creditors and be paid over to the Agent on behalf of the Guaranteed Creditors on account of the Guaranteed Obligations of such Borrower to the Guaranteed Creditors, but without affecting or impairing in any manner the liability of the Company under the other provisions of this Guaranty. Prior to the transfer by the Company of any note or negotiable instrument evidencing any of the indebtedness relating to the Guaranteed Obligations of such Borrower to the Company, the Company shall mark such note or negotiable instrument with a legend that the same is subject to this subordination. Without
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limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company hereby agrees with the Guaranteed Creditors that it will not exercise any right of subrogation which it may at any time otherwise have as a result of this Guaranty (whether contractual, under Section 509 of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise) until all Guaranteed Obligations have been irrevocably paid in full in cash.
12.08 Waiver.
(a) The Company waives any right (except as shall be required by applicable statute and cannot be waived) to require any Guaranteed Creditor to (i) proceed against any Borrower, any other guarantor or any other party,
(ii) proceed against or exhaust any security held from any Borrower, any other guarantor or any other party or (iii) pursue any other remedy in any Guaranteed Creditor's power whatsoever. The Company waives any defense based on or arising out of any defense of any Borrower, any other guarantor or any other party, other than payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations, based on or arising out of the disability of any Borrower, any other guarantor or any other party, or the validity, legality or unenforceability of the Guaranteed Obligations or any part thereof from any cause, or the cessation from any cause of the liability of any Borrower other than payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations. The Guaranteed Creditors may, at their election, foreclose on any security held by the Agent or any other Guaranteed Creditor by one or more judicial or nonjudicial sales, whether or not every aspect of any such sale is commercially reasonable (to the extent such sale is permitted by applicable law), or exercise any other right or remedy the Guaranteed Creditors may have against any Borrower or any other party, or any security, without affecting or impairing in any way the liability of the Company hereunder except to the extent the Guaranteed Obligations have been paid. The Company waives any defense arising out of any such election by the Guaranteed Creditors, even though such election operates to impair or extinguish any right of reimbursement or subrogation or other right or remedy of the Company against any Borrower or any other party or any security.
(b) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the Company waives all presentments, demands for performance, protests and notices, including without limitation notices of nonperformance, notices of protest, notices of dishonor, notices of acceptance of this Guaranty, and notices of the existence, creation or incurring of new or additional Guaranteed Obligations. The Company assumes all responsibility for being and keeping itself informed of each Borrower's financial condition and assets, and of all other circumstances bearing upon the risk of nonpayment of the Guaranteed Obligations and the nature, scope and extent of the risks which the Company assumes and incurs hereunder, and agrees that the Agent and the Lenders shall have no duty to advise the Company of information known to them regarding such circumstances or risks.
12.09 Nature of Liability. It is the desire and intent of the Company and the Guaranteed Creditors that this Guaranty shall be enforced against the Company to the fullest extent permissible under the laws and public policies applied in each jurisdiction in which enforcement is sought. If, however, and to the extent that, the obligations of the Company under this Guaranty shall be adjudicated to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason (including, without limitation, because of any applicable state or federal law relating to fraudulent conveyances or transfers), then the amount of the Guaranteed Obligations shall be deemed to be reduced and the
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Company shall pay the maximum amount of the Guaranteed Obligations which would be permissible under applicable law.
[signature pages follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered in Chicago, Illinois by their proper and duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.
OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION

By: /s/ Scott L. Ney
    ---------------------------------------
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Agent

By: /s/ David A. Johanson
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Lender, as Swing Line Lender

By: /s/
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Senior Vice President

[Other Lenders to be added]
BANK ONE, N.A. (Main Office Chicago), as Syndication Agent

By: /s/A. F. Maggada
    ---------------------------------------
Title: Managing Director

FIRSTAR BANK, N.A.

By: /s/David M. Hirsch
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Assistant Vice President
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CREDIT LYONNAIS CHICAGO BRANCH

By: /s/Joseph A. Philbin
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Senior Vice President

THE BANK OF NEW YORK

By: /s/John M. Lokay, Jr.
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President

COMERICA BANK

By: /s/
    ---------------------------------------
Title: Vice President

SUNTRUST BANK

By: /s/William C. Humphries
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Director

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK

By: /s/
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President

THE FUJI BANK, LIMITED

By: /s/Peter L. Chinnici
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Senior Vice President and Group Head

HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK

By: /s/George M. Daly
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President
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LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/Lou D. Banach
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President and Senior Lender

M&I MARSHALL & ILSLEY BANK

By: /s/
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President

By: /s/ Ronald Carey
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President

BANK OF SCOTLAND

By: /s/Joseph Fratus
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY

By: /s/
    ----------------------------------------
Title: Vice President
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT by and between Pierce Manufacturing Inc., a Wisconsin corporation (the "Company"), and John W. Randjelovic, (the "Executive"), dated as of the 16th day of September 1996.
WITNESSETH THAT
WHEREAS, the parties wish to provide for the employment by the Company of the Executive, and the Executive wishes to serve the Company and its affiliate, Oshkosh Truck Corporation, in the capacities and on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows:
1. Employment Period. The Company shall employ the Executive, and the Executive shall serve the Company, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, for an initial period (the "Initial Period") commencing at the date of this Agreement and ending on November 30, 1996. This Agreement thereafter will renew automatically for successive terms of one (1) year each, unless either party has given at least forty-five (45) days' advance written notice of it or his intent to allow this Agreement to expire as of the end of such Initial Period or renewal term. The term during which the Executive is employed by the Company hereunder (including without limitation the Initial Period) is hereafter referred to as the "Employment Period."
In the event that for any reason, the Executive's employment continues with the Company following the expiration of the Employment Period, as set forth above, then for so long as the Executive is so employed by the Company, the provisions of Sections 8 and 9 shall survive the expiration of the Employment Period of this Agreement.
2. Position and Duties.
(a) The Executive shall serve as Vice President, Manufacturing; with such duties and responsibilities as are customarily assigned to such position, and such other duties and responsibilities not inconsistent therewith as may from time to time be assigned to him by the President (the "President") of the Company.
(b) During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which the Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote his full attention and time during normal business hours to the business and affairs of the Company and its affiliate and, to the extent necessary to discharge the responsibilities assigned to the Executive under this Agreement, use the Executive's reasonable best efforts to carry out such responsibilities faithfully and efficiently. It shall not be considered a violation of the foregoing for the Executive to serve on industry, civic, or charitable boards or committees, so long as such activities do not significantly interfere with the performance of the Executive's responsibilities as an employee of the Company and its affiliate in accordance with this Agreement.
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3. Compensation.
(a) Base Salary. The Executive's compensation during the Employment Period shall be determined by the President, subject to the next sentence and paragraph (b) of Section 3. During the Initial Period, the Executive shall receive an annual base salary ("Annual Base Salary") of not less than his aggregate annual base salary from Company as in effect immediately before the date of this Agreement. The Annual Base Salary shall be payable in accordance with the Company's regular payroll practice for its executives, as in effect from time to time. During the Employment Period, the Annual Base Salary shall be reviewed for possible adjustment at least annually. Any adjustment in the Annual Base Salary shall not limit or reduce any other obligation of the Company under this Agreement. The term "Annual Base Salary" shall thereafter refer to the Annual Base Salary as so adjusted.
(b) Incentive Compensation. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be provided the opportunity to participate in short-term incentive compensation plans and long-term incentive compensation plans which shall be developed and offered by the Company to executives employed in the business.
(c) Vacations and Holidays. The Executive shall be entitled to receive twenty (20) days of paid vacation per year together with the paid holidays available to all other management personnel.
(d) Fringe Benefits. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in fringe benefit plans and programs in effect from time to time for employees of the company, and on a basis appropriate to the position, including medical and dental insurance, expense reimbursements, pension and retirement benefits and other similar benefits.
(e) Reimbursements. The Company shall reimburse the Executive for actual out-of-pocket costs incurred by him in the course of carrying out his duties hereunder, such reimbursements to be made in accordance with the policies and procedures of the Company in effect from time to time.
(f) Withholding. All payments under this Agreement shall be subject to withholding or deduction by reason of the Federal Insurance Contributions Act, the federal income tax and state or local income tax and similar laws, to the extent such laws apply to such payments.
4. Termination of Employment.
(a) Death or Disability. The Executive's employment shall terminate automatically upon the Executive's death during the Employment Period. The Company shall be entitled to terminate the Executive's employment because of the Executive's Disability during the Employment Period. "Disability" means that (i) the Executive has been unable, for a period of one hundred eighty (180) consecutive days, to perform the
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Executive's duties under this Agreement, as a result of physical or mental illness or injury, and (ii) a physician selected by the Company or its insurers, and acceptable to the Executive or the Executive's legal representative, has determined that the Executive's incapacity will continue. A termination of the Executive's employment by the Company for Disability shall be communicated to the Executive by written notice, and shall be effective on the thirtieth day after receipt of such notice by the Executive (the "Disability Effective Date"), unless the Executive returns to full-time performance of the Executive's duties before the Disability Effective Date.
(b) By the Company.
(i) The Company may terminate the Executive's employment during the Employment Period for Cause or without Cause. "Cause" means:
A. The willful and continued failure of the Executive to substantially perform the Executive's duties under this Agreement (other than as a result of physical or mental illness or injury), after the President delivers to the Executive a written demand for substantial performance that specifically identifies the manner in which the President believes that the Executive has not substantially performed the Executive's duties; or
B. Illegal conduct or gross misconduct by the Executive, in either case that is willful and results in material and demonstrable damage to the business or reputation of the Company.
C. Violation of any of the covenants set forth under Sections 8 and 9 of this Agreement.
No act or failure to act on the part of the Executive shall be considered "willful" unless it is done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the Executive's action or omission was in the best interests of the Company.
(ii) A termination of the Executive's employment for Cause shall be effected by the President following written notice to the Executive and an opportunity for the Executive to be heard by the Chairman and CEO of Oshkosh Truck Corporation.
(iii) A termination of the Executive's employment without Cause shall be effected by the President following written notice to the Executive and an opportunity for the Executive to be heard by the Chairman and CEO of Oshkosh Truck Corporation.
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(c) Good Reason.
(i) The Executive may terminate employment for Good Reason or without Good Reason. "Good Reason" means:
A. The assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any respect with paragraph (a) of Section 2 of this Agreement, or any other action by the Company that results in a diminution in the Executive's position, including base salary, authority, duties or responsibilities, other than an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action that is not taken in bad faith and is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof from the Executive.
B. Any failure by the Company to comply with any provision of Section 3 of this Agreement, other than an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure that is not taken in bad faith and is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof from the Executive;
C. Any purported termination of the Executive's employment by the Company for a reason or in a manner not expressly permitted by this Agreement; or
D. Any other substantial breach of this Agreement by the Company that either is not taken in good faith or is not remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof from the Executive.
(ii) A termination of employment by the Executive for Good Reason shall be effected by giving the Company written notice ("Notice of Termination for Good Reason") of the termination within three (3) months of the event constituting Good Reason, setting forth in reasonable detail the specific conduct of the Company that constitutes Good Reason and the specific provision(s) of this Agreement on which the Executive relies. A termination of employment by the Executive for Good Reason shall be effective on the fifth business day following the date when the Notice of Termination for Good Reason is given, unless the notice sets forth a later date (which date shall in no event be later than thirty (30) days after the notice is given).
(iii) A termination of the Executive's employment by the Executive without Good Reason shall be effected by giving the Company written notice of the termination.
(d) Date of Termination. The "Date of Termination" means the date of the Executive's death, the Disability Effective Date, the date on which the termination of the Executive's employment by the Company for Cause or without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason is effective, or the date on which the Executive gives the Company notice of a termination of employment without Good Reason, as the case may be.
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5. Obligations of the Company upon Termination.
(a) By the Company other than for Cause, Death or Disability; by the Executive for Good Reason. If, during the Employment Period, the Company terminates the Executive's employment, other than for Cause, Death, or Disability, or the Executive terminates employment for Good Reason the Company shall continue to provide the Executive with the compensation and fringe benefits as set forth in paragraphs (a) and (d) of Section 3 as if he had remained employed by the Company pursuant to this Agreement through the end of the Employment Period, but, in no event for fewer than twelve (12) months. The payments provided pursuant to this paragraph (a) of Section 5 are intended as liquidated damages for a termination of the Executive's employment by the Company other than for Cause or Disability or for the actions of the Company leading to a termination of the Executive's employment by the Executive for Good Reason, and shall be the sole and exclusive remedy therefor.
(b) Death and Disability. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's death or Disability during the Employment Period, the Company shall pay to the Executive or, in the case of the Executive's death, to the Executive's designated beneficiaries (or, if there is no such beneficiary, to the Executive's estate or legal representative), in a lump sum in cash within thirty
(30) days after the Date of Termination, the sum of the following amounts (the "Accrued Obligations"): (1) any portion of the Executive's Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination that has not yet been paid; (2) an amount representing Incentive Compensation due for the period through the Date of Termination; and (3) any accrued but unpaid vacation pay.
(c) By the Company for Cause; By the Executive Other than for Good Reason. If the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company for Cause during the Employment Period the Company shall pay the Executive the Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination and the Company shall have no further obligations under this Agreement, except as specified in Section 6 below. If the Executive voluntarily terminates employment during the Employment Period, other than for Good Reason, the Company shall pay to the Executive: (1) any portion of the Executive's Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination that has not yet been paid; and (2) any accrued vacation pay, both payable in a lump sum in cash within thirty (30) days of the Date of Termination, and the Company shall have no further obligations under this Agreement, except as specified in Section 6 below.
(d) Pierce Manufacturing Inc., Severance Plan. Not withstanding the foregoing subparagraphs (a), (b), and (c), the Executive also shall be entitled to receive any applicable benefits under the Pierce Manufacturing Inc., severance plan adopted by the Board of Directors of the company on August 26, 1996.
6. Non-exclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit the Executive's continuing of future participation in any plan, program, policy or practice provided by the Company or any of its affiliates for which the Executive may qualify, nor shall anything
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in this Agreement limit or otherwise affect such rights as the Executive may have under any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its affiliates relating to subject matter other than that specifically addressed herein. Vested benefits and other amounts that the Executive is otherwise entitled to receive under the Company's Compensation program or any other plan, policy, practice or program of or any contract or agreement with, the Company or any of its affiliates on or after the Date of Termination shall be payable in accordance with the terms of each such plan, policy, practice, program, contract or agreement, as the case may be, except as explicitly modified by this Agreement.
7. Full Settlement. The Company's obligation to make the payments provided for in, and otherwise to perform its obligations under, this Agreement shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action that the Company may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement.
8. Confidential Information.
(a) Defined. "Confidential Information" shall mean ideas, information, knowledge and discoveries, whether or not patentable, that are not generally known in the trade or industry and about which the Executive has knowledge as a result of his employment with the Company, including without limitation fire products engineering information, marketing, sales, distribution, pricing and bid process information, product specifications, manufacturing procedures, methods, business plans, strategic plans, marketing plans, internal memoranda, formulae, trade secrets, know-how, research and development and other confidential technical or business information and data. Confidential Information shall not include any information that the Executive can demonstrate is in the public domain by means other than disclosure by the Executive.
(b) Nondisclosure. For a period of two (2) years after the termination of the Executive's active employment with the Company (whether such termination occurs before or after the expiration of the term of this Agreement) and indefinitely thereafter in respect of any Confidential Information that constitutes a trade secret or other information protected by law, the Executive will keep confidential and protect all Confidential Information known to or in the possession of the Executive, will not disclose any Confidential Information to any other person and will not use any Confidential Information, except for use or disclosure of Confidential Information for the exclusive benefit of the Company as it may direct or as necessary to fulfill the Executive's continuing duties as an employee of the Company.
(c) Return of Property. All memoranda, notes, records, papers, tapes, disks, programs or other documents or forms of documents and all copies thereof relating to the operations or business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries that contain Confidential Information, some of which may be prepared by the Executive, and all objects associated therewith in any way obtained by him shall be the property of the Company. The Executive shall not, except for the use of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, use or
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duplicate any such documents or objects, nor remove them from facilities and premises of the Company or any subsidiary, nor use any information concerning them except for the benefit of the Company or any subsidiary, at any time. The Executive will deliver all of the aforementioned documents and objects, if any, that may be in his possession to the Company at any time at the request of the Company.
9. Restrictive Covenants.
(a) The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company all secret or Confidential Information, knowledge or data relating to the Company or any of its affiliated companies and their respective businesses that the Executive obtains during the Executive's employment by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and that is not public knowledge (other than as a result of the Executive's violation of this Section 9). The Executive shall not communicate, divulge or disseminate Confidential Information at any time during the Executive's employment with the Company and for the two (2) year period thereafter, except with the prior written consent of the Company or as otherwise required by law or legal process. In no event shall any asserted violation of the provisions of this Section 9 constitute a basis for deferring or withholding any amounts otherwise payable to the Executive under the Agreement.
(b) The Executive shall not, during the Employment Period and for one (1) year following the end of the Employment Period, without the prior written consent of the President of the Company, be employed directly or indirectly by, be a sole proprietor or partner of, or act as a consultant to, any business in any capacity where confidential information concerning the Company and/or its subsidiaries or affiliates which was acquired by the Executive during his employment with the same would reasonably be considered to be useful; neither will the Executive, directly or indirectly, make sales solicitations to any person, corporation, partnership or other business entity which is, at the present time and at the time of such sales solicitation, a customer or prospective customer of the Company and/or its subsidiaries or affiliates, if the effect of such action would be likely to cause such customer to substantially reduce existing or future business relationships with or purchases from the Company and/or its subsidiaries or affiliates.
(c) The Executive agrees that the Company will suffer irreparable damage in the event the provisions of paragraphs (b) and
(c) of Section 8 and paragraphs (a) and (b) of Section 9 are breached and his acceptance of the provisions of Sections 8 and 9 is a material factor in his decision to enter into this Agreement. The Executive further agrees that the Company shall be entitled as a matter of right to injunctive relief to prevent a breach by the Executive of the provisions of Sections 8 and 9. Resort to such equitable relief, however, shall not constitute a waiver of any other rights or remedies the Company may have. Nothing in this Agreement modifies or reduces the Executive's obligation to comply with applicable laws relating to trade secrets, confidential information, or unfair competition.
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10. Successors.
(a) This Agreement is personal to the Executive and, without the prior written consent of the Company, shall not be assignable by the Executive. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Executive's legal representatives.
(b) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns.
11. Miscellaneous.
(a) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Wisconsin, without reference to principles of conflict of laws. The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by a written agreement executed by the parties hereto or their respective successors and legal representatives.
(b) All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:
(i) If to the Executive:
(Executive Name and Address)
Or, in person, by hand to the Executive at
the Executive's place of employment.
(ii) If to the Company:
Pierce Manufacturing Inc. c/o Oshkosh Truck Corporation 2307 Oregon Street P.O. Box 2566 Oshkosh, WI 54903-2566 Attn: Corporate Secretary
or to such other address as either party furnishes to the other in writing in accordance with this paragraph (b) of Section 11. Notices and communications shall be effective when actually received by the addressee.
(c) The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable in part, the remaining portion of such provision, together with all other provisions of this Agreement, shall remain valid and enforceable and continue in full force and effect to the fullest extent consistent with law.
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(d) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the Company may withhold from amounts payable under this Agreement all federal, state, local and foreign taxes that are required to be withheld by applicable laws or regulations.
(e) The Executive's or the Company's failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provisions of, or to assert any right under, this Agreement (including, without limitation, the right of Executive to terminate employment for Good Reason pursuant to paragraph (c) of
Section 4 of this Agreement) shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or of any other provision of or right under this Agreement.
(f) The rights and benefits of the Executive under this Agreement may not be anticipated, assigned, alienated or subject to attachment, garnishment, levy, execution or other legal or equitable process except as required by law. Any attempt by the Executive to anticipate, alienate, assign, sell transfer, pledge, encumber or charge the same shall be void. Payments hereunder shall not be considered assets of the Executive in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy.
(g) This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and said counterparts shall constitute but one and the same instrument.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.
OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION

By: /s/ Robert G. Bohn
    -------------------------------------
        Robert G. Bohn

Title: President and COO
      -----------------------------------

Date: 9-9-96
      -----------------------------------

Attest: Kristina J. Cartmill
       ----------------------------------

AGREED TO:

By: /s/ John W. Randjelovic
    -------------------------------------
        John W. Randjelovic

Title: Vice President - Manufacturing
      -----------------------------------

Date: 9-16-96
      -----------------------------------

Attest: Matthew J. Zolnowski
       ---------------------------------
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Amendment Changing Compensation to Base Pay Plus Bonus
AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
PURSUANT to Section 14(b) of the EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") dated October 15, 1998 by and between OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION, a Wisconsin corporation (the "Company"), and ROBERT G. BOHN (the "Executive"),
Section 11(a)(iii)(A) of the Agreement is hereby amended, effective as of July 1, 2000, to read in its entirety as follows:
(A) Final average monthly Compensation for this purpose is the average of the Executive's Compensation for the three (3) most recent Compensation Years ending after December 31, 1997, but prior to the date of the Executive's termination of employment with the Company, divided by thirty-six (36). If three (3) such Compensation Years have not been completed at the time of the Executive's termination of employment, then the total number of completed calendar months that have elapsed between December 31, 1997, and the month in which termination of employment occurs shall be used to determine his final average monthly Compensation. "Compensation," as used herein, means that term as defined in the Funded Plan on October 1, 1998, plus bonus received by the Executive during a Compensation Year pursuant to the Company's performance bonus plan(s) covering the Executive; provided, however, that the dollar limitations of Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(17) are not applicable when measuring Compensation for purposes of determining the amount of the Supplemental Retirement Benefit.
Dated this 20th day of July, 2000.

OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION                       EXECUTIVE

By:  /s/ Kathleen J. Hempel                     /s/ Robert G. Bohn
     -------------------------------------      --------------------------------
                                                Robert G. Bohn
Title:  Director - Chair HR Committee
     -------------------------------------      /s/ Connie S. Stellmacher
                                                -------------------------------
Attest:  /s/ Matthew Zolnowski                  Assistant Secretary
       -----------------------------------      Oshkosh Truck Corporation

Title:  Executive Vice President
        ----------------------------------


Exhibit 21
 Subsidiaries of the Company
The Company owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

                                                State or Other Jurisdiction
    Name                                       of Incorporation or Organization
    ----                                       --------------------------------
Pierce Manufacturing Inc.                               Wisconsin
McNeilus Companies, Inc.                                Minnesota
Summit Performance Systems, Inc.                        Wisconsin
Kewaunee Fabrications, L.L.C.                           Wisconsin
Oshkosh Unipower Limited                                United Kingdom
Total Mixer Technologies, Inc.                          Wisconsin

Pierce Manufacturing Inc. owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

                                                State or Other Jurisdiction
    Name                                       of Incorporation or Organization
    ----                                       --------------------------------
Dover Technologies, Inc.                                Wisconsin
Pierce Manufacturing International Inc.                 Barbados

Pierce Western Region Refurbishment Center, Inc. California
McNeilus Companies, Inc. owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

                                                State or Other Jurisdiction
    Name                                       of Incorporation or Organization
    ----                                       --------------------------------
McNeilus Truck & Manufacturing, Inc.                    Minnesota
Iowa Contract Fabricators, Inc.                         Iowa
McIntire Fabricators, Inc.                              Iowa
Kensett Fabricators, Inc.                               Iowa
McNeilus Financial Services, Inc.                       Minnesota
Medtec Ambulance Corporation                            Indiana

McNeilus Truck & Manufacturing, Inc. owns all of the stock of McNeilus Financial, Inc., a Texas corporation.
McNeilus Financial, Inc. owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

                                                State or Other Jurisdiction
    Name                                       of Incorporation or Organization
    ----                                       --------------------------------
Viking Truck & Equipment Sales, Inc.                    Michigan
Viking Truck & Equipment Sales, Inc.                    Ohio

McNeilus Financial Services, Inc. owns all of the stock of the following corporations:

                                                State or Other Jurisdiction
    Name                                       of Incorporation or Organization
    ----                                       --------------------------------
Oshkosh/McNeilus Financial Services, Inc.               Minnesota
Viking Equipment Leasing, Inc.                          Michigan


Exhibit 23
As independent public accountants, we hereby consent to the incorporation of our report included in this Form 10-K, into the Company's previously filed Form S-8 Registration Statement File Nos. 333-81681, 33-38822 and 33-62687.

/S/ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
December 8, 2000


EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-81681, 33-38822 and 33-62687) pertaining to the Oshkosh Truck Corporation 1990 Incentive Stock Plan of our report dated October 23, 1999, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Oshkosh Truck Corporation for each of the two years in the period ended September 30, 1999 included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended September 30, 2000.

/S/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
December 8, 2000



ARTICLE 5
THE SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF OSHKOSH TRUCK CORPORATION AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2000 AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
MULTIPLIER: 1000




PERIOD TYPE
YEAR
FISCAL YEAR END
SEP 30 2000
PERIOD START
OCT 01 1999
PERIOD END
SEP 30 2000
CASH
13,569
SECURITIES
0
RECEIVABLES
109,252
ALLOWANCES
2,447
INVENTORY
194,931
CURRENT ASSETS
335,437
PP&E
206,507
DEPRECIATION
87,748
TOTAL ASSETS
796,380
CURRENT LIABILITIES
264,976
BONDS
154,238
PREFERRED MANDATORY
0
PREFERRED
0
COMMON
178
OTHER SE
300,879
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY
796,380
SALES
1,324,026
TOTAL REVENUES
1,324,026
CGS
1,121,092
TOTAL COSTS
1,121,092
OTHER EXPENSES
0
LOSS PROVISION
255
INTEREST EXPENSE
20,956
INCOME PRETAX
78,649
INCOME TAX
31,346
INCOME CONTINUING
48,508
DISCONTINUED
2,015
EXTRAORDINARY
820
CHANGES
0
NET INCOME
49,703
EPS BASIC
3.09
EPS DILUTED
3.03

